
     

 

CLEARFIELD CITY COUNCIL 

AGENDA AND SUMMARY REPORT 

February 23, 2016 – POLICY SESSION 

 
Meetings of the City Council of Clearfield City may be conducted via electronic means pursuant to Utah Code Ann. 

§ 52-4-207 as amended. In such circumstances, contact will be established and maintained via electronic means and 

the meetings will be conducted pursuant to the Electronic Meetings Policy established by the City Council for 

electronic meetings.  

 
Executive Conference Room 

55 South State Street 

Third Floor 

Clearfield, Utah 

 
6:00 P.M. WORK SESSION 

Discussion on General Plan Amendments 

Discussion on Weber Basin Water Overage 

Discussion on the Public Works Phase 2 Architectural Design Project 

Discussion on the SR193 Water Leak 

 

(Any items not fully addressed prior to the Policy Session will be addressed in a Work Session  

immediately following the Policy Session) 

 

City Council Chambers 

55 South State Street 

Third Floor 

Clearfield, Utah 

 

7:00 P.M. POLICY SESSION 
CALL TO ORDER:    Mayor Shepherd 

OPENING CEREMONY:   Councilmember Phipps 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES:   January 26, 2016 – Work Session 

       

      February 9, 2016 – Policy Session 

       

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

1. PUBLIC HEARING TO RECEIVE COMMENT FOR THE PROPOSED ZONING 

TEXT AMENDMENT TO TITLE 11, CHAPTER 13 – PAWN AND SECONDHAND 

ESTABLISHMENTS   
 

 BACKGROUND: The Planning Commission has recommended approval of a Zoning Text 

Amendment which would regulate the proximity of pawn or secondhand businesses to other such 

businesses (at least one mile) and to non-depository lending establishments (at least 880 feet).   

 

 RECOMMENDATION: Receive public comment.  

 

SCHEDULED ITEMS: 

2. CITIZEN COMMENTS 

 

 

 



     

 

3. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF AND CONSENT TO THE MAYOR’S PROPOSED 

APPOINTMENT OF ALICIA CLARK AS AN ALTERNATE MEMBER TO THE 

CITY’S PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION 

 
 BACKGROUND: The Parks and Recreation Commission amended its bylaws to allow for an 

alternate member on the Commission to ensure a quorum at its meetings. Residents were recently 

asked to submit letters of interest and interviews were conducted by the City Council during the 

work session on Tuesday, January 19, 2016.  

 

 RECOMMENDATION: Approve and consent to the Mayor’s appointment of Alicia Clark as an 

Alternate Member to the Parks and Recreation Commission and authorize the Mayor’s signature 

to any necessary documents.  

 

4. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE FINAL SUBDIVISION PLAT FOR THE ANITA 

WHITE SUBDIVISION LOCATED AT 591 SOUTH STATE STREET  

 (TIN: 12-003-0037) 

 
 BACKGROUND: Anita White has requested a two lot subdivision located at 591 South State 

Street (TIN: 12-003-0037). The property is approximately 0.658 acres and is zoned C-2 

(Commercial). The parcel currently has two uses on the property with three buildings. A 

commercial building is located on the southern portion closest to the intersection of State Street 

and 500 East. The northern portion of the property is occupied with Ms. White’s home and 

garage. The subdivision will create two lots to separate the commercial use from the residential 

use. The Planning Commission recommended approval of the final subdivision plat during its 

meeting on Wednesday, February 3, 2016.  

 

 RECOMMENDATION: Approve the Final Subdivision Plat for the Anita White Subdivision 

located at 591 South State Street (TIN: 12-003-0037) and authorize the Mayor’s signature to any 

necessary documents.  
 

5. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF ORDINANCE 2016-02 AUTHORIZING THE 

PROPOSED ZONING TEXT AMENDMENT TO TITLE 11, CHAPTER 13 – PAWN 

AND SECONDHAND ESTABLISHMENTS   

 
 RECOMMENDATION: Approve Ordinance 2016-02 authorizing the proposed Zoning Text 

Amendment to Title 11, Chapter 13 – Pawn and Secondhand Establishments and authorize the 

Mayor’s signature to any necessary documents.  

 

6. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF A PERFORMANCE CONTRACT WITH ALEX BOYÉ 

FOR THE 2016 FOURTH OF JULY CELEBRATION 

 

 BACKGROUND: Alex Boyé has been selected as the musical act for this year’s Fourth of July 

Celebration at Fisher Park. This contract sets forth the terms and conditions of his performance.  

 

 RECOMMENDATION: Approve the performance contract with Alex Boyé for the 2016 Fourth 

of July celebration, and authorize the Mayor’s signature to any necessary documents. 

  



     

 

7. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION 2016R-06 AUTHORIZING AN 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT FOR UTILITY SERVICES AT LAYTON FARMS 

STORAGE  

 
 BACKGROUND: Layton Farms Storage is located at approximately 1500 North 2200 West in 

Layton, on the eastern boundary of Clearfield City. The property is approximately 8.02 acres in 

size and is adjacent to a C-2 (Commercial) zoning district, and R-1-8 and R-1-0 (Residential) 

zoning districts. Clearfield City has received a request to provide culinary water to this property 

until such time as Layton City’s water system can provide the service. This requires execution of 

an agreement between Clearfield City, Layton City and the developer.  

 

 RECOMMENDATION: Approve Resolution 2016R-06 authorizing an Interlocal Agreement for 

utility services at Layton Farms Storage and authorize the Mayor’s signature to any necessary 

documents.  

  

8. CONSIDER APPROVAL OF RESOLUTION 2016R-07 EXPRESSING SUPPORT OF 

LEGISLATION TO TAX AND REGULATE ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES 

 
 BACKGROUND: SAEV (Students Against Electronic Vaping) Coalition shared a visual 

presentation during the City Council meeting on Tuesday, February 9, 2016, which provided 

information regarding electronic cigarettes and vaping specific to youth. The Coalition announced 

legislation defining the products as a tobacco product and allowing it to be taxed and regulated as 

such was being sponsored by Representative Paul Ray during the current legislative session. 

SAEV has requested support for the legislation from the Council.  

 

 RECOMMENDATION: Approve Resolution 2016R-07 expressing support of legislation to tax 

and regulate electronic cigarettes and authorize the Mayor’s signature to any necessary 

documentation.  

 

COMMUNICATION ITEMS: 
 Mayor’s Report 

 City Councils’ Reports 

 City Manager’s Report 

 Staffs’ Reports 

**COUNCIL MEETING ADJOURN** 

 

 

Dated this 18
th

 day of February, 2016. 

 

/s/Nancy R. Dean, City Recorder 

 

 
The City of Clearfield, in accordance with the ‘Americans with Disabilities Act’ provides 

accommodations and auxiliary communicative aids and services for all those citizens needing assistance.  

Persons requesting these accommodations for City sponsored public meetings, service programs or events 

should call Nancy Dean at 525-2714, giving her 48-hour notice.  

 



   

1 

 

CLEARFIELD CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

6:00 P.M. WORK SESSION 

January 26, 2016 

 

PRESIDING:   Mark Shepherd  Mayor 

 

PRESENT:   Keri Benson   Councilmember 

    Kent Bush   Councilmember 

    Nike Peterson   Councilmember 

    Vern Phipps   Councilmember  

    Bruce Young   Councilmember 

 

STAFF PRESENT:  Adam Lenhard  City Manager 

    JJ Allen   Assistant City Manager  

    Stuart Williams  City Attorney 

    Scott Hodge   Public Works Director 

    Greg Krusi   Police Chief 

    Eric Howes   Community Services Director 

    Summer Palmer  Administrative Services Director 

    Rich Knapp   Finance Manager 

    Stacy Millgate   CDBG Coordinator 

    Nancy Dean   City Recorder 

    Kim Read   Deputy City Recorder 

     

VISITORS: Kathryn Murray, Nathan Wimmer. 

 

Mayor Shepherd called the meeting to order at 6:07 p.m. 

 

PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION INTERVIEW 

 

The Council interviewed Nathan Wimmer for consideration to fill one of the vacancies on the 

Parks and Recreation Commission.  

 

DISCUSSION ON CDBG PROGRAMMING 

 

Stacy Millgate, CDBG Coordinator, distributed a handout reflecting the estimated funding 

allocation the City would receive and possible programming of funds. It also reflected suggested 

projects for consideration by the Council and she reviewed it with the Council pointing out the 

following: 

 The three public service agencies requesting funding were   

o Family Connection Center 

o Davis Community Learning Center 

o Safe Harbor 

 These were estimated figures specific for funding because HUD had not actually 

approved the amount for the funding yet.  

 Funds had been designated for administering the CDBG program.  



   

2 

 

Ms. Millgate reported there would be an anticipated remaining balance of approximately 

$153,616 which would need to be allocated for programming and requested direction from the 

Council. She reminded the Council in the past the balance of the funding had been designated for 

an infrastructure project in a low income area. She referred to the handout which had some new 

projects suggested by staff and reviewed those with the Council: 

 Purchase a building lot for a newly constructed home. 

 Provide Emergency Home Repairs, partnering with Davis County. 

 Provide a Housing Rehab Program. 

 

Adam Lenhard, City Manager, explained an Emergency Home Repair program was currently 

administered by Davis County and if a Clearfield resident was to call and request those services 

they would be denied. He continued in order to avoid that circumstance the City would need to 

partner and contribute to the program. He expressed his opinion the administrative cost of ten 

percent would be worth the expense.  A discussion took place regarding if a cap was in place and 

what discretion or criteria was used to determine the worthiness of the request. Ms. Millgate 

mentioned the City could put restrictions in place and the County would administer the program 

accordingly.  

 

Mayor Shepherd stated he would like to see the City implement a Housing Rehab program which 

would improve the look and marketability of houses in Clearfield. He explained the program 

could be implemented similarly to the Down Payment Assistance Program in that the 

homeowner would have to obligate matching funds. He continued there would also need to be a 

residency requirement for a designated time frame after improvements were made. A discussion 

took place regarding what types of improvements would be allowed and what improvements 

would best benefit the house.  

 

Councilmember Young mentioned he had previous experience in working with a home 

weatherization/repair service. He explained an audit would take place once a request for service 

was received to determine the return of the investment. He continued the audit ensured the 

requested service was the most efficient use of funds and shared a specific example in which a 

request was made for window replacement but insulation was of greater need.   

 

Councilmember Peterson expressed concern whether the City had enough time to establish and 

implement a new program but added there was value in the City partnering with Davis County 

allowing them to administer the Emergency Home Repair program.  

 

JJ Allen, Assistant City Manager, pointed out the proposed program was similar in nature to the 

Facade and Site Improvement offered to commercial properties on North Main last year. He 

mentioned West Valley City had a similar program and the City could pattern after it. 

Councilmember Young reminded the Council the Facade and Site Improvement program had an 

application time frame and each request had been rated to determine the amount of grant funding 

the recipient would receive and whether or not the City would want to do that with the proposed 

new program. Mayor Shepherd believed the City would want something like that and indicated 

the City would have to communicate specifics with the County.  

 



   

3 

 

Councilmember Young inquired whether the City could specify it would only be willing to 

complete aesthetic improvements with CDBG funds. Ms. Millgate responded those types of 

improvements could be done in conjunction with other improvements/repairs, such as insulation 

or windows.  

 

Councilmember Peterson expressed concern about how far the funds could go or how many 

residents would benefit if requests for windows or driveways were allowed. 

 

Councilmember Young expressed concern about how many low or moderate income residents 

had the resources for their portion of the grant match. Mr. Allen suggested the City could target a 

specific area/neighborhood within the City.  

 

Mayor Shepherd explained how CDBG funds could be used to purchase a building lot for a 

newly constructed home and partner with a charity to construct a home for a low-income family 

and shared Layton City’s example of a similar program.  

 

Mr. Allen clarified the question was whether the Council desired to fund an infrastructure project 

with the remaining balance of funds or if it desired to implement new programming. He pointed 

out if the Council chose not to fund the infrastructure project, funding for that project would 

have to be recognized from another source. Mr. Lenhard commented there were numerous 

projects within the City which could be completed with CDBG funds and emphasized the 

infrastructure projects completed in the past had positively contributed to the neighborhoods.  

 

Councilmember Young expressed his opinion CDBG funding made infrastructure projects more 

costly to complete and stated it was his desire to approve projects which would have a direct 

impact on neighborhoods. Councilmember Benson liked the idea of focusing on neighborhood 

improvements. Councilmember Phipps was supportive of all three proposed new projects and 

suggested a balance of all three would be beneficial. 

 

Ms. Millgate requested specific direction on how to divide the remaining balance of $153,616 

and a discussion took place. Mayor Shepherd requested Ms. Millgate assemble some specific 

numbers for each program based on the discussion and present that to the Council at a later date.     

 

DISCUSSION ON APPOINTMENTS TO THE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION 

 

Nancy Dean reminded the Council it had previously interviewed Alicia Clark, Thomas Mayer 

and Connie Dooley for consideration to the Parks and Recreation Commission and a discussion 

took place.  

 

Eric Howes, Community Services Director, explained the Parks and Recreation Commission had 

determined at its last meeting it would be in the best interest of the Commission to add an 

alternate position; however, doing so would require amending its bylaws. He continued if the 

Council was in agreement with the proposal, three appointments could be made to fill the current 

vacancies during the upcoming policy session and then when the bylaws were amended, an 

appointment could be made for the alternate position. The Council discussed the candidates and 

possible appointments to the Commission.  



   

4 

 

 

The Council expressed agreement for amending the bylaws to include an alternate position to 

ensure a quorum would be in attendance at all meetings. Mr. Howes commented the amendment 

would be a solution regarding absences of Commission members and pointed out since there 

were four candidates, the Council would only need to determine whom it would like to appoint 

to the alternate position.  

 

Mayor Shepherd announced he would be recommending the appointment of Thomas Mayer, 

Nathan Wimmer and Connie Dooley as members of the Parks & Recreation Commission during 

the policy session and Alicia Clark as an alternate member to be appointed once the bylaws were 

amended.   

 

 

The meeting adjourned at 6:58 p.m. 



 

1 

 

 CLEARFIELD CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES 

7:00 P.M. POLICY SESSION 

February 9, 2016 

 

PRESIDING:   Kent Bush   Mayor Pro Tem 

 

PRESENT:   Keri Benson   Councilmember 

    Nike Peterson   Councilmember 

    Vern Phipps   Councilmember 

    Bruce Young   Councilmember 

 

EXCUSED:    Mark Shepherd  Mayor 

 

STAFF PRESENT:  Adam Lenhard  City Manager 

    JJ Allen   Assistant City Manager  

    Stuart Williams                       City Attorney  

Scott Hodge   Public Works Director 

    Greg Krusi   Police Chief 

    Spencer Brimley  Development Services Manager 

    Eric Howes   Community Services Director 

    Curtis Dickson  Community Services Deputy Dir.  

    Summer Palmer  Administrative Services Director 

Rich Knapp   Finance Manager 

    Nancy Dean   City Recorder 

    Kim Read   Deputy City Recorder 

 

VISITORS: Carson Robb – SAEV, Clint Bisbee – SAEV, Connie Kearl, Bob Bercher, Juliane 

Berglund - SAEV, Cade Hyde – SAEV, Boy Scout Troop 156, McGyver Clark – SAEV, Boy 

Scout Troop 151  

 

Mayor Pro Tem Bush called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Bush informed the citizens present that if they would like to comment during 

Citizen Comments there were forms to fill out by the door. 

 

Councilmember Peterson conducted the Opening Ceremony.  

 

APPROVAL OF THE MINUTES FROM THE JANUARY 12, 2016 WORK SESSION, THE 

JANUARY 19, 2016 WORK SESSION AND THE JANUARY 26, 2016 POLICY SESSION 

 

Councilmember Young moved to approve the minutes from the January 12, 2016 work 

session, the January 19, 2016 work session and the January 26, 2016 policy session as 

written, seconded by Councilmember Peterson. The motion carried upon the following 

vote: Voting AYE – Councilmembers Benson, Peterson, Phipps and Young. Voting NO – 

None.  

 



 

2 

 

PRESENTATION BY STUDENTS AGAINST ELECTRONIC VAPING (SAEV) COALITION  

 

Students from area high schools shared a presentation with the Council on behalf of the SAEV 

Coalition.  

 

Cade Hyde introduced other members of the Coalition and distributed a sample resolution and 

announced the group was requesting the City’s support of a bill, to be sponsored during the 

current legislative session by Representative Paul Ray, which would define electronic cigarettes 

(e-cigarettes) as a tobacco product. The definition would then require the same restriction as any 

other tobacco product related to advertising, online sales, and how the product could be sold in 

stores.  

 

Clint Bisbee pointed out there was currently only sales tax applicable to e-cigarette purchases 

and suggested increasing the tax to be equal with other tobacco products. He stated statistics 

reflected an increase would discourage students and young people from purchasing e-cigarettes.  

 

Mr. Hyde referred to the sample resolution and requested the Council adopt a resolution of 

support. Mr. Bisbee mentioned during last year’s legislative session Representative Oda had 

voted against a similar bill and requested the community reach out and encourage his support of 

the bill this year.  

 

Carson Robb shared some of his personal experiences associated with his service on a local 

youth court which supported how easily young people can obtain that type of product because it 

was not regulated. He shared some of the flavors such as bubble gum and root beer which he 

believed illustrated the products were being targeted toward young people. Mr. Hyde pointed out 

how the items had been targeted to youth as well as how accessible the products were and how 

easily it could be obtained via internet sales.  

 

McGyver Clark shared some statistics specific to Davis County and Utah in regards to e-

cigarettes and expressed his opinion the product needed to be regulated.  

 

Mr. Hyde pointed out how the popularity of smoking cigarettes had changed during some of the 

councilmembers’ generation and suggested the product was just a new way for tobacco 

companies to encourage tobacco use.   

 

Mayor Pro Tem Bush asked if the Coalition knew the status of Representative Ray’s bill. Mr. 

Bisbee responded the bill was currently scheduled to be numbered.   

 

Councilmember Phipps stated he had recently read an article regarding e-cigarettes and shared 

some statistics. He expressed appreciation to the students for their enthusiasm and presentation.  

 

Councilmember Peterson expressed appreciation to the students and inquired if the Coalition had 

reached out to Representative Brad Wilson as well. They indicated they had but encouraged the 

Council to follow up with him as well.   

 

Councilmember Benson asked what the Coalition had done to reach out to their peers to educate 

them on the negative impact of e-cigarettes. Mr. Bisbee responded it had set up a booth during 



 

3 

 

the lunch hour at Davis High to educate students about the negative use of e-cigarettes. He 

continued there was also a video on Davis Schools’ Facebook page about SAEV. He announced 

it also had a website, saevutah.com as well as using other social media. He stated the goup 

communicated through technology and had participants statewide.  

 

Councilmember Young stated the Coalition had presented great arguments and complimented 

the participants for their research.  

 

CITIZEN COMMENTS 

 

There were no citizen comments.  

 

APPROVAL OF A GROUND LESSOR’S CONSENT AGREEMENT FOR PROPERTY 

LOCATED AT 888 SOUTH UNIVERSITY PARK BOULEVARD 

 

JJ Allen, Assistant City Manager, explained there were two parcels of property; one owned by 

the City and the other owned by the CDRA, which were leased to the building located at 888 

South University for a parking lot. He explained the owner of the building had recently applied 

for some financing in the form of a line of credit using the property as collateral. He stated the 

financial institution KeyBank was requiring the Ground Lessor Consent Agreement to be in 

place in the event the owner of the building defaulted, the bank could then become the lessee of 

the parking lot property. He reminded the Council that staff had reviewed the item during a 

previous work session and pointed out the same agreement would come before the CDRA Board 

for approval.  
 

Councilmember Phipps moved to approve the Ground Lessor’s Consent Agreement for 

property located at 888 South University Park Boulevard and authorize the Mayor’s 

signature to any necessary documents, seconded by Benson. The motion carried upon the 

following vote: Voting AYE – Councilmembers Benson, Peterson, Phipps and Young. 

Voting NO – None.  

 

COMMUNICATION ITEMS 
 

Mayor Pro-Tem Bush 

1.  Announced he had attended Local Official’s Day at the State Legislature. 

2. Complimented staff for the information presented during the budget kick-off meeting which took 

place on Friday, January 29, 2016.  

3.  Reported he had attended a Safer Sidewalk meeting with residents residing along 300 North.  

4. Informed the Council that he attended the Newly Elected Officials training on Saturday, February 

6, 2016, presented by the Utah League of Cities and Towns in Salt Lake. 

5.  Reported that same evening he had attending the 419
th 

Fighter Division Banquet at the Davis 

Conference Center.  

 

Councilmember Benson  
1. Stated she would be meeting with Job Corps on Wednesday, February 10, 2016.  

2. Announced the first meeting for the ‘We’ve Got Talent’ contest. The contest would be part of the 

festivities planned for the Fourth of July celebration. She stated auditions would begin in June.  

 



 

4 

 

Councilmember Peterson  
1. Expressed appreciation for the opportunity to attend the Utah League of Cities and Towns 

training.  

2. Also mentioned the budget kick-off meeting and expressed appreciation to staff.  

3.  Announced Clearfield City had its first Costplay photo shoot evening which allowed local 

business to come together within the community. She stated it had been successful.  

4.  Stated she was looking forward to having lunch with Job Corps and meeting some of the students 

at the facility.  

 

Councilmember Phipps  
1. Also complimented staff for the budget kick-off meeting which took place on Friday, January 29, 

2016.  

2. Announced he had attended his first Wasatch Integrated Waste meeting. He informed the Council 

that the facility would soon be installing a conveyer belt which would screen out yard waste and other 

non-combustibles items which impacted the ability of the furnaces. He also indicated staff would also be 

pulling recyclables off the conveyer. He mentioned the improvements would potentially extend the life of 

the landfill from twenty years to twenty-seven.  He announced the facility had recently signed a long term 

nine year agreement with HAFB to purchase the steam generated by the Burn Plant. He informed the 

Scouts in attendance that tours were conducted at the facility. Mayor Pro Tem Bush mentioned the North 

Davis Sewer District also conducted tours of that facility and reported on some of its processes.  

  

Councilmember Young  
1. Reported he had also attended an Awards Banquet at Hill Air Force Base (HAFB). He stated it 

was great to connect with civilians and military members within the community.  

2.  Informed the Council that he had visited Connect Utah and stated it was an excellent venue to 

direct local businesses to when requesting ways to network and mentioned the Buy Local First campaign.  

 

STAFF REPORTS 

 
Nancy Dean, City Recorder – Reviewed the Council’s calendar: 

 No meeting was scheduled for Tuesday, February 16, 2016 

 Announced neighborhood meetings were in the process of being planned 

 Stated the next meeting was scheduled for Tuesday, February 23, 2016.   

 

 

There being no further business to come before the Council, Councilmember Phipps moved to 

adjourn as the City Council and reconvene as the Community Development and Renewal 

Agency (CDRA) at 7:29 p.m., seconded by Councilmember Benson. The motion carried 

upon the following vote: Voting AYE – Councilmembers Benson, Peterson, Phipps and 

Young. Voting NO – None. 

 
   

**The minutes for the CDRA are in a separate location** 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

5 

 

 



 
 

 
 

 

City Council 
         STAFF REPORT 

  

 
 
TO:    Mayor Shepherd, City Council, and Executive Staff 
 
FROM:  Spencer W. Brimley 
   Development Services Manager 

Spencer.Brimley@clearfieldcity.org (801) 525-2785 
 

MEETING DATE: February 23, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  Public Hearing, Discussion and Possible Action on ZTA 1509-0006, a 

proposed amendment to the Clearfield Land Use Ordinance Title 11 for 
Pawn and Secondhand Establishments.  

RECOMMENDATION 
Move to approve of ZTA 1509-0006, a request by Clearfield City for a proposed text 
amendment to the Clearfield City Land Use Ordinance Title 11 Chapter 13 for Pawn and 
Secondhand Businesses, based on findings and discussion in the Staff Report. 
 
The Planning Commission at their meeting on Wednesday, February 3, 2016 recommended 
that the City Council approve the proposed changes to title 11 Chapter 13 for Pawn and 
Secondhand businesses.  Imposing proximity requirements for businesses defined as Pawn and 
Non-Depository Lending Establishments. 

 
ANALYSIS 
 
History 
October 2014 – New pawn business is approved by Planning Commission.  Residents attend 
public hearing to voice concerns over the location of a new pawn business adjacent to 
residential as well as concerns of an increase in crime and negative impacts to the 
neighborhood. 
 
September 2015 – The City Council, in response to comments from the October 2014 hearing, 
passes Ordinance 2015-17.  This enacts a temporary land use regulation prohibiting for six 
months the approval of new applications for Pawn and Secondhand Businesses pursuant to 
Utah Code Annotated 10-9a-504. Council directs staff to perform necessary research regarding 
concerns with Pawn and Secondhand Businesses.  This directive came following the concerns 
from the meeting in October of 2014, but due to staff turnover and other matters was not 
addressed until September 2015. 
 
November 2015 – Staff work session with the Planning Commission for information pertaining 
to increased regulation of Pawn and Secondhand Business.  The Planning Commission 
requests that staff perform additional analysis regarding the issue before bringing it back to the 
Commission for further discussion. 
 

mailto:Spencer.Brimley@clearfieldcity.org


ZTA 1509-0006 Pawn and Secondhand Businesses 
 23 FEB. 2016 CC Meeting 

 - 2 of 4 - 

January 2016 – Staff holds second work session with Planning Commission for Pawn and 
Secondhand business ordinance changes.  Staff engaged in a discussion with the Planning 
Commission about potential regulations that would be proposed to address community 
concerns.  From this meeting a proposal of proximity restrictions was identified.  Staff research 
was supportive of distance requirements for Pawn and other Non-Depository Lending 
Establishments. 
 
February 2016 – Staff presented formal recommendations to the Planning Commission for 
imposing proximity requirements for all pawn and Non-Depository Lending Establishments.  The 
Commission unanimously recommended approval of the proposed language for Title 11 
Chapter 13 or the Land Use Ordinance for the regulation of Pawn and Secondhand Businesses.  
Information regarding the Planning Commission recommendation and staff research was 
presented at a City Council work Session on February 9, 2016.  No questions or concerns were 
voiced in this meeting.   
 
Research and Analysis 
Pawn and secondhand businesses, outside of the C-2 zone, are not permitted as a conditional 
use or as a permitted use within the City.  Staff’s review of ordinances from several 
municipalities within Utah provides a broader framework and context for the regulation of these 
types of businesses.  The ordinances serve as a guide for consistent application of regulations 
for pawn and secondhand businesses.  Staff was also able to locate and review regulations for 
several municipalities outside of the State who have implemented regulations to further mitigate 
perceived or potential impacts of these types of businesses.  Staff has also attached to this 
report supporting documentation for pawn and secondhand businesses to be regulated in a 
similar fashion as Non-Depository Lending Establishments.  Research supports the connection 
of these two types of businesses as institutions that focus on loans and alternative financing 
options and not as retail business. 
 
Staff obtained information from Clearfield City Police Department (“CPD”) to evaluate impacts 
from the current pawnshops within the City.  After a careful review of the CPD data, staff 
concludes there is no significant disproportionate burden on the CPD, and that there is a good 
working relationship between the current pawnshops and the CPD.  It appears that Clearfield 
City does not currently have a “problem” with pawn or secondhand businesses (except perhaps 
perception). 
 
This is not to say that the failure to regulate the location of future pawn and secondhand 
business may not become an issue for the City in the future.  The academic and secondary 
legal research studied by staff established support for the position that over time, and without 
any attention or regulation, negative impacts can go unnoticed and cause a long-term negative 
economic impact, which may be mitigated by taking timely and appropriate measures. Staff 
believes that amending the City’s Land Use Ordinance to be more consistent with regulations 
both locally and nationally can eliminate clustering and minimize or avoid the associated long-
term negative economic impacts.  The State of Utah’s regulations are different for Pawn and 
Secondhand Businesses and Non-Depository Lending Establishments (“NDLEs”).  However, 
from a municipal perspective the nature and operation of these businesses is quite similar and 
should be regulated in the same manner at the local level.  Both pawn shops and NDLEs 
operate as lending institutions, providing non-traditional loans to those who may not qualify for 
traditional financing.  These uses serve as an alternative means for an individual to obtain cash.  
From a local perspective there is little difference other than what they are making loans on and 
the terms associated with each loan.  Staff believes it is consistent for pawn shops and NDLEs 



ZTA 1509-0006 Pawn and Secondhand Businesses 
 23 FEB. 2016 CC Meeting 

 - 3 of 4 - 

to be regulated similarly, within Clearfield City and the information within the attached reports 
supports the proposed proximity requirement. 
 
Records indicate there are approximately 10 non-depository lending establishments and three 
pawn and secondhand businesses located within the city limits. The proposed changes include 
a separation requirement of this specific use from the same type of business use and a 
separation from other specified uses.  This is to discourage clustering of these uses, which is a 
land use development pattern that is not supported by the City’s General Plan (see “Master 
Plan” discussion below). If the proposed regulation as recommended by the Planning 
Commission is adopted by the Council, it would limit the number of additional pawnshops within 
the City to no more than three (3).  This number takes into consideration the likelihood that all 
other pawnshops, currently in operation would remain. Additionally, the regulation would 
regulate the distance that a pawn shop could be to NDLE with in the City. 
 
Master Plan 
The proposed changes conform to the City’s General Plan, specifically the Land Use Guidelines 
which include “improving the image of the community and fostering a positive, healthy living 
environment” and “increasing the livability and aesthetics of the City.”  A revision to the Land 
Use Ordinance that improves effectiveness of the regulation of uses is consistent with these 
guidelines.  It is also consistent with the policy under the Land Use Element which states, 
“Continue to update the City’s Land Use Ordinance as necessary to maintain consistency with 
this General Plan.”   
 
Proposed changes 
Consistent with the approach taken by other municipalities, the Planning Commission is 
recommending that the proposal to regulate the proximity of pawn or secondhand businesses to 
other pawn or businesses identified as non-depository lending establishments, as defined in 
Clearfield City Code to the City Council.  The purpose of the new regulation would be to avoid 
clustering of this type of use (together with NDLEs) within the City.   Given this information, staff 
is proposing to amend the supplementary regulations (Title 11 Chapter 13) of the Clearfield City 
Land Use Ordinance as outlined below. 
 

DRAFT ORDINANCE LANGUAGE: 11-13-35 – Pawn and Secondhand Businesses 

A. Pawn and Secondhand Businesses: 

1. No pawn or secondhand business shall be located within one mile (5,280 feet) of 
any other pawn or secondhand business. The distance shall be measured in a 
straight line between the closest property lines of the lots upon which they are 
located. 

2. A pawn or secondhand business shall not be located within eight hundred eighty 
feet (880') from any non-depository lending establishment.  

 
It is anticipated that as the City strives to adopt development standards that encourage 
positively perceived development patterns, encourage long-term residency, and contribute to a 
healthier economy for the Community, that the goals of both the General Plan and the Strategic 
Plan are better accomplished.  Staff is able to conclude that the research conducted supports 
the proposed regulations and provides a basis for the City Council to approve this request. 
 



ZTA 1509-0006 Pawn and Secondhand Businesses 
 23 FEB. 2016 CC Meeting 

 - 4 of 4 - 

FINDINGS 
 
Zoning Ordinance Text Amendment 
Clearfield Land Use Ordinance Section 11-6-3 establishes the following findings the Planning 
Commission shall make to approve Zoning Ordinance Text Amendments.  The findings and 
staff’s evaluation are outlined below:  
 
 

  Review Consideration Staff Analysis 

1)  
The proposed amendment is in 
accordance with the General Plan 
and Map; or 

 
A stated policy of the Land Use Element is to “Continue to 
update the City’s Land Use Ordinance as necessary to 
maintain consistency with this General Plan”.  Land Use 
Guidelines include improving aesthetics and community 
image.  The proposal to enact a distance requirement 
between all pawn or secondhand businesses and NDLEs 
to reduce clustering and mitigate future negative economic 
impacts caused by the clustering of theses specific 
businesses accomplishes the purposes outlined in the 
City’s General Plan. 

2)  

 
Changed conditions make the 
proposed amendment necessary to 
fulfill the purposes of this Title. 
 

N/A 

 
 
Attachments: 

1. Clearfield Police Call data 
2. Pawn/NDLE graphics  
3. Pawnshop Research 

a. Pawn strongly correlated with property crime 
b. Pawnbroking in the USA;  A profile of Customers 
c. Where have all the Hot Goods Gone 
d. Does Fringe Banking Exacerbate neighborhood crime rates 

 



Clearfield City Police Department  
Calls for Service Comparison Report  
Prepared for the Development Services Department  
 
The following information was obtained from the Clearfield Police Department Crystal Reports.  
The reports reflect the number of calls for service recorded in Spillman (department records 
management system).  The reports reflect the number of calls for service from January 1, 2014 
to October 31, 2015.  
 
Pawn Shops  
  
American Pawn (two locations – same owner) 683 S State & 699 S State  
Total calls for service: 13 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 4 
 
Pawn Depot  
Total calls for service: 3 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 1 
 
Instant Cash and Pawn 
Total calls for service: 4 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 2 
 
Payday Lending (or similar businesses) 
 
Loyal Loans  
Total calls for service: 4 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 2 
 
QC Financial  
Total calls for service: 13 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 1 
 
Security Finance 
Total calls for service: 5 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 3 
 
Titlemax of Utah  
Total calls for service: 3 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 1 
 



USA Cash Services 
Total calls for service: 8 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 3 
 
Utah Title Loans Inc. 
Total calls for service: 3 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 0 
 
Grocery Stores  
 
Kent’s Market  
Total calls for service: 130 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 35 
 
Winegars  
Total calls for service: 63 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 30 
 
Thrift Stores 
 
Dollar General  
Total calls for service: 47 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 22 
 
Family Dollar  
Total calls for service: 18 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 6 
 
Convenience Stores  
 
7-Eleven (712 S State)  
Total calls for service: 45 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 16 
 
7-Eleven (976 W 1700 S) 
Total calls for service: 25 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 6 
 
Conoco (641 N Main) 
Total calls for service: 43 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 21 
 
 



Falcon Landing (680 N Main) 
Total calls for service: 22 
Calls associated with criminal activity:  7 
 
Freeport Chevron (1716 S Main) 
Total calls for service: 47 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 13 
 
JP’s Texaco (1350 E 700 S) 
Total calls for service: 38 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 4 
 
RB’s One Stop (14 E 1700 S) 
Total calls for service: 25 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 3 
 
Shell (310 N Main) 
Total calls for service: 18 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 9 
 
Maverik (390 E 1700 S) 
Total calls for service: 73 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 29 
 
Maverik (709 S State) 
Total calls for service: 110 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 31 
 
Maverik (985 W 300 N) 
Total calls for service: 87 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 28 
 
Maverik (1510 E 700 S) 
Total calls for service: 56 
Calls associated with criminal activity: 25 
 
 
 
 
 







eScholarship provides open access, scholarly publishing
services to the University of California and delivers a dynamic
research platform to scholars worldwide.

University of California Transportation
Center

University of California

Title:
Protecting Against Transit Crime: The Importance of the Built Environment

Author:
Liggett, Robin, University of California Transportation Center
Loukaitou-Sideris, Anastasia, University of California Transportation Center
Iseki, Hiroyuki, University of California Transportation Center

Publication Date:
09-01-2004

Series:
Earlier Faculty Research

Publication Info:
Earlier Faculty Research, University of California Transportation Center, UC Berkeley

Permalink:
http://escholarship.org/uc/item/95908905

Abstract:
This chapter deals with an important citizen right: the ability to walk from home or work to the
transit stop, or wait at a bus stop or on a station platform without the fear of being victimized. Crime
and fear of crime unfortunately affect many aspects of everyday life in our cities. Transit crime is a
rather persistent but underreported trend that scares and intimidates riders – particularly women.
The majority of incidents represent public nuisance crimes. The majority of the victims are captive
transit riders, frequently immigrant and poor. In Los Angeles some of the victims are even afraid
to report transit crimes to the authorities lest they expose their illegal-resident status.

In this chapter, we want to argue that planners and policy makers need to often scratch beyond
the surface of official numbers and crime statistics. At the same time, relying on one theory to
understand a complex urban phenomenon, such as crime, may often prove inadequate. In our
case, we found two seemingly antithetical theories useful, but still needing validation with empirical
data: compositional theories that cast attention on offenders, and ecological theories that focus
on the context of crime. We discovered that to understand a problem that is largely invisible to
authorities, we had to rely not only on crime reports but also extensive fieldwork, to combine
quantitative and qualitative techniques, and go from the macro to the micro, from census data to
first-hand observation, and surveys of riders.

Copyright Information:

http://escholarship.org
http://escholarship.org
http://escholarship.org
http://escholarship.org
http://escholarship.org/uc/uctc_rw
http://escholarship.org/uc/uctc_rw
http://escholarship.org/uc/uctc_rw
http://escholarship.org/uc/ucb
http://escholarship.org/uc/search?creator=Liggett%2C%20Robin
http://escholarship.org/uc/search?creator=Loukaitou-Sideris%2C%20Anastasia
http://escholarship.org/uc/search?creator=Iseki%2C%20Hiroyuki
http://escholarship.org/uc/uctc_rw
http://escholarship.org/uc/item/95908905


PROTECTING AGAINST TRANSIT CRIME: 
THE IMPORTANCE OF THE BUILT ENVIRONMENT 

 
Robin Liggett, Professor, Departments of Urban Planning/Architecture, UCLA 
Anastasia Loukaitou-Sideris, Professor, Department of Urban Planning, UCLA 

Hiroyuki Iseki, Doctoral Candidate, Department of Urban Planning, UCLA 
 

This chapter deals with an important citizen right: the ability to walk from home or 
work to the transit stop, or wait at a bus stop or on a station platform without the fear of 
being victimized.  Crime and fear of crime unfortunately affect many aspects of everyday life 
in our cities.  Transit crime is a rather persistent but underreported trend that scares and 
intimidates riders – particularly women.  The majority of incidents represent public nuisance 
crimes.  The majority of the victims are captive transit riders, frequently immigrant and poor.  
In Los Angeles some of the victims are even afraid to report transit crimes to the authorities 
lest they expose their illegal-resident status. 
 

In this chapter, we want to argue that planners and policy makers need to often 
scratch beyond the surface of official numbers and crime statistics.  At the same time, relying 
on one theory to understand a complex urban phenomenon, such as crime, may often prove 
inadequate.  In our case, we found two seemingly antithetical theories useful, but still 
needing validation with empirical data: compositional theories that cast attention on 
offenders, and ecological theories that focus on the context of crime.  We discovered that to 
understand a problem that is largely invisible to authorities, we had to rely not only on crime 
reports but also extensive fieldwork, to combine quantitative and qualitative techniques, and 
go from the macro to the micro, from census data to first-hand observation, and surveys of 
riders. 
 

Horst Rittel and Mel Webber have once proclaimed that planning deals with 
“wicked” problems (1973).  There is nothing more wicked than crime.  We would argue that 
our field could better conceptualize wicked problems if it integrates and utilizes knowledge 
from other fields.  For our research we relied extensively on criminological studies to 
understand what causes transit crime.  But understanding the roots of a problem is only a 
first, albeit necessary step towards mitigation.  Planning is an applied profession and planners 
are not content to only theorize and understand the roots of urban problems; they also want to 
do something about them.  Our findings that show a linkage between social and physical 
characteristics of neighborhoods and transit crime point to the need for a multi-pronged 
approach for the mitigation of transit crime.  Some of the “prongs” may be well outside the 
reach of planning, as planners and transportation authorities cannot necessarily deal with all 
the social variables that affect transit crime.  However, the design of the built environment, 
the mix of land uses, the physical characteristics of place have also an effect on crime—and 
these characteristics can be tackled by planners. 
 

This chapter represents a synthesis of our work on transit crime (Loukaitou-Sideris, 
1999; Loukaitou-Sideris, Liggett, and Iseki, 2001; 2002; Liggett, Loukaitou-Sideris, and 
Iseki, 2001; 2003). We first summarize the theoretical context of our studies, referring to two 
types of criminological theories that seek to explain the incidence of crime. We give 
particular emphasis to ecological theories which examine the link between the physical 

 139



environment and crime, but we also discuss the crime implications of the different 
sociodemographic characteristics of station neighborhoods. Following this brief theoretical 
overview we present our empirical findings about the effect of the built environment on 
crime at transit stops and stations in Los Angeles. We end the chapter by discussing policy 
recommendations and suggestions for safer transit stops and stations. 
 
Compositional Versus Ecological Theories 

Many studies have documented transit crime, but most have focused their attention on 
the social variables of crime: the sociodemographic characteristics of offenders and victims 
and the social context of transit stop or station neighborhoods.  With few exceptions (Block 
and Block 2000; Block and Davis 1996; Loukaitou-Sideris and Banerjee 2000; our other 
papers), researchers have ignored the spatial environment (type of land uses, urban form 
attributes) in the immediate vicinity of transit stops and stations.  This is not consistent with 
recent developments in criminology which have increasingly become aware of the 
importance of place as a setting for crime.  A place is a very small area, a street corner, an 
intersection, a bus stop, or a transit station.  Criminologists have noticed that crime often 
tends to concentrate heavily and disproportionately in a few places, or “hot spots.”  Such 
observations have led to arguments for reorientation of crime prevention efforts and a focus 
on the environmental context of crime instead of the socio-demographic characteristics of the 
offenders. 
 

This debate underlines two distinct approaches in crime research studies (see Table 
1).  So-called compositional or non-ecological studies stress the importance of the offenders’ 
sociodemographic characteristics.  Therefore, these studies seek to identify relationships 
between a neighborhood’s crime level and the characteristics of race and ethnicity, age and 
gender, poverty levels, and social mobility of inhabitants.  In contrast, ecological studies 
focus on physical attributes as covariates of crime.  For such studies, it is the location and 
physical context of crime – not the sociodemographic characteristics of the offenders—that 
acquire significance.  Of particular interest are place characteristics (land uses, built-form 
condition, visibility levels), as well as a site’s access characteristics. 
 

Clearly, the two approaches of crime research lead to different types of crime 
prevention strategies.  Compositional studies target the potential offenders.  They advocate 
social and educational services to tackle teenage delinquency and recidivism.  They argue for 
changes in the system of policing (e.g., community policing) and reformulation of the 
criminal justice and penal systems to address crime.  In contrast, ecological studies focus on 
the manipulation of physical and environmental characteristics for the mitigation of crime. 
Implicit in such studies is the belief that the redesign or transformation of certain place 
characteristics can lead to lower levels of crime.  These efforts are called “situational” 
because they link criminal activities to the specific physical attributes of hot spots.  
Ecological studies lead to crime prevention efforts that use environmental design as a tool for 
“designing out” crime.  Before such design efforts and prevention policies are implemented, 
however, the different physical attributes that can encourage or discourage crime must be 
clearly understood.  Our research falls primarily in the ecological category and is intended to 
identify and objectively measure environmental variables specifically associated with bus 
stops and stations, which affect the spatial concentration of transit crime.   

 140



Table 1:   Crime Studies

Ecological Compositional

• Importance of physical and
ecological attributes

• Importance of socio-demographic
attributes (age, ethnicity, gender,
class, social mobility)

• Study of the environmental context • Study of offenders

Crime Prevention Strategies

• Target: Environmental Context
(“designing out crime”)

• Target: Potential offenders

• Situational crime prevention • Social/educational services
• Crime Prevention Through

Environmental Design (CPTED)
• Policing
• Criminal Justice

 
Environment and Crime 

We have drawn from a stream of research that has been concerned with 
identifying the physical factors that form the ‘environmental backcloth’ and which may 
generate opportunities for crime (Brantingham and Brantingham, 1993; Perkins et al, 
1992; Taylor et al, 1980).  The literature has shown that certain physical attributes such 
as ‘negative’ land uses, street layouts that create multiple escape routes, environmental 
disrepair and desolation, and physical features that block visibility and natural 
surveillance can encourage higher incidence of crime.   
 

According to researchers the design of the built environment can affect crime 
through its effect on the degree of access, ease of entrance and exit, and surveillability 
(Greenberg and Rohe, 1984).  For example, alleys and mid-block connections increase 
the number of escape routes, open a block or a neighborhood to exploration, and 
aggravate the criminal risk for residential or commercial establishments (Brantingham 
and Brantingham, 1993). 
 

The type of surrounding land uses has been found to have a major effect on the 
incidence of crime.  As early as 1929, Shaw and McKay had noted that commercial and 
industrial areas were prominent features of neighborhoods with high residential 
delinquency (Shaw and McKay, 1929).  A much later study that examined the 
relationship between land use and crime in the District of Columbia found that the 
commercial and transitional areas tended to be more attractive targets for criminals, 
followed by industrial areas, with residential areas considered as the least attractive.  
Multifamily housing areas are typically found to be more susceptible to crime than 
single-family housing (Rhodes and Conly, 1981).  The percentage of lots zoned for 

 141



commercial use was a significant predictor of increased risk of high robbery rates in 
Washington, DC (Harrell and Jouvis, 1994, in Taylor and Harrell, 1996). 

 
Specific commercial uses are more likely to generate crime than others, especially 

if there is a high concentration of them in a limited area.  The presence of a great number 
of liquor stores, bars, and taverns can have a negative effect on neighborhood crime 
(Block and Block, 1995).  Consumption of alcohol frequently affects aggression and 
increases willingness to take risks, thus facilitating criminal behavior (Fagan, 1990).  
Patrons of establishments in which cash transactions take place (pawnshops, check-
cashing facilities, ATMs) are likely targets.  Areas with vacant lots or buildings, public 
parks, and schools often attract youth and gang-related crime (Perkins et al, 1992). 
 

In addition to access opportunities and ‘negative’ land uses, the level of physical 
disrepair and deterioration in an area seems to be related to crime incidence.  Skogan 
(1990) and Wilson and Kelling (1982) have argued that physical incivilities (trash, 
graffiti, abandoned buildings, disrepair, unkempt lots) and social incivilities (rowdy 
behavior, drug dealing, public drunkenness, prostitution, panhandling, and loitering) 
result in higher crime and resident fear.  The relationship of physical incivilities to crime 
is expressed in the ‘broken window’ thesis, popularized by Wilson and Kelling (1982).  A 
broken window left unrepaired implies that social control is weak in an area.  Potential 
offenders are more likely to act if they believe that no one is in control.  Most relevant 
studies have measured perceived incivilities and have not developed objective measures 
of physical incivilities (Perkins et al, 1992). 
 

Offenders want to avoid the risk of being seen while committing a crime.  The 
possibility of surveillance by shop owners, managers, employees, guards, or caretakers 
has been found to have a strong effect in reducing crime (Brantingham and Brantingham, 
1993).  Surveillance is dependent on visibility, which in turn is determined by good 
lighting at night, unobstructed lines of sight through windows, and from neighboring 
buildings and streets (Rand, 1983).  Thus, the presence of physical features that increase 
the visibility of a site (such as open storefronts, unobstructed windows, and well-lit areas) 
and the absence of features that can block views (for example, blank walls, thick 
vegetation) can help ameliorate crime. 
 

The relationship between density and crime has been quite ambiguous.  Jacobs’s 
(1961) prescription of ‘eyes on the street’ as a deterrent to criminal activity has been 
questioned by researchers who argued that high levels of activity do no necessarily imply 
adequate surveillance (Mayhew, 1981).  Some studies even found levels of pedestrian 
and vehicular traffic to be negatively related to the incidence of certain crimes (Duffala, 
1976; Pablant and Baxter, 1975).  In a study of the ten most dangerous bus stops in Los 
Angeles we found that certain types of crime were more likely to happen in desolate 
areas, whereas other types of crime typically took place in situations of high density 
when the potential offender could easily hide in the crowd (Loukaitou-Sideris, 1999). 
 

 

 142



In spite of the considerable number of theoretical and empirical studies in which 
the link between physical environment and crime has been investigated, most studies 
have not shown which environmental variables affect which types of crimes.   For 
classification purposes the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) has classified crime into 
two major categories: Type 1 crime (criminal homicide, forcible rape, robbery, 
aggravated assault, larceny theft, burglary, grand auto theft, arson), and Type 2 crime 
(crime of less serious nature against people and their property, such as petty theft, 
disorderly conduct, vagrancy, non-aggravated assaults, drug violations, vandalism, etc).  
Some types of crime in the Type 2 category are characterized as public nuisance crime.  
Although of a less serious nature, public nuisance crime can be very intimidating for 
transit riders.  Such incidents (public drinking, obscene language, disorderly conduct) 
made up most of the crime reported in our bus stop studies while vandalism was the most 
frequent crime at the transit stations.  In our study, we sought to identify the particular 
variables that are relevant for serious crime, as well as the variables which seem to 
encourage public nuisance crime.   
 

Few researchers have measured the physical environment directly and objectively, 
preferring instead to utilize subjective perception surveys (Perkins et al, 1993).  Yet some 
have argued that crime indicators can be better predicted by objective measures of the 
environment rather than by studies of social perception (Gifford, 1993).  In our studies 
we have sought to measure different environmental attributes around transit stops and 
stations in Los Angeles using objective measures of crime indicators.  We have focused 
on two types of public transportation most relevant to the Los Angeles region – bus and 
light rail.   
 
Transit Crime in Los Angeles 

The Setting: Bus Stops and Light Rail Stations.  Bus stop crime in Los Angeles is 
highly concentrated spatially, with the vast majority of crime incidents committed in the 
downtown area and its adjacent neighborhoods to the west. To explore the impact of 
environmental characteristics on bus stop crime, we focused on a sample of 100 
intersections with bus stops in both downtown Los Angeles and in the adjoining 
neighborhoods of Pico Union and Westlake. The map displayed in Figure 1 shows crime 
and ridership levels for the bus stops in our sample, which were located in downtown Los 
Angeles.  The high-crime bus stops were concentrated along certain main streets in what 
is considered the old historic core and skidrow areas of downtown, as well as along a 
major artery in the outlying Pico Union neighborhood. 
 

Our crime database consisted of 2,805 bus stop crimes (crimes against people 
who were waiting for a bus or who had just come off a bus).  The data was collected by 
the Los Angeles Metropolitan Transportation Authority (MTA) and the Los Angeles 
Police Department from 1994 to 1998.    About three-fourths of the crime incidents were 
Type 2 crimes while just 577 were Type 1 crimes.  Ridership was based on data also 
obtained from the MTA and was calculated as the  daily average numbers of passenger 
boardings and alightings per bus stop. Crime data at each bus stop were normalized by 
ridership (i.e. crimes per rider).  Ridership ranged from a minimum of 158 riders per day 

 143



to a maximum of almost 13,000.  Over eighty percent of the bus stops had less than 5,000 
riders per day, while only two had more than 10,000 daily riders. 
 

We used the Los Angeles Green Line as a case study to explore how the different 
physical and social characteristics at the station and neighborhood affect station crime.  
The Green Line is a light-rail line that runs for 19.6 miles from Norwalk to El Segundo in 
Los Angeles County (see Figure 2).  The line has fourteen stations and twenty-four 
separate parking lots and had an average weekday ridership of 26,894 passengers in 
1999.  This is a small and simple light-rail system that started operating in August 1995.  
The Green Line represents a good case to study the relationship between different socio-
spatial variables and the incidence of crime since the fourteen station neighborhoods vary 
significantly in terms of their surrounding land uses and environmental conditions.  The 
station neighborhoods also vary in regard to their sociodemographic characteristics.  
Neighborhoods at the western end of the line are more affluent than the inner-city 
neighborhoods in the middle.  Neighborhoods at the eastern end can be characterized as 
middle class.  They are ethnically more heterogeneous than the neighborhoods at the 
western end, which are primarily white. 
 

We obtained crime data for the Green Line from the Transit Services Bureau of 
the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department from 1998 onward and ridership data for 

 144



all Green Line stations from the Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation 
Authority (MTA).  Sixty-eight percent of crimes at the transit stations fell into the Type 2 
category and consisted primarily of vandalism.   Most of the serious crime at stations 

took place in the park-and-ride lots (motor vehicle theft and burglary/theft from vehicles) 
followed by crimes on the platform (robbery and assault against persons).  There was no  
reported homicide and only one rape. 
 

The Unit of Analysis: Place vs. Space. Criminologists discuss the link between 
place and space, and argue that certain criminogenic factors may be rooted in either place 
or space attributes. They define places as “points in space” (for example, an intersection, 
a building, a park), and spaces as “two-dimensional areas that contain the events, specific 
situations, and special attributes characteristic of places” (Block and Block, 1995, page 
146).  While operationally the scale of our data collection for the two types of studies 
differed, we collected data both at the space level, the neighborhood surrounding the bus 
stop or transit station, and at the place level, the immediate bus stop or transit station 
environment.   For the bus stop studies, a place represented the intersection where the bus 
stop was located, while the space was defined as a 150-foot radius around the intersection 
(basically ½ block in either direction).  The space (or neighborhood) for the transit station 
studies was considered to be ¼ mile radius around the station.  In both types of studies 
we conducted a systematic and detailed fieldwork analysis and photographic 
documentation of the environment around the transit station or stop and compiled an 
inventory of environmental data and attributes that other studies have shown to be related 
to crime incidence.   
 

The Effect of Physical Characteristics on Crime.  The environmental inventory 
data were collected by researchers who visited each transit site and mapped and recorded 
information concerning physical conditions.  Data were collected for three groups of 
physical characteristics:  (a) urban form characteristics around transit stops, such as land 
uses, the overall condition of the surrounding neighborhood, and the concentration of 

 145



undesirable places (e.g., bars, liquor stores, pawnshops, etc.); (b) stop or station 
characteristics, such as the existence of bus shelters or the layout of the station platform, 
the degree of formal or informal surveillance, the visibility and lighting at bus stops or 
station platforms and park-and-ride lots; and (c) street characteristics, such as on-street 
parking and pedestrian and vehicular traffic levels.  Table 2 lists the environmental 
variables measured for each study.  Correlation studies led to a number of conclusions 
about the relationship of certain physical attributes and bus stop or transit station crime, 
summarized in Tables 3 and 4. 
 

Our analysis revealed that certain urban form and bus stop characteristics 
influence transit crime.  For example, crime rates were higher at bus stops in areas with 
alleys and mid-block passages (corroborating the idea that crime is high where there are 
avenues for escape) and near multi-family housing, liquor stores, check-cashing 
establishments, vacant buildings, and buildings marked by graffiti and litter.  For violent 
(Type 1) crimes in particular, we found that the location of check-cashing establishments 
near bus stops and the presence of alleys had the strongest positive correlation with crime 
rates. 

 146



Table 2:  Environmental Indicators Measured

Bus Stops
Urban Form Characteristics Street Characteristics
 Factors Facilitating Escape Street Vehicle Traffic

Alley/Mid-block Connection On-street Parking

 Land Use
Single-family Residential Bus Stop Characteristics
Multi-family Residential Visibility

Small/Open-Air Commercial Lighting

Small/Closed Front Commercial Public Phones

Liquor Stores Bus Shelters

Check Cashing Establishments Visible Caretaker/Guard

Adult Movie Theatres Police Substation

Adult Book Stores Pedestrian Presence

Surface Parking Lot

Parking Structure

 Condition
Vacant Lots

Vacant Buildings

Run-down Establishments

Graffiti-litter

Transit Stations
Urban Form Characteristics Street Characteristics
 Land Use Street Vehicle Traffic

Single-family Residential Pedestrian Traffic (adjacent to station)

Multi-family Residential

Mixed Use Station Characteristics
Office (low, medium, or high rise)  Park N Ride Lots
Retail neighborhood Distance from Platform

Retail "Big Box" Lighting

Industrial (light or heavy) Fencing

Vacant Land Security Guards

Surface Parking Lot Pedestrian Presence

Parking Structure Utilization

Open Space (e.g. parks) Linkage to Platform 

Specific Land Use Graffiti-Litter

Liquor Stores, Pawn Shops,  Platform
Check Cashing Establishments,  Type (Street Level, Overpass, Underpass)

Parks, Schools, Lighting

Restaurants, Cafes, Security Guards/Police Officers

Hotels, Motels, Pedestrian Presence

Banks/ATMs, Civiv Buildings Linkage to Street

 Condition Graffiti-Litter

Density Visibility from Surroundings

Vacant Buildings Hiding Places

Building Stock Condition (Poor, Average, Good)

Neighborhood Condition (Blighted, Average, Well-kept)

Dynamics of Neighborhood (Decaying, Stable, Prosperous)

Sense of Safety (Good, Average, Poor)

 147



Table 3:  Environmental Variables Related to Bus Stop Crime

Variables Associated Variables Associated 

with with

Higher Crime Rates Lower Crime Rates

1- Liquor Stores and Other Undesirable 1- Large/Closed Front Commercial

 Establishments 2- Visibility

2- Vacant Buildings and Lots 3- Bus Shelters

3- Rundown Buildings 4- Street Traffic

4- Level of Litter 5- Pedestrian Presence

Table 4:  Environmental Variables Related to Station Crime

Variables Associated Variables Associated 

with with

Higher Crime Rates Lower Crime Rates

1- Large Park-and-Ride Lots 1- Office/Industrial Land Use

2- Underpass Station Design 2- Well-kept Neighborhood

3- Poor Visibility 3- Good Building Stock

4- Residential/Retail Land Use  

5- Liquor Stores and Other Undesirable  
 Establishments

6- Graffiti & Litter
7- Deteriorating Buildings

 
 
Positive environmental factors included good visibility from surrounding establishments 
and the presence of bus shelters.  Pedestrian presence was negatively correlated with bus 
stop crime rates, indicating lower levels of crime where there were more “eyes on the 
street”  (Jacobs, 1961).  Street characteristics such as on-street parking and vehicle traffic 
seemed to also affect crime rates.  Bus stop intersections with on-street parking tended to 
have higher crime rates (perhaps due to obstruction of visibility), while heavy vehicular 
traffic was associated with lower crime rates (perhaps similar to pedestrian presence).  
Photographs in Figure 3 show environments typically associated with high-and-low crime 
bus stops. 
 

(a) Low Crime bus Stop              (b) High Crime Bus Stop 
 
Figure 3:  Typical Low- and High-Crime Bus Stops 
 

 148



Our analysis of transit station crime data showed that Type 1 crime was mostly 
concentrated at either the park-and-ride lots (60 percent) or on station platforms (about 20 
percent).  Type 2 crimes were predominantly in the access routes to the platform from the  
parking lot or from the street (i.e. stairs, elevators, or escalators).  Ninety percent of Type 
2 crimes were vandalism, and half of these incidents took place in the access routes. 
 

At park-and-ride lots, a significant correlation was found between the number of 
parking spaces and crime. Parking lots with litter tended to also concentrate more 
vandalism.  Parking lots appeared to be quite void of pedestrians, and this desolateness 
seemed to facilitate criminal activity. Dark and desolate parking areas under the freeway 
projected a feeling of lack of safety (see Figure 4). 

Figure 4:  Parking Lot in Wilmington Station s Platform at Lakewood 
                  Station 

 

rveillance from the adjacent neighborhood and 
creases the level of platform noise. 

 

n a station that 
ad the highest number of pawnshops and check cashing establishments.  

 

Figure 5:  Underpas

With regard to station design underpass stations tended to have higher crime rates 
than overpass stations, presumably because of less visibility.  A careful examination of 
the physical environment showed a number of hiding places (under stairways, behind 
pillars) in the dark underpass stations (see Figure 5). The five stations with the highest 
platform crime had also minimal visibility from their surroundings (Figure 6), as they 
were separated from the adjacent neighborhood fabric by a high-speed freeway and 
interchange ramps.  Unlike many light-rail systems that are well integrated in their 
surroundings, the location of many Green Line platforms in the midst of a freeway 
negates the potential for natural su
in

Crime was higher at stations surrounded by residential land uses and lower at 
stations with primarily office and industrial uses.  This can be explained by the fact that 
office and industrial areas were also characterized by lower densities than residential 
areas. Station neighborhoods with significant retail facilities had higher Type 2 crime.  
As in the case of bus stops, we found that ‘negative’ land uses such as liquor stores, bars 
and check cashing establishments had a strong positive correlation with Type 2 crimes 
(see Figure 7). In fact, the highest level of Type 2 crimes was observed i
h

 149



 

 
 

Figure 6:  Platform at Long Beach Station        Figure 7:  Bar in Vicinity of Long Beach Station 
 
Our fieldwork seemed to support the “broken window” thesis (Wilson and Kelling 1982), 
that there is a relationship between physical and social incivilities and crime.  Station 
neighborhoods that were considered “decaying” – with littered sidewalks, abundance of 
graffiti, and deteriorating buildings – also had high numbers of Type 2 crime.  In contrast, 
station neighborhoods considered “prosperous,” “well-kept,” and with good building 
stock had low crime levels. 
 
The Effect of Sociodemographic Characteristics on Crime 

As noted earlier, many researchers have hypothesized that the compositional 
characteristics of the neighborhood surrounding a transit station (its density, income 
levels, age and race composition, education level, and unemployment levels of residents) 
have a likely correlation with transit crime.  While we were primarily interested in the 
effect of environmental characteristics on crime, we recognized the validity of the 
compositional approach.  We therefore investigated the sociodemographic composition of 
the station neighborhoods and used these factors as controls in multivariate analysis in 
order to explore relationships of the environmental characteristics with crime. 

 
Table 5: Sociodemographic Variables Related to Station Crime 

Variables Associated Variables Associated

with with

Higher Crime Rates Lower Crime Rates

1- High Population Density 1- Owner Occupied Units

2- More Persons per Household 2- High Income Households

3- Younger Population 3- White Neighborhoods

4- Population with less than 4- Population College Educated

 High School Education

 
 

Based on 1997 census block group data, we found that station neighborhoods 
differed significantly in terms of the population living within a half-mile radius of a 
station.   Analysis showed that certain sociodemographic characteristics of the 
neighborhoods adjacent to the station seem to be related to station crime (Table 5).  We 

 150



found higher Type 2 crime in station neighborhoods with larger populations (Figure 8), 
more persons per household, a younger population, and a higher percentage of the 
population with less than a high school education.  Type 2 crime counts were lower at 
stations where there was a higher percentage of owner-occupied units and a higher 
percentage of high-income households. 
 

We found more serious crimes against persons in areas with more persons per 
household, more low-income families (Figure 9), a larger percentage of the population 
younger than 18, and more population with less than a high school education.   There 
were fewer serious crimes against persons in predominantly white neighborhoods, in 
areas where more of the population was college educated, and where there was a high 
percentage of owner-occupied housing. 

 
For our bus stop studies the scale of the neighborhood (half a block around the 

intersection) and the general lack of residential population in downtown precluded a 
serious analysis of the effects of socioeconomic data. We noted, however, the high 
concentrations of bus stop crime in localized corridors and used location dummy 
variables as controls in multi-variate analysis to account for potential sociodemographic 
effects. We found a very high concentration of the incidence of bus stop crime in one 

 151



central zone of downtown Los Angeles that coincided with the city’s old historic core.  A 
second (but lighter) concentration extended eastward from the old historic core to the 
Skidrow District.  Downtown Los Angeles has been described as highly polarized (Davis, 
1991; Soja, 1991). The spatial contrast between the new and prosperous office district 
(where we noted low levels of bus stop crime per capita) and the old, decaying part of 
downtown (where we noted high levels of bus stop crime per capita) is indeed sharp.  The 
two high-crime districts (old Historic Core and Skidrow) also have very high 
concentrations of dirty streets and alleys, vacant buildings, and negative land uses.  After 
controlling for place we still found that specific environmental variables were related to 
crime rates – liquor stores and other undesirable facilities and litter result in higher crime 
rates, whereas visibility and the presence of pedestrians lead to lower crime rates. 
 
Policy Recommendations:  How Can We Make Transit Stops and Stations Safer? 

Our research gives a clear indication that a combination of social and physical 
variables at a transit station or stop and its immediate neighborhood affect crime.  Most 
crimes tend to occur in dangerous places.  Why these places have a higher crime potential 
than others can be partly explained by their social and compositional characteristics.  But 
within these dangerous locales that concentrate many hot spots of crime, some spaces are 
more dangerous than others. At the same time, different types of crime occur under 
different environmental conditions. At bus stops, serious crimes tend to happen in more 
isolated situations, while pickpockets seek crowding.  At stations, crime at the platforms 
against people was strongly related to ridership – the busiest stations tended to 
concentrate the most serious crime.   
 

The design and layout of the physical environment can be conducive to crime or 
can reduce opportunities for criminal actions.  For example, we found many instances of 
bus stops in the historic core (an area with high crime potential) that were crime ridden, 
while other bus stops in the same area and along the same bus route were mostly 
unscathed.  On the basis of our findings, it can be concluded that the presence or absence 
of certain environmental characteristics in the environment of a transit stop can affect the 
incidence of crime. 
 

While transit authorities cannot deal with many of the social variables that affect 
crime, our studies pinpoint a number of design and policy implications to tackle the 
physical variables.  For one, the security of transit passengers should extend from the bus 
stop or station platform (place) to the public environment that surrounds the transit stop 
(space). Good visibility and pedestrian presence are important variables in reducing 
crime.  Every effort should be made to site bus stops away from desolate spaces, empty 
lots, and vacant buildings and in front of establishments that offer opportunities for 
natural surveillance.  The placement of bus stops near undesirable establishments (liquor 
stores, bars, adult bookstores and movie theatres) and near facilities that favor many cash 
transactions (pawnshops, check-cashing establishments) should be avoided.  Sometimes, 
this may simply mean moving a bus stop a few yards up and down a street or at the 
opposite corner. 
 

 152



In discussions with MTA representatives about the findings of this research, we 
discovered that in many cases bus stops were purposely placed near empty lots or vacant 
buildings as there was less opposition from property owners.  We found, however, the 
MTA very receptive to our recommendations and one immediate action taken was the 
allocation of $500,000 in local transportation funds for bus stop safety improvements 
which included bus stop relocations as well as physical improvements such as shelters 
and lighting. 
 

Although on-street location of light-rail stations provides opportunities for more 
visibility from surrounding establishments (Walker 1992), the location of light-rail lines 
in the freeway median makes this option less viable. Still, appropriate station and parking 
lot design that eliminates entrapment spots and hiding places and increases visibility 
through design and adequate lighting can create “defensible space” (Newman 1972), a 
station environment whose physical attributes contribute to its better security. 
 

A security analysis report was prepared prior to the opening of the Green Line 
(AEGIR Systems Inc. 1991).  This report recognized that security measures needed to be 
implemented for three areas most at risk: station plaza areas under freeway overcrossings; 
along routes used by passengers between station plaza areas and parking lots; and in the 
parking lots adjacent to the stations (all areas we found also to be most at risk).  Emphasis 
in this report was placed, however, on policing these areas rather than on crime 
prevention through environmental design (CPTED).  With the current strain on police 
resources, it becomes imperative to examine CPTED tools, as complementary to policing.  
This assertion is supported by our empirical findings that show that certain elements in 
the design of the built environment can facilitate or discourage crime. 
 

For light-rail stations, the security of park-and-ride lots and of the routes 
connecting them to the station is very significant.  Our studies showed that smaller, well-
lit lots that were well integrated to the surrounding urban fabric scored well in terms of 
security.  Increased police patrolling of the lot, possibly paid from parking revenue, could 
help in the reduction of park-and-ride crime.  Also, the incorporation of convenience 
stores and ticket machines in the parking lot could increase pedestrian presence and 
reduce car thefts.  
 

Because crime tends to be concentrated disproportionately in specific dangerous 
locales, a regular security audit by transit authorities will reveal the hot spots of crime at 
the bus stops or transit stations.  This audit could be used to guide a targeted deployment 
of security personnel to the most dangerous spots during the most dangerous times.  For 
bus stops, specifically, bicycle and foot patrolling by police should reduce opportunities 
for crime. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 153



The upkeep, good maintenance, and cleanliness of the public environment 
surrounding the bus stop or station are of paramount importance for the safety of transit 
passengers.  Incidents of vandalism that plague transit systems can be reduced through 
the use of graffiti and vandal-resistant materials.  City agencies should strive to keep the 
environment free of graffiti and litter, thus sending the message that someone other than 
the criminal is in control of the transit stop environment. 

 
Finally we hope our research brings a message to transportation authorities that 

planning and design of a transit system needs to extend beyond the system itself to 
incorporate the public environments of the transit stop, park-and-ride, overheads and 
underpasses, and sidewalks leading to the bus stop or station platform.  Transit stops and 
stations are important settings for the many citizens who spend time at them waiting for 
buses and trains.  They should be safe and comfortable.  Good planning and design can 
definitely increase the odds that the trip to home or work will be a safe one. 

 154



References 
 
AEGIR Systems, Inc. (1991).  “Green Line Security Analysis Final Report,” Camarillo, CA. 
 
Block, R.L. and C. R. Block (1995). “Space, Place, and Crime: Hot Spot Areas and Hot Places of Liquor-
Related Crime,” in J. Eck and D. Weisburd (eds.) Crime and Place, Monsey, NY: Willow Tree Press.  
 
Block R. and C.R. Block (2000). “The Bronx and Chicago: Street Robbery in the Environs of Rapid Transit 
Stations,” in Analyzing Crime Patterns: Frontiers in Practice, Mollenkopf, J. (ed.), London: Sage. 
 
Block, R. and S. Davis. (1996). “The Environs of rapid Transit Stations: A Focus for Street Crime or Just 
Another Risky Place?” in R. Clarke (ed.) Preventing Mass Transit Crime, Monsey, NY: Criminal Justice 
Press. 
 
Brantingham P.L. and P.J. Brantingham (1993). “Nodes, Paths, and Edges: Considerations on the 
Complexity of Crime and Physical Environment,” Journal of Environmental Psychology, Vol. 13, pp. 3-28. 
 
Davis, M. (1991). “The Infinite Game: Redeveloping Downtown Los Angeles,” in D. Ghirardo (Ed.), Out 
of Site: A Social Criticism of Architecture, Seattle: Bay Press. 
 
Duffala, D.C. (1976). " Convenience Stores: Armed Robbery and Physical Environmental Features," 
American Behavioral Scientist, Vol. 20, pp.227-246. 
 
Fagan, J. (1990). "Intoxication and Aggression," in M. Tonry and J. Wilson (Eds.) Drugs and Crime, 
Chicago: University of Chicago Press. 
 
Gifford, R. (1993). “Crime and Context: A Complex, Crucial Conundrum,” Journal of Environmental 
Psychology, Vol. 13, pp. 1-2. 
 
Greenberg, S. and W. Rohe (1984). “Neighborhood Design and Crime,” APA Journal, Vol. 50:1, pp. 48-61. 
 
Harrell, A. and C. Jouvis (1994). “Community Decay and Crime,” final report, grant number National 
Institute of Justice NIJ-IJ-CX-K016, The Urban Institute, Washington, DC.   
 
Jacobs, J. (1961). The Life and Death of Great American Cities. New York: Vintage Books. 
 
Liggett, R., A. Loukaitou-Sideris, A. and H. Iseki. (2001), "The Bus Stop – Environment Connection: Do 
Characteristics of the Built Environment Correlate with Bus Stop Crime?” Transportation Research Record 
1760, pp. 20-27. 
 
Liggett, R., A. Loukaitou-Sideris, A. and H. Iseki. (2003), “Journeys to Crime: Assessing the Effects of a 
Light Rail Line on Crime in the Neighborhoods,” Journal of Public Transportation (forthcoming). 
 
Loukaitou-Sideris, A. (1999). "Hot Spots of Bus Stop Crime: The Importance of Environmental 
Attributes." Journal of the American Planning Association, 65:4, pp. 395-411. 
 
Loukaitou-Sideris, A. and T. Banerjee (2000).  “The Blue Line Blues: Why the Vision of Transit Village 
May Not Materialize Despite Impressive Growth in Transit Ridership,” Journal of Urban Design, 5:2, pp. 
101-125. 
 
Loukaitou-Sideris, A., R. Liggett, H. Iseki, and W. Thurlow (2001). "Measuring the Impact of Built 
Environment on Bus Stop Crime," Environment and Planning B, 28(2), pp. 255-280.  
 
Loukaitou-Sideris, A., R. Liggett, and H. Iseki (2002).  “The Geography of Transit Crime.  Documentation 
and Evaluation of Crime Incidence on and around the Green Line Stations in Los Angeles,” Journal of 
Planning Education and Research 22, pp. 135-161. 

 155



 
Mayhew, P. (1981). "Crime in public View: Surveillance and Crime Prevention," in P.J. Brantingham and 
P.L. Brantingham  (Eds.) Environmental Criminology, Beverly Hills: Sage Publications. 
 
Newman, O. (1972). Defensible Space: Crime Prevention through Urban Design, New York: MacMillan. 
 
Pablant, P. and J. Baxter (1975). "Environmental Correlates of School Vandalism," Journal of the 
American Institute of Planners, Vol. 41, pp. 270-276. 
 
Perkins, D., J. Meeks, and R. Taylor (1992). “The Physical Environment of Street Blocks and Resident 
Perceptions of Crime and Disorder: Implications for Theory and Measurement,” Journal of Environmental 
Criminology, Vol. 12, pp. 21-34. 
 
Perkins, D., A. Abraham, R. Richard, and B. Taylor (1993).  “The Physical Environment of Street Crime,” 
Journal of Environmental Psychology, Vol. 13, pp. 29-49. 
 
Rand, G. (1983). Crime and Environment: An Approach for Los Angeles, Los Angeles: The Urban 
Innovations Group. 
 
Rittel, H., and M. Webber (1973).   “Dilemmas in a General Theory of Planning,” Policy Sciences 4, pp. 
155-69. 
 
Rhodes, W. and C. Conly (1981). "Crime and Mobility: An Empirical Study," in P. Brantingham and P. 
Brantingham (Eds.) Environmental Criminology, Beverly Hills: sage Publications. 
 
Shaw, C. and H. McKay (1929). Delinquency Areas, Chicago: University of Chicago Press. 
 
Skogan, W.G. (1990). Disorder and Decline: Crime and the Spiral of Decay in American Neighborhoods,  
New York: MacMillan. 
 
Soja, E. (1991).  “Poles Apart … Urban Restructuring in New York and Los Angeles,” in J. Mollenkopf 
and M. Castells (Eds.) Dual City, NewYork: Russell Sage Foundation. 
 
Taylor, R., S. Gottfredson, and S. Brower (1980). “The Defensibility of Defensible Space,” in T. Hirshi and 
M. Gottfredson (Eds.) Understanding Crime, Beverly Hills, CA: Sage. 
 
Taylor, R. and A. Harrell (1996), Physical Environment and Crime, National Institute of Justice Research 
Report, May 1996. 
 
Walker, M. (1992). “Planning and Design of On-Street Light Rail Transit Stations,” Transportation 
Research Record 1361, pp. 125-135. 
 
Wilson, J.Q. and Kelling, G.L. (1982). “Broken Windows: The Police and Neighborhood Safety,” Atlantic 
Monthly, 249(3), 29-38. 
 
 
 

 

 156





 
 

Pawnbroking In The U.S.:   
A Profile Of Customers 

 
Dr. Robert W. Johnson 

 
Senior Research Associate 

Credit Research Center 
Georgetown University 

Washington, D.C. 
 

Dr. Dixie P. Johnson 
Co-Director of Research 

Consumer Credit Intelligence, LLC 
Greenwich, CT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

July 1998 
 
 
 
 



 ii 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

THE CREDIT RESEARCH CENTER, 
established in 1974, is a publicly 
supported, nonpartisan research and 
educational organization. The Center 
operates as a nonprofit unit of the School 
of Business at Georgetown University.  Its 
mission is to stimulate, conduct, and 
support research on economic issues 
relating to consumer and mortgage credit.  
The Center’s research product is used by 
regulatory agencies, legislatures, the credit 
industry, consumer groups and the judicial 
system. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Credit Research Center 
School of Business 
Georgetown University 
Washington, D.C.  
 
 
 
 
© 1998 by the Credit Research Center. 
All rights reserved. 
 
 
 
 
 

ADVISORY PANEL 
Credit Needs of Low-Income Households 

 
Dr. John Caskey, Professor 
Department of Economics 
Swarthmore College 

 
Dr. Thomas A. Durkin 
Regulatory Planning & Review Director 
Federal Reserve Board 
 
Bob Haler (Deceased) 
Retired Director of Financial Institutions 
State of Indiana 
 
Charles Jones (Deceased) 
American Pawn and Jewelry 
 
Dr. Jarett Oeltjen 
College of Law 
Florida State University 
 
Mr. Ken Smith 
Chief Executive Officer 
Cindy’s  Pawn 
 
Bill White 
Vice President 
Cash America International, Inc. 
 
Dr. Michael E. Staten (ex-officio) 
Director, Credit Research Center 
 

 
 



 iii 

 
 

Prologue 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

I was asked to survey the past 25 years in banking.  
Instead, I have given you a highly selective glance 

backward and forward. . . .The only anomaly in this 
mosaic is the failure of finance to reach underserved 

parts of our community.  This we leave as a challenge 
for the next 25 years. 

 
 

Stuart I. Greenbaum* 
“Twenty-Five Years of Banking Research” 

 
Presented at the Annual Meeting 

Financial Management Association 
1995 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

*Dean, John M. Olin School of Business 
Washington University, St. Louis 

 
 



 iv

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

 Page 
  
Prologue …………………………………………………………………………. ii 

 INTRODUCTION ……………………………………………………………….           vi 
 

CHAPTER 1: PAWNBROKING: AN ANCIENT ART  
                       IN MODERN AMERICA 

 

     
          A. Pawnbroking in Europe ………………………………………………… 1 
                      1. Pawnbroking in the Middle Ages ……………………………….. 1 
                      2. Public ownership of pawnshops …………………………………. 4 
  
          B.  Pawnbroking in the United States ………………………………………. 6 
                      1. Growth of pawnshops …………………………………………….        7 
                                  a. Demand for pawnshop services ………………………….. 7 
                                  b. Supply of pawnshop services ……………………………. 10 
                      2.  Location of pawnshops …………………………………………. 12 
                      3.  The pawn transaction ……………………………………………. 14 
                      4.  Effects of regulation on revenues, costs and consumers ……..…. 18 
                                   a. Cash loans vs. pawnshop loans …………………………. 18 
                                   b. Effects of a reduction in interest rate ceilings …………...      19 
                                   c.  Effects of other regulations ……………………………. 23 
                                   d.  Effects of an increase in interest rate ceilings …………. 24 
                      5. Alternatives to pawnshops ……………………………………… 25 
  
         C.  Conclusions …………………………………………………………….. 29 
  
CHAPTER 2:  CONSUMER SURVEY AND ANALYSIS  
  
         A. Background and methodology ………………………………………….. 31 
                      1. Origins of study ………………………………………………….  31 
                      2. Design of study……………………………………………………  32 
                      3. Procedures for conducting survey……………………………… 33 
  
         B. The sample ……………………………………………………………… 35 
  
         C. The exhibits……………………………………………………………… 36 
  
         D. Analysis ………………………………………………………………… 37 
                      1. Demographic characteristics……………………………………. 37 
                      2. Employment characteristics…………………………………….. 44 
                      3. Income…………………………………………………………… 45 
                      4. Lifestyle …………………………………………………………. 46 



 v

                      5. Financial accounts……………………………………………….. 51 
                      6. Borrowing activities at pawn shops……………………………… 55 
                      7. Pawnshop history ………………………………………………… 58 
  
       E. Summary …………………………………………………………………... 67 
  
CHAPTER 3: CONCLUSIONS AND IMPLICATIONS ………………………… 69 

 
 
Appendices 
 

 

       1.  Questionnaires  
       2.  Summary of state pawnshop laws (1998)  



 vi

INTRODUCTION 
 

This report was prepared by the staff of the Credit Research Center 
(CRC), School of Business, Georgetown University, Washington, D.C. CRC was 
founded at Purdue University in 1974.  The Center relocated its offices to 
Georgetown University in 1997.  Throughout the past 25 years the objective of 
CRC’s research has been to improve understanding of the financial markets that 
serve consumers’ credit needs, with emphasis on the costs and benefits to 
consumers of public policies and business practices.   

 
This study is consistent with that basic objective.  Pawnbroking represents 

a small, but rapidly growing segment of the consumer credit industry.  Legislation 
continues to be introduced that affects pawnshops and their customers.  Yet, there 
have been very few significant studies and no large data bases developed to 
provide a foundation for evaluating the effects on consumers of these regulations.  

 
To address this gap in our understanding of this segment of the consumer 

credit industry, the staff of CRC developed a methodology to study the operations 
of pawnshops and the characteristics of their customers.  The staff developed 
three different questionnaires to be used in a survey of pawnshop customers.  
Funding for the project was provided by the National Pawnbrokers Association 
and by the unrestricted funds of CRC. 

 
Dr. Michael E. Staten, Director of CRC, appointed an Advisory Panel 

(listed on page ii) to review and critique the methodology and the questionnaires.  
Members of the Panel also arranged for CRC researchers to visit pawnshops and 
to gain the cooperation of pawnshop owners and managers for administering the 
questionnaires to their customers.  CRC researchers attended an annual meeting 
of the National Pawnbrokers Association and talked with many owners of 
pawnshops.  The CRC research staff assumed final responsibility for the design of 
the project and its conclusions.   
 

 The remainder of this monograph is divided into three parts.  The first 
part of Chapter 1 reviews the long history of pawnbroking.  The primary purpose 
of this discussion is to show the economic forces that determine the scope of the 
market for pawnshops, the fundamentals of pawn transactions, the basic skills 
required to be a successful pawnbroker, and the effects on pawnbrokers’ 
customers of various types of government regulation.  The next section explains 
the rapid growth of pawnshops in the United States over the past decade.  A 
description of how a modern pawnshop operates is followed by a detailed 
analysis of the effects of government regulation on revenues, costs and customers.  

 
Chapter 2 is the empirical heart of this study.  At the outset, it explains the 

objectives and design of the survey and how the questionnaires were administered 
to consumers patronizing the pawnshops.  The remainder of this chapter provides 
an in-depth analysis of the characteristics of consumers who borrow at pawnshops 
and compares them to a “control group” of other consumers who were only 



 vii 

and compares them to a “control group” of other consumers who were only 
shopping at pawnshops, and had never borrowed from pawnshops.  Where 
possible and appropriate, pawnshop borrowers were also compared to the general 
population.  

 
The data for this analysis were obtained from 1,820 questionnaires 

completed by consumers at nine different pawnshops in six different states.  This 
is the largest, most comprehensive sample of pawnshop customers ever 
assembled.  Although this is not a random, national sample, the data are 
sufficiently comprehensive to provide considerable insight into the characteristics 
of consumers who use pawnshops for borrowing or shopping.  Bivariate statistical 
analysis is used to compare borrowers and shoppers along many dimensions: 
demographic characteristics, employment characteristics, income, lifestyle, 
financial accounts, borrowing activities and pawnshop history.  These are the 
“real people” affected by the government regulations examined in Chapter 1.  

 
Chapter 3 concludes the report by posing the basic question of public 

policy.  Should public policies be designed to allow pawnshops to expand their 
services, especially in markets where they are currently under-represented, in 
order to serve the type of consumer identified in Chapter 2?  This research is 
designed to assist policymakers in reaching a rational conclusion in the best 
interests of consumers.  

 
 

 



 1

CHAPTER 1 
 

PAWNBROKING: AN ANCIENT ART IN MODERN AMERICA 
 

The basic purpose of this chapter is to identify the economic forces that created 
pawnbroking and determine the viability of the industry, since those same forces still 
drive the industry in modern times.  The first section of this chapter traces the history of 
pawnbroking.  As will be seen later in the chapter, the practices and procedures that were 
developed centuries ago still characterize the industry today.  After a brief description of 
the pawnbroking business in the United States, the next section describes in some detail 
how modern pawnshops operate.  Their operating procedures reflect the nature of their 
customers and the requirements of state and local legislation.  (Chapter 2 provides a 
detailed description of their customers that is drawn from an extensive survey of pawn 
customers in nine states). The next section of this chapter explains the cost structure of 
pawnshops in order to analyze the effects of government regulation upon the ability of 
pawnshops to serve their customers.  The final section draws together the lessons from 
history, the operating procedures of pawnshops and the resulting cost structure in order to 
draw conclusions about public policies needed to assure consumers of continued access 
to this source of credit in a competitive market. 

 
A.  Pawnshops in Europe 
 

Pawnbroking is the oldest form of consumer lending.  Pawnbroking existed in 
China 2,000 to 3,000 years ago.  The merchants of ancient Babylon loaned money on 
crops, gold, silver, and jewelry.  Doubtful legend has it that Queen Isabella pawned her 
jewels to raise funds for Christopher Columbus’s first journey to America.  Throughout 
the ages, every nation and culture has found pawnbroking to be an important economic 
function.  
 
1.  Pawnbroking in the Middle Ages 
 
 A fairly substantial volume of literature is available relating to pawnshops in the 
Middle Ages.  Analysis of these historical records provides insights that are directly 
relevant to the industry today and its regulation.  The adage that “those who have not 
learned from history are doomed to repeat it” is as relevant to the pawnshop business as 
to most other forms of human endeavor.  
 

Pawnbroking became a well-organized business during the Middle Ages.  Its 
growth was fostered by the strictures of the Catholic Church against the taking of interest.  
Strictly speaking, the taking of any interest for a loan of money was a sin.  
 

Thou shalt not lend upon usury to thy brother, usury of money, usury of victuals, 
usury of anything that is lent upon usury.  Unto a stranger thou mayest lend upon 
usury; but unto thy brother thou shalt not lend upon usury.  (Deuteronomy, XIII: 
19-20).  
 



 2

Not surprisingly, the market’s response to this limitation was to find ways around 
the biblical dictum.  One means of meeting the demand for credit while not lending on 
“usury” was to redefine the charge assessed for borrowing.  By 1509, 87 monti di pietà 
had been established in Italy with papal approval to make small loans.  When their 
charges were challenged as violating the biblical injunction against the taking of interest, 
defenders of the monti responded that “they ought more properly to be described as 
contributions to defray the costs of operation, especially the salaries of the officials of the 
monti.”1  
 
        Thus, through a combination of charges and adroit labeling of the charges, the 
medieval pawnbrokers largely escaped being viewed as sinners.  Most of the medieval 
pawnbrokers in Europe were Italians from Northern Italy.  While they subsequently 
spread throughout Europe, some of the best evidence about their operations relates to 
Belgium.  Initially, they opened in small towns throughout Belgium, but found those 
markets for their services too small for them to survive.  (This is not unlike the 
experience in the U.S.). Eventually, they settled in the major cities of that day.  These 
early entrepreneurs who had loan offices, pawnshops or “tables de prét” were called 
“Lombards” or “cahorsins.”2  
 

In order to operate, these pawnshops needed licenses that were obtainable from 
the local prince, king, duke or count.  The granting of licenses was a source of revenue 
and favorable treatment for the grantors.  For example, “count, Guy de Dampierre, who 
was hard-pressed by the needs of an empty treasury”3 granted a Lombard the first charter 
in Flanders in1281 in return for a payment of 1,400 livers.  Understandably, the noble 
granting a license received very favorable terms when he or she applied for a loan.  The 
Lombards found they had to offer very low interest rates and that it was difficult to gain 
repayment as agreed.  Moreover, if the loan was not repaid it was difficult to sell the 
collateral at a reasonable price.  A crown is unique and does not have a ready market. 

 
In some cases, the licenses also had to be approved by the municipal council.  

When Lombards opened in Bruges, the municipal council received an annual license fee.  
Not only did a license permit a Lombard to operate, but also the general practice was to 
restrict the number of licensees in order to control competition.  (Under a number of state 
laws in the U.S. licenses must be obtained to open a pawnshop and licenses are limited by 
some cities for similar reasons).  
 

Although they were making loans in return for payments that appeared very 
similar to “interest,” the Lombards were accepted as a better alternative to “clandestine 
usurers.”4  Indeed, they were given “personal residence,” a favor not accorded to 
moneylenders.  They were given full civil rights, but not political rights.  Nonetheless, the 
more affluent citizens were offended by the lending of money, especially to consumers. 

                                                                 
1 Benjamin Nelson, The Idea of Usury. Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1969, p. 22.  
2  Raymond de Roover, Credit in Mediaeval Bruges. Cambridge, MA: The Mediaeval Academy of 
America, 1948, p. 99. 
3 Ibid., p. 100. 
4 Ibid.,  p. 103. 



 3

The other Italians in Bruges and elsewhere “did not care to associate with them,”5 and the 
Lombards located their shops in remote parts of Bruges so that “customers could find 
their way to the pawnshop without being recognized.”6  (Some citizens in the U.S. hold a 
similar aversion to pawnshops).  

 
Another reason for locating away from more traveled areas was the need for large 

and secure storage space for the items pawned.  The Lombards accepted “all kinds of 
pledges ranging from jewelry and plate to more bulky articles such as clothing, 
kitchenware, kettles, tubs, bedding and furniture.”  The fragment of an account book 
records that, of 80 loans, 46 were secured by “articles of clothing and apparel, 9 by tools 
and agricultural implements, 9 by jewelry, 7 by arms and armor (sword, dagger, cross 
bow, etc.)” and the rest by miscellaneous items.7  (A similar range of items pawned is 
found in the U.S. today, although there is a greater emphasis on jewelry, less on swords 
and daggers). 

 
During this period, Lombards were required to keep items pawned for at least one 

year.  Therefore, in fixing the amount to loan on an item pledged, they had to estimate 
what its market value would be at least a year later if it were forfeited for nonpayment.  
The expected future value was a function of the uniqueness of the item and the time that 
it would take to sell it.  Thus, the estimate of future value was more accurate for an axe or 
a shovel than for a jeweled tiara, and the former could be sold much more quickly than 
the latter.  The longer it took a Lombard to sell a tiara, the lower his return on the 
defaulted loan.  (Today, most pawnbrokers also prefer to accept less costly and standard 
items, such as TV sets, VCRs and jewelry that is easy to appraise and sell if needed). 
 

If the pawn did not sell for enough to cover the loan, the Lombard could not seek 
to recover the shortage from the borrower.  Nor could the borrower seek the 
pawnbroker’s gain on the sale, since that was implicitly part of the charge for the service.  
An early document shows that “the Lombards of Shuys, the seaport of Bruges, lent up to 
60 percent of the estimated market value of a pledge of silverware.”8 

 
As is the case today, Lombards generally tried to avoid accepting stolen property.  

According to a city ordinance of Bruges of March 11, 1409, “a money-lender who 
knowingly or unknowingly accepted stolen goods as pledges was not entitled to any 
compensation, if they were claimed by the rightful owners.”9 

 
A broad range of citizens, from royalty to the working poor, patronized 

Lombards, although the majority might be described as the “working poor.”  “With the 
exception of a broker and a goldsmith, the pawners were all craftsmen or peasants, many 
of them poor weavers, spinners, and shoemakers.”10  As noted above, the Lombards did 
not encourage the royalty to pawn their crowns and jewels.  (While today there are some 
                                                                 
5 Ibid., p. 108. 
6 Ibid., p. 113. 
7 Ibid.,  p. 121.  
8  Ibid., p. 133. 
9 Ibid., pp. 133-34. 
10 Ibid., p. 121. 



 4

very wealthy persons who pawn jewelry and fur coats, most customers are analogous to 
the working poor in Bruges, as will be seen in Chapter 2). 

 
While moneylenders were not supposed to charge any interest for their loans, 

pawnbrokers were able to charge the equivalent of interest, in part because there were 
two parts to each transaction: a grant of money and the storage of a pledge.  It was 
difficult to identify the purpose of any charge, and the charge made for forbearance was 
often assigned some label other than “interest.”  Even so, by 1306, the Lombards were 
permitted to lend at an annual rate equivalent to 43 1/3 percent per year.11 Borrowers 
made payments weekly or, less likely, monthly.  

 
As has been true for centuries, borrowers and other public interest groups 

challenged the “high” interest being charged by the Lombards.12  
 

Because the rate was so high, the pawnbroker was, of course, very unpopular 
among numerous classes of borrowers.  For the common people of the Middle 
Ages, the pawnshop was at the same time a terror and a necessity.  They naively 
believed—and the friars confirmed them in this belief—that the greed of the 
Lombards was the source of all evils and that the legal rate of 2d a pound could 
be reduced by a legislative fiat.  

 
 In response to these pressures, Mary of Burgundy cut the rate in half on April 21, 
1477.  However, as has been true for centuries, the reduction proved to be unenforceable.  
The Lombards either found ways around the limit, or left the business, leaving consumers 
without a source of small, short-term loans other than clandestine usurers. 
 
2.  Public ownership of pawnshops  
 
 Rather than accept the economic realities of a private market for small loans, most 
countries in Europe decided that the public sector could provide small loans at lower 
rates.  Those efforts provide an interesting insight into the economics of pawnbroking.  
Municipalities in France and the Low Countries established monts-de-piété, or “funds of 
pity.”13  These government lenders superseded the Lombards in the beginning of the 17th 
century.  They quickly found that making small loans was more costly than making large 
loans.  Since public pressure forced them to charge much lower rates than the Lombards, 
they had to make up for the lower interest income by reducing the ratio of the amount 
lent to the market value of the pawn.  
 

The incentive to lower the loan-to-value ratio was greatly enhanced in Antwerp 
by a regulation providing that if the sale of a pledge by the bank did not bring in the 
amount loaned, the loss was borne by the appraiser who made the loan.  Appraisers were 
“required to furnish a bond, secured either by cash or by real estate.  The surplus from the 

                                                                 
11  Ibid., p. 105. 
12  Ibid., p. 129. 
13  “The Latin word mons (literally mountain, pile, or heap) was used frequently in mediaeval times to mean 
an accumulation of funds.” Louis M. Robinson and Rolf Nugent, Regulation of the Small Loan Business. 
New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1935, p. 23. 



 5

sale may be claimed by the holder of the ticket within two years from the date of the 
sale.”14  Since the right to the surplus was evidently not widely publicized, not many 
consumers showed up to lay claim to the “profit.”  More recently, similar incentives to 
under-value the pawn were provided by the Mexican national pawnshop, Nacional Monte 
de Piedad de Animas.  “If the pawn is not redeemed and is thus put up for sale, it must 
sell within three months or the appraiser who approved the loan and accepted the pawn is 
charged for it.  If the appraiser . . . extends too high a loan, he is charged for the 
difference between the amount of the loan extended and the sale price of the pawn.”15 
 

In more recent times, the mont-de-piété in Paris was lending on automobiles and 
had constructed a large garage for this purpose.  It was charging only two percent 
interest, but was lending “an average of 20 percent of the value of the car.”16  Reducing 
the loan-to-value ratio to offset low rate ceilings had two countervailing effects.  The 
profit on the sale of unredeemed pawns was critical to the survival of the public 
pawnshops, but it also increased the incentive of borrowers to redeem their pledges.  In 
this extreme case, consumers obviously had a great incentive to repay their loans and 
redeem their cars.  Consumers who could not do so subsidized those who did.  It appears 
very likely that those who were providing the subsidies were less affluent that those who 
benefited from them.   
 
 In addition to their economic problems, the early monts-de-piété were plagued 
with mismanagement and fraud, and they never recovered from these blows.  “In 1750 
four-fifths of the initial capital had been lost and interest payments were in arrears for 
thirty-five years.”17  Municipally owned pawnshops still exist in many European 
countries, but not in the United Kingdom.  In the U.S., the Ohio legislature passed a law 
in 1911 providing for the establishment of municipal pawn offices.  The maximum 
interest rate was set at “six percent p.a. with an extra charge not over four percent p.a. for 
storage and insurance.”18  There is no evidence that the law was put into effect. 
 
 In summary, a review of the origins and history of pawnbroking reveals the basic 
economic principles governing the operations of pawnshops.  
 
• The “market niche” of pawnshops was fairly narrow.  For the most part, their 

customers were the “working class poor,” who did not have alternative sources of 
immediately available small, short-term loans other than clandestine usurers.  To 
attract a sufficient volume of customers, pawnshops located in large cities, but in 
areas of the city where they could build large and safe storage facilities for the 
pawned items and provide some anonymity for their customers.  
 

                                                                 
14  Samuel W. Levine, The Business of Pawnbroking. New York: D. Halpern Company, `1913, p. 29.  
15  Jarret C. Oeltien, “Pawnbroking: Coming to America, Observations of Statutory Non-Uniformity and a 
Call for Uniform Legislation,” Buffalo Law Review, 38 (1990), p. 225. Cited from Condon, “The Bank of 
Pity,” Holiday, March 1963, p. 56. 
16  Levine, Op. cit., p. 28. 
17  De Roover, op. cit. , pp. 130-131. 
18  R. Cornelius Raby, The Regulation of Pawnbroking. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1914, p. 13. 



 6

• Possibly the most critical element to the success of a pawnshop was the ability of 
management to estimate the future value of an item pawned if it should not be 
redeemed.  The expected future value was a function of the expected demand for the 
product in the future and the likelihood that it could be sold quickly when default 
occurred. 

 
• Efforts to restrict the amount of interest that pawnshops could charge and to replace 

private pawnshops with public facilities revealed the interaction of the terms under 
which pawnshop loans are made.  Faced with the biblical injunctions against usury, 
pawnshops developed different labels for “interest” or, quite legitimately, charged 
separately for the loan, per se, and for the storage of the pawn.  Without an adequate 
return, however labeled, pawnshops could not survive.  When government-operated 
pawnshops replaced private shops, the mandated low interest rates could not be 
avoided by adjusting labels.  Instead, the municipal pawnshops dramatically reduced 
the loan-to-value ratios.  As a result, consumers who could not redeem their pawns 
subsidized those who were able to repay their loans.  
 

• Finally, it is apparent that pawnbrokers suffered the stigma that afflicts many types of 
lenders even today.  The religious prohibitions against usury—the taking of any 
interest—has colored the public’s (and by extension) politicians’ attitudes towards 
banks, finance companies and pawnshops that extend credit to consumers.  Further, 
the negative attitudes tend to be greater, the smaller the average size of loan, the less 
affluent the borrower and the higher the finance charge. 

 
B. Pawnbroking in the United States 
 
 Pawnshops operated in the U.S. at least in the early 1800s, if not before.  As in 
Europe, they were the “poor man’s bank,” and provided small, short-term loans quickly.  
A list of items pawned on April 1, 1835 by Simpson’s Hockshop includes the following 
items pawned and the amounts loaned—in 1835 dollars.19  
 
 Six linen sheets $4.50 
 One vest      .25  
 One hat in box      .25 
 Cloak     1.00 
 One lace      .50 
 One parasol      .37 ½ 
 Earrings     1.50 
 Gold watch & chain   12.00 
 One telescope      2.00 
 
 During the same period Simpson’s also made loans on many marriage and 
prenuptial agreements.  “When such loans were made, the nuptial agreement itself was 
pledged as side collateral together with a note from the husband-to-be which was signed 
by his future father-in-law.”20  
                                                                 
19 Simpson, et al, Op. cit., p. 29. 
20 Ibid. 



 7

 
In those days pawnshops were almost always family-owed businesses.  As with 

the Lombards in Bruges, a key factor in the success of a pawnshop was the lender’s 
ability to appraise the value of the collateral.  After he had received some training, a son 
wishing to enter his father’s business was given $200 and sent out into the secondhand 
market to buy and sell at a profit.  If he did well, he was next given $500 to further test 
his ability to buy low and sell high.  “If he could not turn out a profit, he was not fit for 
the business.”21  
 
 It is difficult to determine the exact number of pawnshops in the U.S., because 
there are entities that resemble pawnshops in some respects that should not be considered 
as pawnshops.  There are buy/sell shops that buy items from consumers, promise to hold 
them for a short period—say a month—during which time consumers may repurchase 
them at a higher price.  After that period, the shops may sell the goods and keep the 
proceeds.  These firms are often not licensed or regulated by the state and may operate 
only on weekends or travel from place to place.  More recently, firms have opened 
offices to make loans secured by automobile titles.  However, unlike pawnshops, they do 
not take possession of the vehicles unless the borrower defaults.  A further difference 
from pawnshops is that their loans are typically much larger, and they are often not 
licensed or regulated by the state.  While they sometimes call themselves “auto pawn” or 
similar labels, they are not pawnshops in the traditional sense.  
 
1.  Growth of pawnshops 
 
 However pawnshops are defined, it is evident that their number has grown rapidly 
over the past decade.  John Caskey has estimated that in 1988 “there were approximately 
6,900 pawnshops in the United States, more than twice the number of savings and loans 
or about one pawnshop for every two commercial banks.”22  Just recently, it was 
estimated that there were 13,000 pawnshops in the U.S., less than 700 of which are 
owned by public companies.  Sole proprietors operate most of the rest of the pawnshops, 
often as family businesses.23 These data suggest that the number of pawnshops has almost 
doubled in the past ten years.  The factors that help to explain this dramatic growth may 
be classified as affecting either the demand for or supply of pawnshop services. 
 

a. Demand for pawnshop services 
 

While the demand for pawnshop services obviously arises from consumers who 
borrow from pawnshops, only scattered studies of the characteristics of these consumers 
are available.  Caskey has provided information drawn from interviews with managers of 
pawnshops and the annual reports of pawnshops, as well as some informal discussions 
with pawnshop customers.24 However, the survey by the Credit Research Center (CRC) is 
the first to provide data on customers provided by interviews with hundreds of the 
                                                                 
21  Ibid., p. 30. 
22  John P. Caskey, “Pawnbroking in America: The Economics of a Forgotten Credit Market,” Journal of 
Money, Credit, and Banking, 23 (February 1991), p. 87. 
23  PawnMart, Inc., Prospectus, March 17, 1998, p. 22. 
24 John P. Caskey, Fringe Banking. New York: Russell Sage Foundation, 1994, pp. 69-73. 



 8

customers themselves.  Knowledge of the characteristics of the pawnshop customers is 
critical to an understanding of increases in the demand for pawnshop services and to 
predict the impact on pawnshop customers of changes in laws and regulations affecting 
the revenues and costs of pawnshops. 

 
In examining the growth in the numbers of pawnshops during the 1980s, Caskey 

attributed the increased demand for pawnshop services largely to “an increase in the 
number of Americans who do not use mainstream financial institutions because of 
poverty and the effects of bank deregulation.”25  Let us consider bank deregulation first. 

 
Bank deregulation 
 
The 1980 statute that removed the ceiling on rates that banks could pay on their 

savings accounts enabled them to compete more effectively with money market funds.  
To offset their higher cost of funds some banks discouraged small checking and savings 
accounts by assessing service charges and other fees.  Consumers who dropped their 
deposit accounts were affected in two ways.  First, loss of their checking accounts made 
it less convenient to pay bills, and they probably switched to cash payments or money 
orders.  Second, some consumers undoubtedly had used deposit accounts as “reserve 
funds” to meet short-term financial needs.  If they were discouraged from having deposit 
accounts, their “reserve funds” became cash stored in cookie jars or jewelry, VCRs and 
other household items that could be pawned.  

 
Probably a more important factor that leads many consumers to favor alternative 

lenders is consumers’ discomfort or even fear of banks.  This disconnect with banks is 
evidently greatest among minorities and recent immigrants.  In his talk cited in the 
Prologue of the monograph, Stuart I. Greenbaum provides a striking example: 

 
As part of a consulting assignment for a bank seeking to make inroads in the 
African-American community, a group of MBA students observed a shabby 
currency exchange across the street for a branch of a major Chicago bank.  The 
bank branch charged approximately half the price of the currency exchange for 
check cashing –no tie-ins were required.  On a number of peak check-cashing 
days, the currency exchange was observed with lengthy queues whereas the 
bank was idle. 

 
In an extensive study of Little Village, a principally Hispanic community on the 

southwest side of Chicago, the researchers found “some support to the view that Little 
Village residents may prefer to avoid using the formal financial sector, though other 
explanations are certainly possible.”26  

 
Further evidence of some consumers’ discomfort with banks is provided by the 

latest Survey of Consumer Finances.  Asked why they did not have checking accounts, 

                                                                 
25  Caskey, (1991), op. cit., p. 97.  
26  Phillip Bond and Robert Townsend, “Formal and Informal Financing in a Chicago Ethnic 
Neighborhood,” Economic Perspectives, (Federal Reserve Bank of Chicago), July/August 1996, p. 12. 



 9

22.8 of respondents cited “Do not like dealing with banks.”  Their decision was less 
affected by high minimum balance requirements (8.6 percent) and high service charges 
(7.9 percent).  Multiple responses were permitted.27  

 
Increased poverty 
 
The percentage of people below the poverty level rose to 13.1 percent in 1988 

from 11.4 percent in 1978.  The percentage has continued to grow from a revised figure 
of 13.0 percent in 1988 to 14.5 percent in 1994.28 In a more recent paper Caskey shows 
that the socioeconomic characteristics closely associated with poverty levels – income, 
age, educational attainment and race – are very reliable predictors of whether or not 
households have deposit accounts.  For example, the 1989 Survey of Consumer Finances 
showed that only 69.8 percent of households where the head of household had at most an 
eighth-grade education had a deposit account in 1989.  Caskey’s econometric model 
predicted a frequency of 65.9 percent.29  

 
In summary, “. . . the relevant measure of poverty to financial markets is not 

household income; rather, it is the household’s ability to maintain financial savings. . .  
A family’s ability to maintain savings depends on its income level as well as its structure, 
stability of income, special needs, and lifestyle choices.”30  Put another way, it appears 
from Caskey’s macro studies that families do not have savings accounts because they do 
not have savings.  Therefore, it is very likely that the characteristics of customers of 
pawnshops are similar to those of consumers who do not have financial savings.  One of 
the purposes of the consumer survey analyzed in the next chapter is to test that premise. 

 
Has there been a decline in financial savings that would help to explain the 

growth of pawnshops?  As possible evidence, Caskey points out that the median 
household net worth among families with incomes of $10,000 or less (in 1989 prices) fell 
from $3,800 in 1983 to $2,300 in 1989.31  It seems reasonable that this decline in the net 
worth of low-income families contributed to the growth of pawnshops during this period.  
However, since 1989, median net worth of households with median incomes of less than 
$10,000 (in 1995 dollars) have risen from $1,600 in 1989 to $3,300 in 1992 and $4,800 
in 1995.  Over the same period the median net worth of households with incomes ranging 
from $10,000 to $24,999 rose 17.2 percent.32  Since this was a period of rapid expansion 
in the number of pawnshops, there must be other reasons for their growth. 

                                                                 
27 Arthur B. Kennickell, Martha Starr-McCluer, and Annika E. Sundén, “Family Finances in the U.S.: 
Recent Evidence from the Survey of Consumer Finances,” Federal Reserve Bulletin, 83 (January, 1997 
p. 7). 
28  However, these data are flawed, since the measure of income excludes all means-tested government cash 
transfers, the value of Medicare, regular-price school lunches and other public assistance programs and 
means-tested government noncash transfers, such as food stamps, rent subsidies, and free or reduced-price 
school lunches.   
29  John Caskey, “Check-Cashing Outlets, Pawnshops, and the Poor,” Paper presented at the 1994 
conference of the Allied Social Science Association, p. 16. 
30 Caskey, (1994), op. cit., p. 6. 
31 Caskey, “Who has a Bank Account and Who Doesn’t”, Eastern Economic Journal, 20 (Winter 1994), p. 
71.  
32 Kennickell, op. cit., p. 6. 



 10 

 
Even consumers who do have deposit accounts are very unlikely to be able to 

obtain small, short-term loans from these institutions.  Well before deregulation and 
increasing poverty, banks, major finance companies and credit unions did not commonly 
provide small, short-term loans to consumers.  For the interest rates that they charge, they 
could not and cannot draft the loan documents, check credit reports, appraise the 
collateral, if any, and lend a depositor $75 for one month within 15 minutes.  Some other 
institution was needed to supply that type of service, and that institution was the 
pawnshop.33 

 
b. Supply of pawnshop services 
 
Let us turn to the factors that increased the supply of pawnshop services during 

the late 1980’s and the 1990’s.  Possibly the most important factor contributing to the 
growth in the number of pawnshops in the United States during these years was 
liberalization of state laws regulating pawnshops.  Essentially, the demand for pawn 
services had always existed (and was growing), but state laws prevented private industry 
from supplying the services to meet that demand.  As will be explained more fully later in 
this chapter, laws restricting the interest rates that pawnshops may charge or increasing 
their costs of providing services will limit the number of pawnshops in a state and restrict 
their supply of pawn services.  Relaxation of these laws allows new firms to enter the 
business and existing firms to open new offices.  

 
Evidence to support the link between increased rate ceilings and the growth in the 

number of pawnshops comes from two types of studies: longitudinal and cross-section.  
Indiana provides an excellent example of the first type of study.  In 1984, there were only 
28 pawnshops in the state.34  Rate ceilings were subsequently increased and other 
regulations modified.  In 1998, there are 148 licensed and operating pawnshops in 
Indiana.  While other factors, such as a growing economy, undoubtedly played a role in 
the increase in the number of pawnshops, the change in the rate ceiling was dominant.  
Other states also had strong economies, but with restrictions on pawnshops’ rate ceilings, 
did not greatly increase the number of pawnshops.   

 
A cross-section analysis of the effects of rate ceilings provides further evidence of 

the association of rate ceilings and the supply of pawnshop services.  Caskey and 
Zikmund 35 employed a cross-section regression analysis of 1987-88 data from 28 states, 
setting the number of pawnshops per million consumers as the dependent variable. 
The explanatory variables tested were the interest rate ceiling, the existence of a state law 
requiring that any surplus from the sale of collateral be returned to the borrower, the 
percentage of persons in the state below the national poverty level and the percent of 
people 25 years of age and older with at least four years of high school education.  They 
found a positive relationship between the frequency of pawnshops and the interest rate 
                                                                 
33 Another source is the illegal lender, the 6-for-5 lender who lends $5 at the beginning of the week and 
expects to be repaid $6 at the end of the week – or else. 
34 Caskey, op. cit. (1991), p. 97. 
35  John P. Caskey and Brian J. Zikmund, “Pawnshops: The Consumer’s Lender of Last Resort,” Economic 
Review, Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City, March/April 1990, p. 10. 



 11 

and poverty levels, but a negative relationship with the educational variable at 
“reasonably high levels of confidence.”36  These results support the earlier discussion 
relating the growth in the number of pawnshops over the past decade to the relaxation of 
rate ceilings and other impediments to their operations.  
 
 An increased supply of pawnshop services is especially important to consumers in 
small cities and rural areas.  To pawn a television set, microwave or other large 
household items, a consumer probably must drive to the pawnshop.  Yet if the average 
loan is about $75, it hardly pays consumers to drive long distances into a city to pawn 
such items.37 On a broader basis, the increased supply of pawnshops improves 
competition that benefits all consumers. 
 

Another important factor explaining the growth in the numbers of pawnshops was 
the emergence of pawnshop chains from the mid-l980’s through the early 1990’s.  Cash 
America International was incorporated in 1984 and was listed on the New York Stock 
Exchange on August 24, 1990.  U.S. Pawn was first incorporated in 1980 as Successful 
Enterprises, Inc., but acquired its first pawnshops in 1988 and is now traded over the 
counter.  EZ Corp., with its pawnshops operating as EZ Pawn, was incorporated in May 
1989, and is now traded over the counter.  First Cash was incorporated in April 1991 and 
is now traded over the counter.   

 
 These chains grew both by acquiring existing pawnbrokers and by opening new 
offices.  In this process, the chains improved the image of the industry by making pawn 
services more attractive and more efficient.  At the same time, they challenged family-
owned pawnshops to modernize as well.  They located their stores in convenient 
locations and made them clean, inviting and brightly lit with adequate parking.  
Management invested heavily in training personnel.  In part, the “modernization” of 
pawnshops by the chains drew customers from other pawnshops, but in part they also 
brought new borrowers into pawnshops.  
 

The chains realized significant economies of scale.  Whereas small pawnshops 
had to rely on the judgment of their managers to appraise the loan value of a wide variety 
of consumer products, the chains built central data banks accessible by computers in the 
shops to assist in appraisals.  For example, the chains can provide managers with 
estimates of the loan value of diamonds of a certain quality and weight.  If one pawnshop 
has a glut of men’s watches, they can be shipped to other shops with shortages.  Finally, 
chains benefit from economies of scale in complying with state regulations.  While data 

                                                                 
36  Ibid., p. 13. With INT = interest rate; POV = poverty rate; ED = high school education, and SUR = 
surplus rule, the authors’ results from the regression were: 
Pawnshops per million capita = 11.5 + 429.8INT + 203.7POV – 166.6ED + 7.9SUR 
                                                                (62.7)         (115.8)            (56.6)        (7.8) 
Standard errors in parentheses.  R2  = 0.78.    
37  See Caskey, op. cit., p. 92. 



 12 

are not available to document the savings for pawnshops, scale economies have been 
found among commercial banks for compliance with consumer credit regulations.38  
 

As the size of stores grew and chains developed, it became essential to develop 
sophisticated computer systems to keep track of transactions.  For example, CompuPawn, 
one of several firms providing software programs to pawnshops, was developed in 1983 
at the Happy Hocker, South Florida’s largest pawnshop for its own use.  It was made 
available to other pawnshops in 1985.  Such systems provide current data critical to 
management.  They also reduce the cost of providing services and enhance the image of 
the pawnbrokers with their customers.  

 
A recent development that may further spur the continued growth of pawnbroking 

is a proposal to franchise pawnshops in smaller markets.  Cash America has already 
franchised several shops, and PawnMart has announced a franchise strategy for 
secondary markets “designed to allow future franchisees to benefit from the Company’s 
targeted database marketing system . . . computer software and information system, as 
well as the Company’s standardized operating procedures.”39   

 
As with any other profession, pawnbrokers also recognized a need to share 

information to work together to gain favorable legislation.  The National Pawnbrokers 
Association is also of fairly recent origin.  From its founding in 1988, its membership has 
grown from 50 to more than 3,000.  It provides members with a variety of educational 
programs and an opportunity for exchanging information and provides further evidence 
of the increasing professionalism of the pawn industry.  

 
2. Location of pawnshops 
 

As noted in the previous section, there is a wide difference in the distribution of 
pawnshops among the states.  To illustrate, in 1988, in relation to each one million state 
residents, there were only five pawnshops in Indiana, 2.1 shops in New Jersey and 3.1 
pawnshops in Pennsylvania.  In contrast, for each one million residents there were 113.1 
pawnshops in Oklahoma and 75.7 shops in Texas.40  

 
Over time, there have been changes in the location of pawnshops within states.  In 

earlier years, pawnshops were typically located where customers were concentrated 
within cities.  Recall the locations of pawnshops in Bruges and other medieval cities.  It 
was easy for consumers needing a small short-term loan to carry vests, cloaks, parasols or 
earrings to the pawnshops in New York.  However, it is a greater challenge to carry a 
microwave, lawnmower or TV set to a pawnshop.  Because of the change in the nature of 
items pawned and the greater availability of transportation, today’s pawnshops are more 
likely to be along highways in strip malls with ample parking.  Thus, part of the growth 

                                                                 
38  Gregory E. Elliehausen and Robert D. Kurtz, Scale Economies in Compliance Costs for Consumer 
Credit Regulations: The Truth in Lending and Equal Credit Opportunity Laws. Washington, D.C.: Federal 
Reserve Board, 1985.  
39 PawnMart, op. cit., p. 23. 
40 John P. Caskey and Brian J. Zikmund, op. cit., p. 10.  



 13 

in the number of pawnshops is attributable to the opening of shops outside of the inner 
cities.  

 
To illustrate the variety of pawnshop locations, we quote from the report of John 

B. Lynch, the young recent college graduate who administered the questionnaires that 
provided the data for Chapter 2.  

 
The A store required that most of its customers drive to the store.  Surrounded by 
strip malls, gas stations and busy intersections, the shop did not serve a specific 
neighborhood. 
 
While B was located near fast food establishments and other roadside type 
businesses, a large number of the store’s customers walked.  Within a city block 
of this pawnshop was the edge of a neighborhood of low-income housing that 
stretched for several blocks. 
 
C was extremely close to the interstate.  There did not appear to be a 
neighborhood of any kind within a mile of this store.  Anyone shopping here had 
either driven or gotten a ride. 
 
D was located far enough away from the downtown area that farmland lay only a 
mile away.  Most people drove to this pawnshop. 
 
E is located in the heart of the downtown district.  On a personal note, I have 
never been in an area of such poverty in this country in my life.  Half the 
downtown buildings were abandoned and/or boarded up.  
 
F is surrounded by typical busy roadside establishments, but within walking 
distance to lower middle class residences.  Some of the employees said that there 
was a lot of crack sold in the area despite its middle class appearance.  A former 
employee at this store was shot to death this past fall during a robbery of the shop. 
 
G is located on the outskirts of the town.  A vast majority of customers drive to 
the shop. 
 
H is located in the heart of the downtown wedged between an upscale restaurant 
and a dentist’s office.  Almost all the customers walked in. 
 
I was by far the most rural location of any pawnshop visited.  It was surrounded 
by fields on all sides.  Everyone drove, given that this shop was three miles 
outside of town.  
 

3. The pawn transaction 
 

Pawnshops vary widely in their appearance.  While modern pawnshops are 
attractive with friendly personnel, there are still some pawnshops that are not inviting and 
may remind a consumer of the 1965 movie, “The Pawnbroker.”  They may be dirty and 



 14 

cluttered and surrounded by barbed wire, with armed guards and guard dogs.  As time 
passes, these pawnshops are becoming anachronisms.  At some point in the future, it may 
be desirable to preserve one as an historical reminder of the old days.   

 
Most pawnshops have a retail section to sell pawned items that have not been 

redeemed, as well as merchandise purchased for sale or transferred from other shops.  In 
some cases merchandise may be purchased to provide a wider choice for shoppers.  The 
profit margin on purchased merchandise is typically much less than that on items that 
were pawned but not redeemed and the turnover less than that of competing retailers.  
Thus, pawnshops are unlike other lenders in that they have two businesses under one 
roof.  As will be seen in the next chapter, the patrons that are there only to shop are 
unlikely to seek to borrow. 

 
That said, let us focus on the pawn transaction.  When a consumer enters the 

pawnshop, employees often greet him or her by name.  As will be seen in the next 
chapter, many consumers are steady customers of a pawnshop, using it essentially as a 
source of ready cash several times during a year.  The consumer presents the item to be 
pawned.  If it is a video camera, for example, the clerk will ask the customer to show how 
it works.  There are two purposes to this exercise.  It tests whether the camera works and 
whether the customer knows how it works.  A customer who does not know how to 
operate an appliance raises questions of ownership.   

 
If the pawn is jewelry, the clerk has a “wand” to test whether the gem is really a 

diamond and other means of ascertaining the quality of gold, silver and jewels.  The clerk 
may be able to access an on-line database that will provide the loan value and market 
value of the proposed pawn.  In other cases, the employee must rely on experience.  What 
is the loan value of a set of bongo drums, a leather jacket, a set of tools, a bow and 
arrow?  In setting the amount to lend, the clerk will also consider whether this is a long-
time, repeat borrower and whether he or she commonly redeems items pawned.  This 
information is readily available on the shop’s computer system.  In such cases, the 
manager may grant a higher loan-to-value than normal, and may even lend more than the 
value of the item. 

 
Once the parties have agreed on the loan, the clerk takes the item pawned and 

gives the consumer the agreed amount of cash and a pawn ticket (Exhibit 1).  The entire 
transaction may take no more than ten minutes.  The consumer wants small amounts of 
cash quickly, perhaps over his or her lunch hour.  There are no credit checks, and nothing 
appears on the credit record of a pawner if an item is not redeemed.   



 15 

Exhibit 1 
 

Pawnshop Ticket 
 
 

 



 16 

Since pawnshops are subject to truth-in-lending requirements, note on the first 
ticket, as an example, that John Doe received $50 in return for pawning a Craftsman 
lawnmower.  If the loan is repaid at the end of one month, the consumer must pay $59 to 
redeem the lawnmower.  The additional $9 is the “finance charge,” which is calculated as 
an annual rate of 219 percent.  While the finance charge is comprised of $1.00 of interest 
and $8.00 for storage, the two charges must be combined for purposes of disclosure.  
While the loan is for one month, there is a three-month redemption period.  If the 
customer repays the loan in two or three months, he obviously must pay more for 
lengthening the repayment period.  Not infrequently, a consumer will obtain a “payday 
loan,” needing the cash to meet an urgent bill coming due before payday, and then repay 
the loan within a few days.  The dollar finance charge is reduced if the loan is prepaid.  In 
this case, the exhibit shows that the consumer will forfeit the lawnmower if he does not 
redeem it within three months.  However, if he makes added interest payments, he may 
delay redemption.  

 
In many states, the manager must send a copy of the ticket or a description of the 

item pawned and its serial number to the local police department to check against its 
records of stolen goods.  Often the pawnbroker is required to hold the pawned item for a 
minimum number of days so that the police have time to recover it.  In some cities, the 
data are transmitted electronically, while in others the police departments do not have 
computerized files capable of crosschecking theft reports with pawn tickets.  Some 
statutes provide that the pawnshops must obtain the thumbprints of pawners.  In addition, 
most pawnshops have video surveillance cameras that will provide pictures of the 
individual pawning stolen items.  As one manager commented, “Anybody who brings in 
a stolen article is really very stupid.”  On the previous day a young man had brought in a 
bicycle to pawn.  Since it was evident that it was much too big for him to ride, the 
manager called the police, while the would-be pawner fled on foot. 

 
A wide variety of items is pawned.  A short survey of members of the National 

Association of Pawnbrokers in the summer of 1997 produced data on 1,207,160 loans 
from pawnbrokers in 28 states.  The average size of loan was $70.31, with the average  
size reported by individual pawnbrokers ranging from $260 to $35.  The most frequent 
type of pawn was jewelry, with TVs, radios, speakers, etc., the second most common type 
of pawn.  Guns, hunting equipment and tools followed in popularity.  

 
As in the case of medieval pawnbrokers, today’s pawnbrokers must place all 

items pawned in secure storage.  Jewels, guns and other valuables are stored in vaults or 
other secure facilities.  The pawnshop is liable for the replacement value (not the loan 
value) of any pawn that is lost, stolen or damaged.  Since loans are made and repaid only 
in cash, the shop must have an extensive security system to protect both the employees 
and the items pawned.  

 
With such a wide variety of items pawned, managing a pawnshop requires 

intensive training and some fairly unusual skills and great caution.  Some idea of the 
hazards faced by pawnbrokers may be gained from excerpts from the publications of the 
national and state pawnbroking associations.  Pawnbrokers are cautioned to note any 
defects in the item pawned on the pawn ticket in order to avoid disputes with the 



 17 

customer when he or she redeems the item.  Note that the pawn ticket for the ring in 
Exhibit 1 notes that one stone is missing.  Similarly, if a stone looks like a ruby, but is not 
a ruby, that would be noted on the pawn ticket as well.  

 
Pawnbrokers must learn to distinguish between a real Rolex and an imitation.  

Every item pawned must be carefully checked.  “Why did the customer leave that tape in 
the VCR?  Was it to help you check it?  No, actually the last time he used the VCR, it 
would not eject the tape and the repair shop said it would cost about $100 for a new 
loading mechanism.”41  “The loose 1.00-carat diamond that the pawner hands you to 
evaluate for a loan may be real.  But if you set it down or if the customer picks it up one 
more time to ‘check it’ or to say ‘good-bye’ to it, it may not be the same stone when he is 
done.”42  Buy a few pieces of gold marked as 18K and then find out that it is below 10K 
in quality, “and do this several times a week and you have lost money . . . maybe a lot of 
money.”43 

 
If all goes well, the consumer will return to redeem the pawn.  In the survey cited 

above, respondents indicated that about two-thirds of items were redeemed, although 
redemption rates ranged from 90 percent to six percent.  Even though they anticipate a 
profit when they sell forfeited items, most pawnbrokers prefer that customers redeem 
their pawns and return for more loans.  

 
Historical records and discussions with pawnbrokers reveal the long-term 

relationships that they build up with many of their customers.  For example, Simpson’s, 
one of the oldest pawnshops in New York had built up a long-term relationship with free-
lance photographers: 

 
When spot news popped anywhere in the city, Grandpa and the men working in 
the hockshop knew about it hours before reporters had the chance to write the 
story.  This was because the free-lance newspaper photographers kept their 
cameras and other equipment in our place . . . He also instructed his clerks to 
hand the men their equipment without getting any payment on it.44 

 
A pawnbroker with a shop near an Indian reservation where raising sheep for 

wool provides the main source of income explained how in the early part of each season, 
the women would come in to pawn their turquoise jewelry to raise the cash to finance the 
ranch.  Each fall they would return with cash from the shearing to redeem the jewelry.45  
Pawn records reveal consumers who bring in the same watch, necklace, guitar or other 
valuable several times during a year.  Each item is a household’s “cash reserve,” and the 
management readily accepts the pawn—not only because that transaction will be 

                                                                 
41 Ric Blum, “Is It What It Appears to Be,” National Pawnbroker, Fall, 1996, p. 14. 
42  Ibid., p. 15. 
43  Richard J. Budig, “Some Basic Tips on Evaluating the Worth of Gold,” National Pawnbroker, Fall, 
1996, p. 36. 
44 Simpson, op. cit., p. 43. 
45  Oddly, the government agency supervising the reservation forced the pawnshop to move from its 
convenient location within the reservation to the edge of the reservation. Thus, the native Americans had to 
drive many more miles to get to their “bank.”  



 18 

profitable, but also because the consumer will return to pawn again and provide referrals 
to other customers.  
 
4.   Effects of regulation on revenues, costs and consumers  
 

We have seen that states with restrictive regulation of pawnshops have fewer 
pawnshops per capita than those that are less restrictive and that, when restrictions are 
lessened, the number of pawnshops increases.  What is the mechanism for this 
association between various types of legislation and the availability of pawn services?  
More important, how are consumers affected—both current and potential consumers?   

 
a. Cash loans vs. pawnshop loans  
 
Let us first review the effect of rate ceilings on cash loans provided by finance 

companies, commercial banks and credit unions.  The effect of rate ceilings on the 
availability of cash credit from these financial institutions has been described as follows: 

 
Restrictive rate ceilings on cash credit force lenders to deny credit to consumers 
who pose a high risk or desire only small amounts of credit.. . . Not only do  
ceilings ration consumers out of the legal market, but also they drive smaller 
lenders from the market and thereby diminish competition.46  

 
. . . economists have generally criticized these regulations [usury ceilings] as 
detrimental to low-income consumers because financial institutions under binding 
rate ceilings tend to allocate credit to only the most credit-worthy borrowers, who 
generally belong to middle-or high-income groups.47 
 
I know of no economist of any standing . . .who has favored a legal limit on the 
rate of interest that borrowers could pay or lenders receive—though there must 
have been some.48 
 
This economic rationale for higher rates based on borrower risk does not apply to 

pawnshop loans.  The reason is simple.  The credit risk has been eliminated because the 
loan is secured by a pledge of an asset placed in the inventory of the pawnshop.  The risk 
is not with the borrower, but with the ultimate market value of the item pledged if the 
loan is not repaid.  

 
This difference between the allocation of credit risk has an interesting implication 

regarding which consumers pay for the credit losses.  In the case of cash loans, the lender 
charges the interest rate appropriate to each risk class.  Assume that a group of consumers 
might be charged 25 percent.  The lender obviously does not know which of these 
consumers will default; if he did, he would not lend to them.  When they default, the 
                                                                 
46  Michael E. Staten and Robert W. Johnson, The Case for Deregulating Interest Rates on Consumer 
Credit. West Lafayette, IN: Credit Research Center, 1995, p. 49. 
47 Caskey, op. cit., (1991), p. 95, citing Harold C. Nathan, “Economic Analysis of Usury Laws,” Journal of 
Bank Research 10 (Winter 1980), pp. 200-11. 
48  Milton Friedman, “Defense of Usury,” Newsweek , October 25, 1970, p. 139. 



 19 

consumers who do pay their debts bear the costs of the defaulters’ credit losses by paying 
the 25 percent rate.  In the case of pawnshop loans, consumers who default lose their 
collateral.  If the loan-to-value ratios are optimal, they bear the cost of their default by 
sacrificing the difference between the market value of their collateral and their loan.  
Hence, consumers who do not default pay their interest, redeem their collateral and do 
not subsidize defaulting consumers, as in the case of cash loans.49 

 
b. Effects of a reduction in interest rate ceiling  
 
To understand how rate ceilings affect pawnshops and their customers, consider 

the following hypothetical and greatly simplified cost/revenue example for a pawnshop.  
Assume that a pawnshop makes four loans per month at an average of $72 per loan (line 
1 of Exhibit 2).  With an expected market value of $120, the loan-to-value ratio is 60 
percent.  At the end of each month, three loans are repaid and the items pledged are 
redeemed.  Since the interest rate is 18 percent per month, each of the three loans yields 
$12.96 for a total of $38.88 for the three loans at the end of the month.  The fourth loan is 
not repaid, and the item is promptly sold for $120.  The recorded profit on the sale is $48, 
or 40 percent of the sales price.  The handling costs per loan (customer service, storage 
and insurance costs, etc) are $10, a conservative estimate.  The net return is $46.88, 
which provides a gross monthly yield of 16.3 percent on the initial outlay of $288 (4 x 
$72).  Assume that this is the yield necessary to provide the required return to the owners 
after all other costs and taxes are taken into account.  These assumptions are reflected in 
the first line of Exhibit 2.  

 
Now assume that the legislature decides to “protect” consumers by reducing the 

allowable monthly percentage rate from 18 percent to 12 percent.  The total interest 
earned on the three repaid loans drops from $38.88 to $25.92 (line #2).  Ultimately, the 
firm’s monthly gross yield drops from the needed 16.3 percent to 11.8 percent.  Under 
our assumption, that gross yield is not enough to warrant staying in business. 

 
Exhibit 2 

Cost/Revenue Model of Pawnshop – 1 
 

 No. of $ per Total No. Interest  Profit Cost/ Total Net $ Monthly 

Mo. Loans Loan $ Loans Redeem 18%/mo. Sales 40% Loan Cost Return % Return 

            

1 4 72 288 3 38.88 120 48 10 40 46.88 16.3 

            

     12%       

2 4 72 288 3 25.92 120 48 10 40 33.92 11.8 

            

3 4 106.7 426.8 3 38.41 177.8 71.13 10 40 69.55 16.3 

 
 Rather than immediately close his door, what can the owner do?  He would not 
elect to serve only those customers who pose a low credit risk, as would be the reaction 
                                                                 
49 Steve Alexander, Senior Vice President, Fleet Bank, and a member of the Advisory Council, Credit 
Research Center contributed this interesting analysis. 



 20 

of a bank, finance company or credit union.  As we have seen, that is not the issue.  The 
pledging of a suitable pawn has eliminated the credit risk.  One approach is to deny loans 
to customers seeking only very small loans.  By emphasizing jewelry, rather than simple 
tools and CD players, the pawnbroker might raise his average loan from $72 to $106.70.  
Over time, he may also reduce his storage costs.  It takes much less space to store 
necklaces than bongo drums.  With this approach, he will restore his required 16.3 
percent gross yield, as shown in line 3 in Exhibit 2.  
 

This tactic is nice in theory, but difficult in practice.  The pawnbroker is currently 
accommodating customers who have average cash needs of $72, and the pawns required 
to support those needs.  Possibly they have a greater need, but not the household items 
required to obtain a larger loan.  But they do not have an average need of $106.70.  
Obviously, some pawnshops can survive in this state, but survivors will gravitate to 
locations where there are enough consumers with enough higher-value items to pawn to 
generate an average loan of $106.70.   

 
Another way of trying to adjust to the reduction in the rate ceiling is to lend less 

in relation to the value of the items pawned.  This tactic may enable the pawnshop to stay 
in business, since competitors are faced with the same restriction on their revenues.  Let 
us examine the limits on this alternative by referring to Exhibit 3.  As in Exhibit 2, it is 
assumed that at the end of each month three of the four loans are repaid and the pawns 
redeemed.  The unredeemed pawn is sold for $120.   

 
Since the items pawned are still the same items used in Exhibit 2, the pawnshop 

owner cannot simply raise their selling price when they are not redeemed.  If it were that 
easy, he would have done so when the rate ceiling was 18 percent.  No, to widen the 
margin on the sale of unredeemed pledges, the owner must reduce the amount loaned.  
With a gross margin of 40 percent and a rate ceiling of only 12 percent, the gross yield 
was 11.8 percent (the top line in Exhibit 3).  As noted earlier, the owner needs a gross 
yield of 16.3 percent to survive. 



 21 

 
              Exhibit 3 

Cost/Revenue Model of Pawnshop - 2 
 
No. of $ per Total Interest Profit  $ Profit Total Net $ Monthly 

Loans Loan $ Loans 12%/mo. % Sales Margin Cost Return % Return 

          

4 72.0 288.0 25.92 0.40 120.0 48.0 40 33.92 0.118 

4 70.8 283.2 25.49 0.41 120.0 49.2 40 34.69 0.122 

4 69.6 278.4 25.06 0.42 120.0 50.4 40 35.46 0.127 

4 68.4 273.6 24.62 0.43 120.0 51.6 40 36.22 0.132 

4 67.2 268.8 24.19 0.44 120.0 52.8 40 36.99 0.138 

4 66.0 264.0 23.76 0.45 120.0 540 40 37.76 0.143 

4 64.8 259.2 23.33 0.46 120.0 55.2 40 38.53 0.149 

4 63.6 254.4 22.90 0.47 120.0 56.4 40 39.30 0.154 

4 62.4 249.6 22.46 0.48 120.0 57.6 40 40.06 0.161 
4 61.2 244.8 22.03 0.49 120.0 58.8 40 40.83 0.167 

4 60.0 240.0 21.60 0.50 120.0 60.0 40 41.60 0.173 

4 58.8 235.2 21.17 0.51 120.0 61.2 40 42.37 0.180 

4 57.6 230.4 20.74 0.52 120.0 62.4 40 43.14 0.187 

4 56.4 225.6 20.30 0.53 120.0 63.6 40 43.90 0.195 

4 55.2 220.8 19.87 0.54 120.0 64.8 40 44.67 0.202 

4 54.0 216.0 19.44 0.55 120.0 66.0 40 45.44 0.210 

 
Exhibit 2 shows that the pawnshop owner has an array of choices to improve the 

monthly rate of return.  Let us test the results of a strategy of cutting the loan-to-value 
ratio in order to raise the gross margin on the sale of unredeemed pawns from 40 percent 
to, say 48 percent.  The results of this approach are shown in the bold-faced line about 
midway in the table.  Since the owner cannot increase the selling price of redeemed 
pawns, he reduces the loan per item to $62.40.  Whereas on average consumers 
previously received $72 on items pawned, under the new protective rate ceiling they will 
now receive an average of $62.40—a loan-to-value ratio of 52 percent, down from 60 
percent.   

 
As a result, total loans would be $249.60 (4 x $62.40).  The one item not 

redeemed would, as before, be sold for $120.  Given the lower amount of the loan, the 
gross dollar return on the sale would be $57.60 ($120 - $62.40), yielding a gross margin 
of 48 percent (57.60/120).  The total gross dollar return for the month on the three loans 
that were repaid is then the interest ($22.46)50 plus the profit on the sale of the one item 
($57.60), or ($80.06.)  After deducting the handling costs of $40 ($10 per loan), the 
pawnshop has a net return of $40.06.  The shop’s net investment at the beginning of the 
month was $62.40 per loan, or a total of $249.60.  Hence, the net monthly return under 
that strategy is 16.1 percent.   
 

The last line in bold face in the exhibit shows that if the owner were to set a ratio 
of loan to value of only 45 percent, he could obtain a rate of return of 21 percent.  While 
                                                                 
50 ($62.40 x 3) x .12 = $22.46  



 22 

the pawnshop owner might be delighted to generate a gross yield of 21 percent, a 
competitive market will not permit it.  If he offers an average loan of only $54 to gain a 
gross margin of 55 percent when competitors are offering average loans of $62.40 for a 
gross margin of 48 percent, he will not survive for long.  The key modifier here is 
“competitive” and the rate ceiling will surely have reduced the number of competitors.  
The critical issue of competition will be discussed later.   
 
 Moreover, his decision concerning the loan-to-value ratio is more complex than 
might appear.  As he lowers his loan-to-value ratio, he increases the probability that 
borrowers will redeem their collateral.  But, as more borrowers redeem their collateral, 
his gross profit from sales are lowered.  In other words, the model shown in Exhibit 3 
assumes that as the loan-to-value ratio is reduced, the redemption percentage of 75 
percent is unchanged.  In actual practice, the redemption ratio is a function of the loan-to-
value ratio and will increase as that ratio is reduced.  In an extreme case, as in the public 
pawnshops in France, where loan-to-value ratios may be only 20 percent, redemption 
ratios must be very high.  As suggested, it is likely that only those consumers who are 
unable to redeem their pawns must be seriously financially distressed.  It follows that the 
public pawnshops’ profits on those sales must be very high indeed to offset the very low 
interest rates charged those who do redeem their pawns. 
 

Even lowering the loan-to-value ratio will not allow all of the pawnshops within 
the state to survive the cut in the rate ceiling.  Consumers’ total demand for pawnshop 
loans will decline because the loans are now less desirable.  Why is this so?  First, some 
consumers will accept the “second-best” alternative of borrowing less because they have 
inadequate household assets to pawn.  These consumers are likely to be young, renters, 
with modest or irregular incomes.  They are not necessarily poor credit risks.  They just 
do not have a lot of household assets that they can do without during the time that the 
loan is needed.51 But, by borrowing less, they generate less interest income and lower 
gross profits from the sale of forfeited items than before rate ceilings were reduced. 
 

Next, consider two groups of consumers who need to borrow $72: (1) those who 
can pledge additional collateral; and (2) those who cannot provide the added collateral.   

 
Group 1. For those consumers who can provide more collateral the cost of 

pawnshop loans has increased.  Thus, a consumer who wishes to borrow $72, must now 
pawn goods with a market value of $138.46, rather than $120, an increase in the cost of 
the “investment” required to obtain the loan of $18.46.52  What does the consumer 
receive in return?  The cost of the loan has dropped by $4.32.53  The annual percentage 
rate charged and disclosed has dropped from 216 percent to 144 percent.  However, as 
will be seen later, most pawnshop customers will probably conclude that pawnshop loans 
are less desirable than before the state legislature reduced the permitted rate.   
                                                                 
51  Some consumers needing cash may buy household items on their store credit card and then bring them 
into the pawnshop to obtain cash to pay their utility bill or for other urgent needs. 
52 The pawnshop must earn a gross margin on sales of 48 percent; that is a cost of sales of 52 percent. To 
provide a loan of $72 rather than $62.40, the items pawned must have an expected market value 72/0.52, or 
$138.46. 
53 The decline in the finance charge = (.18)(72) – (.12)(72) = 4.32. 



 23 

 
Group 2. Consumers who really need $72, but who cannot provide the added 

collateral required for a loan from a pawnshop, will turn to less desirable sources of 
credit.  However, as will be shown at the end of this chapter, other financial institutions 
are unlikely to provide loans of $72, even with collateral.  Consumers rejected by 
pawnshops because of lowered rate ceilings are more likely to turn first to friends or 
relatives.  (See Chapter 2).  In the end, they may borrow from illegal lenders or other 
unsavory sources of small short-term loans. 
 
 C. Effects of other regulations  
 
 Other regulations affecting pawnshops have very similar adverse results for 
consumers, and the same framework of analysis is relevant.  Some state laws require that 
pawnshops retain pawns for a specified period of time before being sold.  The 
requirement delays the recovery of the shop’s investment in the loan and the value of the 
collateral may decline as well.  Any such forced delay in selling an unredeemed pawn 
exposes the pawnshop to a falling market price from recession or obsolescence of the 
item pawned. 
 

Some statutes require that pawnshops return any profit on the sale of an 
unredeemed pawn.  Not only does the pawnshop lose the profit, but it also must spend 
extra money to provide a notice to the defaulting borrower.  These provisions benefit 
those consumers who are “slow pay” or “no pay” at the expense of other customers who 
must (a) receive a lower loan-to-value ratio than would otherwise have been the case; or 
(b) are denied requests for loans that are now too small to be profitable.   
 

For many years, New York has combined all of these provisions in one statute: 
(1) low rate ceilings (three percent per month), plus a monthly service charge of $5 for 
loans of $100 or more and $3 for loans under $100; (2) the collateral must be held for 
four months after the loan period; and (3) after the holding period the pawn must be sold 
at advertised auction and the excess proceeds paid to the delinquent debtor.  As operating 
costs have risen over time, while revenues have been constrained by the rate ceiling, it 
should come as no surprise that the “number of pawn shops in New York City tumbled 
from 130 in 1950 to 35 in 1975.”54  
 

Competition is critical for the protection of consumers and the efficiency of credit 
markets.  Some states and cities have “convenience and advantage” licensing statutes that 
place limits on the number of pawnshops in a geographical area.  When competition is 
restricted in this manner, consumers find pawnshops less convenient and may also obtain 
less favorable terms than would be found in a fully competitive market.  There is no more 
economic support for such restrictions than for rate ceilings.  The framers of the Uniform 
Consumer Credit Code adopted a “financial responsibility, character and fitness” 
requirement for supervised lenders and specifically rejected convenience and advantage 
licensing.55  The National Commission on Consumer Finance stated that it “finds no 

                                                                 
54 Jarret C. Oeltjen, “Pawnbroking on Parade,” Buffalo Law Review. 37 (1988/89), p.776. 
55  Comment 1, Section 2.302. 



 24 

value in ‘Convenience and Advantage’ limitations on entry.  There is ample evidence 
indicating that these and other similar restrictions are disadvantageous to the public and 
should be abolished.”56  
 

d. Effects of an increase in interest rate ceilings  
 
If pawnshops have been operating under low rate ceilings and other restrictions 

discussed above, it follows that an increase in the rate ceiling and removal or reduction in 
the other restrictions will encourage entry into the business and wider geographic 
availability.   

 
If the economic analysis and empirical evidence that rate ceilings are harmful to 

consumers are so strong, why do many state laws still greatly discourage pawnbroking?  
A very important reason is that legislators fear being attacked by the news media and 
consumer groups if they advocate a rate ceiling of, say, 20 percent per month or 240 
percent at an annual rate.  It is not easy to persuade legislators and some consumer 
advocates that those rates are required if consumers are to receive small, short-term loans.  
Yet the consumers who rely on pawnshops for small, short-term loans are “real people,” 
as will be demonstrated in the next chapter.   

 
Another reason for the maintenance of low rate ceilings rests within some 

members of the industry.  It might appear that an increase in interest rate ceilings and 
elimination of other restrictive provisions would be applauded by owners of pawnshops 
in a state with a low rate ceiling.  However, economic analysis suggests that their 
enthusiasm may be muted.   

 
Suppose that the imposition of a rate ceiling has driven a number of pawnshops 

out of business in small towns and less affluent areas of the major cities.  Necessity aided 
by the lack of competition has enabled the survivors to increase the average size of their 
loan and decrease the ratio of loan to value.  Given the reduced level of competition, it is 
entirely possible that the gross yield on investment of the survivors is more favorable 
than in earlier years when the rate ceilings were higher. 
 
 It is not possible to predict how the pawnshops that survive in a low-rate 
environment will restructure their average size of loan and the loan-to-value ratios.  
However, a variety of combinations can be suggested.  Rather than accept an average 
loan of $72, it is economically necessary to emphasize large loans.  As shown in Exhibit 
4, it is even possible to reduce the gross margin on sales from 40 percent to 38 percent 
and still make a better gross return on investment than under less restrictive regulation 
(16.6 percent vs. 16.3 percent).  An even more profitable approach might be to seek an 
average loan of $100, and count on limited competition to raise the gross margin on sales 
to 45 percent.  This strategy would generate a gross return on investment of 19.5 percent.  
Again, these are hypothetical calculations to demonstrate the direction of response to low 
rate ceilings and other restrictive regulations.  

                                                                 
56 Consumer Credit in the United States. Washington, D.C.: National Commission on Consumer Finance, 
1972. (U.S. Government Printing Office) 



 25 

 
Exhibit 4 

Cost/Revenue Combinations With Restrictive Rate Ceilings 
And Regulations 

 
No. of 
Loans 

$ per 
Loan 

Total 
$ Loans 

Interest 
12%/mo. 

Profit 
% 

 
Sales 

$ Profit 
Margin 

Total 
Cost 

Net $ 
Return 

Monthly 
% Return 

4 100 400 36.0 0.45 181.8 81.8 40 77.82 0.195 

4 110 440 39.6 0.42 189.7 79.7 40 79.26 0.180 

4 120 480 43.2 0.40 200.0 80.0 40 83.20 0.173 

4 130 520 46.8 0.38 209.7 79.7 40 86.48 0.166 

 
Will the owners of pawnshops that have managed to survive under restrictive 

legislation seek to raise rate ceilings, eliminate restrictive regulations and encourage entry 
into the industry?  Economic self-interest suggests otherwise.  Before money market 
funds were available, were commercial banks anxious to eliminate rate ceilings on what 
they could pay on savings accounts?  Did the owners of baseball teams advocate free 
agency for their players?  Did small loan companies with licensed offices in states with 
strict convenience and advantage licensing requirements advocate striking those 
requirements from the books?  Pawnshop owners generally fought vigorously against 
lowering rate ceilings and imposing other restrictive legislation.  However, once 
restrictive laws are enacted, the survivors do not necessarily aggressively seek to return to 
the earlier and more competitive markets.  This comment is not a criticism, but 
recognition of rational economic self-interest.   
 
 This discussion provides an admonition for state legislators.  It may be popular to 
reduce rate ceilings and impose other regulations on pawnshops.  However, once 
restrictive laws are enacted and prove to harm the very consumers that were to be 
protected, it is difficult to return to the earlier more competitive market.  The consumers 
who have been disadvantaged by the restrictive legislation are unlikely to have advocacy 
groups who will argue for a return to higher rate ceilings (or no rate ceilings at all).  It is 
hard to unscramble eggs.   
 
5. Alternatives to pawnshops 
 

Rate ceilings and other regulations that affect profitability or restrict competition 
will harm consumers that rely on pawnshops for quick, small short-term loans only if 
there are no viable alternatives conveniently available.  This section analyzes the 
likelihood that other lenders will supply small, short-term loans, while the following 
chapter explores the same issue from the standpoint of pawnshop customers.  The 
discussion in this section focuses strictly on the availability of loans to consumers, not 
lifeline banking or other payment services for consumers.57  

 

                                                                 
57  For example, see Edward I. Rubin, “The Lifeline Banking Controversy: Putting Deregulation to Work 
for the Low-Income Consumer,” Indiana Law Journal, 67 (1992), pp. 213-249. 



 26 

Consumers who patronize pawnshops also may obtain other financial services 
from rent-to-own companies, check-cashing outlets and firms that accept post-dated 
checks (“payday loans”) in return for immediate cash.  This market is sometimes referred 
to as “fringe banking” the “alternative financial sector” or the “forgotten credit market.”58  

 
Only the post-dated check financing would be a possible competitor to 

pawnshops.  A typical example would be a consumer who gives the outlet his or her 
check for $120, postdated for two weeks, in return for immediate cash of $100.  The 
finance charge is $20, and the annual percentage rate would be about 520 percent.  The 
interest rate is consistent with the greater risk assumed by these lenders; these loans are 
not secured by any collateral.  These may not offer a significant alternative source of 
funds for pawnshop customers.  They must have a checking account, and many do not.  
Even if they do have checking accounts, the term of the loan is too short for many of their 
needs and the rates of charge greatly exceed pawnshop rates.   

 
  Do pawnshops compete with banks and finance companies?  Among the active 
borrowers59 surveyed only 12 percent had borrowed from a bank during the previous 12 
months and only 16 percent had borrowed from a finance company.  Only one-fifth of 
active borrowers were members of credit unions, and only a third of them had borrowed 
from their credit unions.  While some consumers do not borrow from these financial 
institutions because they are not comfortable in dealing with them, most of them have 
recognized that these institutions do not make small short-term loans within a very short 
period of time.   
 

Consumers of any economic strata are very unlikely to be able to obtain small 
cash loans that average about $75 from a financial institution.  Since these financial 
institutions do not accept household items for security, the creditworthiness of the 
borrower becomes an issue.  But even if the applicant is creditworthy, it is not profitable 
for most of these institutions to make small cash loans.  The cost of gathering data from a 
consumer on a loan application, checking the applicant’s credit record and preparing the 
loan agreement would far exceed the rates that banks, finance companies or credit unions 
traditionally charge.  Moreover, they could not complete the loan arrangements within 15 
minutes.   

 
The only possible alternatives to pawnshops are the small small loan companies 

that are found in the southeast and western states.  If even they do not compete 
effectively with pawnshops, it becomes critically important to create a legislative 
framework that encourages entry and survival of pawnshops in a competitive market.  
Otherwise, the consumers’ alternatives are friends and relatives or non-charitable sources 
such as illegal lenders and swap shops. 

 

                                                                 
58 For example, see Roger Swagler, John Burton and Joan K. Lewis, “The Alternative Financial Sector: An 
Overview,” Advancing the Consumer Interest, 7 (Fall 1995), pp. 7-12. 
59 Those who were borrowing at the time of the survey or who had borrowed from a pawnshop within the 
previous 12 months. 



 27 

Fortunately, there is an excellent study of the small small loan companies in 
Texas.60  These firms make cash loans of $100 or less to consumers and are found mainly 
in the south and southeast.  The data from that study can be used to compare with the data 
from our survey to answer the question: Do pawnshops compete with small small loan 
companies in the small cash loan market?  Although the study in Texas was made in 
1972, it is possible to compare on a number of dimensions the consumers with loans of 
less than $100 with those who had recently borrowed from pawnshops.  Rates ranged 
from 108 percent to 240 percent on the loans in Texas.   

 
A first step in the analysis is to adjust for changes in the consumer price level.  

The consumer price index for urban workers rose from 41.8 in 1972 to 160.5 in 
December 1997.  The question is: “What size of loan today would provide the same 
purchasing power as a loan of $100 in 1972?”  The answer is $384.  Put another way, 
assume that in 1972, the Texas legislature had indexed the ceiling on the size of loan to 
the consumer price index.  In that case the ceiling on small small loans in Texas would be 
$384 today—far above the average size of pawn loan made in Texas.   

 
Alternatively, we can ask, “If pawnshop loans average about $75 today, what 

would be their equivalent size in terms of purchasing power in 1972?  A loan of about 
$20 would have provided about the same purchasing power as a $75 loan today.  But, 
Durkin’s study shows that most of the 1972 loans were far above the 1972 equivalent of 
today’s average pawn loan.  Of the almost 1,600 loans surveyed, 45.7 percent were for 
$100, of which more than nine-tenths were for six months.  Only 3.8 percent of the loans 
made by small small loan companies were $25 or less.  The typical size and maturity of 
loans from small small loan companies and pawnshop loans differ so much that it is 
doubtful that significant competition exists between these two types of lenders.   

 
Consistent with differences in size of loan between small small loan companies 

and pawnshops, there also appear to be differences in consumers’ purposes for 
borrowing.  Comparisons are difficult, since Durkin’s questions were open-end, while 
CRC’s questionnaires offered nine alternatives plus “other.”  Multiple responses were 
permitted in both cases.  Pawnshop borrowers were evidently more likely to be faced 
with pressing bills (31.9 percent) than were consumers that were borrowing from small 
small loan companies (23.9 percent).61  They were also more likely to be borrowing for 
automobile repairs and other expenses (11.3 percent vs. 4.8 percent) and less likely to be 
borrowing for medical expenses (4.8 percent vs. 11.3 percent).  In the latter case, the 
average amount borrowed from a pawnshop would typically not go far in covering 
medical expenses, either in 1972 or 1998.   
 

The small small loan companies in Texas competed more with banks and large 
finance companies than did the pawnshops surveyed in this study.  A significantly larger 
portion of the borrowers from small small loan companies that Durkin surveyed had used 
                                                                 
60 Thomas A. Durkin, “A High Rate Market for Consumer Loans: The Small Small Loan Industry in 
Texas,” National Commission on Consumer Finance, Technical Studies Volume II, pp. 1-99. Washington, 
D.C. U.S. Government Printing Office, 1975. Each of the four papers in this publication is numbered 
separately. 
61 Ibid., p. 41. Utility bills are added into the category: “old bills, debt consolidation.” 



 28 

these alternatives than had the active pawnshop borrowers in this study.  Durkin found 
that 22.4 percent of the consumers in his survey had borrowed from banks or savings and 
loan associations within the previous 12 months (vs. 12.3 percent in this study), and  
24.1 percent had borrowed from credit unions within the previous 12 months (vs.  
11.3 percent in this study).62  
 
 On one dimension, the borrowers from small small loan companies and from 
pawnshops appear to be similar.  Both were generally well aware of the dollar cost of 
their loans, but not the quoted annual percentage rate.  Durkin asked borrowers for the 
dollar cost and annual percentage charge on their loans.  While those questions could 
have been asked in the survey of pawnshop customers, they were not asked for two 
reasons.  First, only a small portion of our respondents in the pawnshop had just 
borrowed, and it would have been very difficult to track down those who had recently 
borrowed.  Second, consumers who had borrowed in the past typically had borrowed 
several times, and it would have been impractical to ask them to recall the dollar or 
percentage cost of particular loans. 
 
 Durkin found that only 2.4 percent of respondents were able to recall the 
percentage cost of their loans, but 41.3 percent could recall the dollar cost, and an 
additional 20.1 percent were reasonably accurate in remembering the cost of other 
loans.63  We observed the same phenomenon in a videotape of a focus group of six 
regular customers of pawnshops.  When asked about the cost of their loans, they could 
recite the dollar cost of their loans for one month, as well as the dollar rebate that would 
be available if they repaid early and the dollar cost of extending the loan another month.  
None mentioned the annual percentage rate even though it was disclosed on the pawn 
ticket.   
 

Further evidence of consumers’ focus on the dollar finance charge on small, 
short-term loans is provided in a study of moneylenders in the United Kingdom.  Their 
rates ranged “between 100 to 500 percent depending principally on the length of the 
loan.”64  The rates reflect the fact that the loans were unsecured and collections were 
made monthly.  Borrowers seemed to be well aware that their loans were more costly 
than the rates charged by other sources of credit.  “But many people were not aware and 
not particularly concerned about the APR.  Their views were based more on the 
proportion of money they were repaying on top of the principal amount.  The calculation 
was made regardless of the time period of the loan.”65 

 
In summary, consumers seeking credit from small small loan companies and 

pawnshops generally do not have meaningful access to other sources of such loans.  
Major financial institutions do not offer small short-term loans quickly with few 
questions asked and minimum paper work.  At the same time, however, little competition 
exists between small small loan companies and pawnshops.  With the exception of their 
tendency to measure the level of finance charges in dollars rather than percentages, 
                                                                 
62 Ibid., p. 31. 
63 Ibid., pp. 37-38.  
64 Karen Rowlingson, Moneylenders and Their Customers, London: Policy Studies Institute, 1994, p. 154.  
65 Ibid., p. 96. 



 29 

consumers who patronize small small loan companies differ from pawnshop customers 
on a number of dimensions.  Thus, small small loan companies should not be considered 
as part of the economic market served by pawnshops.  Public policy makers who wish to 
allow consumers to obtain small, short-term secured loans within 15 to 20 minutes will 
design laws and regulations to encourage entry into the market and competition among 
pawnshops.   

 
C.  Conclusions 

 
 Pawnshops have existed for centuries.  The enduring nature of pawning stems 
from the structure of the financial arrangement.  There is no credit risk.  The risk rests 
with the item pawned: its market value if it must be sold later, whether it is what it is 
claimed to be and whether it really belongs to the consumer pawning it.  Pawnshop 
borrowers, who have ranged from princes to peons, have one common characteristic.  
They do not have financial savings to meet what they regard as pressing, short-term 
liquidity needs.  Over the centuries, successful pawnshop lenders have had two common 
characteristics.  They have related well to the borrowers and they have the ability to 
appraise the value of the item pawned.   

 
The number of pawnshops in the United States has grown rapidly over the past 

two decades.  Macro-economic studies show that the growth may be attributed to an 
increased demand for small short-term loans.  Factors that evidently played a role are 
increased levels of poverty and, possibly, the effect of deregulation of the banks on the 
availability of deposit services.  However, it is quite likely that the absence of savings 
accounts is attributable only in part to the banks’ driving out small deposits, but more 
importantly to “the household’s ability to maintain financial savings.”  

 
Pawnbroking is a unique market.  A large portion of consumers needing small 

short-term loans quickly has almost no legal alternative source of such loans.  Even if a 
consumer has a steady job and has always paid bills promptly, he or she is unlikely to be 
able to obtain a one-month loan of $70 within minutes from a bank, finance company or 
credit union.  These lenders are seldom equipped to provide that type of service.  This is 
not a criticism of those institutions.  A wholesale grocer does not sell one apple at a time.  
Even the small small loan companies found in Texas and other states in the southeast and 
southwest do not appear to be significant competitors of pawnshops.  The alternatives of 
swap shops and illegal lenders are not welcome alternatives. 

 
Ever since loans of money or victuals or “anything lent upon usury” have been 

made, there have been efforts to restrict the charges for the loan.  History has shown that 
efforts to reduce the interest rates charged by pawnshops have inevitably harmed the 
consumers they were intended to benefit.  Government-owned pawnshops have either 
been dismal failures or heavily subsidized by taxpayers and those consumers unable to 
redeem their pawns.  Analysis of a hypothetical and simplified model of revenues and 
costs of a pawnshop shows why reducing the allowed interest rates on pawnshop loans 
forces surviving pawnshops to reduce the loan-to-value ratio of pawnshop loans.  
Moreover, by driving some pawnshops out of the market, the reduced rate ceilings would 
encourage the remaining pawnshops to move to more affluent markets in order to raise 



 30 

the average size of loan.  Other regulations that would decrease revenues or increase 
costs would have similar effects.   

 
Given the fact that the majority of pawnshop customers have few legal 

alternatives to obtain small short-term loans, the burden of these regulations designed to 
“protect” pawnshop customers falls directly on those customers.  Those that remain as 
customers will be forced to pledge more possessions to obtain loans.  Others will be 
forced out of the market because there are no longer convenient pawnshops available or 
because they do not have enough possessions to pawn for their financial needs.  Who are 
these current customers?  What are their socio-economic characteristics?  One of the 
basic purposes of the CRC survey was “to put a face” on these consumers so that they 
will no longer be participants in a “forgotten market.”  



 31 

CHAPTER 2 
 

CONSUMER SURVEY AND ANALYSIS 
 

This chapter is divided into three parts.  The first section explains the origin of the 
survey of consumers who were patronizing pawnshops, the selection of the pawnshops to 
survey, the design of the questionnaires and the procedures used to persuade customers to 
fill out the questionnaires.  The major portion of the chapter is devoted to presenting the 
findings and analyzing their implications for consumers, the industry and regulators.  
 
A.  Background and methodology 
 
1.  Origins of the study 
 

In recent years, a few academic economists have shown some interest in what has 
been variously termed “fringe Banking,” “unbanked consumers” or the “forgotten” credit 
market.  The founding father of research in this field is undoubtedly Dr. John Caskey, as 
evidenced by the numerous footnotes to his research in the preceding chapter.  The origin 
of his interest are explained in his ground-breaking book, Fringe Banking: 
 

Several years ago, my curiosity about pawnshops was piqued by hearing an 
interview with a pawnbroker on National Public Radio.  Subsequently, an 
afternoon in the library revealed that no economist had analyzed the role of the 
pawnbroker in the financial system for over 30 years.  I thought that I might 
undertake such a study, to investigate why and when pawnbroking had died out.  
When I discovered that it had not died out but, in fact, had boomed over the 
1980’s, I had to change the premise of my study.66 
 

Research in this area is extraordinarily difficult.  State regulators differ widely in 
the data that they collect and make available.  There is no industry-wide database 
conveniently available in an annual report, let alone on computer tape.  Caskey based 
most of his findings on laborious digging, principally from interviewing pawnshop 
owners and regulators.  Small wonder that few other academics have followed in his 
footsteps.  
 

The Credit Research Center (CRC) became interested in pawnshops for several 
reasons.  Founded in 1974, the purposes of CRC, as stated in the bylaws, “are to stimulate 
and support research pertaining to the markets for retail financial services.”  John Caskey 
stimulated our interest in the subject by his presentation at one of the semi-annual 
meetings of CRC’s Advisory Council and at a research conference sponsored by the 
Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City and by his publications in the area.  
 

It became obvious from those discussions that a major barrier to a better 
understanding of the industry was the absence of detailed information about the most 
important participant in the industry: the pawnshop customer.  Basically, we know no 
                                                                 
66 Caskey (1992), op. cit., p. xi. 



 32 

more about today’s pawnshop customer than we did about borrowers from small loan 
companies in the early 1900s.67  Yet, this knowledge is critical if we are to understand 
why consumers use pawnshops to obtain small, short-term loans.  While these data about 
consumers are important marketing information for the industry, they are essential to 
forming public policies concerning the regulation of pawnshops.  Any regulation will 
affect, adversely or favorably, the consumers that use the services of pawnshops.  But, 
what do these “real people” look like?  Do they have reasonable alternative sources of 
such loans?  If so, why are they at the pawnshop?  The data in the major part of this 
chapter on 1,820 patrons of pawnshops provide for the first time information to answer 
these and many other questions concerning the pawnshop industry.  
 

This study was financed by a contribution from the National Pawnbrokers 
Association and from the general, unrestricted funds of the Credit Research Center 
(CRC).  The members of the Advisory Panel donated their time, while the Credit 
Research Center covered their expenses for meetings.  Finally, gathering data from 
pawnshop customers was made possible by the full cooperation of a number of pawnshop 
owners, their staff and their customers.  As with all CRC publications, the staff of the 
Center has sole responsibility for the final report.  Professor John Barron, Professor of 
Economics, Krannert Graduate School of Management, Purdue University, should 
receive special accolades for his contribution to the research design and implementation 
of the survey. 
 
2. Design of the study 
 

The first step in the research process was to meet with the Advisory Panel to learn 
more about the operations of pawnshops, the critical issues that needed to be studied and 
how data about customers was to be gathered.  Following that meeting, we turned our 
attention to how we could gather information about pawnshop customers.  First, we 
decided that we needed a “control sample,” with which to compare those consumers who 
were borrowing from the pawnshop.  Rather than attempt to take a random sample of 
consumers living in the community, we decided to use as the control sample those 
consumers who were shopping at the pawnshop.  These consumers knew where the 
pawnshop was located, were comfortable shopping there and were drawn from the same 
geographical area.   
 

The next step was to design questionnaires that were not so long or obtrusive that 
we would damage our response rates.  (The questionnaires can be found in Appendix 1).      
Our basic objectives were to determine for borrowers and shoppers: (1) socio-economic 
characteristics and income levels; (2) borrowers’ perceptions about alternatives to 
pawnshops for small, short-term loans; (3) current relationships and experience with 
other financial institutions and credit;  (4) frequency of and reasons for pawning; (5) 
recent employment experience; and (6) ownership of automobiles and household items.  
Obviously, the questionnaires for those who were in the shop to pawn had to be different 
                                                                 

67 The Russell Sage Foundation sponsored research leading to a model uniform small loan law, 
just as it developed a model law to govern pawnshops.  Caskey’s Fringe Banking, was published by the 
Russell Sage Foundation.  
 



 33 

from those given to patrons who were there only to shop and who had never pawned at 
any time in the past.  For example, it would not be sensible to ask these shoppers where 
they would go to borrow if there were no pawnshops.  
 

There was one group of respondents who were in a “middle ground.”  These were 
patrons who were in the pawnshop only to shop at the time of the interview, but who had 
pawned at some time in the past.  We segregated these people with a third questionnaire 
designed for shoppers who had pawned at some store at some time in the past.  The 
details of these questionnaires are explained more fully in Part B.  We pilot-tested the 
survey at a pawnshop, made some slight revisions and were then ready to go into the 
field.  

 
The next step was to identify the states where we wished to conduct the surveys 

and to secure the cooperation of one or more pawnshops in those states.  One objective in 
selecting the states was to see if there were significant differences in pawnshop customers 
in states with high rate ceilings in comparison to states with low rate ceilings.  In 
retrospect, we doubt that this objective could have been achieved.  First, the geographical 
range of pawnshop customers is relatively small.  Consequently, a survey of a shop’s 
clientele represents a sub-section of a city not a state.  Second, as explained in the 
previous chapter, the adjustment that pawnshops make to low rate ceilings is more likely 
to be in the ratio of loan to value than in the characteristics of the customer served.   

 
Tom Horn, Executive Director of the National Pawnbrokers Association and 

members of the industry on the Advisory Panel helped us to identify nine shops in five 
states where we could conduct interviews.  In each case we sent letters to the managers of 
the pawnshops explaining the purpose of the study and how the surveys would be 
conducted in that shop.   

 
3. Procedures for conducting the survey 

 
As noted in the first chapter, we were fortunate to obtain the services of John B. 

Lynch to conduct the surveys in the pawnshops.  Lynch typically was in each of the 
pawnshops for four to six days.  Since Saturday is a busy day, we generally scheduled 
him for each shop on a Saturday.  Managers reported to us later that he “fit right in” and 
made a good impression on the patrons.   

 
The managers and staff of each shop were very cooperative.  They provided 

Lynch with a table and chairs in a location that gave customers some privacy as they 
filled out the questionnaires, and he was there to answer their questions.  The staff 
encouraged all of their customers to stop by his table and fill out questionnaires.  Further, 
each of the shops provided $5 to $15 discount coupons that were given to consumers who 
filled out the questionnaires.  An example is provided in Exhibit 5.  The combination of 
personal encouragement by the staff and by Lynch and a financial reward in each of the 
pawnshops generated completed questionnaires from 1,820 consumers. 



 34 

Exhibit 5 
Example of Discount Certificate Given Respondents 

 
 



 35 

When a customer approached, Lynch asked if he or she was in the store to pawn an item 
or to shop.  If they were currently pawning something, they received the “Current 
Borrower” questionnaire.  If the consumer said that he or she was there to shop or for 
some other reason, Lynch asked if he or she had ever pawned at any time at any 
pawnshop.  Those who said that they had done so were given “Have Borrowed” 
questionnaires.  The consumers who said that they had never pawned were given the 
“Shoppers Only” questionnaire.  John spent at least a portion of each evening tabulating 
the responses on the questionnaire using Survey Pro.  Data from each pawnshop were 
merged at the Credit Research Center, which was then located at Purdue University.   
 
B.   The sample 
  

A total of 1,820 pawnshop customers participated in the study by completing a 
questionnaire (Exhibit 6). Of those participants, 220 (12.1 percent) said they were 
obtaining a loan that day (Current Borrower questionnaire).  The majority of the 
participants (46.8 percent) said that they were not applying for a loan that day, but that 
they had borrowed at a pawnshop at least once at some time (Have Borrowed 
questionnaire).  The Have Borrowed participants may have been in the pawnshop for 
several reasons: some were shopping, some were paying on or redeeming an earlier 
pawn, or simply accompanying a friend doing business in the store that day.  The 
remaining 41.1 percent of the participants said they had never obtained a loan at any 
pawnshop (Shop Only questionnaire).  

 
Exhibit 6 

Original Customer Type 
Type % 

Current Borrowers 220 12.1 
Have Borrowed 852 46.8 
Shop Only 748 41.1 
Totals 1820 100% 

 
Since the purpose of this study was to gain a better understanding of pawnshop 

customers and, more specifically, consumers who currently utilize pawnshops as a source 
of small cash loans, consumers who borrow at pawnshops are compared to those 
consumers who are aware of and shop at pawnshops but do not borrow money there.  
Thus, the sample has been reconfigured into three groups for the majority of the analyses 
as follows (Exhibit 7 and Exhibit 8):   

 
Exhibit 7 

Modified Customer Type 
Type % 

Active Borrowers 895 49.2 
Inactive Borrowers 177 9.7 
Shop Only 748 41.1 
Totals 1820 100% 

 



 36 

Active Borrowers , 49.2 percent of the total sample, were defined as those 
customers who said they had borrowed money at least once at a pawnshop in the last  
12 months.  Active Borrowers include all of the participants who were applying for a loan 
on the day of the interview (Current Borrower questionnaire, n=220), and those who, on 
the Have Borrowed questionnaire, said that they had borrowed from a pawnshop at least 
once in the last 12 months (n=675).  Inactive Borrowers , only 9.7 percent of the total 
sample, were defined as those who said they had borrowed at a pawnshop at some time in 
the past but not within the last 12 months (Have Borrowed questionnaire, n=177).  Shop 
Only, 41.1 percent of the total sample, said they had never borrowed money at a 
pawnshop (Shop Only questionnaire, n=748).   
 

Exhibit 8 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Shop Only respondents are used as a control group or comparison group for the 
Active Borrowers.  Shop Only respondents knew the location and nature of the 
pawnshop.  They either lived or worked nearby or could readily get there, but they 
were not borrowing there.  The Inactive Borrowers are a small group and, for 
most of the exhibits, are similar to the Shop Only group.  Thus, the Inactive 
Borrowers will not be discussed in much detail unless they differ from the Shop 
Only group. 

 
 
C. The Exhibits 
 

Exhibits throughout this monograph contain percentage distributions of 
each characteristic by customer type.  Because of rounding, the Totals may not 
add to exactly 100 percent.  The number of respondents in a group or subgroup, n, 
is listed for most tables.  Missing, (Msg.), identifies the number of respondents 
who did not answer that question.  The majority of the exhibits include statistical 
analyses, and differences between or among the groups that were statistically 

Shop Only 
n=748 

Have Borrowed 
n=675 

Current Borrowers 
n=220 

Within last 
12 months 

Active Borrowers 
n=895 

Shop Only 
n=748 

Not within 
last 12 
months 

Inactive  
Borrowers 

n=177 



 37 

significant are identified with an asterisk, which refers to a footnote.  Throughout 
the monograph significance is judged at the .05 level or better.  “Better” means a 
number smaller than .05, .01 or .001 for example.  The significance level 
identifies at what point the differences among the groups are probably not a 
coincidence.  The .05 level says that there are only 5 chances out of 100 that 
random draws from the same population would produce differences of this 
magnitude.  Said the other way around, there is 95 percent confidence that the 
groups really do differ on the characteristic being measured. 

 
D. Analyses  
 
1. Demographic characteristics  

 
This section presents the demographic characteristics of the pawnshop sample and 

comparison data from U. S. national surveys.  The pawnshop sample is also divided by 
customer type to measure any differences among Active Borrowers, Inactive Borrowers, 
and Shop Only respondents. 
 

Most pawnshop respondents were men (59.5 percent), versus only 48.9 percent of 
the general population (Exhibit 9).  When sorted by customer type, there were more men 
than women in each of the groups.  But the percentage of men in Inactive Borrowers and 
Shop Only was much larger than in Active Borrowers.  Pawnshop employees suggest that 
there would be even fewer women in the Active Borrower category except for two 
factors.  First, a primary pawn item is jewelry, and women still seem to own more 
jewelry than men.  When a household needs quick cash, the owner of the item to be 
pawned is frequently called upon to obtain the loan.  Second, men are sometimes hesitant 
to admit, publicly at least, that the household needs quick cash.  The woman may be the 
one to go in and obtain the loan, with the man waiting in the car. 
 

The pawnshop sample was much younger than the general population (Exhibit 
10).  The vast majority of respondents (78.4 percent) were under 45 years of age, an age 
group that typically faces expensive family formation/child rearing demands.  They were 
going to pawnshops not only for loans but also to shop.  Used jewelry, appliances, sound 
equipment and compact disks are less expensive than new ones.  Pawnshop employees 
have checked that the gold and the diamond are real, that the VCR works, and that the 
bike was not stolen.  Consumers looking for bargains do not find such assurances at 
garage sales. 



 38 

 
Exhibit 9 

Gender by Customer Type* 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active 
Borrowers 

Inactive 
Borrowers 

Shop  
Only 

 
Totals 

 
U. S.1 

Women 44.5 35.9 36.9 40.5 51.1 
Men 55.5 64.1 63.1 59.5 48.9 
Totals 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
n 876 170 746 1792 - 
 
*Significant at the .003 level 
Msg. = 28 
1 Source: U. S. Bureau of the Census, 1996 

 
Active Borrowers were significantly younger than Shop Only respondents, 

with a mean age of 35 versus 37 years (Exhibit 10).  The largest percentage 
difference was in the “25-34 years” group, 38.4 percent of Active Borrowers vs. 
24.5 percent of Shop Only.  This is also the age group facing heavy family 
formation/child rearing costs and instability in job and marital status.  Yet a large 
portion (21.6 percent) of Shop Only were very young, under twenty-five years of 
age.  Pawnshops sell many items popular with younger consumers, such as 
compact disks, movies, video games, sound equipment, musical instruments, and 
jewelry. 

 
Exhibit 10 

Age by Customer Type* 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active 
Borrowers 

Inactive  
Borrowers 

Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

 
U. S.1 

Under 25 14.7 12.7 21.6 17.3 14.0 
25-34 years 38.4 31.5 24.5 32.0 20.0 
35-44 years 31.1 31.5 26.3 29.1 23.8 
45-54 years 11.6 14.6 16.9 14.1 20.0 
55 years + 4.3 9.7 10.7 7.4 22.5 
Totals 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
n 818 165 685 1668 - 
Mean Age 35.0 Yrs. 37.0 Yrs. 37.0 Yrs. 36.0 Yrs.  
 
*Significant at the .00l level 
Msg. = 152 
1 Source: U. S. Bureau of the Census, 2,000 est. Adjusted for population age  
   18-74 

 
 



 39 

Pawnshop respondents had less education than the general population 
(Exhibit 11).  When examining differences by customer type, education levels 
varied significantly, with Borrowers having less education than Shop Only.  
Because pawnshop respondents were younger than the general population, and 
education levels have generally increased over time, Exhibits 12 compares the 
education of all pawnshop respondents aged 25 through 54 years, with general 
population percentages for the same age groups in parentheses.  The pawnshop 
sample had dramatically lower percentages of college graduates than the general 
population.   

 
 

Exhibit 11 
Education by Customer Type* 

(Percentage Distributions) 
 Active 

Borrowers 
Inactive 

Borrowers 
Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

 
U. S.1 

Less than HS 17.1 11.6 10.9 14.0 24.8 
HS G.E.D. 13.9 12.2 5.5 10.3 
HS grad 24.2 27.3 30.3 26.9 
HS + some training 9.1 7.6 9.4 9.1 

 
30.0 

HS + some college 26.7 28.5 25.9 26.6 24.9 
College graduate 9.0 12.8 18.3 13.2 20.3 
Totals 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
n 868 172 726 1766 - 
 
*Significant at the .001 level 
Msg. = 54 
1 Source: U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1990  

 
Exhibit 12 

Age by Education For Pawnshop Sample Age 25-54 
Versus National Totals 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Less than 
High 

School 

 
High  

School 

 
Some 

College 

 
College 

Grad 

 
 

Totals 

25-34 years 10.7  
(12.9)1 

51.4  
(34.0) 

26.7  
(28.2) 

11.1 
(25.0) 

100% 
(100%) 

35-44 years 13.5 
(11.6) 

44.6 
(33.3) 

27.8 
(28.4) 

14.1 
(26.6) 

100% 
(100%) 

45-54 years 9.9 
(13.7) 

34.8 
(32.5) 

33.9 
(25.7) 

21.5 
(28.0) 

100% 
(100%) 

n 145 569 355 177 1246 
 
1 Source: U. S. Bureau of the Census, 1995 

 



 40 

 
Because of the significant difference in education by customer type 

(Exhibit 11), with Active Borrowers at the disadvantage, Exhibit 13 breaks down 
only Active Borrowers, again aged 25-54, by age and education.  The percentages 
of “College Grad” drop, relative to the national percentages in parentheses and to 
the overall pawnshop sample in Exhibit 12.  The percentages for “Less than High 
School” are now higher than national percentages. 

 
 

Exhibit 13 
Age by Education For Active Borrowers Age 25-54 

Versus National Totals 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Less than 
High 

School 

 
High  

School 

 
Some 

College 

 
College 
Grad 

 
 

Totals 

25-34 years 14.7  
(12.9)1 

53.0  
(34.0) 

25.2  
(28.2) 

7.0  
(25.0) 

100% 
(100%) 

35-44 years 15.9 
(11.6) 

46.0 
(33.3) 

29.4 
(28.4) 

8.7 
(26.6) 

100% 
(100%) 

45-54 years 15.8 
(13.7) 

36.8 
(32.5) 

30.5 
(25.7) 

16.8 
(28.0) 

100% 
(100%) 

n 101 317 182 60 660 
 
1 Source: U. S. Bureau of the Census, 1995 

 
The pawnshop respondents, compared to the general population, were less 

likely to be currently married, and more likely to have experienced marital 
disruption or had never married (Exhibit 14).  Marital status was also significantly 
related to customer type, with fewer Active Borrowers currently married, and 
both Borrowers groups having higher percentages of separated, divorced, or 
widowed. 



 41 

 
Exhibit 14 

Marital Status by Customer Type* 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active  
Borrowers 

Inactive 
Borrowers 

Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

 
U. S.1 

Currently married 38.2 40.9 43.6 40.7 60.3 
Never married 32.6 31.6 36.8 34.2 23.3 
Sep/div/widowed 29.2 27.5 19.7 25.1 16.52 
Totals 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
n 856 171 732 1759 - 

 
*Significant at the .001 level 
Msg. = 61 
1 Source: U.S. Bureau of Census, 1996 
2 Census data includes only widowed and divorced. 

 
Since the pawnshop sample was younger than the general population and 

predominately male, Exhibit 15 compares marital status of only young male respondents 
with national totals (shown in parentheses).  The percentages of men separated, widowed, 
or divorced in the pawnshop sample were about double that of the national totals for men 
in the same age groups.  The “Never Married” percentages were higher for the three older 
age groups than national percentages for the same age groups.  Conversely, pawnshop 
percentages for “Currently Married” were lower than national percentages for same age 
groups in all but the two youngest age categories. 
 

The household size of pawnshop respondents tended to be larger than did 
households in the general population (Exhibit 16).  Although a slightly larger percentage 
of pawnshop respondents lived in one-person households, compared to households 
nationally, pawnshop respondents had a much higher percentage of large households 
(five or more members).  In part, this difference may be because pawnshop respondents 
were younger than the general population and, thus, in the child rearing stage.  Household 
size varied significantly by customer type, with Active Borrowers reporting larger 
household size than Inactive Borrowers and Shop Only. 



 42 

 
Exhibit 15 

Male Pawnshop Sample, Age 20-44 by Marital Status 
Versus National Totals  
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Currently 
Married 

Never 
Married 

Separated/ 
Div/Wid 

 
Totals 

20-25 years 19.4 
(18.2)1 

76.9 
(80.7) 

3.7 
(1.1) 

100% 
(100%) 

25-29 years 38.6 
(44.8) 

50.0 
(51.0) 

11.4 
(4.2) 

100% 
(100%) 

30-34 years 51.0 
(63.2) 

33.6 
(28.2) 

15.5 
(8.6) 

100% 
(100%) 

35-39 years 45.9 
(68.5) 

25.2 
(20.3) 

28.9 
(11.2) 

100% 
(100%) 

40-44 years 49.6 
(73.1) 

22.1 
(14.0) 

28.2 
(12.9) 

100% 
(100%) 

n 294 290 127 711 
 

1Source:  U.S. Bureau of the Census, 1995 
 

 
Exhibit 16 

Household Size by Customer Type* 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active 
Borrowers 

Inactive  
Borrowers 

 
Shop Only 

 
Totals 

 
U. S.1 

One person  24.5 31.5 30.6 27.7 25.0 
Two  20.0 17.9 21.1 20.2 33.0 
Three 20.2 13.0 20.8 19.7 17.0 
Four  15.4 12.4 12.7 14.0 15.0 
Five or more 21.0 25.3 13.8 18.4 10.0 

Totals 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 

n 838 162 723 1723 - 

 
*Significant at the .001 level 
Msg. = 97 
1 Source: U. S. Bureau of the Census, 1996 

 
Exhibit 17 shows the racial composition of the pawnshop sample, as well as 

general population totals.  As with census surveys, pawnshop respondents were asked to 
identify their racial or ethnic group or groups.  Respondents who checked black or 
African American were classified as black, even though they also may have checked 
other ethnic or racial groups.  Since Hispanics may be black or white, Hispanics were 



 43 

counted as either black or white, depending on how they defined themselves.  
Respondents who checked only white, only Hispanic, or both white and Hispanic were 
defined as white.  The row “Hispanic ethnicity” gives the percentage of respondents who 
checked Hispanic as part of their racial/ethnic description.  The “Other” category 
includes American Indians, Asians, and mixtures of races other than black.  The racial 
composition of the pawnshop sample does not reflect, nor was it expected to reflect, the 
distributions of the general population.  One reason is that the pawnshop sample was not 
random.  But another strong factor is that the data were collected in large metropolitan 
areas, typical pawnshop locations, and those populations may not reflect the general 
population.  Racial percentages varied significantly by customer type, with a larger 
percentage of whites in the Shop Only group and, conversely, a larger percentage of 
blacks in the Borrower groups.  

 
Exhibit 17 

Race by Customer Type* 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active 
Borrowers 

Inactive 
Borrowers 

Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

 
U. S.1 

White 44.9 45.6 52.9 48.3 82.8 
Black 47.8 45.6 40.6 44.6 12.6 
Other 7.3 8.8 6.6 7.1 4.5 
Totals 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
Hispanic ethnicity 8.7 7.0 7.4 8.0 10.7 
n 862 171 730 1763 - 
 
*Significant at the .02 level 
Msg. = 57 
1 Source: U. S. Bureau of the Census, 1996 
 
 

Summary of Demographic Characteristics 
 

Percentage distributions of the pawnshop sample and the general population have 
been presented for gender, age, education, marital status, household size and race.  The 
data draw a portrait of the pawnshop respondent that is not representative of the U. S. 
population.  The pawnshop customer, based on this sample, is likely to be a young male, 
probably nonwhite, who may have graduated from high school but did not graduate from 
college.  He may be currently married, but more likely has had the disruption of divorce, 
separation or widowhood or has never married.  If he is not living alone, he is likely to 
bear the responsibility for a large household. 
 

Based upon this sample, the same demographic characteristics suggest that the 
Active Borrower at a pawnshop is significantly different from the Shop Only customer.  
He or she is likely to be a minority in the child rearing stage of life, is 
separated/divorced/widowed, has a large household, and is entering the market place and 
workforce with significantly less education. 



 44 

 
2. Employment Characteristics  
 

Exhibit 18 summarizes responses to a series of questions about employment 
status.  Since respondents were able to mark more than one category if needed to 
accurately depict their employment status, percentage totals do not equal 100 percent.  
Because Exhibit 18 comprises eight tables, an asterisk marks each employment question 
that was significantly related to customer type. 

 
Exhibit 18 

Employment Status by Customer Type  
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active 
Borrowers 

Inactive  
Borrowers 

Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

Employed by someone* 61.5 65.1 68.0 64.5 
Self-employed 18.8 19.2 20.1 19.4 
Homemaker* 7.2 6.4 3.9 5.7 
Retired 3.9 2.9 5.8 4.6 
Unemployed 8.4 5.2 6.3 7.3 
Disabled* 7.0 7.6 3.5 5.6 
More than one job*1 27.2 25.0 18.5 23.2 
Other 2.4 1.7 2.9 2.6 
n 867 172 897 1764 
 
*Significant at the .02 level or better 
Msg. = 56  
1Msg. = 304 

 

Although the majority of all groups are employed, the differences were 
significant, with a lower percentage of employed Active Borrowers.  (Exhibit 18).  There 
was no significant difference in self-employment, unemployment, and retirement.  Few of 
all groups identified themselves with the “Homemaker” role, but the difference was 
significant.  A significantly larger percentage of both Borrower groups reported being 
disabled than did Shop Only; this was also true for holding more than one job. 
 

Differences were mixed and not statistically significant for average hours worked 
per week by customer type (Exhibit 19).  To some extent, Active Borrowers might be 
considered “underemployed,” with 27.3 percent working less than 40 hours per week, 
versus 23.3 percent of Shop Only.  



 45 

 
Exhibit 19 

Average Hours Worked Per Week by Customer Type  
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active 
Borrowers 

Inactive 
Borrowers 

Shop  
Only 

 
Totals 

Less than 31 hours 20.5 16.4 15.1 17.8 
31-39 hours 6.8 9.0 8.1 7.5 
40 hours 30.9 27.6 29.8 30.1 
41-45 hours 16.7 19.4 18.0 17.5 
More than 45 hours 25.1 27.6 29.1 27.1 
Totals 100% 100% 100% 100% 
n 634 134 584 1352 

 
Employment changes can be expensive and disruptive to households.  

Respondents were asked to check any of the following events that had occurred to them 
in the last 12 months: being laid-off, fired, quitting a job, getting a new job, and being 
rehired.  Whereas 38 percent of Shop Only reported at least one job market event, 58.9 
percent of Active Borrowers checked at least one job market event.  Significantly larger 
percentages of Active Borrowers were represented in each of the job market events than 
were Shop Only. 
 

Exhibit 20 
Job Market Events During Last 12 Months 

(Percentage Distributions) 
 Active 

Borrowers 
Inactive 

Borrowers 
Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

Laid off* 15.0 10.2 7.6 11.5 
Fired* 6.5 2.3 2.5 4.5 
Quit* 13.1 12.4 9.1 11.4 
New job* 32.2 24.3 24.7 28.4 
Rehired* 9.1 5.1 4.7 6.9 
n 527 71 283 881 
% who did not 
check any events 

 
41.1 

 
60.0 

 
62.0 

 
- 

 
*Significant at the .04 level or better 

 
 
3. Income  
 

The data in Exhibit 21 show that the pawnshop sample had lower incomes than 
the general population.  Thirteen percent of the respondents reported income of less than 
$5,000.  Approximately 34 percent of the sample reported household income of less than 
$15,000 for 1996, versus 21.1 percent of U. S. households (1995).   



 46 

Almost one-third of households nationally had incomes of $50,000 or greater, but 
only 13.5 percent of the pawnshop sample had achieved such heights.  Household income 
was dramatically related to customer type, with larger percentages of Active Borrowers 
in the three lower income categories than were Shop Only.  Only 7.1 percent of Active 
Borrowers reported household incomes of $50,000 and over, versus 21.1 percent of Shop 
Only.  
 

Exhibit 21 
Household Income by Customer Type* 

(Percentage Distributions) 
 Active  

Borrowers 
Inactive 

Borrowers 
Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

 
U. S.1 

Under $5,000 15.2 14.0 10.5 13.1 
$5,000-14,999 23.3 18.9 18.3 20.8 

 
21.1 

$15,000-24,999 26.4 20.1 17.8 22.3 15.9 
$25,000-49,999 28.1 33.5 32.3 30.4 31.1 
$50,000 and over 7.1 13.4 21.1 13.5 31.9 
Totals 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
n 830 164 696 1690 - 
 

*Significant at the .001 level 
Msg. = 130 

1 Source: U. S. Bureau of Census, 1995  
 

The distributions of income are consistent with the earlier findings on education 
(Exhibit 11), marital status (Exhibit 14), job market events (Exhibit 20) and, to some 
extent, age (Exhibit 10).  Other studies have found a significant correlation between 
education and income.  Marital status is frequently related to household income, in part 
because the presence of two adults allows the opportunity for two participants in the labor 
market.  Income frequently shows a curvilinear relationship with age: young households 
tend to earn less than middle-aged households because of less job experience, and older 
households frequently have lower incomes as they enter retirement or work fewer hours.  
The impact of lower income for Active Borrowers is exacerbated by the fact that Active 
Borrowers tend to have larger households (Exhibit 16). 
 
 
4. Life style  
 

In this and later sections, the discussion of creditworthiness does not related to 
consumers’ ability to borrow from pawnshops.  As noted in the previous chapter, 
consumers’ ability to borrow from pawnshops depends on the value of the collateral, not 
creditworthiness.  Instead, the discussion in much of this chapter relates to consumers’ 
choices; that is, their ability to borrow from other legal lenders. 

 
Home ownership status of pawnshop customers is important for several reasons.  

First, home ownership represents, to some extent, a measure of the creditworthiness of 



 47 

the consumer in the past.  A consumer has to have fairly good credit and a dependable 
income stream to get a mortgage loan.  Second, home ownership represents an ongoing 
debt commitment that requires a fairly stable income stream to maintain and the payment 
record is generally available to current credit grantors.  Thus, credit grantors frequently 
use home ownership status as one factor in making decisions about granting credit.  
Finally, home ownership represents an asset that can be used for a home equity loan.   
 

The homeownership rate of the pawnshop sample was significantly lower than the 
national rate: 34.8 percent versus 65.4 percent.  The difference may be influenced, in 
part, by the metropolitan locations of the pawnshops, where home ownership rates may 
be lower.  
 

Active Borrowers were much less likely to be homeowners than were Shop Only 
who, presumably, lived in about the same area.  The relationship between home 
ownership and customer type is consistent with the significant differences in age, income, 
employment status and marital status between the Active Borrowers and Shop Only 
groups noted earlier.  The “Other” category of housing, 12.3 percent for the full sample, 
included all of those who listed alternative forms of housing.  Most of the people in this 
category said that they lived with a friend or relative and did not pay rent. 
 

Exhibit 22 
Home Ownership by Customer Type* 

(Percentage Distributions) 
 Active 

Borrowers 
Inactive 

Borrowers 
Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

 
U. S.1 

Own 26.4 39.0 43.5 34.8 65.4 
Rent 62.8 47.7 42.7 53.0 
Other 10.7 13.4 13.8 12.3 

 
34.6 

Totals 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 
n 866 172 742 1780 - 
 
*Significant at the .001 level 
Msg. = 40 
1 Source: Bureau of the Census, 1996 

 
 

Consistent with the nonownership status, Active Borrowers tended to have fewer 
years at current residence (Exhibit 23).  Only 30.2 percent of Active Borrowers said they 
had lived at their current address five years or longer, versus 38.8 percent of Shop Only.  
The difference between the percentage of Active Borrowers who said they had been at 
their current address less than one year and Shop Only was not great, but that may be 
related to the fairly high percentage of Shop Only respondents who were under 25 years 
of age (Exhibit 10).  Housing tenure is sometimes used in credit scoring models and 
shorter housing tenure can adversely affect access to credit. 

 



 48 

Exhibit 23 
Years at Current Address by Customer Type* 

(Percentage Distributions) 
 Active 

Borrowers 
Inactive 

Borrowers 
Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

Less than 1 year 27.6 22.0 25.5 26.2 
1-2 years 24.1 28.9 17.8 22.0 
3-4 years 18.1 15.0 17.8 17.7 
5 years or more 30.2 34.1 38.8 34.2 
Totals 100% 100% 100% 100% 
n 863 173 740 1776 
 
*Significant at the .001 level 
Msg. = 44 

 

Pawnshop customers were asked if they were members of various types of 
organizations or groups.  There were two major reasons for seeking this information.  
First, community ties might help consumers become aware of options in the community, 
including loan sources.  Thus, there may be a relationship between community ties and 
lending sources used.  A second reason was to identify ways to reach pawnshop 
customers with consumer education programs.  Religious, leadership, social 
organizations or groups were listed, followed by an “Other” category.  Respondents also 
were asked if they belonged to a credit union.  Since these questions were posed as 
“Check all that apply,” a lack of a check was recorded as “No;” thus there are no 
“missing” (Exhibit 24).   
 

The differences in membership in religious, leadership, and social organizations 
were not significant (Exhibit 24).  But response to the “Other” category varied 
significantly, with only 3.2 percent of Active Borrowers reporting membership, versus 
6.7 percent of Shop Only and 8.5 percent of Inactive Borrowers.  Some of the 
organizations listed by respondents under “Other” included the National Guard, NAACP, 
and unions.  Membership in a credit union was significantly different, with a larger 
percentage of Shop Only reporting membership than did Active Borrowers.  Inactive 
Borrowers were a close second.  The difference in rates of credit union membership may 
be related to employment and age.  Both Inactive Borrowers and Shop Only respondents 
had higher percentages of “Employed by someone” than did Active Borrowers.  
Consequently, they were more likely to be eligible to join a credit union.  Also, these two 
groups were slightly older, on average, than Active Borrowers and thus had more years in 
which to acquire membership in a credit union. 



 49 

 
Exhibit 24 

Membership in Organizations or Groups 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active 
Borrowers 

Inactive 
Borrowers 

Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

Religious org./groups 23.6 31.1 26.1 25.3 
Leadership org./groups 3.1 4.0 5.2 4.1 
Social org./groups 12.0 11.3 13.1 12.4 
Other org./groups* 3.0 8.5 6.7 5.1 
Credit union member* 25.3 31.6 33.8 29.4 
n (belonged to at least one) (423) (101) (462) 1820 
Checked none 52.7 %  42.9% 38.2%  
 
*Significant at the .001 level 

 
Health care costs can cause significant and unexpected financial stress for all 

households, young and old.  Overall, 67.8 percent of the pawnshop sample said they had 
health insurance.  The Census Bureau data show that, nationally, 84.8 percent of the 
United States population had health insurance coverage of some type (private or 
government) as of 1994.  National figures were lower for those citizens between the ages 
18 –44, an age group that encompasses the majority of our sample.  But, when the 
pawnshop sample was limited to only those aged 18-44 for comparison purposes, their 
health insurance coverage rate (64.8 percent) was still dramatically lower than national 
figures (not shown).  The pawnshop sample rate of coverage, 67.8 percent, was closer to 
health insurance coverage rates for “poor persons,” 69.2 percent (Census Bureau, 1996).  
The low coverage rate may be related to employment: 64.5 percent were employed by 
someone. 
 

The differences in health insurance coverage were significant among the groups.  
Active Borrowers were much less likely to be covered by health insurance than were 
Shop Only respondents: 61.1 percent versus 76 percent.  This difference is consistent 
with the difference in employment rates: 61.5 percent and 68 percent. 
 

Exhibit 25 
Health Insurance by Customer Type* 

(Percentage Distributions) 
 Active 

Borrowers 
Inactive 

Borrowers 
 

Shop Only 
 

Totals 
Yes 61.1 66.7 76.0 67.8 
No 38.9 33.3 24.0 32.2 
Totals 100% 100% 100% 100% 
n 851 171 732 1754 
*Significant at the .001 level 
Msg. = 66 

 



 50 

Rent-to-own (RTO) operates somewhat like a loan because customers have the 
opportunity to apply rental payments toward the purchase of the item, and the RTO still 
owns the item and can get it back if payments are missed.  Credit history requirements 
are less stringent than that of banks and credit unions, for example, because RTO charges 
are fairly high, compensating the storeowner for the additional risk.  Overall, 17.5 percent 
of the pawnshop sample said they had used RTO during the last 12 months (Exhibit 26).  
The difference in usage was significant, with a larger portion of Active Borrowers 
reporting use than Shop Only.  This difference is consistent with age (Exhibit 10), home 
ownership rates, (Exhibit 22), years at current address (Exhibit 23), income (Exhibit 21) 
and job market events (Exhibit 20).  Active Borrowers were younger, were more likely to 
be renters, were more mobile, experienced more job market events that may have 
disrupted income flow, and tended to have lower incomes.   
 

Exhibit 26 
Used Rent-to-Own by Customer Type During Last 12 Months* 

(Percentage Distributions) 
 Active 

Borrowers 
Inactive 

Borrowers 
 

Shop Only 
 

Totals 
Yes 23.9 15.6 10.4 17.5 
No 77.1 77.6 89.6 82.5 
Totals 100% 100% 100% 100% 
n 880 173 742 1795 
 
*Significant at the .001 level 
Msg. = 25 

 
Exhibit 27 summarizes ownership percentages of the pawnshop respondents for 

various technologies and national ownership rates when available.  The lower percentage 
of auto ownership/lease by the pawnshop sample may, in part, be related to the fact the 
data were collected in metropolitan areas, where auto ownership may be lower.   
 

Only 83.2 percent of the pawnshop sample had telephone service, versus  
94 percent nationally.  This difference may be related to a number of factors, including 
the age and racial make-up of the sample: Census data show that telephone service rates 
nationally are lower for householders less than 25 years of age (84 percent) and for 
blacks (86 percent).  The percentage of Active Borrowers with telephone service was 
significantly lower than the other two groups.  Active Borrowers also had shorter housing 
tenure and more job events relative to the other groups, which may help to explain this 
lower percentage.  Overall, the telephone percentages suggest that researchers interested 
in reaching pawnshop customers should avoid telephone surveys.  
 

A majority of all groups owned an answering machine and a VCR.  Almost  
30 percent of the sample said they had car phones and the differences among the groups 
were significant, with Active Borrowers less likely to have one than the other two groups.  
The ownership of video games ran about 60 percent for the full sample, with both 
Inactive Borrowers and Shop Only having lower rates than Active Borrowers.  These 



 51 

differences may be because Active Borrowers tended to be younger than the other two 
groups.  A private survey estimates that approximately 37 percent of U. S. households 
have video games; thus, the overall pawnshop sample’s percentage (58.6 percent) is high; 
but they are a young sample.  One-third of the full sample owned a personal computer, 
with ownership rates of Shop Only and Inactive Borrowers significantly higher than for 
Active Borrowers.  The computer ownership rate for the full pawnshop sample, 33.3 
percent, is not far different from 37 percent, which is estimated for the nation by 1997.  
 

Exhibit 27 
Ownership of Technology by Customer Type  

(Percentage Distributions) 
 Active 

Borrowers 
Inactive 

Borrowers 
Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

 
U. S. 

Auto1 72.6 70.6 76.8 74.2 80.02 
Telephone* 79.5 87.2 86.7 83.2 94.03 
Answering machine 59.7 66.5 62.7 61.6  
Car Phone* 24.8 32.9 32.5 28.8  
VCR 84.2 87.8 82.5 83.8  
Video games* 61.9 56.7 55.2 58.6 37.0 2 
Video camera 28.4 29.9 33.6 30.7  
P computer* 29.9 35.5 37.3 33.3 37.0 est.4 
n 852 164 730 1746  
 
*Significant at the .02 level or better 
Msg. = 74 
1 n = 1721 Msg. = 99 
2 Source: Katie Hafner, “Horse and Blender, Car and Crockpot,” New York Times,  
April 9. 1998, p.G1 
3 Bureau of the Census, 1994 
4 Source: Family Economics and Nutrition Review, Vol. 10, 1997 
  

 
 
5.  Financial Accounts  
 

Choice is one issue in understanding how consumers make decisions.  A question 
that arises in a discussion of use of alternative lending sources is “Did the consumer have 
a choice?”  One step in measuring choice is to identify the types of financial accounts 
currently held by pawnshop customers.  The holding of such accounts has both a supply 
and a demand side: (1) the consumer wanted the account and (2) the financial institution 
accepted the consumer as a customer.  Exhibit 28 shows the percentages of pawnshop 
customers holding five types of financial accounts and national totals where available. 
 

The percentage of pawnshop respondents holding transaction accounts (checking 
and savings accounts) was much lower than national totals.  Approximately 84.9 percent 
of U. S. families had a checking account (1995), versus only 57.6 percent of pawnshop 



 52 

respondents.  Only 13 percent of U. S. families were unbanked, i.e. had no transaction 
accounts (1995), versus 28.1 percent of pawnshop respondents.  The holding of 
transaction accounts was significantly related to customer type, with Active Borrowers 
being underrepresented in all measures. 

 
Exhibit 28 

Current Financial Accounts by Customer Type 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active 
Borrowers 

Inactive 
Borrowers 

Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

 
U. S. 

Has checking account* 47.4 58.1 69.4 57.6 84.91 
Has savings account* 49.1 58.6 64.6 56.4 - 
Has neither checking nor 
savings account*  

 
36.4 

 
27.0 

 
18.5 

 
28.1 

 
13.01 

Has store credit card* 29.7 42.0 46.3 37.7 58.02 
Has regular credit card* 27.4 42.2 48.0 37.4 
Has secured credit card 14.4 21.3 16.7 16.0 

 
54.02 

Has any credit card 
(store, regular, or 
secured)* 

 
41.5 

 
53.5 

 
61.0 

 
50.7 

 
68.02 

 
Msg. = varies, no more than 33 
*Significant at the .001 level 
1 Source: Federal Reserve Bulletin, 1/97 
2 Source: Federal Reserve Bulletin, 9/92 

 
A lower percentage of pawnshop respondents held credit cards, compared to 

national totals (Exhibit 28).  Sixty-eight percent of U. S. families reported having at least 
one credit card in 1989, versus only 50.7 percent of pawnshop respondents in 1997.  The 
“any credit card” percentages are awkward to compare because the national totals include 
credit cards not specifically addressed by the pawnshop sample; gasoline credit cards, for 
example.  This inconsistency would lower the pawnshop percentages somewhat.  But the 
age of the national totals, 1989, means that today’s totals would be higher.  Customer 
type was significant in explaining differences in holding of store credit cards, regular 
credit cards, and credit card holdings overall, with Active Borrowers less likely to have 
cards of each type.  
 

Two questions were asked to measure both the demand and the supply side of 
consumer credit.  Pawnshop customers were asked if they had applied for credit or a 
credit card in the last 12 months.  Responses show that there was no difference, based 
upon this measure, of demand for credit (Exhibit 29).  Approximately one-third of all 
groups said they had applied for credit or a credit card within the last 12 months.  Those 
who said they had applied were asked if the application had been approved.  The other 
side of the equation of choice, market supply, shows significant differences among the 
groups.  Approximately one-half of Active Borrowers who had applied for credit or a 



 53 

credit card within the last 12 months said their application had been approved, versus 
62.7 percent of Shop Only.  Inactive Borrowers reported an even higher approval rate.  
 

Exhibit 29 
Applied for Credit or Credit Card in Last 12 Months by Customer Type  

(Percentage Distributions) 
 Active 

Borrowers 
Inactive 

Borrowers 
Shop 
Only 

Totals Msg. 

Yes, applied 32.2 33.1 32.4 31.9 - 
  If yes, % who said 
   it was approved.* 

 
(49.8) 

 
(68.6) 

 
(62.7) 

 
(57.1) 

 
(20) 

No, did not apply. 67.8 66.9 68.6 68.1  
Totals 100% 100% 100% 100%  
N 817 160 730 1707 113 
 
*Significant at the .004 level 

 
Why the big difference in approval rates?  Credit grantors may have looked at 

data similar to what has been shown in previous exhibits.  Active Borrowers were less 
likely to be homeowners (Exhibit 22) and tended to have shorter time at current residence 
(Exhibit 23).  Active Borrowers were less likely to have checking and savings accounts 
(Exhibit 28).  Active Borrowers were less likely to be employed (Exhibit 18) and were 
more likely to have experienced job market events in the last 12 months than were Shop 
Only (Exhibit 20).  These are factors typically used in credit granting decisions and, more 
specifically, in credit scoring models.   
 

Customers were asked if they had borrowed money, large or small amounts, in the 
last 12 months from any of five sources: banks, small loan companies, credit unions, cash 
advances from credit cards, and friends/relatives.  The percentages differed significantly 
among the groups for four of the five loan sources (Exhibit 30).  Active Borrowers had 
the lowest percentage for banks, relative to the other two groups, and the highest 
percentages for small loan companies and relatives/friends.  The difference is dramatic in 
the latter, with almost two-thirds of Active Borrowers reporting at least one loan from 
relatives and friends, versus 16.3 percent of Shop Only.   

 
Percentages for cash advance loans and credit union loans have been treated 

differently because of their special requirements.  A consumer must have a credit card 
that allows cash advances in order to get a cash advance and, similarly, a consumer must 
be a member of a credit union in order to borrow there.  Thus, percentages for both cash 
advance and credit union loans are presented for the full sample and then, in parentheses, 
for the appropriate subsample.  For cash advance loans, the subsample includes only 
those who currently had a regular or secured credit card.  For credit union loans, the 
subsample includes only credit union members.  Although there is a timing problem 
(respondents may not have had a credit card or been a member of a credit union for the 
full 12 month period), few respondents who claimed such loans lacked the qualifier.  



 54 

Exhibit 30 shows that Active Borrowers dominated the percentages for both cash 
advances and credit union loans.  

 
Exhibit 30 

Loans by Customer Type During Last 12 Months 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active 
Borrowers 

Inactive 
Borrowers 

Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

 
n 

 
Msg. 

Bank* 12.3 20.0 15.8 14.5 1797 23 
Small loan 
company* 

 
15.2 

 
12.6 

 
7.4 

 
11.7 

 
1798 

 
22 

Relative or friend* 61.6 45.4 16.3 41.5 1790 30 
Cash advance from 
credit card* 

20.0 
(49.5) 

23.4 
(38.6) 

11.3 
(19.4) 

16.7 
(32.8) 

1795 
741 

25 
10 

Credit union* 11.3 
(33.3) 

12.6 
(25.0) 

7.8 
(21.0) 

10.0 
(26.6) 

1798 
533 

22 
2 

 
*Significant at the .01 level or better 

 
Generally, bankruptcy is an important indicator of past serious financial 

difficulties.  More specifically, the declaration of bankruptcy within the past ten years 
appears on a consumer credit report and could be one factor affecting current credit-
granting decisions by credit grantors.  Respondents were asked if they had ever declared 
bankruptcy.  Those who said “Yes” were asked if the bankruptcy had occurred within the 
past ten years.  Since revealing information about bankruptcy could be more sensitive 
than revealing income, the issue was addressed at the end of the questionnaire. 
 

A significantly higher percentage of both Borrower groups reported having 
declared bankruptcy, versus Shop Only.  The follow-up question, to find if bankruptcy 
was within the last ten years, showed no significant difference.  Approximately three-
fourths of both the Active Borrowers and Shop Only respondents who had declared 
bankruptcy said it was within the last ten years.   

 
Exhibit 31 

Bankruptcy by Customer Type  
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active  
Borrowers 

Inactive 
Borrowers 

Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

 
n 

 
Msg. 

Have declared 
bankruptcy ever* 
 

 
17.0 

 
17.3 

 
10.8 

 
14.4 

 
- 

 

    % of “ever” in 
   past 10 years 

 
(73.1) 

 
(69.2) 

 
(75.8) 

 
(73.8) 

 
233 

 
24 

No, never 83.0 82.7 89.2 85.6 1780 40 
 
*Significant at the .001 level 



 55 

 
 
6.  Borrowing Activities at Pawnshops 
 

Customers who were borrowing on the day of the interview (Current Borrowers) 
were asked to identify the reason or reasons for needing the money.  Those who were not 
borrowing that day but said they had borrowed at a pawnshop in the past (Have 
Borrowed) were asked to think back to that last loan and identify the reason or reasons 
for needing the money.  Those two groups have been combined in Exhibit 32 and labeled 
“Ever Borrowed.”  Responses do not add to 100 percent because respondents were 
allowed to give more than one reason for the loan.   
 

Two categories dominated the field: personal reasons and pressing bills.  The 
“Personal reasons” response gave respondents an option to maintain privacy and yet say 
that a pressing bill or a broken car, for example, was not the issue (Exhibit 32).  Medical 
bills were checked by only 4.8 percent of the respondents.  Given the number of 
respondents who said they did not have health insurance, this low response is surprising.  
But, money is fungible: money intended for new tires may have been spent on medical 
care and thus the need for the loan was credited to car expenses rather than medical bills.  
Several of the suggested reasons (taxes, appliance repair or purchase) had such low 
percentages that they were collapsed into the “Other” category. 

 
Exhibit 32 

Reasons for Needing Latest Pawn Dollars  
by Ever Borrowed  

 (Percentage Distributions) 
 

 
Ever  

Borrowed 
Medical bills 4.8 
Pressing bills 31.9 
Car expenses 13.5 
Treat for self 8.8 
Gift for someone 4.7 
Personal reasons 32.4 
Other 13.1 
n 1055 
 
Msg. = 17 

 
Customers who either were currently borrowing at the pawnshop on the day of the 

interview or said they had borrowed at a pawnshop at some time in the past were then 
asked to imagine there were no pawnshops.  “To meet your need for cash (current or last 
pawn) what would you consider doing?”  Seven responses were presented, followed by 
an open-ended “Other” alternative.  Since customers could check more than one 
response, totals do not add to 100 percent (Exhibit 33).  
 



 56 

By far the most frequently identified alternative to pawnshops was a relative or 
friend.  The “Do without” alternative was the second most frequently checked, followed 
by “Sell item outright.”  Although the time-lag problem is greater here than for  
Exhibit 30 because some borrowers have to go back more than 12 months, percentages 
for cash advances and credit unions are given for the qualifying subsamples, as well as 
the full sample.  Cash advances and credit unions were viewed as possible alternatives for 
more than one-third of those who currently held memberships necessary for those types 
of loans. 

 
 

Exhibit 33 
Alternatives If No Pawnshops by Ever Borrowed 

 (Percentage Distributions) 
 

 
Ever  

Borrowed 
 
n 

 
Msg. 

Bank 19.0 1041 31 
Small loan company 19.4 1041 31 
Cash advance from  
     credit card 

18.7 
(38.5) 

1043 
(353) 

29 
(12) 

Relative or friend 74.8 1054 18 
Do without 56.5 1048 24 
Sell item outright 48.7 1049 23 
Credit union  19.1 

(42.6) 
1040 
(275) 

32 
(7) 

Other 2.4 26 1046 
 

The majority of the respondents did not view the remaining alternatives, banks 
and small loan companies, as possible substitutes for pawnshops.  The most frequent 
alternative inserted by the customer in the “Other” category was to earn additional money 
to meet the need for cash, a very sensible response.  The findings suggest that these 
consumers are aware of the difficulty in obtaining a small loan quickly, especially if your 
creditworthiness is not strong. 
 

Customers then were asked to select from the alternatives to pawnshops that they 
had just checked and identify the BEST alternative for themselves (Exhibit 34).  The 
alternative of choice was a relative or friend.  “Do without” came in distant second and 
“Sell outright” came in as the third most frequently selected best alternative.  Banks, 
small loan companies, and cash advance vied for bottom place, the latter even when using 
percentage of respondents who currently had a regular or secured credit card.  Only 10.7 
percent of Ever Borrowed who were members of credit unions viewed a credit union as 
their best alternative for a small cash loan if pawnshops did not exist. 

 



 57 

Exhibit 34 
Best Alternative to Pawnshops by Ever Borrowed 

(Percentage Distributions) 
 

 
Ever  

Borrowed1 
Bank 4.7 
Small loan company 4.4 
Cash advance from  
    credit card 

1.9 
(5.2) 

Relative or friend 47.5 
Do without 19.7 
Sell item outright 15.6 
Credit union  3.2 

(10.7) 
Other 3.0 
Totals 100% 
 
1 n = 897 
Msg. = 175 

 
Obviously, it would not have been useful to ask Shop Only customers where they 

would borrow if pawnshops did not exist since they did not borrow at pawnshops.  This 
point begs an even more obvious question.  Did Shop Only customers take out small 
loans?  What constitutes a small loan may vary among individuals, so “small” was 
defined for them.  After asking if they had obtained any loans during the last 12 months, 
a follow-up question was: “If at least one loan was for $200 or less, where did you get the 
loan(s)?”  Only 119 Shop Only respondents, 15.9 percent, said that they had obtained at 
least one loan of $200 or less.  Since multiple responses were allowed, percentages do not 
add to 100 percent. 
 

Exhibit 35 shows where Shop Only respondents got those small loans.  The 
majority turned to relatives or friends, the alternative of choice for Ever Borrowed also.  
The second most frequently listed source for Shop Only was cash advance from a credit 
card.  This alternative was not high on the best alternative list of Ever Borrowed.  
Another source of small loans for Shop Only credit union members was their credit 
union: 26.8 percent.  This percentage is more than twice as large as the percentage of 
Ever Borrowed credit union members who listed a credit union as their best alternative if 
pawnshops did not exist.  Either Ever Borrowed underestimate their credit union’s 
willingness to make small loans, or they may feel their request would be denied because 
of something in their credit record.  Banks and small loan companies were not typical 
small loan sources for Shop Only: each was listed by less than 10 percent of the 
respondents who had gotten small loans.  Banks and small loan companies were not high 
on the Ever Borroweds’ best alternative list either. 



 58 

 
Exhibit 35 

Small Loan Sources for Shop Only 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 
 

Shop 
Only 

 
n 

 
Msg. 

Bank 5.4 1041 31 
Small loan company 8.9 1041 31 
Cash advance from  
credit card 

 
26.8 

 
1043 

 
29 

Relative or friend 50.9 1054 18 
Other 3.6 26 1046 
Credit union (% of 
members) 

 
(26.8) 

 
(41) 

 
(3) 

 
 
7.  Pawnshop History 
 

Customers who were borrowing that day (Current Borrowers) were asked if this 
was the first time that they had borrowed from a pawnshop.  Forty-four customers said 
“Yes” (20.9 percent).  The rest of the respondents who were either borrowing that day or 
said they had borrowed at a pawnshop in the past were asked “When was the first time 
you got a cash loan at a pawnshop?”  Exhibit 36 shows that the starting time was fairly 
evenly distributed.  Approximately one-third said they had begun within the last year, 
one-third said they had been borrowing at pawnshops for one to four years and the 
remaining third said five years or more.  
 

Exhibit 36 
When Started Borrowing at Pawnshops by Ever Borrowed1 

(Percentage Distributions) 
 

 
Ever  

Borrowed 
Within the last year 32.5 
1-2 years ago 21.1 
3-4 years ago 15.4 
5 years ago or more 31.2 
Totals 100% 
n 1017 
 
1 Excludes those who said this was their first time 
Msg. = 11 

 
Customers were then asked “In the last 12 months, about how many times have 

you gotten cash loans at pawnshops (counting today)?”  Exhibit 37 shows the responses 



 59 

only for Active Borrowers who said they were not first-time borrowers.  Responses were 
fairly evenly distributed. 

Exhibit 37 
Number of Loans From Pawnshops During  

Last 12 Months by Active Borrowers1 
(Percentage Distributions) 
 

 
 

Active Borrowers 
One loan 21.7 
Two loans 24.0 
Three loans 18.4 
Four to six loans 17.3 
More than six loans 18.6 
Totals 100% 
n 851 
 

1 Excludes those who said this was their first time 
Msg. = 1 

 
The final inquiries about their pawnshop history addressed forfeiture: “Of all your 

pawns in the last 12 months, how many did you lose (forfeit)?”  Six categories were 
listed, with the first four being zero to three forfeits, and the last two being “4-6” and 
“more than 6.”  Because so few respondents reported more than three pawns, the last 
three categories were collapsed into “Three or more forfeits.”  Again, the sample is 
limited to Active Borrowers who said, upon interview, that this was not their first loan at 
any pawnshop.  The vast majority of this subsample (70.6 percent) said they had not 
forfeited any loans at any pawnshops in the last 12 months and, at the extreme, only 4.6 
percent reported three or more forfeits. 
 

Exhibit 38 
Number of Forfeits During Last 12 Months  

by Active Borrowers1 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active Borrowers 
None 70.6 
One forfeit 17.5 
Two forfeits 7.3 
Three or more forfeits 4.6 
Totals 100% 
n 851 
 
1 Excludes those who said this was their first time 
Msg. = 13 



 60 

 
Exhibit 39 combines Exhibit 37 and 38 to examine the relationship between the 

number of loans at pawnshops in the last 12 months and the number of forfeitures at 
pawnshops in the same time period.  The highest category of forfeitures has been 
collapsed to “two or more” because of the low percentages in the last two categories of 
Exhibit 38.  Go to the shaded portion of “More than six loans” (Exhibit 39): 68.1 percent 
of those respondents had no forfeitures in the last 12 months.  These consumers seem to 
use pawnshop loans for frequent cash flow adjustments but don’t seem to be going into a 
downward spiral of forfeitures, at least in this 12-month period.  But, 12.1 percent of the 
“More than six loans” had one forfeit, and 19.8 percent had two or more forfeits.  
Continue with “More than six loans” in the unshaded portion: of all respondents 
examined in this table, who reported “No Forfeits,” 17.8 percent of them also reported 
that “More than six loans.” 
 

Exhibit 39 
Number of Loans at Pawnshops  

by Forfeits During Last 12 Months *1 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 
 

No 
Forfeits 

One 
Forfeit 

Two or More 
Forfeits 

 
Totals 

77.3 18.9 3.8 100%  One loan 
23.8 23.5 6.9 21.8 
73.0 18.1 8.8 100%  Two loans 
24.8 24.8 17.8 24.0 
68.8 19.7 11.5 18.5 Three loans 
18.0 20.8 17.8 18.5 
63.3 18.4 18.4 100%  Four to six loans 
15.5 18.1 26.7 17.3 
68.1 12.1 19.8 100%  More than six 

loans 17.8 12.7 30.7 18.5 
70.6 17.5 11.9 100% Totals 
100% 100% 100% - 

n 600 149 101 850 
 
1 Excludes those who said this was their first time 
*Significant at the .001 level 
Msg. = 2 

 
Overall, the variations in percentages between number of loans and number of 

forfeits are statistically significant, as one would expect.  The greater the number of 
loans, the more opportunity to forfeit.  The majority of Active Borrowers who reported 
large numbers of loans also reported no forfeits.   
 

Because of the obvious correlation between number of loans and number of 
forfeits, it is fruitful to compare the characteristics of those who reported a high number 
of forfeitures with those who reported a high number of loans.  Exhibit 40 shows 



 61 

education, income, age, race, transaction account status, and a job events measure for two 
groups: “2 or More Forfeits” in the last 12 months, and “2 or More Loans” in last 12 
months.  The characteristics of Active Borrowers are included also, as a reference point.   

 
The education percentages for the frequent loan group are very similar to the 

percentages for Active Borrowers, but respondents with lower levels of education were, if 
anything, under-represented in the frequent forfeit group.  Approximately 17 percent of 
Active Borrowers had not graduated from high school and the same percentage reported 
two or more loans from pawnshops in the last 12 months, but only 13.6 percent reported 
forfeiting on two or more of those loans in the same time period.  High school graduates 
and “High school + training” were somewhat over-represented in the frequent forfeit 
group. 
 

The “Under 25” age group is somewhat underrepresented in the frequent loan 
sample, relative to Active Borrowers, but that same age group is under-represented in the 
frequent forfeit group: only 6.5 percent of the frequent forfeit group were under 25 years 
of age.  One half of the frequent forfeit sample was 25 to 34 years of age, a much higher 
representation than in either the frequent loan group or the Active Borrowers.  Older age 
groups were under-represented in the frequent forfeit group. 

 
Percentage distributions of income for the frequent loan group are similar to 

income distributions for Active Borrowers, but lower income households are over-
represented in the frequent forfeit group.  Approximately two-thirds of frequent loan 
respondents had household incomes of under $25,000, versus almost four-fifths of the 
frequent forfeit group.  Respondents with household incomes of $25,000 and over were 
under-represented in the frequent forfeit group. 
 

Percentage distributions by race for the frequent loan group were similar to Active 
Borrowers, but black respondents were over-represented in the frequent forfeit group.  
Whites were under-represented in the frequent forfeit group.  The differences by race are 
probably related to other, over-riding factors such as education, household income, 
marital status, and household size. 
 

The unbanked (had neither a checking nor savings account) comprised 36 percent 
of both the frequent loan group and Active Borrowers.  The percentage of frequent 
forfeits that were unbanked was somewhat higher, at 40.6 percent.  And, finally, a job 
events measure was constructed that counted all respondents who had said “Yes” to being 
fired or laid off or having quit their job in the last 12 months.  There were only slight 
differences in the percentages of those who experienced job events among the three 
groups, with unbanked percentages lowest in the frequent forfeit group. 



 62 

Exhibit 40 
Characteristics of High Forfeit Sample,  

High Loan Sample, and Active Borrowers 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 
Characteristic 

2 or More 
Forfeits 

2 or More 
Loans 

Active 
Borrowers 

Education    
   Less than high school 13.6 17.1 17.1 
   G.E.D. 11.7 14.1 13.9 
   High school 27.2 25.0 24.2 
   High school + training 13.6 8.8 9.1 
   Some college 25.2 25.6 26.7 
   College graduate 8.7 9.5 9.0 
Age    
   Under 25 6.5 11.5 14.7 
   25-34 50.0 39.3 38.4 
   35-44 28.3 32.1 31.1 
   45-54 9.8 12.3 11.6 
   55+ 5.4 4.8 4.3 
Income    
   $4,999 or less 18.2 14.2 15.2 
   $5,000-$14,999 29.3 24.0 23.3 
   $15,000-$24,999 31.3 27.7 26.4 
   $25,000-$49,999 15.2 27.1 28.1 
  $50,000 + 6.1 7.1 7.1 
Race    
   Black 59.4 47.4 47.8 
   White 32.7 44.2 44.9 
   Other 7.9 8.4 7.3 
Unbanked-no checking 
and no savings account 

 
40.6 

 
36.3 

 
36.4 

Had job event in last 12 
months-fired, quit, laid off 

 
30.4 

 
31.2 

 
32.5 

n ~100 ~666 ~890 
Msg. varies by characteristics 

 
Customers were asked to rate the importance of nine factors when selecting any 

source for a small cash loan of $200 or less.  Respondents who had borrowed at 
pawnshops were faithful in answering these questions, but a high proportion of Shop 
Only did not respond.  This lack of response may be because very few of them borrowed 
small amounts and, thus, did not see the questions as relevant.  For brevity’s sake, all 
factors are listed in (Exhibit 41) with the percentage of each group saying “Very 
Important.”   

There was no difference statistically among the groups for the first six factors.  
Basically the respondents agreed that chances of having the loan approved, little paper 



 63 

work, short time to get cash, convenient location, convenient hours, and privacy were 
important.  But the next three factors, which had significantly different responses among 
the groups, are revealing.  Not having a credit check as part of the loan process was very 
important to a significantly larger percentage of Active Borrowers, versus both Inactive 
Borrowers and Shop Only.  When asked about the cost of loan, the groups responded 
quite differently.  Approximately two-thirds of both Borrower groups said cost was very 
important, versus 74.6 percent of Shop Only.  The analysis was redone, collapsing Active 
Borrowers and Inactive Borrowers into the Ever Borrowed group, and the difference 
between this combined group and Shop Only was statistically significant.  The last factor, 
personal security, has the same break: it was very important to significantly more Shop 
Only respondents than the combined Ever Borrowed group.  The reason for the 
difference, unfortunately, is not clear.   
 

Exhibit 41 
Factors Rated “Very Important” When Selecting Source for a Small Cash 

Loan 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active 
Borrowers 

Inactive 
Borrowers 

Shop 
Only 

 
Totals 

Good chance of getting 
loan 

 
65.5 

 
59.8 

 
61.1 

 
63.9 

Little paper work 41.0 39.7 40.7 40.8 
Short time to get cash 63.1 64.4 58.5 62.5 
Convenient location 56.4 52.9 56.7 56.0 
Convenient hours 57.1 54.6 53.6 56.2 
Privacy 61.7 58.6 62.2 61.3 
No credit check* 46.5 34.3 31.3 42.2 
Cost of loan** 67.3 66.9 74.6 68.5 
Personal security** 63.3 60.2 72.0 63.9 
n 883 175 224 1282 
 
*Significant at the .001 level 
**Significant at the .04 level or better when collapsed to Ever Borrowed  
     and Shop Only 
Msg. varies by question 

 
In the pilot questionnaire, all respondents were asked to evaluate statements about 

four potential sources for small cash loans ($200 or less) by a “Yes,” “No” or “Don’t 
Know” response.  However, Shop Only customers complained about answering the long 
series of questions about hypothetical small loans.  This complaint made sense because 
few Shop Only customers reported obtaining small loans in the last 12 months (see 
discussion of Exhibit 35).  Therefore, this series of questions was removed from the 
revised Shop Only questionnaire for the remainder of the study.  The responses of the 
Shop Only respondents from the pilot interviews and the responses from all of the 
Borrower interviews were used in (Exhibit 42.)  Significant results for banks, small loan 
companies, and pawnshops are presented.  Respondents were asked to evaluate credit 



 64 

unions also but those data have not been included because many respondents were not 
members.   
 

Since there are 24 tables behind Exhibit 42, a summary discussion is presented.  
There were slightly fewer than 100 Shop Only respondents because these questions were 
asked only on the initial Shop Only form of the questionnaire.  Since most Shop Only 
respondents said they had not obtained a small loan in the last 12 months, their responses 
may be based upon “street knowledge.”  But then, that could also be said for some 
pawnshop borrowers as they evaluate banks.  Because the personal security question was 
added after the pilot test, there are no responses from Shop Only respondents. 
 

Exhibit 42 
Views Significantly Different Among Groups for a Small Cash Loan 

Sources 
(Percentage Distributions) 

  
Banks 

Small Loan 
Companies 

 
Pawnshops 

My chance of getting cash 
is good. 

 
Sig. 

 
Sig. 

 
Sig. 

There is very little paper 
work 

  
Sig. 

 
Sig. 

Short amount of time to 
get cash. 

 
Sig. 

 
Sig. 

 
Sig. 

Offer convenient locations Sig.  Sig. 
Have convenient hours Sig.  Sig. 
Offer privacy Sig. Sig. Sig. 
Feel personally secure.   Sig. 
Dollar cost of loan is low. Sig.  Sig. 

 
“My chance of getting cash is good.”  There were significant differences among groups 
for all three loan sources.  A significantly larger percentage of Shop Only said they had a 
good chance of getting cash at both banks and small loan companies than did Borrowers.  
But significantly larger percentage of Borrowers, versus Shop Only, believed that their 
chances of getting a small loan from a pawnshop were good.  More than one-third of 
Shop Only marked “Don’t Know.” 
 
“There is very little paperwork.”  Few respondents from any group were willing to say 
“Yes, there is very little paperwork at banks.”  Significantly more Active Borrowers felt 
there was little paperwork at small loan companies, versus either Shop Only or Inactive 
Borrowers.  The overwhelming majority of Borrowers agreed there was little paperwork 
at pawnshops, but over one-half of Shop Only checked “Don’t know.” 
 
“Short amount of time to get cash.”  Although most respondents agreed that “Short 
time to get cash” was “Very Important” (Exhibit 40), responses to this question relative 
to banks (Exhibit 41) show that “short time” was defined differently by Borrowers than 
by Shop Only.  A significantly higher percentage of Shop Only agreed with this 



 65 

statement than Borrowers.  The percentages on small loan companies took a different 
slant: few respondents said “Yes,” but most Borrowers said “No,” versus Shop Only who 
tended to check “Don’t know.”  Most respondents agreed that loans at pawnshops were 
fast, but over one-third of Shop Only respondents responded “Don’t Know.”   
 
“Offer convenient locations.”  Dramatically more Shop Only respondents felt banks 
were conveniently located than Borrowers.  Responses did not vary significantly about 
locations of small loan companies: approximately one-third of all groups said “Yes,” 
“No,” and “Don’t know.”  It was amazing but, standing in a pawnshop completing the 
questionnaire, a lower percentage of Shop Only respondents said pawnshops were 
conveniently located than did Borrowers.  It may be that banks were closer to their work 
or home than was the pawnshop. 
 
“Have convenient hours.”  Significantly more Shop Only respondents agreed that banks 
had convenient hours, versus Borrowers.  There was no significant difference in 
responses about small loan companies’ hours, with a considerable number of all 
respondents saying “Don’t know.”  Although over two-thirds of all groups felt pawnshop 
hours were convenient, approximately one-fourth of Shop Only checked “Don’t know.”  
 
“Offer privacy.”  A significantly smaller portion of Borrowers than Shop Only felt 
banks offered privacy.  Two-fifths of all three groups felt that small loan companies 
offered privacy, and more than one-third of each group checked “Don’t know,” but a 
higher portion of Active Borrowers than Shop Only said “No.”  There was a big 
difference in feelings of Borrowers about privacy in the loan process at pawnshops, 
versus Shop Only.  The vast majority of Borrowers checked “Yes” versus less than half 
of Shop Only.  One-third of Shop Only checked “Don’t know.” 
 
“Feel personally secure.”  Shop Only were not asked the question about personal 
security because it was added after the pilot test, but the difference between Active and 
Inactive Borrowers was significant only for pawnshops.  More than three-fourths (77.7 
percent) of Active Borrowers said they felt personally secure in pawnshops, versus  
70 percent of Inactive Borrowers. 
 
“Dollar cost of loan is low.”  A larger percentage of Shop Only than Borrowers agreed 
that the dollar cost was low at banks.  Almost one-half of Borrowers disagreed with the 
statement, versus only one-third of Shop Only.  The differences in responses were not 
significant concerning small loan companies: about 40 percent of all three groups said 
“No,” one-third or more of all groups said “Don’t know,” and less than one-fourth of any 
group agreed that the cost was low at small loan companies.   
 
Differences blossomed over the cost of a loan at a pawnshop.  Over two-thirds of Active 
Borrowers agreed that dollar cost of a loan at a pawnshop was low, followed by  
62.6 percent of Inactive Borrowers.  But only 26.9 percent of Shop Only respondents 
agreed with this statement.  Less than 20 percent of any group said “No,” but the majority 
of Shop Only said “Don’t know.”  Only 12.3 percent of Active Borrowers and 22.4 
percent of Inactive Borrowers checked “Don’t know.”   
 



 66 

The answers about dollar cost of the loan are fascinating because they contradict reality: 
interest rates are higher at pawnshops than banks.  But banks may not be the appropriate 
reference point for Borrowers.  Three-fourths of Borrowers said “No” or “Don’t know” in 
response to “My chance of getting cash is good” at a bank.  Going back to Exhibit 34, the 
best alternative to pawnshops was “Relative or friend,” with “Do without” and “Sell item 
outright” running rather distant second and third.  Although earlier research shows that 
most relatives and friends do not charge monetary interest, there may be other costs.  And 
what are the costs of doing without or selling the item outright?   
 

Pawnshop customers were asked how they learned about that particular pawnshop 
where the interview was conducted (Exhibit 42).  Responses varied by group on only one 
method: “Shop signs.”  Fifty percent of Ever Borrowed said they had learned about that 
pawnshop because they saw the shop sign, versus 55.4 percent of Shop Only respondents.  
Because the remainder of the methods had virtually no variations among the three groups, 
only the overall percentages are presented for methods in Exhibit 42.  Multiple responses 
were allowed so totals do not sum to 100 percent.  In retrospect, “Yellow pages” should 
have been included as a response. 

 
Exhibit 43 

How They Learned About That Pawnshop 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Full Sample 
Shop sign* 52.4 
Relative or friend 35.8 
TV ad 3.7 
Radio ad 2.4 
Newspaper ad 2.9 
Mailer 0.88 
n 1810 
 
*Significantly different at the .05 level 
  between Ever Borrowed and Shop Only 
Msg. = 10 

 
Businesses are always interested in competition for customer attention.  So, those 

customers who had borrowed at pawnshops were asked “Of those pawns, (all pawns over 
the last 12 months), how many were from pawnshops other than this one (another branch 
or a competitor)?”  The responses of the Active Borrowers only (Exhibit 43) show that 
almost half said they had not borrowed at other pawnshops over the last 12 months.  But, 
the fact that the other half of Active Borrowers had obtained loans from other branches or 
competitors suggests that the respondents were “shopping” for credit within this source: 
pawnshops.  Pawnshop borrowers may shop for high loan-to-value ratios or quality of 
customer service. 
 



 67 

Exhibit 44 
Number of Loans From Other Pawnshops  

During Last 12 Months 
(Percentage Distributions) 

 Active 
Borrowers 

None 49.5 
One 24.6 
Two 14.2 
Three 6.5 
Four or more 5.2 
n 865 
 
Msg. = 30 

 
 

Summary of Findings 
 

Based upon this sample, the majority of pawnshop customers come from the 
family-raising stage of life, ages 25 to 44 years, when the demands upon household 
frequently are greater than the income.  Pawnshop customers are especially vulnerable 
because they tend to have larger households, marital instability, and are facing the 
workforce with less education than their cohorts.  The result is lower incomes and job 
instability.  Consistent with all of these factors, pawnshop customers are also much less 
likely than the general population to own a home or to have health insurance. 

 
Why borrow from a pawnshop instead of a bank or a small loan company?  The 

main reason is that pawnshop customers say they have a much better chance of getting 
the loan they need at a pawnshop.  Most financial institutions are unwilling to provide 
small loans and pawnshop borrowers seem to recognize this.  Pawnshop borrowers also 
have above-average records of bankruptcy and express a desire to avoid the credit check 
that is part of most lending procedures.  A high percentage of those who have applied for 
credit elsewhere have been rejected.  In addition, or perhaps as a result, many are 
uncomfortable with many aspects of established financial institutions.  In short, many 
pawnshop borrowers have little choice; if not the pawnshop, then friends or relatives, or 
they do without or sell assets outright. 

 
Their records of borrowing from pawnshops show that they may be customers for 

years.  By far the most frequent pattern is borrowing for a few weeks or a month or so, 
redeeming the pawns; then later, borrowing again and redeeming again.  Household 
possessions are used in lieu of savings accounts and in lieu of credit checks.  However, 
pawnshops meet only the needs for short-term “blips” in the household’s finances.  Long-
term reductions in income or increases in expenses cannot be financed with loans from 
pawnshops. 



 68 

CHAPTER 3 
 

CONCLUSIONS 
 

 Pawnshops have existed for centuries.  If nothing else, their endurance suggests 
that they are delivering a service desired by consumers.  In large part, they serve the 
“working poor,” although some affluent borrowers have always obtained large, 
collateralized loans from pawnshops.  As has been true of most firms making small loans, 
pawnshops have incurred public criticism throughout the centuries because their rates are 
higher than those of other lenders who make larger loans.  Yet, the costs of making and 
collecting small, short-term loans and storing and safeguarding the collateral are 
unavoidable costs of the business.  Efforts to somehow evade these costs are fruitless, as 
has been demonstrated by the dismal performance of pawnshops owned and managed by 
various government entities in Europe and Mexico.  
 
 Reductions in rate ceilings on larger cash loans made by banks and finance 
companies in order to “protect” consumers have forced those firms to deny credit to 
consumers that pose a high credit risk or who seek small loans.  In contrast, pawnshops 
avoid credit risk by obtaining collateral in the form of various possessions of the 
borrower.  Instead of a credit risk, the risk assumed by a pawnbroker is that the value of 
the collateral will be insufficient to cover the loan plus unpaid interest if the borrower 
defaults.  Thus, rate ceilings have a quite different adverse effect on consumers 
“protected” by lower rate ceilings and regulations that increase operating cost or reduce 
revenues.  Consumers needing small, short-term loans must either produce more 
collateral or accept smaller loans. 
 
 Can borrowers from pawnshops evade these consequences by going to other 
financial institutions?  In almost all cases, the answer clearly is “No.”  Banks, finance 
companies, and credit unions are simply not equipped to make unsecured, small, short-
term loans.  (For the most part, the loans would have to be unsecured, since the only 
collateral the borrowers can offer would be household items). Consequently, the 
responses to CRC’s survey show that the most common alternatives available to 
pawnshop borrowers is to seek funds from friends or relatives or to do without.  The only 
remaining source of cash may be the loan shark with rates of 20 percent per week. 
 
 We can draw some broad generalizations about the consumers who would be 
driven from the legitimate pawnshop market.  The preceding chapter has shown clearly 
that, in relation to the control group of shoppers who have never borrowed from 
pawnshops, pawnshop borrowers generally have lower and more uncertain incomes.  
That income is less likely to be protected by health insurance.  They are less equipped 
than non-pawners to deal with unexpected declines in their incomes or increases in their 
expenses.  In relation to the control group, they are younger, less educated and 
demonstrate less experience with the world of finance.  There is every indication that 
these differences would hold, and be even greater, were it possible to compare even more 
of the characteristics of pawnshop customers to those of the national population. 
 



 69 

 From the point of view of public policies regarding pawnshops, the basic issue is 
whether the consumers so fully described in the previous chapter should be 
accommodated in the pawnshop market.  For the first time, we have a clear understanding 
of the characteristics of pawnshop customers.  Should they be allowed into the market or 
should they be kept out, where they may not be so visible?     



 70 

 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

QUESTIONAIRES 
 

© 1998 Credit Research Center 
All rights reserved 

 
 
 

Questionnaires were administered as indicated by the code in the lower right-hand corner: 
 

CB2 – Consumers who were obtaining a loan on the day of the survey 
 

HB2 – Consumers who had borrowed at any pawnshop at least once at some time 
 

S2- Consumers who said that they had never obtained a loan at any pawnshop 
 

The number ”2” indicates that these were the final revised questionnaires after 
minor adjustments to the pilot questionnaire. 



 71 

 
 



 72 

 



 73 

 



 74 

 



 75 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 76 

 
 
 



 77 

 
 
 
 



 78 

 
 
 



 79 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 80 

 
 
 
 



 81 

 
 
 



 82 

 
 
 
 



 83 

 
 
 
 
 



 84 

 
 
 
 



 85 

APPENDIX B 
 

SUMMARY OF STATE PAWNSHOP LAWS 
 

 
 

 Note: These are only summaries of state laws.  Therefore, they do not reflect recent 
changes in those laws and should not be used for decisions that are related in any way to 

state laws.   
A qualified attorney should be retained. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 86 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 87 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 88 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 89 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 90 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 91 

 
 
 
 





10.1177/0022427803258384ARTICLEJOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN CRIME AND DELINQUENCYFass, Francis / THE ROLE OF PAWNSHOPS

WHERE HAVE ALL THE HOT GOODS
GONE? THE ROLE OF PAWNSHOPS

SIMON M. FASS
JANICE FRANCIS

Recent research argues that because markets for stolen goods act as incentives to
steal, police and criminologists should shift attention from thieves to methods of dis-
rupting demand for the goods. The underlying research, however, is too thin to sup-
port this advice. Effective policy requires considerably more investigation. Analysis
of pawn transaction data from Texas supports this assessment. It suggests that propos-
als to disrupt demand are unlikely to succeed, partly because similar actions already
applied to pawnshops have shown limited effect, mainly because hot goods are invisi-
ble in the daily flow of secondhand merchandise through the general retail market.
Police and criminologists should remain focused on thieves and their apprehension,
and on pursuing ways to do this more efficiently, such as through improved tracking of
pawn transactions. There may be other intervention possibilities as well, but much
more empirical research is required to identify them.

Keyword: property crime; receiving stolen goods; pawnbroking

Recent improvements in public understanding of markets for stolen goods
has led some researchers, Clarke (1999); Kock, Kemp, and Rix (1996); and
Sutton (1995), for example, to conclude that these markets, because they fa-
cilitate disposal, act as incentives to steal. From this they argue that police and
criminologists focus too much on thieves, not enough on reducing demand
for hot goods. They then urge more research on the markets and on methods
of disruption, such as encouraging stores that do not want illicit merchandise
to install closed circuit televisions, photograph sellers and post signs an-
nouncing participation in crime prevention programs (Sutton 1998).

More research is certainly warranted. But a shift in focus from thieves to
disrupting demand seems premature. As Freiberg (1997) highlights, all stud-
ies to date merely hint at the size and other features of the market. They offer
no basis to justify diverting attention or for expecting that the markets can be
upset in meaningful ways. Indeed, Freiberg stresses, “public knowledge of
[the] market [for stolen goods] and its dynamics . . . is so impoverished as to

JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN CRIME AND DELINQUENCY, Vol. 41 No. 2, May 2004 156-179
DOI: 10.1177/0022427803258384
© 2004Sage Publications

156



border on the scandalous. Good policy cannot be developed on the founda-
tions of ignorance” (1997:25).

A glaring sign of this poverty is scarcity of research on pawnshops (i.e.,
pawnbrokers who make loans as main businesses or as sidelines to other
enterprises). Rarely arrested, these brokers have long been suspected of illicit
trade. Scholars recurrently point fingers at them. Interviews with burglars
show their importance for quick disposal. And everywhere there are pawn-
shop laws that, among other objectives, aim to reduce traffic in stolen goods.

What makes the dearth of research especially dismaying is that although
denunciation of pawnshops and efforts to halt illegal trade have recurred for a
long time, the few empirical studies done on them, mainly by economists
(e.g., Caskey 1994; Patterson 1899), legal analysts (e.g., Levine 1913;
Nickles and Adams 1994; Oeltjen 1996), and others (e.g., Wheat 1998),
ignore or downplay their involvement. Although these scholars act as delib-
erate or inadvertent pawnbroker defenders, adversaries, such as Glover and
Larubbia (1996) and other investigative journalists, continue to underscore
close connections between brokers and stolen merchandise.

Missing from this arena is dispassionate inquiry that might help estimate
pawnbrokers’ share of the market, and also answer the question of whether
new attempts to reduce that share could prove more effective than past
attempts. This question is important because if the answer to it is no, then
prospects for disrupting other, less visible and less regulated markets for sto-
len merchandise are remote. There would then be little reason for attention to
shift from thieves to markets.

Following a brief look at pawnbroking in the United States, we move
toward answering the question with a review of what has been alleged about
the link between brokers and stolen goods. With data for Dallas, Texas, we
then show that the pawnshop customer base holds a small group of prolific
pawners. Containing many people with arrests for thievery, this group is
responsible for a disproportionate number of transactions that, we suspect,
involve hot items. These data also show that even if the items are but a frac-
tion of all things passing through shops, that fraction represents a significant
portion of broker revenue and a nontrivial share of the estimated $40 billion
to $45 billion of goods that we estimate are stolen every year (see appendix).

Out of this, our answer to the question is that efforts to disrupt markets for
stolen goods are unlikely to succeed. One reason, for pawnshops, is that pro-
posed disruption methods are similar to those that have been applied with lit-
tle effect for a long time. Writ larger, another reason is that stolen items are
invisible in the flow of used merchandise between sellers and buyers. Mar-
kets for hot goods are inseparable from the market for all secondhand wares.
Reducing demand for stolen goods, therefore, implies disrupting the whole
retail market for used merchandise. Even if one accepts the premise that this

Fass, Francis / THE ROLE OF PAWNSHOPS 157



bigger market acts as an incentive to steal, disturbing it serves no fruitful pur-
pose. Police and criminologists are thus better advised to stick with identifi-
cation and apprehension of thieves, and with improving methods to accom-
plish this, such as finding more efficient means to track pawn transactions.
This does not exhaust the list of possible interventions, but much more empir-
ical research is required in order to identify the productive possibilities.

PAWNBROKING IN THE UNITED STATES

Pawnbroking is the business of lending cash for a fixed term against the
security of a deposit, or pledge, of personal property. The loan is typically 30
percent to 75 percent of the market value of the pledge. If borrowers repay the
loan on time together with interest and other fees, the broker returns the
goods. If obligations are not paid, then borrowers forfeit their property. The
broker earns revenue from interest and fees or from sale of the forfeited
items.

The business has almost always been associated with exorbitant interest
rates and with facilitation of traffic in stolen goods. As a result, pawnshops
are everywhere subject to specific state and local regulation. Some laws set
maximum limits, or ceilings, on nominal (i.e., official) interest rates and on
storage and other administrative fees that brokers use to push effective rates
that customers pay to levels higher than nominal rates. In addition to licens-
ing, bond, land use zoning and like requirements, other regulations focus
mainly on identifying stolen goods and limiting their flow through shops.
Among other things, these require that brokers submit records of all transac-
tions to police in a timely manner, that the records describe every item
pawned, and that borrowers supply personal identification, at times includ-
ing fingerprints or photographs.

Laws were highly restrictive during the first half of the twentieth century,
dampening growth of pawnbroking, or at least that of visible, licensed shops.
Levine (1913) counted 1976 of them in 1911, after which the number
dropped to 1509 in 1929 and 1374 in 1948 (U.S. Bureau of the Census 1953).
As they still do, laws also varied greatly across states. With profitability
harder in some places than in others, this variation contributed to big differ-
ences in spatial distribution, for example, from 2.6 shops per 100,000 urban
population in Kentucky to 17.9 in Florida (Levine 1913).

Numbers exploded during the second half of the century, due in part to
regulatory reform, especially liberalization of interest ceilings (Johnson and
Johnson 1998), and in part to rapid growth in demand for used merchandise.1

Based on a count of telephone directory listings, Caskey (1994, 1995) esti-
mates that the number of shops jumped from 4,850 in 1985 to near 10,000 in

158 JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN CRIME AND DELINQUENCY



1994. We count 12,300 unduplicated listings in 2002. With allowance for
those that do not list themselves, this suggests the presence of perhaps 15,000
brokers.2 As we show in Table 1, pawnshops have become as convenient to
their customers, be they borrowers or criminals, as the 12,500 McDonald’s
fast food restaurants are to their hungry patrons.3

Another change, in recent years especially, is the structure of the industry.
Independent outlets have been absorbed or displaced by regional and
national firms, such as Cash America, which in 1987 became the first pub-
licly traded pawnshop corporation in the country (Scott 1992), and EZCorp,
Express Cash, and First Cash, which traded on Wall Street a few years later
(Caskey 1995).

These corporate players have moved aggressively to acquire merchandis-
ing respect, to replace the pawnbroker’s disreputable image with that of vir-
tuous entrepreneurship (Drysdale and Keest 2000). Some efforts focus on
transforming seedy shops into smart-looking retail stores (Berg 1991; Breyer
1995; Ruisseaux 1995). Others involve strategic use of advertising in local
media, and encouraging these media to report positive trends in the industry,
notably the move of brokers into suburbia and corresponding widening of the
customer base to include more middle- and higher-income individuals (e.g.,
Auster 1997; Calkins 1987).

WHAT SCHOLARS AND JOURNALISTS SAY
ABOUT PAWNSHOPS AND STOLEN GOODS

These exertions may have succeeded in removing some of the stigma
attached to use of pawnbrokers, especially in higher-income strata. But they
have yet to undermine the widely held conviction that shops serve what
Glover and Larubbia (1996) call the modern thief’s automatic cash machine.
The perceived link between theft and pawnbroking, as mentioned earlier, is
indirectly supported by some scholarly research. Cromwell’s (1991) inter-
views of 30 apprehended burglars in Texas showed that 18 percent used
pawnshops as a primary method of disposal whereas others used them irregu-
larly. Our analysis of transcripts from interviews by Richard and Decker
(1993) of one hundred burglars in Missouri suggests that even though
required to have their picture taken, 42 percent used pawnshops for goods
disposal, half of them regularly.

More commonly, the perception is sustained by recurrent newspaper arti-
cles concerning pawnshop crackdowns, arrest of operators, proposals to
computerize pawn records, and the like (e.g., Gryta 1998; Krause 1998;
McGeevy 1997). Grounded or not, belief that shops attract criminals contin-

Fass, Francis / THE ROLE OF PAWNSHOPS 159



160

TA
B

L
E

 1
:

P
aw

n
b

ro
ke

rs
 in

 t
h

e 
U

n
it

ed
 S

ta
te

s 
in

 2
00

2,
by

 S
ta

te
a

M
cD

on
al

ds
’

P
aw

nb
ro

ke
rs

R
es

ta
ur

an
ts

E
ffe

ct
iv

e
P

er
 1

00
,0

00
P

er
 1

00
,0

00
R

at
io

 o
f P

aw
nb

ro
ke

rs
S

ta
te

In
te

re
st

 R
at

eb
(%

)
N

um
be

rc
P

op
ul

at
io

nd
N

um
be

rc
P

op
ul

at
io

nd
to

 R
es

ta
ur

an
ts

A
la

ba
m

a
21

66
0

14
.8

23
0

5.
2

2.
9

A
la

sk
a

25
55

8.
8

30
4.

8
1.

8
A

riz
on

a
20

14
5

2.
8

20
0

3.
9

0.
7

A
rk

an
sa

s
15

38
5

14
.4

14
0

5.
2

2.
8

C
al

ifo
rn

ia
18

74
5

2.
2

1,
16

5
3.

4
0.

6
C

ol
or

ad
o

10
23

5
5.

5
19

5
4.

5
1.

2
C

on
ne

ct
ic

ut
3

80
2.

3
15

0
4.

4
0.

5
D

el
aw

ar
e

3
15

1.
9

35
4.

5
0.

4
D

is
tr

ic
t o

f C
ol

um
bi

a
2

15
2.

6
40

7.
0

0.
4

F
lo

rid
a

25
1,

12
0

7.
0

72
5

4.
5

1.
5

G
eo

rg
ia

25
99

5
12

.2
37

0
4.

5
2.

7
H

aw
ai

i
20

75
6.

2
70

5.
8

1.
1

Id
ah

o
20

15
0

11
.6

50
3.

9
3.

0
Ill

in
oi

s
23

26
5

2.
1

60
0

4.
8

0.
4

In
di

an
a

23
15

5
2.

5
33

5
5.

5
0.

5
Io

w
a

23
10

0
3.

4
13

0
4.

4
0.

8
K

an
sa

s
10

14
0

5.
2

17
5

6.
5

0.
8

K
en

tu
ck

y
22

32
5

8.
0

22
0

5.
4

1.
5

Lo
ui

si
an

a
20

23
0

5.
1

26
5

5.
9

0.
9

M
ai

ne
25

40
3.

1
60

4.
7

0.
7

M
ar

yl
an

d
20

18
5

3.
5

31
5

5.
9

0.
6

M
as

sa
ch

us
et

ts
5

65
1.

0
24

0
3.

8
0.

3
M

ic
hi

ga
n

5
15

0
1.

5
53

5
5.

4
0.

3
M

in
ne

so
ta

20
14

0
2.

8
19

0
3.

9
0.

7
M

is
si

ss
ip

pi
25

40
0

14
.1

13
0

4.
6

3.
1

M
is

so
ur

i
4

35
5

6.
3

32
5

5.
8

1.
1



161

M
on

ta
na

25
14

0
15

.5
45

5.
0

3.
1

N
eb

ra
sk

a
12

55
3.

2
75

4.
4

0.
7

N
ev

ad
a

15
11

0
5.

5
11

0
5.

5
1.

0
N

ew
 H

am
ps

hi
re

20
35

2.
8

60
4.

9
0.

6
N

ew
 J

er
se

y
3

45
0.

5
22

0
2.

6
0.

2
N

ew
 M

ex
ic

o
10

14
5

8.
0

75
4.

1
1.

9
N

ew
 Y

or
k

3
15

0
0.

8
49

5
2.

6
0.

3
N

or
th

 C
ar

ol
in

a
22

48
0

6.
0

37
5

4.
7

1.
3

N
or

th
 D

ak
ot

a
25

35
5.

5
25

3.
9

1.
4

O
hi

o
9

21
0

1.
8

60
0

5.
3

0.
4

O
kl

ah
om

a
20

41
5

12
.0

18
0

5.
2

2.
3

O
re

go
n

10
50

1.
5

17
0

5.
0

0.
3

P
en

ns
yl

va
ni

a
2

90
0.

7
54

5
4.

4
0.

2
R

ho
de

 Is
la

nd
5

15
1.

4
30

2.
9

0.
5

S
ou

th
 C

ar
ol

in
a

25
30

0
7.

5
20

0
5.

0
1.

5
S

ou
th

 D
ak

ot
a

20
60

7.
9

35
4.

6
1.

7
Te

nn
es

se
e

20
57

0
10

.0
29

0
5.

1
2.

0
Te

xa
s

20
1,

27
0

6.
1

92
0

4.
4

1.
4

U
ta

h
10

12
5

5.
6

95
4.

3
1.

3
V

er
m

on
t

3
2

0.
3

25
4.

1
0.

1
V

irg
in

ia
9

25
5

3.
6

38
5

5.
4

0.
7

W
as

hi
ng

to
n

12
24

5
4.

2
26

5
4.

5
0.

9
W

es
t V

irg
in

ia
10

14
0

7.
7

95
5.

3
1.

5
W

is
co

ns
in

3
55

1.
0

26
5

4.
9

0.
2

W
yo

m
in

g
20

70
14

.2
30

6.
1

2.
3

To
ta

l (
av

er
ag

e)
(1

9)
12

,2
95

(4
.4

)
12

,5
30

(4
.5

)
(1

.0
)

a.
  A

ll 
nu

m
be

rs
 in

 ta
bl

e 
ar

e 
ro

un
de

d.
b.

  E
ffe

ct
iv

e
in

te
re

st
,i

nc
lu

di
ng

bo
th

no
m

in
al

in
te

re
st

an
d

ot
he

rc
ha

rg
es

,i
s

ca
lc

ul
at

ed
fo

ra
hy

po
th

et
ic

al
60

-d
ay

lo
an

of
$5

0
se

cu
re

d
w

ith
a

2.
5

cu
bi

c
fo

ot
 m

ic
ro

w
av

e 
ov

en
 (

i.e
., 

to
 e

st
im

at
e 

st
or

ag
e 

fe
es

 b
as

ed
 o

n 
vo

lu
m

e)
.

c.
  N

um
be

rs
of

br
ok

er
s

an
d

re
st

au
ra

nt
s

ar
e

fr
om

st
at

e
lis

tin
gs

do
w

nl
oa

de
d

in
m

id
-2

00
2

fr
om

th
e

Ye
llo

w
P

ag
es

bu
si

ne
ss

di
re

ct
or

y
(e

xc
lu

di
ng

du
pl

i-
ca

te
s)

, r
et

rie
ve

d 
Ju

ne
 1

2,
 2

00
2,

 h
ttp

://
w

w
w

.s
up

er
pa

ge
s.

co
m

/.
d.

  P
op

ul
at

io
n 

es
tim

at
ed

, A
pr

il 
1,

 2
00

0,
 h

ttp
://

ei
re

.c
en

su
s.

go
v/

po
pe

st
/d

at
a/

st
at

es
/p

op
ul

ar
ta

bl
es

/ta
bl

e0
1.

ph
p.



ues to fuel opposition to their presence in residential areas (e.g., Ingrassia
1995; Lundy 1994).

Pawnbrokers insist that this is misperception, countering that shops are in
fact good neighbors serving the needs of cash-strapped populations. They
illustrate this with genial stories in the media of the benefits obtained by indi-
vidual borrowers in financial distress (e.g., Marino 1997). They claim, fur-
thermore, that most if not all pawnbrokers are honest, hard-working individ-
uals who try to reduce risk of receiving stolen property by working closely
with police (Chuang 1998; Stroer 1997). As a result, they say, pawnshops
accept few stolen items.

Some data seem to bolster this assertion. A review of 150,000 pawn trans-
actions by Cash America found only 34 stolen items, or 0.02 percent of the
total (Kleinfield 1989). A 1991 check of 65,000 transactions in Dallas
County, Texas, found 250 stolen items, or 0.4 percent (Scott 1992). In
Oklahoma, 873 of more than 1.5 million items pawned in 1995, or less than
0.1 percent, were identified as stolen (Wheat 1998). Police in Los Angeles,
California, recover about $700,000 a year in stolen property, also a tiny share
of all transactions (McGeevy 1997). Similar figures, respectively .01 and .07
percent, are reported in Florida for Collier and Palm Beach counties (Florida
Committee on Criminal Justice 2000)

But these data are not convincing. They stem from efforts to match goods
in pawn against lists of stolen items with serial numbers, engraved ownership
markings, or other unique identifying features that victims report to police.
Most stolen goods do not have such unique features. Most thefts, as we note
in the appendix, are not reported.

Pawnbrokers also find support from scholars studying the business.
Caskey (1994), after interviewing six brokers, argues that they do not traffic
in stolen goods because, risking arrest or suspension of their licenses, it
would be foolish for them to do so. Nickles and Adams (1994), to buttress
their argument that possession of property by pawnbrokers should imply
legal right to the property, claim that virtually all pawned goods involve true
owners. Oeltjen (1996), reacting to a broker’s claim in court that 5 percent of
transactions involve stolen goods, tries to discredit the assertion in a footnote
by saying, disingenuously, that it is not substantiated by fact.

Evidence to challenge the idea that hot goods are an insignificant share of
all pawned items is often just as anecdotal as that which supports it. Much of
this evidence flows from ad hoc law enforcement actions, such as a sting
operation by police in Manatee County, Florida, that was filmed and then
broadcast on national television during the NBC network’s Dateline program
on May 11, 1999 (Florida Committee on Criminal Justice 2000). Here,
undercover officers created a pawnshop to investigate the extent to which

162 JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN CRIME AND DELINQUENCY



thieves would use this type of facility. Hidden cameras then recorded how
several frequent pawners came in to fence wares that were obviously hot, a
few even revealing how they burgled homes and businesses. The state
requirement that pawners leave a thumb print at every transaction did not
deter these individuals.

An earlier undercover operation in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, filmed and
then aired on December 21, 1997, during the CBS network’s 60 Minutes pro-
gram, involved detectives posing as homeless people trying to pawn com-
puter equipment with stickers indicating that they belonged to a prominent
local business (“Quick Cash” 1997). Notwithstanding overt signs that the
goods might be hot, staff at three of five shops accepted them, one even ask-
ing for computer monitors the next time.

Luring CBS to Fort Lauderdale was a series of investigative reports by
Glover and Larrubia (1996) in a local newspaper claiming that city pawn-
shops routinely accept suspect merchandise. After sorting through 70,000
pawn tickets to identify and examine backgrounds of the 50 most prolific
pawners, the journalists found three common characteristics: Most were
unemployed, 78 percent had arrest records (half of them for property crimes,
most others for drug offenses), and all possessed a seemingly endless supply
of things to pawn. A police survey of frequent pawners produced like find-
ings in Portland, Oregon. It noted that 90 percent were chronic drug users
with long criminal records, and that most were unemployed (Hammond
1997).

The combination of high arrest and unemployment rates among prolific
pawners implies that pawnbrokers have a correspondingly high probability
of receiving stolen goods from such people. However, without an indication
of the proportion of prolific pawners in the whole population of customers, or
of the share of their goods relative to all pawned items, it is hard to gauge the
significance of Fort Lauderdale and Portland findings. Johnson and Johnson
(1998), for example, make clear that frequent pawners are not representative
of the general clientele. Their interviews with 1,100 randomly selected bor-
rowers in 1997 show that most are employed males, usually high-school
graduates, without bank accounts (Johnson and Johnson 1998).

In general, research by scholars and journalists suggests three things.
First, pawnbrokers do have some role in recycling stolen goods. Second, fre-
quent pawners present the highest likelihood of acting as main agents
through which pawnshops acquire hot goods. Third, the volume and value of
these goods may be substantially greater than the tiny fractions that have
been proposed. Pawn data from Dallas, Texas, provide circumstantial evi-
dence to support these suggestions.

Fass, Francis / THE ROLE OF PAWNSHOPS 163



DATA FROM DALLAS, TEXAS

In addition to data from interviews with nine imprisoned property offend-
ers (confirming the findings of Cromwell [1991] and Richard and Decker
[1993] on use of brokers), 11 pawnshop managers and a dozen police officers
in pawn units in Dallas and surrounding municipalities, these data comprise
three related components. First is a primary database of all pawn transactions
recorded by the Dallas Police Department (DPD) during the six-year period
from January 1, 1991, through December 31, 1996. Each transaction shows a
pawn ticket number, a pawner identification number, shop identification
number, transaction date, and classification code for items pawned.4

The second component, devised to help us calculate transaction values,
comprises 1,000 randomly selected pawn tickets issued by 102 pawnbrokers
during the first half of 1993. In addition to items in the primary database, each
ticket shows the pawner’s zip code address, age, sex, and race; the loan
period, amount of loan, finance charge, description and quantity of items
pawned, and whether the transaction involves a loan or sale. With these data
we estimate mean dollar values for 21 items that together represent almost 70
percent of all pawned goods.

The third data component, designed to examine arrest histories, is sample
data on 2,000 pawners. These show pawner identification number, street
address, age, race, gender, and state arrest record, if any. To create the sample
we stratified the primary database into 10 frequency-of-transaction classes
(i.e., one pawn transaction during 1991-1996, two transactions, etc.), and
then randomly selected 200 individuals from each category. The selection
provided a list of identification numbers that we then used to search through
state and county public records for individual arrest information. Glover and
Larrubia (1996) used a similar method. The difference between the two
approaches is that we cover all pawners for six years, not just the prolific ones
for one year.

THE EVIDENCE CONNECTING
PAWNSHOPS AND STOLEN GOODS

These data show that Dallas pawnshops received more than 5.5 million
items in pledge during the six-year period, or a daily average of 23 items per
shop.5 Table 2 indicates that about two dozen items made up more than 70
percent of the total, most in the categories of jewelry, electronics, tools, office
equipment, and firearms. This distribution pattern is roughly similar to that

164 JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN CRIME AND DELINQUENCY



reported by Caskey and Zikmund (1990) and also, as noted in the appendix,
to the composition of stolen goods. This similarity between types of items
pawned and stolen is expected because the features that make some things
better candidates for theft than others (i.e., easily concealed, removable,
valuable, enjoyable and disposable [Clarke, 1999]) also make them good
things to pawn.

Fass, Francis / THE ROLE OF PAWNSHOPS 165

TABLE 2: Items Pawned in Dallas, Texas, 1991-1996a

Item Class Specific Good Number b Percentage

Jewelry Ring 848,040 15.4
Necklace 280,280 5.1
Wristwatch 229,610 4.2
Gold bracelet 139,070 2.5
Subtotal 1,497,000 27.2

Electronics Video recorder/player 399,230 7.2
Television 371,560 6.7
Television game 158,120 2.9
Stereo receiver 135,550 2.5
Radio/tape player 119,500 2.2
Compact disk player 94,300 1.7
Speakers 72,840 1.3
Amplifier 69,110 1.3
Compact audio disk 50,320 0.9
Subtotal 1,470,530 26.7

Tools Drill 121,290 2.2
Saw 98,860 1.8
Toolbox 62,210 1.1
Subtotal 282,360 5.1

Communication Telephone 67,980 1.2
Pager/beeper 65,020 1.2
Subtotal 133,000 2.4

Firearms 321,910 5.8

Other Camera 81,550 1.5
Microwave oven 68,020 1.2
Guitar 64,310 1.2
Vacuum cleaner 58,540 1.1
Subtotal 272,420 4.9

Total, listed items 3,977,220 72.1
Total, all items 5,513,600 100.0

a.  All numbers in table are rounded.
b.  Figures calculated from data in primary database of all pawn transactions recorded
by the City of Dallas Police Department, 1991-1996.



The 5.5 million items were pledged by 523,000 different individuals dur-
ing the course of nearly 2.9 million transactions (see Table 3).6 We estimate
the total loan value of these transactions at about $208 million in 1999 dollar
terms, or an average of $73 per transaction.7 This is near the $70 that Johnson
and Johnson (1998) report for 1.2 million pawn tickets reviewed by the
National Association of Pawnbrokers in 1997, and the $75 for 1.6 million
tickets issued in Illinois in 1998 and 1999 (Illinois Office of Banks and Real
Estate 2001).

Frequent pawners generated a disproportionate share of this activity. The
14,500 people pawning 30 times or more, though only 2.7 percent of the
total, were responsible for 29 percent of all transactions and goods, and 24
percent of total loan value.8 This group, as in Ft. Lauderdale and Portland,
also held a higher proportion of individuals with arrest records. Its members
were two to three times more likely to have been convicted for theft, larceny,
burglary, or robbery than those who pawned once or twice. Nearly two thirds
of the 1,100 individuals within the group who pawned more than one hun-
dred times had arrest records, more than half of them for some kind of
stealing.

Looking at the most prolific pawners, the top 100 individuals who each
pawned more than 250 times, Table 4 shows 83 with arrest records. Of these,
58 had accumulated 300 convictions for property as well as other offenses, or
an average of 5.2 arrests per individual, Most property crime arrests, 74 per-
cent, were for theft, 11 percent for burglary of vehicles, 7 percent for burglary
of homes or businesses, 5 percent for robbery, and the rest for forgery and car
theft. Other infractions mainly involved drug possession (23 percent) or driv-
ing without a license (23 percent).

Among the 42 persons not apprehended for property crimes, 17 had no
records whereas 25 had 49 convictions for nontheft infractions, or an average
of 2 arrests per person. Very similar to the previous group in age, sex, and race
composition, arrests here were mainly for drug possession (40 percent) and
driving without a license (14 percent). But it would be premature to assume
that these people committed no property offenses. As we note in the appen-
dix, nearly three fourths of thefts from households, half of burglaries, and a
third of robberies were not reported in 1999. Employee theft, a prime source
of stolen goods, usually goes unreported too. And for reported crimes, clear-
ance rates are low in large cities: 15 percent for theft, 12 percent for burglary
and 23 percent for robbery (U.S. Federal Bureau of Investigation 1995-
2000). That is, 85 to 95 percent of property crimes are not solved. This sug-
gests that many thieves are able to evade arrest, a fair share of them are likely
to be in the group of frequent pawners that do not have property-related arrest
records, and a goodly proportion of things pledged by members of this group
are unlikely to be their own property.

166 JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN CRIME AND DELINQUENCY



167

TA
B

L
E

 3
:

P
aw

n
 T

ra
n

sa
ct

io
n

s 
in

 D
al

la
s,

Te
xa

s,
19

91
-1

99
6a

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
n 

V
al

ue
 (

$1
99

9)
b

%
 P

er
so

ns
P

er
so

ns
b

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

b
Ite

m
s

b
To

ta
l

A
rr

es
te

d 
fo

r:
d

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
n

D
ol

la
rs

 (
U

.S
.)

P
er

P
er

A
ny

Fr
eq

ue
nc

y
N

um
be

r
%

N
um

be
r

%
N

um
be

r
%

00
0’

s
%

Tr
an

sa
ct

io
n

P
er

so
n

O
ffe

ns
e

S
te

al
in

g
c

10
0+

1,
10

0
0.

2
16

8,
50

0
5.

9
34

1,
30

0
6.

2
9,

44
0

4.
5

56
8,

40
2

63
53

50
-9

9
4,

40
0

0.
8

32
8,

00
0

11
.5

58
5,

90
0

10
.6

18
,3

30
8.

8
56

4,
16

3
43

36
40

-4
9

3,
10

0
0.

6
13

8,
60

0
4.

8
27

6,
80

0
5.

0
9,

11
0

4.
4

66
2,

92
6

49
33

30
-3

9
5,

90
0

1.
1

20
3,

60
0

7.
1

40
3,

80
0

7.
3

13
,5

90
6.

5
67

2,
30

4
47

33
20

-2
9

13
,1

00
2.

5
32

0,
30

0
11

.2
62

9,
20

0
11

.4
22

,1
10

10
.6

69
1,

69
1

33
31

10
-1

9
39

,5
00

7.
6

57
2,

40
0

20
.0

1,
08

1,
40

0
19

.6
39

,8
40

19
.2

70
1,

00
9

34
22

5-
9

66
,4

00
12

.7
49

7,
70

0
17

.4
89

5,
40

0
16

.2
35

,5
20

17
.1

71
53

5
22

18
3-

4
68

,3
00

13
.1

23
9,

00
0

8.
4

48
5,

60
0

8.
8

21
,2

80
10

.2
89

31
2

25
16

2
72

,4
00

13
.8

14
4,

80
0

5.
1

30
2,

80
0

5.
5

14
,7

80
7.

1
10

2
20

4
21

13
1

24
8,

70
0

47
.6

24
8,

70
0

8.
7

51
1,

30
0

9.
3

23
,8

70
11

.5
96

96
14

12
To

ta
l (

av
g.

)
52

2,
80

0
10

0.
0

2,
86

1,
50

0
10

0.
0

5,
51

3,
60

0
10

0.
0

20
7,

87
0

10
0.

0
(7

3)
(3

96
)

(2
0)

(1
5)

a.
  A

ll 
nu

m
be

rs
 in

 ta
bl

e 
ar

e 
ro

un
de

d.
b.

  I
nc

lu
de

s 
th

ef
t, 

la
rc

en
y,

 b
ur

gl
ar

y,
 a

nd
 r

ob
be

ry
.

c.
  E

xt
ra

ct
ed

 fr
om

 p
rim

ar
y 

da
ta

ba
se

 o
f a

ll 
pa

w
n 

tr
an

sa
ct

io
ns

 r
ec

or
de

d 
by

 th
e 

C
ity

 o
f D

al
la

s 
P

ol
ic

e 
D

ep
ar

tm
en

t, 
19

91
-1

99
6.

d.
E

st
im

at
ed

fr
om

ar
re

st
an

d
co

ur
tr

ec
or

ds
(c

om
pi

le
d

by
th

e
Te

xa
s

D
ep

ar
tm

en
to

fP
ub

lic
S

af
et

y
an

d
co

un
ty

an
d

m
un

ic
ip

al
co

ur
ts

)o
f2

00
ra

nd
om

ly
se

le
ct

ed
 p

er
so

ns
 fr

om
 e

ac
h 

tr
an

sa
ct

io
n 

fr
eq

ue
nc

y 
cl

as
s.



By the same token, however, it is equally premature to presume that all
frequent pawners, or even just those with property arrests, systematically dis-
pose of stolen goods through pawnshops. Although reliance on pawnbroker
loans is an expensive method of personal finance, individuals may confront
situations where this is the best source available to them. What our observa-
tions suggest is that although research by those who look only at the most
prolific pawners may inflate the role of pawnbrokers in disposal of hot goods,
evidence still indicates that more of these goods flow through shops than
scholarly research has acknowledged. The amount may not be as high as 25
percent of total value, but it is certainly greater than the fractions of 1 percent
noted earlier.

The Dallas Police Department, for example, reports recovery of $2.4 mil-
lion in stolen property from pawnshops in 1997. This represents about 3.5
percent of the average annual value of transactions during 1991 to 1996.9

Given that police recover only goods with unambiguous markings that deter-

168 JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN CRIME AND DELINQUENCY

TABLE 4: Profile of the Top 100 Pawners in Dallas, Texas, 1991-1996a

Arrested for Not Arrested for
Theft in Texas b Theft in Texas b

Total number of persons 58 42
– Ever arrested 58 25

Total number of pawn transactions 21,980 15,190
– Average per person 379 362

Total number of arrests 300 49
– Average per arrested person 5.2 2

Percentage of all arrests for
– Theft, larceny, burglary or robbery 74 —
– Illegal possession of drugs 6 40
– Driving with license suspended 6 14
– Driving while intoxicated 1 10
– Weapons violation 3 12
– Other 10 24

Median age (in 1994)c 38 37
Percentage Malec 100 90
Percentage Femalec 0 10
Percentage Black, non-Hispanicc 64 69
Percentage White, non-Hispanicc 27 29
Percentage White, Hispanicc 9 2

a.  All numbers in table are rounded.
b.  Extracted from arrest and court records compiled by the Texas Department of Public
Safety and county and municipal courts.
c.  Extracted from primary database of all pawn transactions recorded by the City of
Dallas Police Department, 1991-1996.



mine true ownership, it seems likely that the share of stolen goods is much
greater, greater even than the 5 percent dismissed by Oeltjen (1996).

What that higher share might be is uncertain. Caskey and Zikmund (1990)
report pledge forfeit rates in three states ranging from 14 percent to 22 per-
cent of loans and from 10 percent to 20 percent of loan value. Our interviews
with brokers suggest 20 to 25 percent of loans. Johnson and Johnson (1998)
indicate that 29 percent of pawners forfeited at least once during the year. Of
more interest, they also report that although 23 percent of individuals who
pawned only once lost their pledges, 34 percent of those pawning four times
or more forfeited at least once, 20 percent at least twice. In other words, as
might be expected if one suspects that the frequent pawner population con-
tains many thieves, prolific pawners are much more likely to walk away from
their goods than infrequent pawners.

Given the many legitimate reasons that people might have to forfeit, it
seems unlikely that hot goods constitute as much as 20 percent of all things
pawned. By the same token, high reported rates of forfeiture make it equally
unlikely that they represent less than 5 percent—especially when 15 percent
to 20 percent of transactions are straightforward sales of goods, not loans.10

The actual proportion seems likely to lie somewhere in between. If it is in the
vicinity of, say, 10 percent, then the annual value of stolen goods at second-
hand market prices might average about $64,000 per pawnshop. Extrapo-
lated to the universe of 15,000 brokers, the total approaches $1 billion.

This is substantial in relation to pawnshop turnover because brokers make
nearly as much money selling forfeited goods as they do collecting interest.11

Income from interest and fees averaged $145,100 per pawnshop in 1997 or,
extrapolating to 15,000 shops, a total of about $2.2 billion (U.S. Census
Bureau 2001b). Sale of forfeit property produced an average of $253,400 per
shop, suggesting a net revenue of around $126,700 after deducting loss of
capital.12 For all shops, these figures imply a gross income of $3.8 billion and
a net of $1.9 billion from sale of merchandise. That is, $1 billion may repre-
sent more than a quarter of the pawnbroking industry’s gross, and more than
half of its net proceeds from sale of property.

At the same time, if the total value of pilfered merchandise is close to our
estimate of $40 billion to $45 billion per year, then this $1 billion also repre-
sents 2.0 percent to 2.5 percent of all stolen goods. And if, say, half the items
are retained by the people who steal them, it represents 4 percent to 5 percent
of all goods disposed.13 This is a modest share of the whole market. But
pawnshops are only one component of used merchandise trade. Excluding
repair and other shops selling secondhand items as sidelines, the census
counted an additional 105,000 used merchandise stores with gross sales of
$8.3 billion in 1997 (U.S. Census Bureau 2001e). If stolen goods comprised a
quarter of these sales as well, then one could account for another $2.1 billion

Fass, Francis / THE ROLE OF PAWNSHOPS 169



and thus another 8 percent to 10 percent of the market for stolen goods. The
entire used merchandise sector, including pawnshops, might then be han-
dling $3.1 billion per year, or 12 percent to 16 percent of the market for hot
goods.

CONCLUSIONS

Although our estimates may eventually prove inaccurate, there seems no
way to circumvent a few essential facts. One is that pawnbrokers, as omni-
present today as McDonald’s restaurants, offer thieves a potentially conve-
nient method of disposing of merchandise, especially items with no obvious
markings. Another fact, found in our data and by journalists in Fort Lauder-
dale and police in Portland, is that the population of prolific pawners contains
a large segment of people with robust arrest records. Combined with findings
from burglar interviews, this strongly intimates that the population contains a
substantial corps of habitual thieves who actually do rely on pawnbrokers for
their recurrent service needs. A third fact, as we have tried to show, is that a
modest percentage of the total value of pawnbroker transactions is sufficient
to constitute a noteworthy share of our estimated $40 billion to $45 billion
per year in stolen property. Even if our numbers are very wrong, there is
enough circumstantial evidence here to warrant much more scholarly
research, the quantitative sort especially, on connections between
pawnbroking (and other components of the used merchandise retail sector)
and hot goods. This is our first conclusion.

Our second conclusion is that the idea of deliberately disrupting markets
for stolen goods does not seem well founded. In the case of pawnshops,
Sutton’s (1998) notion that businesses can avoid buying such goods by use of
closed-circuit televisions, photographs and/or signs is not convincing
because these actions are the same or similar (e.g., fingerprints) to measures
that most pawnbrokers undertake routinely. Such tactics and police oversight
may have reduced the flow of stolen goods through pawnshops at different
times, but there is no evidence to confirm this. More likely, given the criminal
records of prolific pawners, is that they have not dissuaded thieves from
availing themselves of pawnbrokers. One reason, proposed by Hall (1935),
may be that enforcement of pawnshop regulations is too perfunctory to inter-
fere with receipt and disposal of stolen goods. Another is that enforcement
has been effective, but only to the extent of displacing part of the trade to
other, less regulated enterprises, such as secondhand, precious metal and
antique dealers or, where these are also under perpetual scrutiny (e.g., Illi-
nois, Washington), flea markets and the like. A third possibility, the most
plausible, is that most stolen goods are not identifiable as such.

170 JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN CRIME AND DELINQUENCY



There are several dimensions to this issue. As discussed by Clarke (1999)
and Sutton (1998), one is technical. Most stolen items are not unique, do not
have serial numbers, engraved codes or other property identifiers, or else
have markings that are easy to remove. Another dimension is social. Most
households neither record serial numbers of what they buy nor engrave them
and, together with firms, do not report their loss to police.

The third aspect, the most important, is economic. Because the annual vol-
ume of hot goods is large, perhaps measuring in the hundreds of millions of
items, the societal outlay required to create a record for each reported item
and, at the same time, a reference base for the billions of things that busi-
nesses buy legitimately, is larger. It is for the moment prohibitive. In other
words, stolen goods are not identifiable largely because it costs too much to
identify them. They are, as a result, invisible in the daily exchange of millions
of secondhand items between sellers and buyers.

Viewed in this context, the claim that markets for stolen goods act as
underlying incentives to steal makes sense only if one subscribes to the
notion that these markets are clearly separate or separable from retail trade in
general and used merchandise trade in particular. Because they are neither
clearly separate nor separable, because it is usually impossible to know what
is or is not stolen, a recommendation to deliberately disrupt demand for hot
goods is a recommendation to deliberately disrupt demand for secondhand
goods in general. This is unwise counsel.

From this, our third and final conclusion is that wiser would be support of
actions to render more efficient the monitoring of people and things circulat-
ing through pawnshops, secondhand stores and similar establishments. The
premise here is that identification and apprehension of thieves need to remain
the focus of police and criminologist attention. More efficient monitoring of
suspicious pawners and goods, achieved through strengthened pawn details,
speedier transfer of transaction records from pawnshops to police computers,
accelerated analysis of the data, and similar means can help in this. To the
extent that pawnbrokers cooperate with police in improvement of monitor-
ing, these actions may also protect the interests of firms that prefer to shun hot
goods.

The problem, now and in the past, is that pawn units (called details or
squads sometimes) are relatively understaffed, partly because police depart-
ments are asked to concentrate on crimes against persons, partly because pol-
icy makers do not see gain from spending on data collection, and partly
because most pawnbrokers object to the extra cost and intrusion into their
affairs. The units, as consequence, are usually behind in data entry. Fort
Lauderdale’s pawn unit recorded fewer than 50 percent of the pawn informa-
tion it received during 1995 (Larrubia and Glover 1996). Dallas police
recorded 100 percent of all information for only one continuous 12-month

Fass, Francis / THE ROLE OF PAWNSHOPS 171



span during 1991 to 1996, managing an average completion rate of 70 per-
cent to 80 percent through the period. Consequently, items were often identi-
fied as hot after pawnbrokers disposed of them, and transaction trails that
could justify surveillance of suspicious pawners were often identified after
they ran cold.

Benefits of improved monitoring have already shown themselves through
increased recovery and apprehension. Murray (1996), for example, reports
that police in Atlanta, Georgia, entered only 25 percent of transaction data in
1996. A year later, after installation of a computer system with electronic
data transfer from brokers, police entered 100 percent of pawn information,
reduced processing time from several weeks to 24 hours and increased recov-
ery rates from 12 to 42 items per month (Murray 1997). In Florida, similarly,
Perez (2000) reports a rise in recovery after the Broward County Sheriff
established an automated pawn tracking database. The new system also
helped catch 175 parole violators and 110 felons pawning firearms in 1998.
By 2000, some 50 state and local agencies were using similar tracking sys-
tems, including the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE), which
initiated a project to install a statewide database in that year.

In addition to property recovery and apprehension of criminals, there is
also the prospect of using transaction data to map suspicious behavior in
“real” time. People pawning 20 diamond rings or watches or electric tools or
city street directories or anything else of value within a relatively short
period, especially if encumbered with interesting criminal histories, earn
immediate suspicion of stealing or of receiving hot goods. If the items are not
reported stolen or if they lack markings, then arrest is not possible. But it is
possible to conduct surveillance to determine whether initial suspicions are
justified, whether there are networks of accomplices warranting police atten-
tion, or whether there are other ways to identify and maybe apprehend these
or other thieves.

The prime obstacle to improved tracking is pawnbroker resistance. Rarely
conceding the utility of anything but “article only” tracking to help identify
stolen goods, brokers habitually oppose collection of personal information
that might reduce the flow of patrons. In 2001, for instance, the Florida Pawn-
brokers Association responded to the introduction of automated tracking by
threatening to initiate legislation that would delete all customer data from
pawn unit computer systems.14 The association did not achieve this goal, but
it convinced the legislature to reduce funding for FDLE’s statewide database
project from $1 million in 2000 to $275,000 in 2001, and then to zero in
2002.15

Pawnbrokers are nowhere strong enough to eliminate police scrutiny. But
as the industry organizes for common cause, strength such as that shown in
Florida may spread. Helping in this is the ability of brokers to propagate

172 JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN CRIME AND DELINQUENCY



image-enhancing media stories containing references to academic studies
that point to minuscule quantities of stolen goods in their merchandise. Scar-
city of proper research on the role of pawnshops and other secondhand stores
in hot goods trade thus makes it easier for brokers to thwart efforts at
improved tracking. Accordingly, the first conclusion put forward above,
about the need for more scholarly research, is in our opinion the most
important.

APPENDIX
The Value of Stolen Goods

We estimate the net market value of stolen merchandise at $40 billion to $45 bil-
lion annually in recent years, based on three sets of data and, for better or worse, sev-
eral assumptions. The data sets are as follows: reported offenses in the Uniform Crime
Reporting System (UCRS), reported and unreported offenses experienced by house-
holds in the National Crime and Victimization Survey (NCVS), and reported and un-
reported losses sustained by firms in the National Retail Security Survey (NRSS).

UCRS data indicate that reported offenses involving loss of property declined dur-
ing the 1990s: theft-larcenies (excluding motor vehicles) by 12 percent, burglaries by
32 percent, and robberies by 36 percent (Pastore and Maguire 2000). The net value of
these losses, however, stayed constant at about $6.6 billion in current dollar terms.
Households reported $3.7 billion of this sum and businesses and others $2.9 billion.16

Jewelry and precious metals comprised the largest class of merchandise, 16 percent of
value, followed by electronics (14 percent), office equipment and supplies (8 per-
cent), clothing (4 percent), household goods (3 percent), and firearms (1.5 percent).

But property crimes are usually not reported. For households, NCVS data show
that 73 percent of thefts, 48 percent of burglaries and 34 percent of robberies went un-
reported in 1999 (U.S. Bureau of Justice Statistics 2001). Our NCVS-based estimate
of the net value of property taken from households, accordingly, is much greater than
that based on the UCRS, $7.3 billion versus $3.7 billion.17 The composition of goods
taken is nonetheless similar. Jewelry and clothing were stolen most frequently (19
percent of all cases), followed by electronics and photographic gear (9 percent), vehi-
cle parts (7 percent), tools and machinery (5 percent), household furnishings (4 per-
cent) and firearms (1 percent).

Turning to business, NRSS data intimate that gross losses from theft and fraud in
the retail sectors it sampled, valued at prices sellers paid for them, came to $18.3 bil-
lion in 1999, or about 1.1 percent of the $1.74 trillion in total sales of these sectors
(University of Florida 2001).18 Employee theft was responsible for $9.2 billion, shop-
lifters $6.8 billion, vendor theft $1.2 billion, and check and credit card fraud $1.1 bil-
lion.19 Main items taken were clothing and shoes, compact disks, cassette tapes, video
games, movies, over-the-counter remedies, health and beauty aids, automobile acces-
sories, jewelry, hand tools, cigarettes, and batteries. Although the loss rate of 1.1 per-
cent of sales held steady, the total value of goods stolen increased substantially in step
with a 6.3 percent average annual increase in retail sales through the decade (U.S.
Census Bureau 2001a).

Fass, Francis / THE ROLE OF PAWNSHOPS 173



There are no reliable data on loss recovery to help estimate net losses in the retail
sector, and no reliable figures on the proportion of incidents reported that could help
determine the share of losses already included in the UCRS. We therefore make as-
sumptions. First we assume that the recovery rate for retail stores is 7 percent, the
same as for theft in the UCRS and NCVS. This lowers merchandise loss from a gross
of $18.3 billion to a net of $17 billion. Second, we assume that the $2.9 billion in
losses reported by businesses and others in the UCRS are mainly reports by retail
firms, and that they are already included in the $17 billion. Our estimate of the net
value of goods stolen from households and from firms of kinds covered by the NRSS
is then $24.3 billion, with $7.3 billion of it in household losses and $17 billion in retail
business losses.20

To this we must add losses in retail sectors not covered by the NRSS with sales of
$1.1 trillion in 1999, losses in manufacturing and wholesale trade with combined
sales of $6.5 trillion, and losses in other sectors, especially from employee pilfering,
in services and government.21 With no better basis to guess, we assume that theft of
goods is (relatively) negligible in government, services and other sectors that are mer-
chandise poor and thus less exposed to removal of objects than retail firms. We as-
sume also that net losses in manufacturing, wholesale trade and the balance of retail
amount to 0.25 percent of their total sales of $7.6 trillion in 1999, or $19 billion. Add-
ing this to the $24.3 billion lost by households and retail firms in the NRSS yields
$43.3 billion, and the estimate range of $40 billion to $45 billion.

NOTES

1. The number of secondhand stores rose from 33,360 to 124,000 from 1972 to 1992, and
their sales from $1.5 billion to $8.2 billion in current dollar terms (U.S. Bureau of the Census
1978, 1996).

2. We use an allowance of 20 percent based on the difference between the number of
licensed pawnbrokers in Dallas and the number listed in the telephone directory in 2002 (108 vs.
90), and on the difference between licensed and listed pawnbrokers in Texas (1,500 vs. 1,270).

3. Level of convenience, as measured by the ratio of shops to restaurants (i.e., the higher the
ratio, the more plentiful the pawnshops), still varies. Shop densities and ratios of shops to restau-
rants are generally lower where effective interest is low and higher where interest is high.

4. These data are incomplete because the Dallas Police Department (DPD) gave data entry
priority to weapons and items with unique identifiers, registering the remainder as time allowed,
and because it recorded only the first item on each ticket before 1996. DPD guesses that it cap-
tured 70 percent to 80 percent of all transactions for the whole period. To adjust for this, we
applied the mean number of items per transaction for 1996 to prior years. We make no adjust-
ments for the DPD’s failure to record all transactions. The data may thus understate the volume
and value of pawnshop traffic by 20 percent to 30 percent.

5. Transaction data show wide month-to-month variation in pawnbroker numbers, ranging
from a low of 73 to a high of 123. Low figures reflect months when the DPD fell behind in record-
ing data. High figures reflect months when it recorded almost everything, when licensed pawn-
brokers that operate infrequently (e.g., jewelry and department stores) were unusually active, and
when shops moving from one location to another kept both outlets open for a time. Adjusting for
these factors, we use 108 as the average number of pawnshops in operation during the reference
period.

174 JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN CRIME AND DELINQUENCY



6. For present purposes, we treat each pawn ticket, which can record several different items,
as one transaction. Although some individuals pawned enough different items to require issu-
ance of more than one ticket for one transaction, these instances are rare in our data.

7. We added 1 percent to actual figures for 1993 to estimate transaction values in 1999 dollar
terms. The adjustment was derived from a weighted average of 1993 to 1999 changes in the urban
consumer price index, as given in U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (1999), for jewelry and watches
(–3.3 percent), video and audio equipment (5.2 percent), and photographic equipment (–3 per-
cent). These three classes comprise half the goods pawned in Dallas.

8. The proportion of total loan value is less than that of all transactions because average
transaction value drops from about $100 for those pawning once to $56 for those who pawned at
least 50 times. This drop stems from differences in item composition, especially jewelry, the
most valuable class of goods. This class contains 32 percent of all items for those who pawned
once or twice, 16 percent for those pawning 50 and more times.

9. We estimate total loan value at $208 million, or $34.7 million per year. Loan value, in gen-
eral, is between 30 percent and 75 percent of secondhand market value. Using 50 percent, the
annual market value of pledged items is then $69.4 million. The $2.4 million in property recov-
ered from pawnshops, which police assess at market prices, is 3.5 percent of this sum.

10. Because our DPD data do not distinguish between loan and sale, we base our estimate of
15 percent to 20 percent on the 1,000 randomly selected pawn tickets of 1993.

11. Pawnshops have potential to make as much money from selling goods as from collecting
interest. For instance, if 80 of 100 loans of $75 each are repaid after 30 days at 20 percent interest,
broker income is $1,200 (i.e., 20 percent of $6,000). Sale of property forfeited by the other 20
borrowers at market prices double the value of their loans yields $3,000 in sales revenue and a net
income of $1,500 after deducting $1,500 for the capital loss from defaults.

12. The balance between interest and sales income is consistent with other data sources. For
example, Cash America Inc., a large firm with almost 420 pawnshops in the United States,
reports that interest and fees produced about $222,000 per shop in 2001, and net revenue from
sale of merchandise about $194,000 (Cash America 2002).

13. Sheley and Bailey (1985) estimate that 50 percent to 78 percent of all goods are retained
by those who steal them. The proportion is closer to 95 percent according to a report in Blakey
and Goldsmith (1976). In such a wide range, our assumption of 50 percent is arbitrary.

14. This intent is mentioned in a letter dated June 1, 2001, from the President of the Florida
Law Enforcement Property Recovery Unit to the Florida Police Chiefs Association (Retrieved
December 2, 2002) (from http://www.flepru.org/fpca.htm).

15. This information is contained in a letter dated January 15, 2002, from the President of the
Florida Law Enforcement Property Recovery Unit to the state governor. Retrieved December 2,
2002, from http://www.flepru.org/gov1.htm.

16. From data in U.S. Census Bureau (2001c, 2001d, 2001f) and Pastore and Maguire (2000),
we estimate net losses at $6.56 billion in 1992, $6.64 billion in 1997, $6.72 billion in 1998, and
$6.56 billion in 1999. These are net dollar amounts that make allowance for recovered goods,
averaging 7 percent of gross loss value, and that exclude the value of lost currency and notes (13
percent).

17. National Crime and Victimization Survey (NCVS) data suggest a gross loss value of $9.1
billion, or a net of $7.3 billion after allowance for property recovery (averaging 7 percent of value
in theft, 6 percent in burglary, and 18 percent in robbery cases) and exclusion of cash and credit
card losses (14 percent).

18. The National Retail Security Survey (NRSS) did not cover motor vehicle and parts deal-
ers, gasoline stations, and nonstore retailers (e.g., catalog and Internet sellers) that had total sales
of $1.13 trillion in 1999 (U.S. Census Bureau 2002a).

Fass, Francis / THE ROLE OF PAWNSHOPS 175



19. NRSS data show merchandise values at retail prices. These values are not directly compa-
rable to Uniform Crime Reporting System (UCRS) and NCVS figures because they include
expected gross margin as well as cost of goods. That is, the NRSS overstates loss value. For sec-
tors covered by the NRSS, the margin averages 30 percent of sales (U.S. Census Bureau 2001g).
The figures we report are therefore 70 percent of those reported by the NRSS.

20. Here we assume that the $3.7 billion net loss reported by households that we estimate
from UCRS data is included in the $7.3 billion loss that we estimate from NCVS data.

21. Sales figures come from U.S. Census Bureau (2002b, 2002c).

REFERENCES

Auster, B. 1997, December 8. “The Pawn of a New Era Is Upon Us.” US News and World Report
123 (22): 64.

Berg, E. 1991, November 13. “Pawnshops Shed Their Dingy Image.” The New York Times pp.
D4, D10.

Blakey, G. R. and M. Goldsmith. 1976. “Criminal Redistribution of Stolen Property: The Need
for Law Reform.” Michigan Law Review 74:1512.

Breyer, R. 1995, October 21. “Buying into a New Image: Pawnshops Jump into Respectability—
Big Business with Millions Using Them for Short-term Loans.” Austin American Statesman
pp. Al, A12.

Calkins, L. B. 1987, August 10. “Wealthy Flock to Hock in Posh Pawnshop.” Houston Business
Journal 17 (8): 1A.

Cash America. 2002. Cash America International Inc., 2001 Annual Report. Retrieved Decem-
ber 2, 2002, from http://www.cashamerica.com/pdf/CashAm01_rpt.pdf.

Caskey, J. P. 1994. Fringe Banking: Check-Cashing Outlets, Pawnshops, and the Poor. New
York: Russell Sage Foundation.

. 1995. “Explaining the Boom in Check-Cashing Outlets and Pawnshops.” Consumer
Finance Law Quarterly Report 49 (4): Winter.

Caskey, J. P. and B. Zikmond. 1990. “Pawnshops: the Consumers Lender of Last Resort.” Eco-
nomic Review: Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City 75 (2): 5-18.

Chuang, T. 1998, January 1. “Easy Money: Pawnshops Losing Old Reputation, Gaining New
Customers.” Dallas Morning News, Arlington Morning News ed. Retrieved June 14, 1998,
from http://www.purdue.edu/uns/clips/clips.01.98.980118.dallasmorn.

Clarke, R. V. 1999. Hot Products: Understanding Anticipating and Reducing Demand for Stolen
Goods (Police Research Series Paper 112). London: Home Office Policing and Reducing
Crime Unit.

Cromwell, P. F. 1991. Breaking and Entering: An Ethnographic Analysis of Burglary. Newbury
Park, CA: Sage.

Drysdale, L. and K. E. Keest. 2000. “The Two-Tiered Consumer Financial Services Market-
place: The Fringe Banking System and its Challenge to Current Thinking About the Role of
Usury Laws in Today’s Society.” South Carolina Law Review 51:589-669.

Florida Committee on Criminal Justice. 2000. “A Review of Florida’s Pawnbroking Law.” The
Florida Senate, Committee on Criminal Justice (Interim Project Report 2000-26). Washing-
ton, DC: Government Printing Office.

Freiberg, A. 1997. “Regulating Markets for Stolen Property.” Australian and New Zealand Jour-
nal of Criminology 30:237-58.

Glover, S. and E. Larrubia. 1996, November 24. “A System in Hock: Quick Cash with Few Ques-
tions.” South Florida Sun-Sentinel, p. 22A.

176 JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN CRIME AND DELINQUENCY



Gryta, M. 1998, June 3. “Pawnshop Owner Pleads Innocent.” Buffalo News, p. B5.
Hall, J. 1935. Theft, Law and Society. Boston: Little, Brown.
Hammond, B. 1997, December 3. “Pawnshops Link Addicts and Crime.” The Oregonian, p. 5A.
Illinois Office of Banks and Real Estate. 2001. “Annual Statewide Disclosure Results” (Pawn-

broker Regulation Section). Retrieved July 14, 2001, from http://www.obre.state.il.us/CBT/
PAWNBROK/pawnrept.htm.

Ingrassia, R. 1995, April 22. “A New Brand of Danger—Ex-Police Officer Shot, Injured in Rob-
beries Separated by 8 Years at Pawnshops.” Dallas Morning News, p. A37.

Johnson, R. W. and D. P. Johnson. 1998, July. Pawnbroking in the U.S.: A Profile of Customers
(Monograph #34). Washington, DC: Credit Research Center, Georgetown University.

Kleinfield, N. 1989, August 13. “Running the Little Man’s Bank.” The New York Times, p. F4.
Kock, E., T. Kemp, and B. Rix. 1996. Disrupting the Distribution of Stolen Electrical Goods

(Crime Detection and Prevention Series Paper 69). London: Home Office Police Research
Group.

Krause, K. 1998, June 13. “Pawnshop Crackdown on Table; Customers Would Be Taped, Look-
ing Out for Stolen Goods.” Fort Lauderdale Sun-Sentinel, p. 1B.

Larrubia, E. and S. Glover. 1996, November 25. “Pawn Law Tips Scales Against Crime Vic-
tims.” South Florida Sun-Sentinel, digital ed. Retrieved April 21, 1996, from http://www.
sunsentinel.com/news/1663.htm.

Levine, S. W. 1913. The Business of Pawnbroking. New York: D. Halpern Company.
Lundy, A. 1994, October 25. “150 Protest Pawnshop in South Oak Cliff: We Help the Commu-

nity, Owners Say.” Dallas Morning News, p. A26.
Marino, J. 1997, August 14-20. “Easy Money in Hard Times.” Memphis Flyer. Retrieved May 22,

1998, from http://www.memphisflyer.com/backissues/issue443/cvr443.htm.
McGeevy, P. 1997, October 18. “Pawnshop Computing; LAPD Wants All Dealings Put On Disk

to Help Hunt Criminals.” Los Angeles Daily News p. N4.
Murray, B. 1997, December 8. “New Software Helps Police Finger Hot Pawned Goods.” Atlanta

Business Chronicle. Retrieved June 12, 1998, from http://www.amcity.com/atlanta/stories/
120897/story6.html.

Murray, B. 1996, September 2. “City’s Pawn Policing System Broken.” Atlanta Business Chroni-
cle. Retrieved April 21, 1997, from http://www.amcity.com/atlanta/stories/090296/
story1.html.

Nickles, S. H. and E. S. Adams. 1994. “Pawnbrokers, Police, and Property Rights—A Proposed
Constitutional Balance.” Arkansas Law Review 47:793-815.

Oeltjen, J. C. 1996. “Florida Pawnbroking: An Industry in Transition.” Florida State University
Law Review 23:995-1041.

Pastore, A. L. and K. Maguire, eds. 2000. Sourcebook of Criminal Justice Statistics. Retrieved
July 20, 2001, from http://www.albany.edu/sourcebook/.

Patterson, W. R. 1899, March. “Pawnbroking in Europe and the United States.” Bulletin of the
Department of Labor 21:173-310.

Perez, J. C. 2000, December 11. “Sheriff’s Office Uses Technology to Catch the Crooks.”
InfoWorld 22 (50): 47.

“Quick Cash.” 1997, December 21. Mike Wallace, narr. Sixty Minutes. New York: WCBS.
Richard, W. and S. H. Decker. 1993. “Exploring the House Burglar’s Perspective: Observing and

Interviewing Offenders in St. Louis, 1989-1990” [Computer file]. St. Louis, MO: Richard
Wright and Scott H. Decker [producers], 1992. Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-university Consortium
for Political and Social Research [distributor].

Ruisseaux, R. 1995, October 23. “Personal Finance: Pawnshops Clean Uup Image, Enter New
Markets.” Detroit News, n. pg.

Fass, Francis / THE ROLE OF PAWNSHOPS 177



Scott, D. 1992, June 26. “Pawnshops Multiply Despite Seedy Image: Big Chains Gobble Mom-
and-Pops, Spawn Industry Transformation.” Dallas Business Journal, pp. 1, 54-55.

Sheley, J. F. and K. D. Bailey. 1985. “New Directions for Anti-Theft Policy: Reductions in Stolen
Goods Buyers.” Journal of Criminal Justice 13 (5): 399-415.

Stroer, J. 1997, December 28. “The Pawning Game.” Athens Daily News Online Ath-
ens. Retrieved June 14, 1998, from http://www.onlineathens.com/1997/122897/1208.
o1pespective.html.

Sutton, M. 1995. “Supply by Theft: Does the Market for Second-Hand Goods Play a Role in
Keeping Crime Figures High?” British Journal of Criminology 35 (3): 400-16.

Sutton, M. 1998. Handling Stolen Goods and Theft: A Market Reduction Approach (Home
Office Research Study 178). London: Home Office.

U.S. Bureau of Justice Statistics. 2001. Criminal Victimization in United States, 1999: Statistical
Tables (NCJ 184938). Washington, DC: Office of Justice Programs, Department of Justice.
Retrieved July 26, 2001, from http://www.ojp.usdoj.gov/bjs/abstract/cvusst.htm.

U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics. 1999. Consumer Price Index CPI-U. Retrieved June 25, 1999,
from http://146.142.4.24/cgi-bin/dsrv.

U.S. Bureau of the Census. 1953. Statistical Abstract of the United States: 1953. Washington,
DC: Government Printing Office.

U.S. Bureau of the Census. 1978. Census of Retail Trade, 1977: Vol. 11, Geographic Area Statis-
tics, U.S. Summary. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.

U.S. Bureau of the Census. 1996. “Retail Trade Establishments—Number, Sales, Payroll, and
Employees, by Kind of Business: 1987 and 1992, Table 1291.” Statistical Abstract of the
United States: 1995. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.

U.S. Census Bureau. 2001a. “Retail Trade Sales—Summary: 1980 to 1999, Tables 1274 and
1275. Statistical Abstract of the United States: 2000. Retrieved May 20, 2001, from http://
www.census.gov/prod/2001pubs/statab/sec27.pdf.

U.S. Census Bureau. 2001b. “Sources of Revenue 1997.” 1997 Economic Census (Finance and
Insurance Subject Series). Retrieved June 16, 2001, from http://www.census.gov/prod/ec97/
97f52-ls.pdf.

U.S. Census Bureau. 2001c. “Robbery and Property Crimes by Type and Selected Characteristic:
1980 to 1993, Table 316. Statistical Abstract of the United States: 1995. Retrieved July 10,
2001, from http://www.census.gov/prod/1/gen/95statab/law.pdf.

U.S. Census Bureau. 2001d. “Robbery and Property Crimes, by Type and Selected Characteris-
tic: 1990 to 1997, Table 350. Statistical Abstract of the United States: 1999. Retrievd July 12,
2001, from http://www.census.gov/prod/99pubs/99statab/sec05.pdf.

U.S. Census Bureau. 2001e. “Nonemployer Statistics, Retail Trade.” 1997 Economic Census.
Retrieved July 16, 2001, from http://www.census.gov/epcd/nonemployer/1997/us/
US000_44.htm.

U.S. Census Bureau. 2001f. “Robbery and Property Crimes, by Type and Selected Characteris-
tic: 1990 to 1998, Table 337. Statistical Abstract of the United States: 2000. Retrieved July
20, 2001, from http://www.census.gov/prod/2001pubs/statab/sec05.pdf.

U.S. Census Bureau. 2001g. “Estimated Gross Margin as Percent of Sales by Kind of Business:
1993 to 1999, Table 6.” Retrieved August 30, 2001, from http://www.census.gov/svsd/
retlann/view/table6.html.

U.S. Census Bureau. 2002a. “Unadjusted and Adjusted Estimates of Monthly Retail and Food
Services Sales by Kinds of Business: 1999.” Retrieved September 14, 2002, from http://
www.census.gov/mrts/www/data/html/nsal99.html.

U.S. Census Bureau. 2002b. “Gross Domestic Product in Current and Real (1996) Dollars by
Industry: 1990 to 1999 Table 641.” Statistical Abstract of the United States: 2002. Retrieved
September 14, 2002, from http://www.census.gov/prod/2002pubs/01statab/income.pdf.

178 JOURNAL OF RESEARCH IN CRIME AND DELINQUENCY



U.S. Census Bureau. 2002c. “Manufacturing and Trade Inventories and Sales, 1992-2002.”
Retrieved November 28, 2002, from http://www.census.gov/mtis/www/data/text/mtis-
sales.txt.

U.S. Federal Bureau of Investigation. 1995-2000. Crime in the United States: Uniform Crime
Reports Annual. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.

University of Florida. 2001. 2000 National Retail Security Survey, 9th Edition. Gainesville: Uni-
versity of Florida. Retrieved July 18, 2001, from http://www.soc.ufl.edu/srp.htm.

Wheat, W. J. 1998. “A Study on the Status of the Pawnbrokers Industry in the State of
Oklahoma.” Consumer Finance Law Quarterly Report 52:87-92.

Simon M. Fass is an associate professor of public administration and political economy
at the University of Texas at Dallas. His current research looks at pawnshops in the
United States, the role of religion in expanding basic education in Africa, and the impact
of worker remittances on poverty in the Caribbean.

Janice Francis is a doctoral candidate in the School of Social Sciences, the University of
Texas at Dallas. Her dissertation research focuses on the evolution of pawnbroking, in
particular the various transformations that have taken place in the business during the
past 50 years.

Fass, Francis / THE ROLE OF PAWNSHOPS 179





RESEARCH ARTICLE

I N V E S T I G A T I N G T H E S O C I A L E C O L O G Y
O F P A Y D A Y L E N D I N G

Does fringe banking exacerbate
neighborhood crime rates?
Investigating the social ecology of payday lending

Charis E. Kubrin
Gregory D. Squires
G e o r g e W a s h i n g t o n U n i v e r s i t y

StevenM. Graves
C a l i f o r n i a S t a t e U n i v e r s i t y , N o r t h r i d g e

Graham C. Ousey
C o l l e g e o f W i l l i a m a n d M a r y

P
ayday lenders have become the banker of choice for many residents of distressed
urban communities in the United States. By offering cash advances on postdated
checks, these businesses provide a growing number of financially strapped families

the money they need to get by at least in the short run. As just one piece of a growing
fringe banking industry (consisting of check cashers, pawn shops, rent-to-own stores, and
other high-cost financial services), payday lenders provide services but at a heavy cost to
some of the most financially vulnerable families. Much attention has been given to the costs
the customers of such services are incurring. Yet additional broader community costs might
have been ignored in recent debates and in the scholarly literature. One of those costs, and
the focus of this research, is a possible link between payday lending and neighborhood crime
rates.

We thank Robert Nash Parker and Glenn Deane for comments on an earlier draft of the article and Megan
DeCrappeo for research assistance with this project. We are especially grateful to Ruth Peterson and Lauren J.
Krivo for providing us with the data, which were prepared with funds from the National Science Foundation
(SES-0080091). Direct correspondence to Charis E. Kubrin, Department of Sociology, George Washington
University, Phillips Hall 409, 801 22nd St. N.W., Washington, DC 20052 (e-mail: charisk@gwu.edu).

DOI:10.1111/j.1745-9133.2011.00719.x C© 2011 American Society of Criminology 437
Criminology & Public Policy � Volume 10 � Issue 2



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

Although pawn shops, loan sharks, and other predatory financial service providers have
long histories, the number and range of such fringe banking institutions have mushroomed
in the latter part of the 20th and early years of the 21st centuries amid great controversy. In
financial services, the rise of subprime and predatory lending has led to record foreclosure
rates. A broader economic recession is now reaching overseas. These developments have been
followed by unprecedented bailout and rescue plans. Although these events have received
most of the attention in financial industry circles, the increase in payday lending and other
high-priced services has hardly gone unnoticed. Critics accuse payday lenders with charging
exorbitant, exploitative interest rates and fees, and several states have taken legal action to
restrict their activities or virtually put them out of business altogether. Providers maintain
that they are offering valuable services to markets that are ignored by conventional financial
services (e.g., banks, thrifts, and credit unions) and that their costs simply reflect the risks
they encounter as well as other legitimate business costs.

The debates over payday lending so far have focused almost exclusively on the
implications for immediate customers. Yet given the location of these services and the
socioeconomic status of their customer base—what we refer to as the ecology of payday
lending—other costs might be incurred by the communities in which they are located, costs
that are paid by community members who do not use their services along with those paid by
the clients. One potential cost for all residents might be higher crime rates in communities
where payday lenders are located. Several theoretically plausible reasons have been suggested
for such a link, starting with the simple fact that where payday lenders are present, a
concentration of cash exists among store customers often late into the evening and during
weekends in neighborhoods where many residents are experiencing financial hardships.

In the following pages, we provide some empirical evidence that such a connection, in
fact, exists. Subsequently, we report on a case study of a fairly typical U.S. city where payday
lending has grown in recent years—Seattle, Washington. In our discussion leading up to
the analysis, we document the growth of payday lending and other fringe banking services
in the United States and describe the controversy that such growth has produced. Next, we
elaborate several theoretical arguments that support the hypothesized relationship between
payday lending and neighborhood crime rates. Finally, we provide empirical evidence for
that relationship in Seattle neighborhoods. Crime is just one community cost that might be
associated with payday lending. In the conclusion, we briefly note other potential costs. We
conclude with a discussion of the policy implications of our findings and recommendations
for future research.

The Growth of Fringe Banking and Payday Lending
A two-tiered system in financial services has emerged in the United States in recent years,
with one featuring conventional products distributed by banks and savings institutions
and the other featuring alternative, higher cost services offered by payday lenders, check

438 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

cashers, and pawnshops—often referred to as “fringe bankers.” Fringe banking services are
disproportionately though not located exclusively in low-income, minority neighborhoods
(Fellowes, 2006; Graves, 2003; Li, Parrish, Ernst, and Davis, 2009; Logan and Weller, 2009;
Temkin and Sawyer, 2004), and minority and low-income families are more likely than other
families to use fringe banking services (Caskey, 1994; Hudson, 1996; Karger, 2005).

Fringe banking has been the subject of much policy debate among financial service
providers, regulators, elected officials, and consumer groups. This reflects, in part, substantial
growth of fringe banking, its greater concentration in distressed communities, and adverse
economic consequences for those who rely on these institutions for financial services. To
illustrate, payday lending outlets were virtually nonexistent in 1990, but by 2006, more
than 15,000 outlets extended $25 billion in credit (Lawrence and Elliehausen, 2008: 299).
By 2008, more than 22,000 locations originated more than $27 billion in loan volume
annually (Parrish and King, 2009: 11).1 The growth of payday lending has been impressive,
growing faster than Starbucks during the mid-1990s (Graves and Peterson, 2008: 668).
Today, more payday lenders exist than McDonald’s restaurants (Karger, 2005: 73).

Several studies demonstrate that these services are concentrated in low-income and
minority neighborhoods, although they are starting to grow in many working and middle-
class neighborhoods. In North Carolina, three times as many payday lenders per capita are
present in African American neighborhoods as in White neighborhoods (King, Li, Davis,
and Ernst, 2005). In the state of Washington, the site of the current study, they are twice
as likely to be located in predominantly African American as White areas, and they also
are concentrated in poverty zip codes (Oron, 2006). In California, they are eight times as
concentrated in African American and Latino neighborhoods as in White neighborhoods.
Even controlling on income, poverty, population, education, and other socioeconomic
factors, the racial disparity persists (Li et al., 2009: 2). In Denver neighborhoods where
the median income is below $30,000, one check-casher exists for every 3,196 residents
compared with one check casher for every 27,416 residents in neighborhoods where the
median income is between $90,000 and $120,000 (Fellowes, 2006: 26–28).2

These services are expensive, and it is struggling working families who are paying
the highest costs. The Center for Responsible Lending reported that payday lending costs
U.S. families $4.2 billion annually in excessive fees, or fees that exceed the risk posed by

1. Payday loans are cash advances on a postdated personal check generally for 2 weeks or less when the
borrower will receive the next paycheck. Amounts are typically in the range of $300 to $500. To qualify,
a borrower must have a checking account, source of income, and identification. Typically, the borrower
writes the check for an amount exceeding the cash loan (to cover the finance charge, generally
$15–$30 per $100 or approximately a 390–780% annual percentage rate for a 2-week loan). At the next
payday, the borrower can repay the full loan amount, the check could be deposited for payment, or the
borrower can pay the finance charge and renew the loan for another term (Consumer Federation of
America, 2007: 3, 4).

2. Check cashers are businesses that charge a fee for cashing checks (Karger, 2005: 215).

Volume 10 � Issue 2 439



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

borrowers and the costs of similar services provided by conventional financial institutions
(King, Parrish, and Tanik, 2006: 2,7). Ironically, more than 75% of these fees cover the
costs of loans taken out by borrowers to repay debts incurred from previous payday loans,
which they could not pay when the debt originally came due (Parrish and King, 2009: 11).
Payday lenders claim that their fees simply reflect the costs of doing business.

Payday lenders also assert their borrowers are primarily middle income, although
recent research indicates it is low- and moderate-income borrowers who constitute a
disproportionate share of customers. A study of Colorado borrowers found that those
earning less than $30,000 a year make up two thirds of payday lender customers. A Texas
study found that the median income of borrowers was $18,540 (Fox, 2007: 6, 7). A
2001 nationwide survey found that 23% earned less than $25,000 and that 51.5% earned
between $25,000 and $50,000 (Lawrence and Elliehausen, 2008: 305). In its 2007 Survey
of Consumer Finances, the Federal Reserve, for the first time, asked whether respondents
had taken out a payday loan in the previous year. Those who did so had a median income
of $30,892 compared with $48,397 for those who had not taken out such loans. Payday
loan borrowers had a median net worth of zero compared with $80,510 for nonborrowers
(Logan and Weller, 2009: 8).

The industry also claims that its customers are generally people who use their services
only on rare occasions to meet sudden emergencies. According to the 2001 survey, however,
more than 22% had 14 or more payday loans that year, another 26% had more than 6,
and just 15% had only 1 or 2 (Lawrence and Elliehausen, 2008: 311). The Center for
Responsible Lending found that less than 2% of all payday loans went to borrowers who
just took out one loan. Repeat borrowing was more common with more than 60% of loans
going to those who took out 12 or more loans per year and 24% going to those with 21
or more per year (King and Parrish, 2007: 2, 3). Half of these loans were taken out within
1 day of repaying a previous loan, indicating that borrowers often take out such loans to
retire the debt of previous payday loans (Parrish and King, 2009: 8). Given the high fees
and frequent use, payday loans have been referred to as “debt traps” by many consumer
groups (Fox, 2007: 7, 8).

Policy makers have begun to listen to consumer complaints. In 2006, the U.S. Congress
prohibited payday lending to military members and capped at 36% the interest rate that
could be charged to them on any loan in connection with any other product (Powers, 2006).
Fifteen states and the District of Columbia have small loan usury laws or rate caps that
effectively prohibit payday lending at triple-interest rates (Center for Responsible Lending,
2010: 7). Several other states and Congress are considering legislation and regulations
restricting such lending (American Banker, 2007). However, some national banks (e.g.,
Wells Fargo and U.S. Bank) are now offering “direct deposit advance” or “checking account
advance” products that are similar to payday loans. Because the Office of the Comptroller
of the Currency has preempted many state banking laws, the national banks it regulates

440 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

legally can make such loans, and they are doing so in at least six of the states with the 36%
cap (Center for Responsible Lending, 2010).

All this attention is generated primarily by the growth of the industry, the fees that are
being charged, and the customers and neighborhoods that are being targeted. Borrowers are
clearly paying high costs, as already noted. Lost in this discussion, however, are the broader
costs that many communities might be incurring, including perhaps heightened levels of
crime. Payday lenders seem to be more concentrated in precisely those neighborhoods where
crime rates are highest and where ex-offenders are most likely to return when they leave
prison (Lynch and Sabol, 2001: 3; Rose and Clear, 1998; Visher, Kachnowski, LaVigne,
and Travis, 2004). No research, however, has examined the direct impact of fringe banking
services on neighborhood crime rates. There is reason to believe that such a connection
exists and that it is costly.

Theoretical Context of the Payday Lending-Crime Nexus
Theoretical arguments for why payday lending and crime might be related draw on a
mixture of criminological perspectives. At a minimum, the availability of cash in distressed
neighborhoods at readily identifiable businesses frequently operating with evening and
weekend hours suggests a probable link between crime and payday lending, according to
routine activities theory. According to this theory, crime can be understood in terms of the
“routine activities” of everyday life including what we do, where we go, and with whom
we interact on a daily basis (Cohen and Felson, 1979). At its core is the idea that, in the
absence of effective controls, offenders will prey on attractive targets. In the current context,
residents who use payday lenders often leave these establishments with great sums of cash
in their wallets and at late hours in the evenings as well as on the weekends, a fact likely not
overlooked by potential criminals.

It is also reasonable to believe that some increase in crime could be attributable to the
manner in which payday lenders might lubricate the cash-only drug trade. In places where
cash is available on a moment’s notice to anyone with a job or government check, those
wanting to fuel an addiction, or deviant lifestyle, need not wait until payday with ample
payday loan opportunities.

Persons who find themselves in an ever-descending debt spiral, perhaps pressured by the
threats of debt collectors, also would seem more likely to suffer from emotional difficulties
that manifest themselves in violence, particularly against family, coworkers, friends, and
neighbors, as strain theory would predict. Agnew (1992) claimed that strain, which can
result from the presentation of negative stimuli (e.g., going into debt), can produce “negative
affective states,” including anger, fear, frustration, or depression, that might lead to crime.
This result is especially likely to occur among individuals who have few resources for coping
with strain. Along these lines, it is also easy to imagine that hopelessly indebted persons
might turn to other forms of crime to compensate for the debt incurred to payday lenders.

Volume 10 � Issue 2 441



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

Perhaps the greatest insight on the payday lending-crime nexus comes from social
disorganization theory, which has emerged as the critical framework for understanding the
relationship between neighborhood characteristics and crime in urban areas. According to
the theory, certain neighborhood characteristics can lead to social disorganization, defined
as the inability of a community to realize the common values of its residents and to maintain
effective social controls (Kornhauser, 1978: 120). Social disorganization, in turn, can lead
to more crime.

The most commonly studied aspects of neighborhoods include economic deprivation,
residential instability, and population heterogeneity. An impressive literature produced
over decades has found that these and related characteristics are positively associated with
community crime rates, both directly and indirectly through their effect on neighborhood
processes such as informal social control and collective efficacy (for a review of this literature,
see Kubrin and Weitzer, 2003).

Along with these community characteristics, local institutions are theorized to play a
key role in shaping crime rates. This effect occurs in large part because such institutions
structure the daily interaction patterns of residents, affect the ability of communities to
exercise social control, and influence available routes to valued goals such as economic
or community development. Disadvantaged neighborhoods, in particular, have difficulty
attracting and maintaining the types of local institutions that impede crime by providing
community stability, social control, and alternatives to occupy residents’ time (Peterson,
Krivo, and Harris, 2000: 32).

Neighborhood studies of crime have focused on a variety of local institutions such
as bars, public housing, and recreational facilities. It is argued that recreation centers and
libraries:

provide places and activities where people can gather, thereby structuring time
and observing each other in public. To the degree that these institutions offer
organized activities, they place local residents in settings that promote and
facilitate the sharing of common values and goals. As this occurs, community
networks are more likely to form and fulfill control functions. (Peterson et al.,
2000: 34)

Other types of local institutions, however, such as bars, might serve to encourage
criminal behavior in neighborhoods. Researchers have argued that their presence can cause
crime directly by inducing violence within these establishments themselves (because of
intoxication and impaired judgment) and indirectly by undermining informal social control
in communities where bars are densely located (Parker, 1995; Roncek and Maier, 1991).

In a study on the role of local institutions and their effect on violent crime rates in
Columbus, Ohio, neighborhoods, Peterson et al. (2000) found support for these arguments.
They documented that a greater prevalence of recreation centers reduces violent crime, at
least in the most economically disadvantaged areas of Columbus. They also documented

442 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

that a greater prevalence of bars in Columbus tracts is related to higher levels of violent
crime. Beyond their study and previous research, however, they claimed that “scholars have
not explored the empirical linkages between the presence of various types of institutions
and neighborhood crime” (2000: 36) and cautioned that “additional research is needed to
specify more fully what types of institutions . . . will have the most payoff” (2000: 57) for
reducing community crime rates.

We would like to add payday lenders to the list of local institutions that might
affect community crime rates. In line with social disorganization theory, we argue that
a concentration of payday lenders might constitute a visible sign of neighborhood disorder
and decline. According to research, disorder has been shown to increase fear of crime
(Taylor, 2001) and to reduce informal social control, thereby increasing crime (Wilson and
Kelling, 1982). Skogan (1992), in particular, characterizes disorder as an instrument of
destabilization and neighborhood decline, with implications for community crime rates.

In summary, several reasons suggest why the presence of payday lenders in neighbor-
hoods might be associated with violent and property crime rates in those neighborhoods.
Previous research has investigated the relationship between crime and residential instability,
poverty, unemployment, and other factors. Previous research also has documented the effect
of local institutions on community crime rates including bars and recreational facilities. To
date, however, no research has systematically examined the relationship between payday
lending and crime. In fact, little overlap has occurred in the payday lending and crime
literatures, despite the plausibility of such a relationship. As such, this study is the first
empirical examination of the fringe banking–neighborhood crime nexus.

The Research Context
The city of Seattle, Washington, was selected because it is a representative major U.S. city
(with a population of more than 550,000, of which non-Whites account for 30%) and is
located in a state where payday lending has grown substantially over the last several years.
Payday lending was legalized in Washington State in 1995. It grew slowly at first but then
gained momentum in 2003 when the state legislature increased the maximum loan amount
from $200 to $700. In Seattle, the number of payday lenders has grown from 37 in 2003 to
52 in 2007, an increase of nearly 41%. Equally important, as in most metropolitan areas,
the location of payday lenders in Seattle is concentrated in low- and moderate-income
and minority communities, where crime rates are the highest. We also selected Seattle as
our study site because it is typical in terms of the number and density of payday lenders.
Payday lenders in Seattle do not exhibit any unusual spatial pattern as one might find in
heavily ghettoized cities or in cities with a significant military presence. Finally, we chose
Seattle because it has been the focus of numerous studies of community crime rates over the
last 20 years (Crutchfield, 1989; Kubrin, 2000; Matsueda, Drakulich, and Kubrin, 2006;
Miethe and McDowall, 1993; Warner and Rountree, 1997). The current study builds on
this literature.

Volume 10 � Issue 2 443



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

The primary question we explore is whether those neighborhoods that have a relatively
greater share of payday lenders exhibit higher crime rates after taking into consideration a
range of factors known to be associated with crime (e.g., poverty, unemployment, population
turnover, and related socioeconomic factors). We continue to consider that question in
analyses that attempt to account for analytic complexities such as spatial autocorrelation
and endogeneity. The findings will inform current policy debates and suggest directions for
future research on the impact of payday lending.

Data andMethodology
To examine the relationship between payday lending and neighborhood crime rates, we
perform a series of regression analyses using data on the location of payday lenders
in conjunction with census and crime data for census tracts in Seattle. Census tracts
approximate neighborhoods and are the smallest geographic level for which all three data
sets are available.3

Independent Variables
Our key independent variable is the prevalence of licensed payday lenders in Seattle census
tracts in 2005. To calculate this variable, we divide the number of payday lenders in a tract by
the tract population size (expressed in units of 1,000 persons) and take the natural logarithm
of this rate.4 The raw data on payday lenders were collected by Steven Graves as part of a
larger study focused on payday lenders and the military (Graves and Peterson, 2005). The
street address for each lender was assigned a census tract number using ArcView GIS. In
the 116 Seattle tracts for which crime data were available, 44 lenders were in operation in
2005. This number is comparable with other major U.S. cities including Milwaukee (41),
Fort Worth (62), San Francisco (45), and Salt Lake City (53). The minimum number of
payday lenders in a Seattle tract was 0, whereas the maximum was 4. The mean number of
lenders across all tracts was .38.

The following variables were constructed from the 2000 U.S. Census to reflect critical
neighborhood differences: percent secondary sector low-wage jobs (percent of total employed
civilian population age 16 years and older employed in the six occupations with the
lowest mean incomes),5 jobless rate (percent of civilian labor force age 16–64 years who

3. Seattle has 123 census tracts, but only 116 were included in the analyses. Recently, several tracts have
been reconfigured into other tracts or eliminated altogether. Tract 23 is now subsumed in tract 40, tract
55 is now subsumed in tract 57, and tract 37 no longer exists. The remaining tracts were excluded
because they encompass unique areas without corresponding census data. Tract 53 is excluded
because it encompasses the University of Washington campus, and tracts 83 and 85 are excluded
because they encompass the University’s medical complex.

4. We added a constant of 1 to the rate prior to computing the logarithmic transformation.

5. The occupations include health-care support; food preparation and serving-related occupations;
building and grounds cleaning and maintenance; personal care and service; farming, fishing, and

444 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

are unemployed or not in the labor force), percent professionals and managers (percent of
employed civilian population age 16 years and older in management, professional, and
related occupations), percent high-school graduates (percent of adults age 25 years and older
who are at least high-school graduates), poverty rate (percent of the population for whom
poverty status is determined whose income in 1999 was below the poverty level), percent
Black (percent of the total population that is non-Hispanic Black), percent young males
(percent of the total population who are males between the ages of 15 and 24 years),
residential instability index (index comprising percent renters, or percent of occupied housing
units that are renter occupied, and percent movers, or percent of population ages 5 years and
older who lived in a different house in 1995),6 percent female-headed households (percent of
households that are female-headed with no husband), and population (tract population).7

The literature has demonstrated that these characteristics are related to community crime
rates in a variety of cities throughout the United States (Krivo and Peterson, 1996; Kubrin,
2000; Morenoff et al., 2001; Warner and Rountree, 1997).

An important variable that classifies tracts as within or not within the Seattle Central
Business District (CBD) is included in the analyses because few and atypical residents live
in CBD tracts. In Seattle, CBD residents tend to be urban professionals with high incomes
or people who are poor and homeless. Controlling for whether tracts are inside or outside
the CBD minimizes the likelihood that the unique characteristics of this area will distort
the results (Crutchfield, 1989).

Previous community-level studies have found it necessary to address the problem of
multicollinearity among the independent variables. To evaluate this issue, we examined
variance inflation factor (VIF) scores, which confirmed the high level of collinearity among
many disadvantage-related variables. Using these diagnostics and previous research as a guide
(e.g., Sampson and Raudenbush 1999: 621), we performed principal components factor
analysis with varimax rotation. Not surprisingly, the results suggest that the disadvantage-
related variables all load on a single component with an eigenvalue of 4.39. This
component, which we label Neighborhood Disadvantage, explains 73% of the variance
and consists of the following variables (factor loadings in parenthesis): percent secondary
sector low-wage jobs (.94), jobless rate (.87), percent professionals and managers (–
.86), percent high-school graduates (–.93), poverty rate (.80), and percent Black (.71).8

forestry; and material moving. The mean wages were derived from 2000 census data available in the
Integrated Public Use Microdata Series (ipums.org).

6 The index represents the average of the standardized scores of these two variables.

7 All census data used in the study were compiled by Ruth D. Peterson and Lauren J. Krivo (2006) as part
of the National Neighborhood Crime Study (NNCS). The NNCS contains information on the Federal
Bureau of Investigation’s Index crimes and sociodemographic characteristics for census tracts in a
representative sample of large U.S. cities for 2000.

8. Similar to prior research, we include percent Black in the disadvantage index because of its high
correlation with the other items that comprise the index. Treating percent Black as a separate covariate

Volume 10 � Issue 2 445



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

In the analyses, the disadvantage index is used along with the residential instability
index, young male rate, rate of female-headed households, total population, central
business district, and our payday lending measure to predict Seattle neighborhood crime
rates.9

Dependent Variables
Data used to compute violent and property crime rates at the census tract level come
from Seattle Police Department annual reports. Following common practice, multiple year
(2006–2007) average crime rates (per 1,000 population) were calculated to minimize the
impact of annual fluctuations.10 The violent crime rate sums murder, rape, robbery, and
assault rates, whereas the property crime rate is calculated as a sum of the burglary, larceny,
and autotheft rates.11

Analytic Issues and Strategy
One critical issue in neighborhood research is that of spatial dependence. Crime is not
randomly distributed but is spatially concentrated in certain areas in the metropolis.
Formally, the presence or absence of this pattern is indicated by the concept of spatial
autocorrelation, or the coincidence of similarity in value with similarity in location (Anselin,
Cohen, Cook, Gorr, and Tita, 2000: 14). When high values in a location are associated
with high values at nearby locations, or low values with low values for neighbors, positive
spatial autocorrelation or spatial clustering occurs. In analyses using spatial data, such as
in the current study, one must attend to potential autocorrelation because ignoring spatial
dependence in the model might lead to false indications of significance, biased parameter
estimates, and misleading suggestions of fit (Messner, Anselin, Baller, Hawkins, Deane, and
Tolnay, 2001: 427).

In the current study, we address potential spatial dependence by mapping the residuals
from our regression analyses and running a series of diagnostic tests to check for problematic
levels of spatial autocorrelation. We used multiple variants of the Moran’s I test and several
software packages, including GeoDA, SPSS, ArcMap 9.3, and s3 (Mathematica).

results in levels of collinearity that create partialling and interpretation difficulties in regard to the
disadvantage and percentage Black variables. In analyses not shown here, we computed supplemental
models with percent Black as a separate covariate. The substantive results regarding payday lending
and crime did not change in those models.

9. Examination of collinearity diagnostics revealed no multicollinearity problems in the parameter
estimates presented subsequently (maximum VIF was 2.5).

10. Crime data by census tract for 2008 through the present have not yet been released publically.

11. Histograms and descriptive statistics indicate that several variables are highly skewed, and we include
log-transformed versions of these variables in the analyses that follow. Transformed variables include
the young male rate, payday lender rate, and violent and property crime rates.

446 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

A second critical issue has to do with the possibility that endogeneity might be found
in the payday lending–crime relationship. Although it is our contention that the most
well-grounded theoretical relationship is one in which the presence of payday lenders in an
area affects the crime rate, we acknowledge the possibility that the relationship might be
reciprocal (i.e., crime could affect where payday lenders set up shop). One reason for this
trend is that moderate levels of crime might serve as an environmental signal that informs
payday lenders of locations where a reasonably high demand should exist for the sorts of
financial services they provide. To the extent this argument has some merit, it seems prudent
to account for the possibility that payday lenders might be an endogenous, rather than an
exogenous, regressor in our analyses. As discussed subsequently, we do this by implementing
an instrumental variables model, a commonly used approach to model endogeneity in social
relationships.

Given the issues just raised and our focus on investigating the relationship between
payday lending and neighborhood crime rates, after providing some descriptive statistics, our
multivariate analysis begins with the estimation of a series of ordinary least-squares (OLS)
regression analyses in which the effects of payday lending on crime are examined. In the
first model, we assess whether payday lending and crime rates are associated using a baseline
model in which only payday lending is included. In the second model, we introduce into
the analysis the standard neighborhood crime correlates (e.g., neighborhood disadvantage,
residential instability, etc.) to determine whether any payday lending effect withstands these
controls. In the third model, we make an effort to allow for the possibility that our payday
lending measure is endogenous by estimating an instrumental variables regression via the
two-stage least-squares (2SLS) estimator. To implement the instrumental variable model,
we require an instrument that is justified on theoretical grounds and meeting the following
conditions: (a) It is highly correlated with the measure of payday lenders, and (b) it is
uncorrelated with the disturbance terms from the payday lending–crime equations. To that
end, we instrument payday lender rates with a measure of the prevalence of Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) banking institutions (i.e., the natural log of banks per 1,000
population). Our theoretical justification for this instrument follows below.

Within the limits of zoning regulations, FDIC banks are likely to locate themselves
strategically to provide convenient access to consumers with financial and banking needs.
Payday lenders, in turn, are likely to opt for locations in relative proximity to traditional
banks for several reasons. First, because FDIC banks are likely to be located in an
advantageous position relative to consumer demand, setting up shop nearby provides
payday lenders with access to a steady flow of potential customers. Second, because payday
lenders tend to provide services that traditional banks do not (e.g., short-term loans to
customers with weak credit histories, nighttime, and weekend hours), a location near an
FDIC bank provides potential visibility to banking customers whose needs occasionally
might be unmet by the traditional bank. Third and most important theoretically, almost
every payday loan transaction requires the customer to present a postdated personal check

Volume 10 � Issue 2 447



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

from a valid checking account to obtain their cash loan. Therefore, logic suggests that the
vast majority of Seattle’s payday loan customers keep a checking account with a bank that is
also nearby. As such, traditional banks and payday lenders do not attract completely different
clientele; the customers of the latter are simply a subset of the banks’ clients. Although the
availability of banks is a necessary condition for payday lenders, banks have little, if any,
need for payday lenders (although some lenders have partnered with and, in some cases,
even purchased, payday lenders). In essence, the relationship between payday lenders and
FDIC banks is commensalistic. Payday lenders benefit from their geographic connection
to FDIC institutions without seriously affecting the financial service market of the bank
itself. Based on these reasons, we argue that a concentration of payday lending institutions is
driven, in part, by the location of traditional banking institutions. Consequently, we expect
that payday lenders and FDIC banks will colocate and that the concentration of FDIC
banks should be correlated positively with the concentrations of payday lenders.

Consistent with this expectation, a recent analysis by Fellowes and Mabanta (2008:
10) reports that “of the 22,984 payday lenders now in business, about 95 percent are
located within one mile of a bank or credit union branch, and 84 percent are located in
the same neighborhood or census tract as a bank or credit union branch.”12 This pattern of
colocation between payday lenders and FDIC banks also appears in Seattle. As evidenced
by the map presented in Appendix A, tracts with a greater prevalence of FDIC banks tend
to be tracts that also exhibit more payday lending institutions. Moreover, as expected, we
find that the bivariate correlation between the payday lender rate and the FDIC banking
rate across Seattle census tracts is fairly strong at r = .64. Thus, consistent with its role as
an instrument, we believe both theoretical and empirical evidence is present indicating that
the prevalence of FDIC banks is related to the prevalence of payday lenders. In contrast,
we perceived no compelling reason to expect that the FDIC banking institution rate will
be correlated with the disturbance terms from the crime equations. However, because this
latter “exogeneity” assumption cannot be tested directly (Wooldridge, 2002: 86), findings
should be interpreted with appropriate caution.13

12. Given that FDIC banks and payday lenders tend to be located close to one another, one might wonder
why individuals choose to use the high-cost services of the latter. For starters, geographic proximity is
not equivalent to access. As noted earlier, banks frequently do not offer products sought out by payday
lending customers or provide services in a manner or at a time that is convenient for them.
Furthermore, available evidence suggests payday loan usage is tied to limited or negative credit
experiences, imbalances between living expenses and income, and ignorance about lower cost options
(Fellowes and Mabanta, 2008). Lower income residents also indicate that they avoid banks because they
fear that they do not have enough money, think the fees are too high, are not comfortable dealing with
banks, find banks have inconvenient hours, and believe banks refuse to provide the desired services
(e.g., see Fellowes and Mabanta, 2008; Washington, 2006; see also Caskey, 1994: 78–83).

13. Because this assumption involves an unobservable (the disturbance term) concept, it cannot be tested
directly with empirical data. However, when two or more instruments are available for a single
endogenous regressor (i.e., the equation is “overidentified”), one can assess the adequacy of instruments

448 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

Finally, for each model, we test for evidence of spatial autocorrelation, and if needed,
we account for spatial effects that might bias our estimates of the direct relationship between
payday lending and crime. For all sets of analyses, we examine both violent and property
crime rates in Seattle neighborhoods.

Findings
Descriptive Statistics
A preliminary view of descriptive statistics suggests a positive association between payday
lending and crime. Means, standard deviations, and correlations for all variables are
presented in Table 1. The average count of payday lenders across Seattle neighborhoods
is .38; the corresponding rate is 10 per 1,000 persons. Consistent with crime patterns
throughout the United States, property offenses comprised the majority of reported crimes
in Seattle in 2006–2007. The average rates for property and violent crime, respectively,
were roughly 74 and 8 per 1,000 population. As expected, the explanatory variables, and
particularly neighborhood disadvantage, have positive relationships with crime rates. More
importantly, payday lending is significantly positively associated with both violent (r =
.48) and property crime (r = .56). These correlations suggest initial support for a payday
lending–crime relationship.

The bivariate relationship between payday lending and crime can be illustrated visually.
Figure 1 plots the distribution of payday lenders and violent crime rates in Seattle
neighborhoods. The map in Figure 1 clearly displays the strong bivariate relationship
between payday lending and violent crime. In the downtown and inner-city areas where
payday lenders are more numerous (as indicated by “x” on the map), the violent crime rate is
also highest (as indicated by the darkest shading on the map). The safest neighborhoods in
Seattle have no payday lenders in them. The map also shows moderate violent crime rates in
areas with lower densities of payday lending. Results for the distribution of payday lenders
and property crime rates, although not presented, mirror closely those for violent crime
rates. At issue, however, is whether the relationship between payday lending and crime will
remain after controlling for other community characteristics known to be associated with
crime. To determine this relationship, we turn to the regression results.

Regression Results
Tables 2 and 3 present regression results for violent and property crime rates, respectively.
These tables contain results from the series of three regression models, which were
outlined earlier. For both tables, the first column reports a baseline OLS regression
model in which violent or property crime rates are predicted only by the payday

via a test of overidentifying restrictions (e.g., see Baum, 2006: 191; Wooldridge, 2002: 121). Such testing is
not possible in cases like ours in which only one excluded instrument is used for the endogenous
regressor variable.

Volume 10 � Issue 2 449



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

T
A

B
L
E

1

D
es
cr
ip
ti
ve

St
at
is
ti
cs

an
d
Co

rr
el
at
io
ns

(N
=
11

6
Ce

ns
us

Tr
ac
ts
)

1
2

3
4

5
6

7
8

9
10

11
12

13
14

15

1.
Vio
len
tc
rim
er
ate

(ln
)

1.0
0

.80
∗

−.
03

.74
∗

.45
∗

.63
∗

.25
∗

.45
∗

.48
∗

.75
∗

.62
∗

.56
∗

−.
61

∗
.65

∗
−.
63

∗
2.
Pro
pe
rty
cri
me

rat
e(
ln)

1.0
0

−.
23

∗
.44

∗
.38

∗
.75

∗
−.
15

.58
∗

.56
∗

.64
∗

.41
∗

.25
∗

−.
28

∗
.39

∗
−.
29

∗
3.
To
tal
po
pu
lat
ion

1.0
0

.08
.12

−.
04

.22
∗

−.
15

−.
15

−.
11

−.
04

.08
−.
22

∗
.12

−.
12

4.
Dis
ad
va
nta
ge
ind
ex

1.0
0

.39
∗

.32
∗

.56
∗

.19
∗

.18
.80

∗
.87

∗
.71

∗
−.
86

∗
.94

∗
−.
93

∗
5.
Yo
un
gm

ale
rat
e(
ln)

1.0
0

.51
∗

.13
.05

.20
∗

.46
∗

.23
∗

.18
−.
44

∗
.40

∗
−.
30

∗
6.
Re
sid
en
tia
lin
sta
bil
ity

1.0
0

−.
28

∗
.46

∗
.34

∗
.65

∗
.23

∗
.09

−.
23

∗
.31

∗
−.
14

7.
Fe
ma
le-
he
ad
ed
ho
us
eh
old
s

1.0
0

−.
29

∗
−.
10

.17
.33

∗
.70

∗
−.
56

∗
.48

∗
−.
64

∗
8.
Ce
ntr
al
bu
sin
es
sd
ist
ric
t

1.0
0

.24
∗

.42
∗

.31
∗

.02
−.
05

.12
−.
07

9.
Pa
yd
ay
len
de
rra
te

1.0
0

.30
∗

.19
∗

.05
−.
17

.13
−.
09

10
.P
ov
ert
yr
ate

1.0
0

.80
∗

.44
∗

−.
55

∗
.70

∗
−.
61

∗
11
.Jo
ble
ss
rat
e

1.0
0

.54
∗

−.
60

∗
.74

∗
−.
77

∗
12
.P
erc
en
tB
lac
k

1.0
0

−.
50

∗
.57

∗
−.
65

∗
13
.P
erc
en
tp
rof
es
sio
na
l

1.0
0

−.
87

∗
.85

∗
14
.P
erc
en
tlo
w
wa
ge

1.0
0

−.
87

∗
15
.P
erc
en
th
igh
-sc
ho
ol
gra
du
ate

1.0
0

Me
an

7.6
9

73
.74

47
09

.00
6.3
0

.14
8.2
9

.08
.10

11
.93

23
.59

7.7
4

48
.70

14
.85

89
.77

SD
11
.60

78
.00

18
75

1.0
0

3.5
2

.86
5.2
7

.27
.24

9.1
6

8.2
5

10
.11

13
.30

7.4
6

9.4
5

No
te.
ln

=
me
as
ure
di
nn
atu
ral
log
ari
th
m;
me
an
sa
nd
sta
nd
ard

de
via
tio
ns
for
all
va
ria
ble
sa
re
ex
pre
sse
di
nn
on
log
ge
dv
alu
es
for
ea
se
of
int
erp
ret
ati
on
.

∗ p
<
.05
.

450 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

F I G U R E 1

Payday Lenders and Violent Crime Rates in Seattle, Washington

lending variable. In the second column of each table, we expand on that initial model
by adding measures typically associated with neighborhood crime rates. In the third
column, we present results from a model that accounts for the potential endogeneity
of payday lenders through an instrumental variables estimator. Finally, we calculate
the level of spatial autocorrelation in each of the prior models. Consistent with our

Volume 10 � Issue 2 451



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

T A B L E 2

OLS Regression Results for Violent Crime

1 2 3
Baseline Model Ecological Correlates Model 2SLS-IV Endogeneity Model

Payday lenders (ln) .482∗∗∗ .248∗∗∗ .196∗∗
3.424 1.756 2.346
(.582) (.325) (.658)

Neighborhood disadvantage .442∗∗∗ .431∗∗∗
.506 .494
(.076) (.075)

Young male rate (ln) .023 .017
.062 .046
(.143) (.141)

Residential instability index .351∗∗∗ .334∗∗∗
.469 .447
(.087) (.088)

Female-headed households .182∗∗ .188∗∗
.040 .041
(.015) (.014)

Central business district .189∗∗∗ .182∗∗∗
.806 .776
(.221) (.218)

Population size −.028 −.018
−.000 −.000
(.000) (.000)

Constant 1.098 1.478 .687
(.104) (.318) (.283)

Model summary information
R2 .233 .808 .802
Adjusted R2 .226 .742 —
D-W-H endogeneity test — — 1.08

Total number tracts (N) 116 116 116

Notes. Cell entries are standardized coefficients and unstandardized coefficients followed by standard errors in parenthesis. In the first
stage of the 2SLS model, the excluded instrument predicting payday lenders is the number of FDIC lending institutions per 1,000
population (see Appendix A for full first-stage results).
p< .05; ∗∗p< .01; ∗∗∗p< .001.

objectives, this model-building strategy allows us to gauge the extent to which the observed
relationship between payday lending and crime remains after controlling for other ecological
correlates.

Baseline model. In the first model of Table 2, we find evidence, not surprisingly, of a
statistically significant positive relationship between payday lending and violent crime. Also
not surprisingly, we find evidence of a statistically significant positive relationship between
payday lending and property crime, as indicated in the first model of Table 3. In essence,

452 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

T A B L E 3

OLS Regression Results for Property Crime

1 2 3
Baseline Model Ecological Correlates Model 2SLS-IV Endogeneity Model

Payday lenders (ln) .565∗∗∗ .289∗∗∗ .340∗∗∗
2.323 1.189 2.365
(.318) (.205) (.466)

Neighborhood disadvantage .207∗∗ .171∗
.137 .114
(.048) (.054)

Young male rate (ln) .010 −.010
.016 −.015
(.090) (.100)

Residential instability index .534∗∗∗ .401∗∗∗
.355 .310
(.055) (.062)

Female-headed households −.006 .016
−.001 .001
(.009) (.010)

Central business district .237∗∗∗ .214∗∗
.587 .528
(.139) (.155)

Population size −.149∗∗ −.113∗
−.00005 −.00004
(.00002) (.00002)

Constant 3.842 4.061 3.952
(.057) (.179) (.201)

Model summary information
R2 .319 .773 .704
Adjusted R2 .313 .759 —
D-W-H endogeneity test 11.04∗∗

Total number tracts (N) 116 116 116

Notes. Cell entries are standardized coefficients and unstandardized coefficients followed by standard errors in parenthesis. In the first
stage of the 2SLS model, the excluded instrument predicting payday lenders is the number of FDIC lending institutions per 1,000
population (see Appendix A for full first-stage results).
∗p< .05; ∗∗p< .01; ∗∗∗p< .001.

these results suggest that across Seattle neighborhoods, as the presence of payday lenders
increases, so do violent and property crime rates.

Ecological correlates model. In the second model, we introduce several measures typically
associated with neighborhood crime rates. In line with prior research, regression results
show that neighborhood disadvantage, residential instability, and female-headed households
are all significantly positively associated with violent crime rates. Likewise, disadvantage
and residential instability are significantly positively associated with property crime rates.

Volume 10 � Issue 2 453



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

T A B L E 4

Moran’s I Test for Spatial Autocorrelation

Model Dependent Variable Technique Moran’s I Z Score P Value Pattern

Social disorganization model Violent crime rate Contiguity .03 .70 .48 Random
Inverse distance −.02 −.25 .80 Random

Social disorganization model Property crime rate Contiguity .07 1.40 .16 Random
Inverse distance .05 1.41 .16 Random

Endogeneity model Violent crime rate Contiguity .03 .72 .46 Random
Inverse distance −.02 −.15 .87 Random

Endogeneity model Property crime rate Contiguity .08 1.50 .13 Random
Inverse distance .05 1.37 .17 Random

Moreover, whether the census tract is located in the CBD also matters for violent and
property crime rates. Our CBD variable is significant and positive in both models. Most
important, however, is that the inclusion of these variables does not eliminate the association
between payday lending and crime. Although the coefficients for the payday lending variable
are roughly cut in half in the violent and property crime equations, payday lending remains
a significant predictor in both models. In fact, the standardized coefficients suggest that the
effect of payday lending is fairly robust, with a magnitude that compares favorably with
several neighborhood measures that have been considered important predictors of crime for
a long time.

Using variants of the Moran’s I test and several software packages, we next measured the
potential effects of spatial autocorrelation within the OLS ecological model. We found that
the effect of spatial autocorrelation was minimal in both analyses of violent and property
crime, falling well below the threshold that might raise concern (see, e.g., Parker and
Asencio, 2009: 208).

Table 4 reports the results of these tests, using a minimum threshold distance of
2,500 m and first-order contiguity models. As shown, the Moran’s I scores, which are
similar to a Pearson’s r score, are low and in some instances slightly negative. Although
typical in many cities, the lack of spatially autocorrelated data in Seattle appears because
of its unusual physical geography. Unlike many cities, Seattle has numerous natural (e.g.,
bodies of water, hills, etc.) and manmade (e.g., bridges, freeways, etc.) barriers that seem
to inhibit interaction. The map in Figure 1 helps make this point clear. This finding is
consistent with other studies that have examined spatial autocorrelation and neighborhood
crime rates in Seattle (e.g., Kubrin, 2000) and accounts for why previous researchers have
not addressed autocorrelation directly in their analyses of Seattle neighborhoods (e.g.,
Crutchfield, Matsueda, and Drakulich, 2006; Rountree, Land, and Miethe, 1994; Warner
and Rountree, 1997).

454 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

Endogeneity model. The third model in our investigation is an effort to explore the
possibility that the payday lender rate is an endogenous regressor in our models. To
account for endogeneity, we use an instrumental variables approach via 2SLS regression. Per
our earlier discussion, in the first stage of the 2SLS analysis, the prevalence of payday
lenders is instrumented by a single “excluded” instrument—the natural logarithm of
FDIC banks per 1,000 persons—with the ecological variables specified as “included”
instruments.

The results of this first-stage analysis, reported in Appendix B, are consistent with the
bivariate evidence cited earlier and suggest that “FDIC banks” is a “relevant instrument”
for the payday lender rate. Several statistics provide evidence of such relevance. First,
the coefficient for the FDIC bank rate, which reflects its partial association with the
payday lending rate (net of the other covariates), is positive and has a large and statistically
significant t ratio. Second, we report an F test that also evaluates the relevance of the
included instrument. This statistic is derived based on the R-squared of the first-stage
equation after the included instruments have been partialled out (Baum, 2006: 207; see
also Bound, Jaeger, and Baker, 1995). Previous research on instrumental variables (IV)
methods has shown that, even when the instrument is a statistically significant predictor,
bias might be found in the IV estimator because of limitations in the explanatory power
of the instrument (see Baum, 2006; Staiger and Stock, 1997). Consequently, it has been
suggested that, for a model with one endogenous regressor, an F statistic lower than 10 is
problematic (Baum, 2006: 211). As shown at the bottom of the table in Appendix B, the
F statistic in our analysis is 33—more than three times the minimum threshold suggested.
Finally, we also present results of the Anderson canonical correlation underidentification
test, which evaluates the null hypothesis that the equation is underidentified. In this case,
the test statistic is large and statistically significant, thereby indicating a rejection of the null.
In summary, these statistics imply that one of the two critical assumptions of IV analysis
is supported in our data (i.e., that the instrument has a high partial correlation with the
endogenous regressor). We note again, however, that the second assumption cannot be
evaluated empirically, so findings and conclusions should be regarded as suggestive, not
definitive.

Turning our attention to the second-stage regression results, reported as model 3 in
Tables 2 and 3, our interest centers on whether the criminogenic effect of payday lenders
remains evident in the instrumental variable analysis. Examining the results for violent crime
first, the findings continue to indicate that the prevalence of payday lending institutions
has a significant positive relationship with violent crime rates. Indeed, the results of the IV
analysis mimic fairly closely the substantive results of the OLS analysis, both for the measure
of payday lending as well as for the ecological variables. Moreover, a closer inspection
of the coefficients in models 2 and 3 indicates that differences are not especially great.
Intuitively, this similarity suggests that payday lenders might not be endogenous to violent
crime. The “Durbin–Wu–Hausman (D-W-H) endogeneity test” reported at the bottom

Volume 10 � Issue 2 455



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

of Table 2 evaluates that idea.14 In this case, the test is not significant, which suggests that
little is changed by specifying payday lenders as endogenous to violent crime. Across model
specifications, the evidence is consistent in indicating that payday lending is predictive of
violent crime rates, controlling on a range of factors associated with neighborhood crime
rates.

Looking next at the results for property crime, reported in the third model of Table 3,
several findings are noteworthy. Most importantly, in big picture substantive terms, the
results of the instrumental variables analysis differ little from OLS results. Payday lenders,
neighborhood disadvantage, residential instability, population size, and location within
the CBD all are significantly related to property crime rates in expected ways. Thus, the
substantive issues most central to the current study seem unaffected by our efforts to model
endogeneity in the relationship between payday lending and crime. However, differences
in the magnitude of the coefficients in the OLS and IV analyses are more prominent in
the property crime analyses than they were in the analyses of violent crime. For instance,
the estimated effect of payday lending is roughly twice as large in the IV analysis compared
with the OLS analysis. Given this difference, it is not surprising that the D-W-H test
is statistically significant in Table 3. In essence, this test suggests systematic differences
occur in the coefficients for the OLS and 2SLS-IV models. On the assumption that the
instrumental variable is exogenous to the disturbance term of the property crime equation,
this result is consistent with the idea that endogeneity exists in the relationship between
payday lender prevalence and property crime rates. Nonetheless, our analyses suggest little
reason to doubt that payday lending has an effect on property crime rates, net of our
controls.15

Finally, to evaluate the potential for biases related to spatial processes in the endogeneity
models, we once again measured the level of spatial autocorrelation using a variety tests. As
before, these results suggest no appreciable evidence of unmeasured spatial effects in our
analysis of violent or property crime rates. The results of tests for spatial autocorrelation in
these models using Moran’s I are listed in Table 4.

In sum, the results of our analyses indicate that payday lending is significantly associated
with both violent and property crime rates. This relationship holds even after controlling
for a host of factors typically associated with neighborhood crime rates. Moreover, the
significant, positive relationship between payday lending and crime remains evident in
models that attempt to deal with endogeneity as well as after concerns with spatial
autocorrelation have been addressed.

14. It should be noted this test statistic also relies on the critical assumption that the instrumental variable is
uncorrelated with the crime equation disturbance term.

15. We replicated the models substituting in the individual components of the disadvantage index to see
whether the effects of payday lending remained. In all supplemental analyses, payday lending remained
a significant predictor of violent and property crime rates. Results of these analyses are available on
request.

456 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

Conclusion
Payday lenders in Seattle tend to be concentrated in communities where crime rates are
higher. More importantly, the correlation between payday lending and violent and property
crime remains statistically significant after a range of factors traditionally associated with
crime have been controlled for and when other model specifications have been taken into
account. The substantial costs that customers pay for using payday lenders have long been
documented for a long time. Our findings indicate that important broader community
costs also might persist—such as exposure to crime—that all residents pay when they reside
in neighborhoods with a concentration of payday lenders. These costs suggest numerous
policy implications.

Policy Implications
One critical public policy challenge is to preserve access to small consumer loans on an
equitable basis and to do so in a way that does not enhance the danger to those in the
community where these services are provided. This is a challenge not just for financial
service providers and regulators, law enforcement authorities, or community development
officials. Coordinated efforts should be launched to meet these objectives successfully. One
approach would be to cap the interest rate that payday lenders are allowed to charge at 36%
as several states have done and as Congress did with respect to loans given to members of
the military and their families. (Credit cards, although not ideal for all consumers, currently
offer cash advances for far less than the 36% annual percentage rate.) Although this approach
would reduce many abusive practices often associated with payday lending, it would likely
put many payday lenders out of business. This outcome raises the question of whether
alternative financial institutions could step in and provide small consumer loans.

One credit union has found a profitable way to serve this function with a high-risk pool
of borrowers. In 2001, the North Carolina State Employee’s Credit Union (SECU) created
the Salary Advance Loan (SALO) product that helps employees make it from paycheck to
paycheck while building savings. Members who have their paycheck automatically deposited
can request salary advances up to $500. The advance is repaid automatically the next payday.
The annual percentage rate is 12%. Typical SALO borrowers have an annual income of less
than $25,000 with account balances of less than $150. Two thirds take out advances every
month. SECU has earned a net income of $1.5 million on a loan volume of $400 million
with loan charge-offs of 0.27%. As Michael A. Stegman (2007: 183) concluded, this
experience “shows that large institutions can market more affordable payday loan products
to high-risk customers at interest rates that are a small fraction of prevailing payday loan
rates.” Credit unions around the country offer similar loans, generally with the proviso that
borrowers also build a “rainy-day” fund with the credit provider.

Federal banking regulators could encourage larger financial institutions to offer similar
services by giving credit to those lenders in their Community Reinvestment Act (CRA)
examinations and evaluations. Under the CRA, federally regulated depository institutions

Volume 10 � Issue 2 457



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

are required to ascertain and respond to the credit needs of their entire service areas,
including low- and moderate-income communities. Regulators take lenders’ CRA records
into account when considering applications for mergers, acquisitions, and other changes
in bank lending practices (Immergluck, 2004). Providing CRA credit for offering small
consumer loans on equitable terms would encourage more large institutions to do so.

State and local governments could enact zoning laws that limit the number of new
payday lenders. Today 81 cities, 5 counties, and 19 states have enacted local ordinances
limiting the location and density of alternative financial institutions like payday lenders,
check cashers, and pawn shops. For example, in 2008, St. Louis passed an ordinance
prohibiting check cashers and short-term loan operators from opening within 1 mile of an
existing store and within 500 feet of a residence, elementary school, or secondary school
(Standaert, 2009: 432). Similar rules could be targeted explicitly to payday lenders. Such
zoning laws could reduce the extent to which neighborhoods become stigmatized as a result
of the concentration of fringe banking institutions.

A more direct approach would be to establish a suitability standard prohibiting payday
lenders from providing multiple loans to borrowers or from offering loan terms that are
designed to entrap borrowers in a cycle of debt. Current FDIC guidelines that prohibit regu-
lated banks working with third parties (like payday lenders) from issuing loans to borrowers
with recent outstanding payday loan debts could be extended to cover all payday lenders.

Another immediate concern is the safety of those in neighborhoods where payday
lenders are concentrated. Local law enforcement authorities should assess levels of criminal
activity carefully in those areas and consider providing additional service at appropriate
times. Not only would employees and customers of payday lenders benefit, but residents
of the surrounding neighborhoods likely would enjoy safer streets as well. In turn,
this change might attract other businesses and more residents to the area, stimulating
broader economic and community development in many currently distressed areas.
In essence, by reducing the social disorganization of such neighborhoods, a virtuous
cycle could be launched that might bring lower crime rates and several associated
benefits.

Research Implications
A growing body of research has been developing on the business operations of payday lenders,
their customer base, and the linkages to other financial services. Not so widely researched are
the potential neighborhood costs associated with such institutions. As detailed in this study,
a spike in neighborhood crime rates is one probable cost, but other related costs also might
be associated. Most problematic, perhaps, might be a depressing impact on local property
values because crime has been shown to be associated with declining property values (Bowes
and Ihlanfeldt, 2001; Gibbons, 2004; Thaler, 1978). If a concentration of payday lenders re-
duced property values (and it is difficult to imagine it would increase values), then this effect
would reduce the equity and wealth of property owners. In turn, property tax revenues would

458 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

decline and thereby require either a reduction in critical public services (e.g. schools, police,
and fire protection) or an increase in taxes for local residents and businesses. It would be
informative to know whether payday lenders have such an impact and, if so, to quantify that
impact.

It also stands to reason that, in communities with significant concentrations of payday
lenders, capital loss in the form of the so-called multiplier leakage might occur. In this
scenario, capital crucial to local economic development efforts, or for simple circulation
within the local economy, is siphoned off by payday lenders, most of which are owned
by interests far removed from local branch operations. Compounding this, of course, is
the fact that payday lenders are most prevalent in neighborhoods that already suffer from
various types of disinvestment. Estimating the flight of capital from such communities
because of the activity of payday lenders would provide valuable information for planners
and regulators as well as for the research community.

Limitations of our study suggest several additional directions for future research. An
obvious extension would be case studies of additional cities. We suspect that our findings
are not unique to Seattle but that variations might be associated with the size, demography,
regional location, industrial structure, and other city characteristics that affect the linkage
between payday lending and crime. Unfortunately, uneven crime data and even poorer data
on payday lenders constitute a key challenge.

How the payday lending–neighborhood crime link varies over time is also unknown.
Payday lenders suddenly appeared on the map of virtually all major cities within the past
20 years. Depending on the trajectory of various political initiatives, their numbers could
continue to grow or decline with equal speed. In the current study, we offer a snapshot.
Longitudinal or pooled time-series work would offer the opportunity to flesh out this
connection better. Moreover, relative to the limitations of the current analysis, such data
likely would provide a better means of investigating the potential for reciprocal relationships
between payday lenders and crime.

A final suggestion for future research involves expanding our model of neighborhood
crime rates to include other potentially salient local institutions. Indeed, because of data
limitations, we did not include measures of bars or recreational facilities, which previously
have been linked to community crime rates. Although we believe incorporating such
measures would not change the pattern of results, it is important for future research to
account for the scope and diversity of local institutions when assessing the predictors of
neighborhood crime rates.

A Final Word
Access to a wide range of financial services on fair and equitable terms has become a major
public policy issue as well as the topic of much social science research in recent years. Payday
lenders constitute part of the growing web of fringe bankers that have been concentrated
in low-income and disproportionately minority communities, although they have begun to

Volume 10 � Issue 2 459



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

expand into working- and middle-class communities as well. The cost of these services to
individual borrowers and families has been evident for a long time, often quantified with
some precision. Although not understood with the same level of specificity, the broader
neighborhood costs are becoming recognized as facts of life in the nation’s metropolitan
regions. The link between payday lending and neighborhood crime, in fact, should come
as no surprise. How we choose to respond to that connection, if we choose to respond at
all, remains to be determined.

References
Agnew, Robert A. 1992. Foundation for a general strain theory of crime and delinquency.

Criminology, 30: 47–88.

American Banker. 2007, January 8. Making a case to the Pentagon: Five trade groups prep
military lending input.

Anselin, Luc, Jacqueline Cohen, David Cook, Wilpen Gorr, and George Tita. 2000.
Spatial analyses of crime. In (David Duffee, ed.), Criminal Justice 2000, vol. 4,
Measurement and Analysis of Crime and Justice. Washington, DC: National Institute of
Justice.

Baum, Christopher F. 2006. An Introduction to Modern Econometrics Using Stata. Stata Press.

Bound, John, David A. Jaeger, and Regina M. Baker. 1995. Problems with instru-
mental variables estimation when the correlation between the instruments and the
endogenous explanatory variable is weak. Journal of the American Statistical Association,
90: 443–450.

Bowes, David R. and Keith R. Ihlanfeldt. 2001. Identifying the effects of rail transit stations
on residential property values. Journal of Urban Economics, 50: 1–25.

Caskey, John. 1994. Fringe Banking: Check-Cashing Outlets, Pawnshops, and the Poor. New
York: Russell Sage Foundation.

Center for Responsible Lending. 2010. Mainstream Banks Making Payday Loans: Regulators
Must Put Swift End to New Trend . Durham, NC: Author.

Cohen, Lawrence E. and Marcus Felson. 1979. Social change and crime rate trends: A
routine activities approach. American Sociological Review, 44: 588–608.

Consumer Federation of America. 2007, June 20. Comments To the Federal Trade Commission
Regarding the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, Collecting Consumer Debts: The
Challenges of Change. Washington, DC: Author.

Consumer Federation of America. 2008, December 10. PayDay Loan Consumer Information:
Legal Status. Retrieved from usmilitary.about.com/od/millegislation/a/paydayloans.
htm?p=1.

Crutchfield, Robert D. 1989. Labor stratification and violent crime. Social Forces, 68:
489–512.

Crutchfield, Robert D., Ross L. Matsueda, and Kevin Drakulich. 2006. Race, labor markets,
and neighborhood violence. In (Ruth D. Peterson, Lauren J. Krivo, and John Hagan,
eds.), The Many Colors of Crime. New York: New York University Press.

460 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

Fellowes, Matt. 2006. From Poverty, Opportunity: Putting the Market to Work for Lower
Income Families. Washington, DC: The Brookings Institution, Metropolitan Policy
Program.

Fellowes, Matt and Mia Mabanta. 2008. Banking on Wealth: America’s New Retail Banking In-
frastructure and Its Wealth-Building Potential . Washington, DC: Brookings Institution.
Retrieved May 13, 2010 from brookings.edu/reports/2008/01 banking fellowes.aspx.

Fox, Jean Ann. 2007, March 21. Testimony of Jean Ann Fox on Behalf of Consumer Federation,
Consumers Union, National Consumer Law Center (on Behalf of Its Low Income Clients)
Before the Subcommittee on Domestic Policy of the House Committee on Oversight and
Domestic Reform. Hearing on Foreclosure, Predatory Lending and Payday Lending in
America’s Cities.

Gibbons, Steve. 2004. The costs of urban property crime. The Economic Journal , 114:
F441–F463.

Graves, Steven M. 2003. Landscapes of predation, landscapes of neglect: A location analysis
of payday lenders and banks. Professional Geographer, 55: 303–317.

Graves, Steven M. and Christopher Peterson. 2005. Predatory lending and the military: The
law and geography of “payday” loans in military towns. The Ohio State Law Journal ,
66: 653–832.

Graves, Steven M. and Christopher Peterson. 2008. Usury law and the Christian right:
Faith-based political power and the geography of American payday loan regulation.
Catholic University Law Review, 57: 637–700.

Hudson, Michael. 1996. Merchants of Misery: How Corporate America Profits from Poverty.
Monroe, ME: Common Courage Press.

Immergluck, Dan. 2004. Credit to the Community: Community Reinvestment and Fair
Lending Policy in the United States. Armonk, NY: M.E. Sharpe.

Karger, Howard. 2005. Shortchanges: Life and Debt in the Fringe Economy. San Francisco,
CA: Berrett-Koehler.

King, Uriah, Wei Li, Delvin Davis, and Keith Ernst. 2005. Race Matters: The Concentration
of Payday Lenders in African-American Neighborhoods in North Carolina. Durham, NC:
Center for Responsible Lending.

King, Uriah and Leslie Parrish. 2007. Springing the Debt Trap: Rate Caps Are Only Proven
Payday Lending Reform. Durham, NC: Center for Responsible Lending.

King, Uriah, Leslie Parrish, and Ozlem Tanik. 2006. Financial Quicksand: Payday Lending
Sinks Borrowers in Debt with $4.2 Billion in Predatory Fees Every Year. Durham, NC:
Center for Responsible Lending.

Kornhauser, Ruth D. 1978. Social Sources of Delinquency: An Appraisal of Analytic Models.
Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Krivo, Lauren J. and Ruth D. Peterson. 1996. Extremely disadvantaged neighborhoods and
urban crime. Social Forces, 75: 619–650.

Kubrin, Charis E. 2000. Racial heterogeneity and crime: Measuring static and dynamic
effects. Research in Community Sociology, 10: 189–218.

Volume 10 � Issue 2 461



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

Kubrin, Charis E. and Ronald Weitzer. 2003. New directions in social disorganization
theory. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 40: 139–170.

Lawrence, Edward C. and Gregory Elliehausen. 2008. A comparative analysis of payday
loan customers. Contemporary Economic Policy, 26: 299–316.

Li, Wei, Leslie Parrish, Keith Ernst, and Delvin Davis. 2009. Predatory Profiling: The Role
of Race and Ethnicity in the Location of Payday Lenders in California. Durham, NC:
Center for Responsible Lending.

Logan, Amanda and Christian E. Weller. 2009. Who Borrows From Payday Lenders?
Washington, DC: Center for American Progress.

Lynch, James P. and William J. Sabol. 2001. Prisoner reentry in perspective. In Crime Policy
Report, Vol. 3. Washington, DC: Urban Institute Justice Policy Center.

Matsueda, Ross L., Kevin Drakulich, and Charis E. Kubrin. 2006. Race and neighborhood
codes of the street. In (Ruth D. Peterson, Lauren J. Krivo, and John Hagan, eds.), The
Many Colors of Crime: Inequalities of Race, Ethnicity, and Crime in America. New York:
New York University Press.

Melzer, Brian T. 2007. The Real Costs of Credit Access: Evidence from the Payday Lending
Market. Unpublished paper.

Messner, Steven F., Luc Anselin, Robert D. Baller, Darnell F. Hawkins, Glenn Deane,
and Stewart E. Tolnay. 2001. The spatial patterning of county homicide rates: An
application of exploratory spatial data analysis. Journal of Quantitative Criminology,
15: 423–450.

Miethe, Terance D. and David McDowall. 1993. Contextual effects in models of criminal
victimization. Social Forces, 71: 741–759.

Morenoff, Jeffrey D., Robert J. Sampson, Stephen W. Raudenbush. 2001. Neighborhood
inequality, collective efficacy, and the spatial dynamics of homicide. Criminology, 39:
517–560.

Oron, Assaf. 2006. March. Easy prey: Evidence for race and military related targeting in
the distribution of pay-day loan branches in Washington state. Consulting report for
the Seattle Post-Intelligencer.

Parker, Robert N. 1995. Bringing “booze” back in: The relationship between alcohol and
homicide. Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, 32: 3–38.

Parker, Robert N. and Emily K. Asencio. 2009. GIS and Spatial Analysis for the Social
Sciences: Coding, Mapping, and Modeling . New York: Routledge.

Parrish, Leslie and Uriah King. 2009. Phantom Demand . Durham, NC: Center for
Responsible Lending.

Peterson, Ruth D. and Lauren J. Krivo. 2006. The National Neighborhood Crime Study.
Columbus, OH: Ohio State University, Criminal Justice Research Center.

Peterson, Ruth D., Lauren J. Krivo, and Mark A. Harris. 2000. Disadvantage and
neighborhood violent crime: Do local institutions matter? Journal of Research in Crime
and Delinquency, 37: 31–63.

Powers, Rod. 2006, October 28. Payday Loans, Retrieved from usmilitary.about.com/od/
millegislation/a/paydayloans.htm?p=1. Last accessed on January 10, 2011.

462 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

Roncek, Dennis W. and Pamela A. Maier. 1991. Bars, blocks, and crimes revisited: Linking
the theory of routine activities to the empiricism of “hot spots.” Criminology, 29:
725–753.

Rose, Dina R. and Todd R. Clear. 1998. Incarceration, social capital, and crime: Implications
for social disorganization theory. Criminology, 36: 441–479.

Rountree, Pamela Wilcox, Kenneth C. Land, and Terance D. Miethe. 1994. Macro-micro
integration in the study of victimization: A hierarchical logistic model analysis across
Seattle neighborhoods. Criminology, 32: 387–414.

Sampson, Robert J. and Stephen W. Raudenbush. 1999. Systematic social observation of
public spaces: A new look at disorder in urban neighborhoods. American Journal of
Sociology, 105: 603–651.

Skogan, Wesley G. 1992. Disorder and Decline: Crime and the Spiral of Decay in American
Neighborhoods. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Staiger, Douglas and James H. Stock. 1997. Instrumental variables regression with weak
instruments. Econometrica, 65: 557–586.

Standaert, Diane. 2009. The impact of fringe financial services on communities and
consumers. In (Roger A. Clay, Jr. and Susan R. Jones, eds.), Building Healthy
Communities: A Guide to Community Economic Development for Advocates, Lawyers,
and Policymakers. Chicago, IL: American Bar Association.

Stegman, Michael A. 2007. Payday lending. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 21: 169–
190.

Taylor, Ralph B. 2001. Breaking Away from Broken Windows. Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

Temkin, Kenneth and Noah Sawyer. 2004. Analysis of Alternative Financial Service Providers.
Washington, DC: Urban Institute.

Thaler, Richard H. 1978. A note on the value of crime control: Evidence from the property
market. Journal of Urban Economics, 5: 137–145.

Visher, Christy A., Vera Kachnowski, Nancy LaVigne, and Jeremy Travis. 2004. Baltimore
Prisoners’ Experiences Returning Home. Washington, DC: Urban Institute.

Warner, Barbara D. and Pamela Wilcox Rountree. 1997. Local social ties in a community
and crime model: Questioning the systemic nature of informal social control. Social
Problems, 44: 520–536.

Washington, Ebonya. 2006. The impact of banking and fringe banking regulation on
the number of unbanked Americans. The Journal of Human Resources, 41: 106–
137.

Wilson, James Q. and George Kelling. 1982. Broken windows. Atlantic Monthly, 211:
29–38.

Wooldridge, Jeffrey M. 2002. Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data.
Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Volume 10 � Issue 2 463



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

Charis E. Kubrin is an associate professor of sociology at George Washington University
and a research affiliate at the George Washington Institute of Public Policy. Her research
focuses on neighborhood correlates of crime, with an emphasis on race and violent crime.
Charis is coeditor of Crime and Society: Crime, 3rd Edition (Sage, 2007) as well as coauthor of
Researching Theories of Crime and Deviance (Oxford University Press, 2008) and Privileged
Places: Race, Residence, and the Structure of Opportunity (Lynne Rienner, 2006). Her work
has been published in various academic journals, including American Journal of Sociology,
City and Community, Criminology, Criminology & Public Policy, Homicide Studies, Journal
of Quantitative Criminology, Journal of Research in Crime and Delinquency, Justice Quarterly,
Men and Masculinities, Social Forces, Social Problems, Social Science Quarterly, Sociological
Perspectives, Sociological Quarterly, and Urban Studies. In 2005, Charis received the American
Society of Criminology’s Ruth Shonle Cavan Young Scholar Award.

GregoryD. Squires is a professor of sociology and public policy and public administration
at George Washington University. His research has focused on racial inequality and uneven
metropolitan development with a focus on the role of financial institutions in shaping the
opportunity structure in the nation’s metropolitan regions. Recent publications include
Privileged Places: Race, Residence, and the Structure of Opportunity (Lynne Rienner, 2006)
and The Integration Debates: Competing Futures for American Cities (Routledge, 2010). He
currently serves on the Social Science Advisory Board of the Poverty & Race Research
Action Council, the Board of the Woodstock Institute, and the Advisory Board of the Fair
Housing Legal Support Center at John Marshall Law School.

StevenM.Graves teaches a wide range of geography courses at California State University,
Northridge. His primary research interests are in cultural and economic geography, but he
also has ongoing research projects involving access to healthy foods, popular culture, and
the vernacular built environment. Recent publications include a variety of studies on the site
location strategies of predatory lenders as well as the origin and spatial history of hip-hop
music.

Graham C. Ousey is the Arts and Sciences Distinguished Professor of Sociology at the
College of William and Mary. His current research focuses on testing theories of the social
ecology of violence, the links between criminal offending and victimization, and factors
associated with cross-national variation in punitive attitudes. His previous research appears
in numerous outlets, including Criminology, Social Problems, Journal of Research in Crime and
Delinquency, Journal of Quantitative Criminology, Justice Quarterly, Journal of Interpersonal
Violence, Homicide Studies, Violence & Victims, The Sociological Quarterly, and Social Forces.

464 Criminology & Public Policy



Kubrin, Squires , Graves, and Ousey

A P P E N D I X A

Payday Lenders, FDIC Banks, and Violent Crime Rates in Seattle, Washington

Volume 10 � Issue 2 465



Research Art ic le Invest igat ing The Social Ecology of Payday Lending

A P P E N D I X B

First-StageModel of Payday Lenders (ln)

Excluded Instrument Coefficient Standard Error

FDIC banks per 1,000 (ln) .262∗∗∗ .046
Controls
Neighborhood disadvantage −.015 .021
Young male rate (ln) .069 .038
Residential instability index .014 .023
Female-headed households .002 .004
Central business district −.043 .059
Population size −.000008 −.000007

Summary results for first-stage regression
Partial R2 of excluded instrument .234
F test of excluded instrument (1,108 degrees of freedom) 33.00∗
Anderson canon. corr. underid. test 27.15∗

∗∗∗p< .001.

466 Criminology & Public Policy



 

    
 

 

 

City Council 
 STAFF REPORT 

 
 

   
TO:    Mayor Shepherd, City Council, and Executive Staff 
 
FROM:  Spencer W. Brimley 
   Development Services Manager 
   Spencer.Brimley@clearfieldcity.org (801) 525-2785 
 
MEETING DATE: February 23, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  Discussion and Possible Action on:  
 

FSP 1511-0006 a request by Anita White, for a Final Subdivision Plat 
approval located at 591 S. State Street (TIN: 12-003-0037). The property 
is approximately 0.658 acres and lies in the C-2 (Commercial) zoning 
district. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Move to approve as conditioned, FSP 1511-0006: A request by Anita White, for a Final 
Subdivision Plat approval located at 591 S. State Street (TIN: 12-003-0037), based on the 
discussion and findings in the Staff Report 
 
PROJECT SUMMARY 

 

 
 

Project Information 
Project Name White Subdivisions 
Site Location 591 S State Street 
Tax ID Number 12-003-0037 
Applicant  Anita White 
Owner Anita White 
Proposed Actions Two lot commercial subdivision 
Current Zoning C-2 (Commercial) 
Land Use Classification Commercial 
Site Acreage 0.658 acres 

Surrounding Properties and Uses: Current Zoning District Comprehensive Plan  
Land Use Classification 

North Westbridge Auto LLC C-2 (Commercial) Commercial 

East Residential R-1-8 & R-3 (Residential) Residential 

mailto:Spencer.Brimley@clearfieldcity.org


PSP, FSP 1511-0006 Anita White Subdivision Plat 
23 FEB 2016 CC Meeting 

 - 2 of 4 - 

 

 
 

 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Planning Commission Recommendation 
The Planning Commission, at their meeting on Wednesday, February 3, 2016 approved the 
preliminary subdivision plat and recommended approval of the final subdivision plat for FSP 
1511-0006, a request by Anita White, for a Final Subdivision Plat approval located at 591 S. 
State Street (TIN: 12-003-0037). The property is approximately 0.658 acres and lies in the C-2 
(Commercial) zoning district. 
 
Background 
Anita White submitted a request for a two lot subdivision located at 591 S. State Street, (TIN: 
12-003-0037).  The parcel currently has two uses on the property with three buildings. There is 
a commercial building located on the southern portion of the property closes to State Street and 
the northern portion of the property is occupied with Ms. White’s home and garage.   

South     Kent’s Market/Residential C-2 (Commercial)/R-3 
(commercial) Mixed Use 

West Kent’s Market C-2 (Commercial) Mixed Use 

Vicinity and Zoning Map 

SITE 



PSP, FSP 1511-0006 Anita White Subdivision Plat 
23 FEB 2016 CC Meeting 

 - 3 of 4 - 

The plat and property were established, according to Davis County records, in 1981. The 
property is a legal lot of record, but requires subdivision approval in order to allow it to be 
divided into two separate parcels. Staff has spoken with the Clearfield City utilities and they 
have provided confirmation that there is only one connection for this property.  The 
owner/applicant is required to obtain a separate connection for each lot included in the 
subdivision proposal.  Due to the simplistic nature of the plat, the Preliminary Subdivision Plat 
and Final Subdivision Plat are identical.  
 
There is no sidewalk along the eastern boundary of the property (500 E).  The sidewalk has 
been installed on the property to the north and continues into the residential area.  Staff has 
considered these and other improvements and is recommending the applicant sign an 
agreement to defer these improvements.  Since the property is not experiencing new 
development with this proposal, staff considers it appropriate to require the improvements, at 
such time that the property is redeveloped. 
 
Typical subdivision requirements would mandate the installation of public improvements as well 
as any necessary infrastructure improvements to provide for sounds and safe development.  
Since there is no proposal to develop, only to subdivide the subject property, staff is 
recommending the property execute an agreement to defer improvements in this instance.  Staff 
is supportive of the property owner signing an improvement agreement to defer the installation 
of improvements at a future date.  The request to subdivide does not increase impacts to 
drainage, but rather organizes the property into two separate lots.  Public Works and 
Engineering have done an initial review of the property and will complete final technical review 
following a decision by the City Council. 
 
Comprehensive Plan and Zoning  
The future land use map shows the parcels are master planned commercial.  The zoning is C-2 
(Commercial). There is no documentation or adopted Ordinance that indicates the property has 
ever been rezoned to any other designation.   
 
Regardless of its zoning, however, the property may be subdivided with its existing zoning, 
subject to meeting the commercial standards. The proposal meets the minimum C-2 zoning 
standards.  The purposes for which this property is being reviewed as a subdivision does not 
require a rezone approval since the applicant is subdividing in order to participate in a financial 
strategy to keep and maintain her home.  The residential and commercial building will remain on 
their respective lots, if the subdivision is approved.   
   
Subdivision Plat Approval 
The City Engineer has reviewed the plat, and is anticipating improvement drawings detailing 
sidewalk, curb, and gutter improvements along 500 E, along with estimate for said 
improvements. Planning has performed a review of the plat, and has determined that the lots 
contain the necessary square footage and meet all requirements listed in the C-2 Zone.  
 
Public Comment 
No public comment has been received to date. 
 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

 
1) The applicant shall correct the Plat to include all red-lines from Planning, Engineering, 

and Public Works Departments, including but not limited to necessary easements, 
addresses, and other call-outs as required.  



PSP, FSP 1511-0006 Anita White Subdivision Plat 
23 FEB 2016 CC Meeting 

 - 4 of 4 - 

 
2) Applicant shall provide proof of separate wet and dry utility connections for each lot in 

the proposed subdivision. 
 

3) Pursuant to the Subdivision Ordinance 12-4-5, an estimate of public improvements (as 
outlined in 12-4-6), shall be submitted, reviewed and approved by the City Engineer 
prior to obtaining building permits.  

 
4) An Escrow agreement will be subject to approval by the City Engineer and City 

Attorney and an escrow account shall be established prior to recordation of the Final 
Plat, or a signed and executed Improvement Agreement for all required improvements 
including, detention areas, calculations and installation of sidewalk, curb, and gutter 
improvements that shall be required at the time new construction is proposed for 
either lot. 

 
5) The applicant shall provide proof of having obtained and of having maintained, as may 

be periodically requested by the City, all applicable local, state, and federal permits.  
 

ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. White Final Subdivision Plat 





CLEARFIELD CITY ORDINANCE 2016-02 

 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE 11 OF THE CLEARFIELD CITY CODE 

PERTAINING TO PAWN SHOPS 

 

PREAMBLE:  This Ordinance amends Title 11, Chapter 13 of the Clearfield City Code  

     addressing pawn shops.       

  

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CLEARFIELD CITY COUNCIL: 

 

Section 1. Enactment:   
 

Title 11, Chapter 13 of the Clearfield City Code is hereby amended by adding Section 35 to read 

as follows: 
 

11-13-35: PAWN SHOP AND SECONDHAND BUSINESSES 

A. Pawn and Secondhand Businesses: 

1. No pawn or secondhand business shall be located within one mile (5,280 feet) of 

any other pawn or secondhand business. The distance shall be measured in a 

straight line between the closest property lines of the lots upon which they are 

located. 

2. A pawn or secondhand business shall not be located within eight hundred eighty 

feet (880') from any non-depository lending establishment. 

 

 

Section 2. Repealer:  Any provision or ordinances that are in conflict with this ordinance are 

hereby repealed. 

 

Section 3. Effective Date:  These amendments shall become effective immediately upon 

passage and posted as prescribed by law. 

 

 

Passed and adopted by the Clearfield City Council this 23
rd

 day of February, 2016. 

 

      CLEARFIELD CITY CORPORATION 

 

 

      ________________________________ 

      Mark R. Shepherd, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________ 

Nancy R. Dean, City Recorder 



2 

 

 

 

VOTE OF THE COUNCIL 

 

 AYE:  

 

 NAY:   



1 

Staff Report 
To: Mayor Shepherd and City Council Members 

From: JJ Allen, Assistant City Manager 

Date: February 17, 2016 

Re: 4th of July Entertainment Contract 

I. RECOMMENDED ACTION 

Approve the performance contract with Alex Boyé for the 2016 4th of July celebration, 
and authorize the Mayor’s signature to any necessary documents. 

II. DESCRIPTION / BACKGROUND 

Clearfield’s 4th of July celebration is an annual highlight for the community.  Over the 
years, we’ve enjoyed some great concerts, and for 2016 we’re excited to bring in Alex 
Boyé.  With his “Africanized” pop music, Alex is a rising YouTube star.  He competed in 
Season 10 of America’s Got Talent, and also sang for several years with the Mormon 
Tabernacle Choir.  Under the proposed performance contract, Alex will perform for 
nearly two hours, leading up to the fireworks show. 

The City Attorney has reviewed the performance contract and revised it to address the 
concerns of the City. 

III. FISCAL IMPACT 

The fee for the performance is $25,000 and will require an amendment to the FY16 
budget.  The hope is to receive donations sufficient to offset a large portion of this 
expense.  Those fundraising efforts are underway, but their success cannot be 
guaranteed. 

IV. SCHEDULE / TIME CONSTRAINTS 

Alex Boyé will not guarantee the performance date until the contract is approved and the 
initial 50% deposit is received.  Since he does have other offers for the 4th of July, it is in 
the City’s interest to get him under contract sooner than later. 

V. LIST OF ATTACHMENTS 

• Alex Boyé Performance Contract 



  
BOYE CENTRAL, LLC          CONTRACT #1002 

Page 1 of 10 
 

Alex Boye Performance Contract 
 

 

THIS PERFORMANCE CONTRACT is entered into on the date reflected on 

the signature page below, by and between CLEARFIELD CITY (hereinafter referred to 

as the “Buyer”) and BOYE CENTRAL, LLC (hereinafter referred to as “Alex Boye”) to 

provide a performance at the event known as the Clearfield City Fourth of July 

Celebration in a manner consistent with the terms and conditions as set forth below. 

WHEREAS, Buyer conducts the event known as the Clearfield City Fourth of 

July Celebration; and 

WHEREAS, Buyer desires to hire Alex Boye, as an independent contractor, to 

provide the entertainment, generally described below as the “performance” at the 

Clearfield City Fourth of July Celebration; and 

WHEREAS, Alex Boye desires to provide such performance at the Clearfield 

City Fourth of July Celebration; 

NOW THEREFORE AND IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual promises set 

forth herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby 

acknowledged, the Buyer hereby engages Alex Boye to provide a performance at the 

Clearfield City Fourth of July Celebration upon the following terms: 

1) Date of Performance: July 4, 2016 

2) Place of Performance: Fisher Park Entertainment Stage 

 

 

 

 

 



  
BOYE CENTRAL, LLC          CONTRACT #1002 

Page 2 of 10 
 

3) Buyer Name and Contact Information: 

 

Clearfield City Corporation 

55 S. State Street 

Clearfield Utah 84015 

City Contacts: Nancy Dean, City Recorder 

Office: 801.525.2714 

Email: nancy.dean@clearfieldcity.org  

 

4) On-Site Contact/Event Planner and Contact Information:  

City Contact: Marliss Scott – PR/Marketing/Special Events, 

Office: 801.525.2796 

Cell: 801.510.0115 

Email: mscott@clearfieldcity.org 

 

5) Alex Boye Contact/Authorized Agent:  

Contact:  Sasha Simmons, Authorized Agent for Alex Boye 

Telephone:  801-414-3932 

Email:   sasha4alexboye@gmail.com 

 

6) Load-in and set up time: 

A) Buyer will make available and provide access to the performance stage and set 

up area for Alex Boye beginning at 3:00 p.m. on that date of the performance for 

the purpose of load-in and set up. 

B) Buyer will arrange for load-in to occur at the closest doorway or point of 

access to the performance area and will allow up to five (5) vehicles to be 

permitted to remain parked within the loading area.    

C) Alex Boye acknowledges and affirms that the Buyer’s making of the stage area 

available for load-in and set up at 3:00 p.m. on the date of the performance is 

acceptable and will afford Alex Boye the time necessary to load-in and set up.  

mailto:nancy.dean@clearfieldcity.org
mailto:mscott@clearfieldcity.org
mailto:sasha4alexboye@gmail.com


  
BOYE CENTRAL, LLC          CONTRACT #1002 

Page 3 of 10 
 

7) Sound check must be completed by: Buyer will make available and provide access to 

and support related to sound check equipment for Alex Boye at 3:00 p.m. on the date of 

the performance.   Alex Boye agrees to begin the sound check and will complete all 

necessary sound checks by 5:30 p.m. on that date of the performance.   

8) Time of Performance: Alex Boye acknowledges and affirms that the anticipated start 

time for the performance is 8:00 p.m., with an estimated end time of 9:55 p.m.   Both 

Buyer and Alex Boye recognize that slight variations in the start and end time are likely 

to occur, and that both parties acknowledge and affirm that a total time of performance 

will be as close as reasonably possible to one hour and fifty-five minutes. 

9) Performance Fee: $25,000.00 

A) Buyer acknowledges and affirms that a non-refundable deposit of $12,500.00 

must be sent immediately, which shall be defined as within 24 hours of execution 

of this Agreement, to hold the date of July 4, 2106. 

B) Buyer acknowledges and affirms that Buyer will send the non-refundable 

deposit described above by certified mail to ensure tracking capability. 

C) Buyer acknowledges and affirms that the balance of $12,500.00 is due 15 days 

prior to date of performance.  

D) Alex Boye provides Buyer with the following information relative to ensuring 

payment of Performance fee: 

i. Buyer will make all checks payable to:  

Boye Central, LLC 

1876 Arborfield Circle, Sandy, Utah 84092 

 

ii. Wire transfer information: 

America First Credit Union 

Routing Number: 324377516 

Account Number: 7750847 



  
BOYE CENTRAL, LLC          CONTRACT #1002 

Page 4 of 10 
 

10) Breaks: Neither the Buyer or Alex Boye anticipate a break in the performance, with 

the exception of industry standard breaks within the set list of songs. 

11) Hospitality: Buyer shall provide: 

A) Water: (12) 12-ounce water bottles placed ON STAGE for exclusive use of 

Alex Boye during set up and performance. 

B) Green Room: The City will provide a private room within the Clearfield 

Aquatic & Fitness Center located approximately 300 yards northwest from the 

back of the stage. 

C) Dinner/Food:  Buyer will make available a 6:00 p.m. reservation for Alex 

Boye and four (4) additional guests at a private V.I.P. dinner table that is 

anticipated to include selected military officers and distinguished guests. 

In lieu of joining the selected military officers and distinguished guests at 6:00 

p.m. at the V.I.P. dinner table, and with notice provided to Marliss Scott at the 

cell phone number provide in paragraph 4 above by 5:00 p.m. on the date of the 

performance, Buyer will deliver hot meals on the evening of the performance for 

five (5) adults, suitable for the venue, served one hour prior to Alex Boye taking 

the stage.  

D) Parking: Buyer will provide a single reserved parking stall for Mr. Boye. 

12) Technical Requirements: 

A) Alex Boye shall provide:  

1) All instruments and backline necessary for the performance.  

 



  
BOYE CENTRAL, LLC          CONTRACT #1002 

Page 5 of 10 
 

B) Buyer shall provide: 

1) Power: (10) 20 amp circuits, near stage, for exclusive use of Alex Boye, 

at no charge to Alex Boye.  

2) Stage: A 16 x 24 stage (or larger) at least 2 feet tall. Stage must be 

locked down and sturdy, and seams must be covered with gaff tape.  

3) A floor plan of the performance area showing stage location and room 

setup. Ceiling height and square footage must be listed, and power source 

locations identified.  

4) Buyer acknowledges and affirms that Buyer will provide an LED Video 

Screen measuring at least eight (8) feet by fifteen (15) feet in size. 

13) Hotel: Alex Boye acknowledges and affirms that Buyer will not pay for any related 

hotel expenses. 

14) Travel Expenses: Alex Boye acknowledges and affirms that Buyer will not pay for 

any related travel expenses. 

15) Venue, Performance, and Music Licensing: 

A) Buyer acknowledges and affirms that Buyer has or will have obtained all 

necessary performance licenses necessary for this performance, and hereby agrees 

to indemnify and hold harmless BOYE CENTRAL LLC and Alex Boye, against 

all liability, loss, damages, claims, and expenses (including attorney’s fees) 

arising out of any claim based on Buyer’s obligation to obtain all necessary 

performance licenses for this performance.  

B) Alex Boye represents and warrants that he is knowledgeable about the 

copyright laws of the United States as applicable to the Performance, and that 

Alex Boye shall not perform any copyrighted materials of others during 



  
BOYE CENTRAL, LLC          CONTRACT #1002 

Page 6 of 10 
 

Performance without full compliance with such applicable copyright laws. In the 

event that Alex Boye breaches this representation, warranty and covenant, Alex 

Boye hereby agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Buyer and its employees, 

guests and agents from and against all liability, loss, damages, claims, and 

expenses (including attorney's fees) arising out of such breach. 

16) Special Songs and Set List: Buyer acknowledges and affirms that because the Alex 

Boye custom arrangements and medleys are unique, crowd-tested, and are part of the 

Alex Boye show experience, Alex Boye reserves the right to select the set list from his 

large repertoire.  

17) Cancellation:  

A) Buyer acknowledges and affirms that the deposit is non-refundable, as more 

fully set forth above, in paragraph 9.   

B) Buyer acknowledges and affirms that if Buyer cancels the performance for any 

reason not included in paragraph 18 below, Buyer shall pay Alex Boye any 

remaining amount owing in the total performance fee of $25,000.00 described in 

paragraph 9 above by the performance date as complete and total liquidated 

damages. 

C) Alex Boye acknowledges and affirms that if Alex Boye cancels the 

performance for any reason not included in paragraph 18 below, Alex Boye will 

immediately notify the City representative listed in paragraph 3 above, and return 

all money received from Buyer within 10 days of Alex Boye’s notice of 

cancellation.  

18) Force Majeure: Either party shall be excused for non-performance due to accidents, 

riots, strikes, epidemics, terrorism, acts of God, or any other large-scale, legitimate 

condition beyond the control of the affected party or that places either Buyer or Alex 

Boye at risk of injury. Alex Boye and Buyer agree to renegotiate this contract to their 



  
BOYE CENTRAL, LLC          CONTRACT #1002 

Page 7 of 10 
 

mutual satisfaction in the event that force majeure conditions prevent the performance on 

the original dates.  

19) Weather: This is a rain or shine performance.  Except as for provided in paragraph 

18, Alex Boye affirms that he will perform regardless of the weather conditions. 

20) Pyrotechnic or pyrotechnic devices: Pyrotechnic or pyrotechnic devices of any kind 

are strictly prohibited by the City.  Use of any such devices during the performance shall 

be deemed a material breach of this Agreement and is grounds for nonpayment pursuant 

to this Agreement.  

21) Insurance: Buyer warrants and represents that they have, or shall obtain, sufficient 

personal injury and property damage liability insurance with respect to Buyer’s liabilities 

that may arise from the Clearfield City Fourth of July Celebration.  

22) Indemnification:  

A) Notwithstanding the availability and policy limits of any insurance, Alex 

Boye shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the City and its elected officials, 

officers, agents, representatives and employees ("City’s Indemnified Parties") 

against any claims made or legal actions brought against any City’s Indemnified 

Party(ies) by any person or entity as a result of injuries, damages, expenses and 

losses actually or allegedly incurred by such a person or entity ("Liabilities") 

arising out of or relating to Alex Boye’s performance or failure to perform 

pursuant to this Agreement, except where the Liabilities are the result of the 

Indemnified Party’s own direct and sole negligence.  Alex Boye’s obligation shall 

include the cost of the City’s Indemnified Party(ies)' defense against such claims 

or actions.  This obligation shall survive the termination, completion or expiration 

of this Agreement. 

 



  
BOYE CENTRAL, LLC          CONTRACT #1002 

Page 8 of 10 
 

B) The City shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Alex Boye, his 

representatives, agents or employees ("Alex Boye’s Indemnified Parties") against 

any claims made or legal actions brought against any Indemnified Party(ies) by 

any person or entity as a result of injuries, damages, expenses and losses actually 

or allegedly incurred by such a person or entity ("Liabilities") arising out of or 

relating to the City’s performance or failure to perform pursuant to this 

Agreement, except where the Liabilities are the result of the Alex Boye’s 

Indemnified Party’s own direct and sole negligence.  The City’s obligation shall 

include the cost of Alex Boye’s Indemnified Party(ies)' defense against such 

claims or actions.  This obligation shall survive the termination, completion or 

expiration of this Agreement. 

21) Attorney Fees: If any disputes arise with regards to this event, Alex Boye shall be 

reimbursed for attorney fees if they are the prevailing party in any legal action that Alex 

Boye deem necessary.  

22) Taxes: Alex Boye is engaged as an independent partnership and shall assume and 

pay, and hold Buyer harmless therefrom, any and all anticipated taxes, including, but not 

limited to, Utah income tax withholding, FICA withholding, workers compensation 

withholding and federal and state unemployment insurance, and will comply with all 

reporting requirements in connection therewith.  

23) Merchandising: Alex Boye shall, during the day of the performance, be allowed to 

sell any goods, products, and merchandise within Fisher Park.  Alex Boye will retain 

100% of all gross sales of any goods, products, and merchandise sold. 

 

 

 



  
BOYE CENTRAL, LLC          CONTRACT #1002 

Page 9 of 10 
 

24) Promotion: 

A) Buyer and Alex Boye agree that promotion of the performance is in the best 

interest of both parties.  

B) Buyer and Alex Boye shall be entitled to advertise and promote the appearance 

of Alex Boye and the Performance.   

C) Buyer and Alex Boye agree to provide, within reason, marketing support 

materials, logos, brand images, videos, and sound bites to each other upon 

request. 

D) Buyer and Alex Boye acknowledge that each party will rely on the terms 

hereof in all such promotions, advertising, and the release of information 

containing the names, dates and time of the Clearfield City Fourth of July 

Celebration and the performance of Alex Boye through verbal, written print, or 

electronic means.  

E) Buyer and Alex Boye acknowledge and agree that the parties may use their 

name, photographs, likeness, logos, and any other promotional materials in all 

such promotions, advertising or other activities used to increase attendance at the 

Clearfield City Fourth of July Celebration. 

F) Notice of Promotion:  Buyer and Alex Boye agree to notify the other party to 

the best of their ability when either party uses the others name, photographs, 

likeness, or logos, in promotional materials.  Each party will be respectful of the 

wishes of the other party if a concern is expressed by either party regarding the 

use of the name, photographs, likeness, or logos of the other in any promotional 

material.  

25) General: This agreement will be governed and construed in accordance with the laws 

of the State of Utah. This agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties.  



  
BOYE CENTRAL, LLC          CONTRACT #1002 

Page 10 of 10 
 

 

 

I have read and agree to all terms as written in this Agreement, dated this ___ day of 

February, 2016.  

Buyer :       Alex Boye: 

By__________________________   By__________________________  

(signature)      (signature) 

 

     __________________________        __________________________ 

(printed name)      (printed name) 

 

     __________________________        __________________________ 

(date of signature)      (date of signature)  



CLEARFIELD CITY RESOLUTION 2016R-06 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AN INTERLOCAL COOPERATIVE 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN LAYTON CITY AND CLEARFIELD CITY 

CULINARY WATER AND STORM WATER DRAINAGE UTILTIY 

SERVICES FOR NEW LAYTON BUILDING (1700 NORTH 2200 WEST, 

LAYTON, UT) 

 

WHEREAS, Layton has a proposed development known as Layton Farms Storage located 

at approximately 1576 North 2200 West, Layton, which is contiguous to the common boundary 

with Clearfield; and  

 

WHEREAS, Layton does not have all the necessary utilities readily available to the 

development, namely culinary water; and  

 

WHEREAS, Layton and Clearfield are desirous of cooperating in providing necessary 

utilities along and near the common boundaries; and  

 

WHEREAS, because of the availability of culinary water facilities, it is more economical 

and convenient for the property located in Layton to be serviced through Clearfield rather than 

Layton at the present time, and it is not expedient for Layton to develop these utilities at this 

time; and   

 

WHEREAS, an Interlocal Cooperation Agreement is necessary to govern the terms and 

conditions under which Clearfield will provide the maintenance and oversight of said utilities; 

and  

 

WHEREAS, the Clearfield City Council has reviewed the attached Interlocal Cooperation 

Agreement and finds that it is able to cooperate with Layton to provide said utilities. 

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Clearfield City Council, that the 

attached Interlocal Cooperation Agreement is approved and the Mayor is hereby authorized to 

execute the agreement. 

 

DATED this 23
rd

 day of February, 2016.   

 

CLEARFIELD CITY CORPORATION 

 

 

________________________________ 

Mark R. Shepherd, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

________________________ 

Nancy R. Dean, City Recorder 

 

  

 



 

 

 

 

VOTE OF THE COUNCIL 

 

AYE:  

 

NAY:  

 



 

    
 

 

 

City Council 
 STAFF REPORT 

 
 

   
TO:    Mayor Shepherd, City Council, and Executive Staff 
 
FROM:  Spencer W. Brimley 
   Development Services Manager 
   Spencer.Brimley@clearfieldcity.org (801) 525-2785 
 
MEETING DATE: February 23, 2016 
 
SUBJECT:  Discussion and Possible Action on:  
 

Interlocal Cooperative Agreement for a utility service for culinary water to 
be provided to the Layton Farms storage facility, located at approximately 
1576 North 2200 West, in Layton Utah. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Approve the interlocal copperative agreement with Layton and Clearfield City for the purpose of 
providing culinary water to a storage facility located in Layton.  Culinary water will be provided 
until Layton City’s water system is available to serve the property.   
 
PROJECT SUMMARY 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Project Information 

Project Name Layton Farms, Storage Facility 
Site Location 1576 North 2200 West 
Tax ID Number 10-041-0026 

Applicant  Layton City, Ashley Thoman 

Owner Chris Loock, Developer 

Proposed Actions Approve Interlocal Cooperative Agreement with Layton 
City for culinary water 

Current Zoning No zoning (Layton City) 
Land Use Classification N/A 
Site Acreage 8.02 acres 

mailto:Spencer.Brimley@clearfieldcity.org


Interlocal Agreement – Layton Farms, Storage Facility 
23 FEB 2016 CC Meeting 

 - 2 of 3 - 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
ANALYSIS 
 
Background 
A request from Layton City in 2014 was for culinary water service for a proposed development 
in Layton, to be known as Layton Farms Storage.  The property is located at approximately 
1500 North 2200 West in Layton, on the eastern boundary of Clearfield City.  The property is 
approximately 8.02 acres in size and sits adjacent to a C-2 (commercial) zoning district, and R-
1-8 (residential) zoning district and an R-1-0 (residential) zoning district. Clearfield City has 
received a request to provide culinary water to this property until such time as Layton City’s 
water system can provide the service.  
 
The need for Clearfield City to provide water to a project in Layton City requires execution of an 
agreement between Clearfield City, Layton City, and the developer.   Clearfield and Layton have 
worked together to formulate an agreement that is agreeable to both parties and allows for the 
development of this facility, with Layton City being required to provide water to this facility at a 
future date.  Staff has provided a copy of the agreement that has been reviewed by 
Engineering, Legal and the Executive staff.  It is the conclusion of staff that the agreement 
provides control for all parties involved and protection for Clearfield City to provide culinary 
water service to the property.  The interlocal agreement set parameters and requirements for 

Layton City vicinity map 

SITE 



Interlocal Agreement – Layton Farms, Storage Facility 
23 FEB 2016 CC Meeting 

 - 3 of 3 - 

the service to be provided. The agreement is broken down into a few parts for ease in 
administering the terms of the agreement.  Staff has provided a breakdown of each section for 
reference. 
 
Interlocal Agreement 
The agreement is comprised of 4 sections that create the requirements and obligations for the 
agreement.  Each section has additional explanation to provide protection and security for 
Clearfield City proceeding forward. The following are the sections of the agreement: 

1. Culinary Water Service 
a. This section discusses the specific requirements for the culinary water 

connection and provides the basis whereby Layton will provide their own water to 
this facility, at the time that such water is available. 

2. Fire Protection 
a. Layton will provide the appropriate fire protection for the property and will 

determine the placement of hydrants for this purpose. 
3. Future Development 

a. The agreement for water is specific to the property provided in this report.  
Clearfield has the right to review any and all expansions and to impose 
appropriate fees for development, at the expense of the property owner. 

4. Conditions of Utility connection 
a. Utility service with Clearfield must be established for the site.  All site plan 

requirements from Layton City must be completed prior to CofO being issued. 
 

ATTACHMENTS 
 

1. Site Plan 
2. Interlocal Cooperative Agreement 





INTERLOCAL COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT 
for 

Utility Services at Layton Farms Storage Development  
 

This agreement is entered into this _____ day of ______, 2016, by and between Layton City, a 
Utah municipal corporation (hereafter referred to as “Layton”), and Clearfield City, a Utah 
municipal corporation (hereafter referred to as “Clearfield”). 
 
 WHEREAS, Layton has a proposed development known as Layton Farms Storage  
located at approximately 1576 North 2200 West, Layton, UT, and bearing Davis County Tax 
ID# 10-041-0026 (hereafter referred to as the “Property”), which is contiguous to its common 
boundary with Clearfield; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Layton does not have all the necessary utilities readily available to the 
Property, namely culinary water, and Clearfield has agreed that they will provide this utility to 
the Property under the terms and conditions enumerated herein; and 
 
 WHEREAS, Layton and Clearfield are desirous of cooperating in providing necessary 
utilities along and near the common boundaries; and 
 
 WHEREAS, because of the availability of culinary water facilities, it is more economical 
and convenient for the Property located in Layton to be serviced through Clearfield rather than 
Layton at the present time, and it is not expedient for Layton to develop these utilities at this 
time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the authority and provisions of the Interlocal Cooperation Act, 
Title 11, Chapter 13 of the Utah Code Annotated, Layton and Clearfield are willing to cooperate 
in planning for and implementing a method for efficiently providing culinary water services, and 
provide for the maintenance and oversight of said utilities. 
  
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree as follows: 
 
1. Culinary Water Service.  Layton Farms Storage, located at 1576 North 2200 West, and as 

shown on Exhibit “A” (parcel ID no. 10-041-0026) will be allowed by Clearfield to connect 
to Clearfield’s culinary water system for the purpose of providing domestic water service for 
the Property, which includes water for fire protection.  The water shall be metered as 
required by Clearfield and the costs thereof1 shall be paid to Clearfield by the Property’s 
owner.  The developer’s Engineer and Layton City will determine the size requirements of 
the culinary water service line so as to provide the necessary volume of water for the 
domestic service as well as fire protection; however those determinations shall be subject to 
the review and final approval by Clearfield City (including but not limited to the size and 
location of said connections).   

                         
1 Layton and the owner of the Property have been notified that Clearfield is currently considering and may soon 
enact legislation which would impose higher utility rates for services provided to properties not located within 
Clearfield’s boundaries, which the Property here would be subject to. 
 



Interlocal Cooperation Agreement Clearfield-City  
REV 6/18/2015 
 2 

At the time of connection, the property owner is responsible to pay Clearfield for the cost of 
the water meter as well as for culinary water impact fees2, and will continue to be responsible 
for the payment of Clearfield City’s monthly culinary water utility fees.  
 
If it is determined that culinary water system improvements are necessary to provide 
adequate domestic and fire service, the costs of those improvements shall be at the expense 
of the Property’s owner and not Layton or Clearfield.  Clearfield may also require that any 
fire lines be metered.  Clearfield will exercise its same standard of care for the maintenance 
of its facilities servicing this property. 
 
At the time when Layton’s culinary water service becomes available to the Property, the 
Property’s owner(s), at their own expense, shall connect to Layton’s culinary water system 
and disconnect from Clearfield’s system. Prior to Layton providing any water to the 
Property, Clearfield shall be notified and allowed to inspect the disconnection from its 
system before any backfilling takes place in order to verify whether the Property’s owner has 
appropriately performed its responsibility to disconnect and cap the connection to 
Clearfield’s system.   

 
2. Fire Protection.  Layton shall provide fire protection for the property.  Therefore, the 

Layton City Fire Department shall determine the placement of all fire hydrants on the site.  
Layton City Fire shall also determine the required fire flow for the development.  Clearfield 
will evaluate their system’s capacity to deliver the required fire flow by use of computer 
model. The necessary on-site fire flow testing will be conducted by a licensed engineer and 
all costs associated with any testing, evaluation, or system improvements necessary to 
provide the required flow shall be at the expense of the Property’s owner. 

 
3. Future Development.  Connection of utility services is limited to the parcel identified on 

Exhibit “A” only.  Clearfield City reserves the right for site plan review of all additional 
phases at time of development, to ensure the utility services will be sufficient to serve 
additional phases.  Should the additional phases of development cause an increase in 
services to the extent that system upgrades are required (as determined by Clearfield) to 
accommodate the proposal, any such improvements shall be at the property owner’s expense 
and the anticipated increase in demand shall be subject to Clearfield’s impact fees then in 
effect. 

 
4. Conditions for Utility Connection.  Prior to utility connection, all application, project 

review, and impact fees shall be paid in full and the property owner must establish an 
account for utility services with Clearfield.  Additionally, fencing as shown on construction 
documents, including the approved site plan, shall be installed prior to Layton issuing a 
certificate of occupancy for the building. 

 

                         
2 Current estimates are approximately $265 for the meter and $9,556 in impact fees based upon a one inch meter (a 
larger meter, service line or other necessary improvements could result in higher fees). 



Interlocal Cooperation Agreement Clearfield-City  
REV 6/18/2015 
 3 

5. Terms.  This Agreement shall remain in effect for Fifty (50) years.  It may be modified at 
any time by written agreement of the parties.  This Agreement may be renewed at any time 
upon written agreement by the parties. 

 
 
 
 
Executed on the day and date above. 
 
 

LAYTON CITY     CLEARFIELD CITY 
 
 
       ________________________________ 
Mayor       Mayor 
            
 
ATTEST:    ATTEST: 
  
 
             
  
 
 
             
 
Reviewed and approved as to proper form  Reviewed and approved as to proper form 
and compliance with applicable law.   and compliance with applicable law. 
 
 
___________________________   ______________________________ 
City Attorney      City Attorney 
 



CLEARFIELD CITY RESOLUTION 2016R-07 
 

A RESOLUTION EXPRESSING CLEARFIELD CITY’S SUPPORT OF 

LEGISLATION TO TAX AND REGULATE ELECTRONIC CIGARETTES  

 

WHEREAS, Electronic Nicotine Delivery Systems (ENDS), also known as Electronic 

Cigarettes (E-Cigarettes), vapes, or vape pens, typically contain nicotine, a highly addictive 

substance; and,  

 

WHEREAS, nicotine has immediate bio-chemical effects on the brain and body, is toxic 

in concentrated doses, and has been known to affect the youth brain disproportionately; and,  

 

WHEREAS, the FDA has found that the inhaled and second-hand vapor created by 

ENDS contain a number of chemical compounds which are suspected of being harmful to 

humans; and,  

 

WHEREAS, from 2013 to 2015, the percentage of 8
th

 to 12
th

 graders in Utah using ENDS 

has nearly doubled; with 10.2% of surveyed students (22,000) reporting being regular users of 

these products; and,  

 

WHEREAS, youth are actively targeted to acquire and use ENDS through flavoring and 

colors in ENDS liquids and advertising with celebrities and music that are appealing to youth; 

and,  

 

WHEREAS, there are currently no federal or state regulations that prevent advertising of 

ENDS to minors; and,  

 

WHEREAS,  in Utah, ENDS liquids containing nicotine are not taxed as a tobacco 

product, even though the nicotine contained in ENDS liquids is derived from tobacco; and, 

 

WHEREAS, ENDS liquids are inexpensive and affordable for youth; and, 

 

WHEREAS, the sale via the Internet of ENDS liquids containing nicotine to non-licensed 

persons is not prohibited in Utah, as is the sale of all other tobacco products; and,  

 

WHEREAS, studies indicate that absent statutes prohibiting the sales of ENDS liquids 

containing nicotine on the Internet, online vendors regularly sell those liquids to teens age 14 to 

17; and, 

 

WHEREAS, research indicates that in Utah the Internet is a highly popular means 

through which youth acquire ENDS liquid; and, 

 

WHEREAS, State Statute will protect youth from the use of and exposure to Electronic 

Nicotine Delivery Systems (Electronic Cigarettes) if it provides the following stipulations: a) 

advertising restrictions that limit the means by which ENDS mechanisms and liquids can be 

advertised; b) taxation of ENDS liquids containing nicotine at the same level as the tax on other 



2 

 

tobacco products, which will increase their price and deter youth from purchasing those liquids; 

and c) prohibition of the Internet sale of ENDS liquid containing nicotine to unlicensed persons, 

which will deter the sale of those liquids to youth by Internet vendors;  

 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Clearfield City Council that it will 

support legislation during the 2016 Legislative Session which will include the aforementioned 

stipulations to protect youth and urge State Legislators to do the same with their vote in favor of 

such legislation.  

 

Passed and adopted by the City Council at its regular meeting on the 23
rd

 day of February, 2016. 

 

ATTEST      CLEARFIELD CITY CORPORATION 

 

 

__________________________   ______________________________ 

Nancy R. Dean, City Recorder   Mark R. Shepherd, Mayor 

  

 

 

VOTE OF THE COUNCIL 

 

AYE:   

 

NAY:   



H
.B

. 333
LEGISLATIVE GENERAL COUNSEL
6  Approved for Filing: P. Owen  6

6    02-11-16 12:14 PM    6

H.B. 333

1 ELECTRONIC CIGARETTE PRODUCTS, NICOTINE

2 INHALERS, AND RELATED REVENUE AMENDMENTS

3 2016 GENERAL SESSION

4 STATE OF UTAH

5 Chief Sponsor:  Paul Ray

6 Senate Sponsor:  ____________

7  

8 LONG TITLE

9 General Description:

10 This bill modifies provisions related to the regulation and taxation of electronic

11 cigarette products and nicotine inhalers and how related revenues are to be spent.

12 Highlighted Provisions:

13 This bill:

14 < creates the Rural Health Care Access Restricted Account funded primarily from

15 revenues from the taxation of electronic cigarette products and nicotine inhalers;

16 < creates a pilot project funded from the Rural Health Care Access Restricted

17 Account;

18 < modifies definition provisions;

19 < modifies invoice requirements;

20 < addresses licensing issues;

21 < imposes a tax on certain electronic cigarette products and nicotine inhalers;

22 < creates the Electronic Cigarette Product and Nicotine Inhaler Restricted Account;

23 < addresses deposit and use of revenues from the taxation of electronic cigarette

24 products and substances and nicotine inhalers;

25 < includes electronic cigarette products as tobacco paraphernalia;

26 < provides a repeal date for the Rural Health Care Access Restricted Account and

27 pilot project; and

*HB0333*



H.B. 333 02-11-16 12:14 PM

- 2 -

28 < makes technical changes.

29 Money Appropriated in this Bill:

30 None

31 Other Special Clauses:

32 This bill provides a special effective date.

33 Utah Code Sections Affected:

34 AMENDS:

35 59-14-102, as last amended by Laws of Utah 2013, Chapter 148

36 59-14-403, as renumbered and amended by Laws of Utah 1987, Chapters 2 and 3

37 59-14-801, as enacted by Laws of Utah 2015, Chapter 132

38 59-14-802, as enacted by Laws of Utah 2015, Chapter 132

39 59-14-803, as enacted by Laws of Utah 2015, Chapter 132

40 63I-2-226, as last amended by Laws of Utah 2009, Chapter 334

41 76-10-104.1, as last amended by Laws of Utah 2013, Chapter 278

42 ENACTS:

43 26-9-6, Utah Code Annotated 1953

44 59-14-804, Utah Code Annotated 1953

45  

46 Be it enacted by the Legislature of the state of Utah:

47 Section 1.  Section 26-9-6 is enacted to read:

48 26-9-6.  Rural Health Care Access Restricted Account -- Pilot project.

49 (1)  As used in this section:

50 (a)  "Public school" means:

51 (i)  a school, including a charter school, that:

52 (A)  is directly funded at public expense; and

53 (B)  provides education to qualifying children for any grade from grade 1 through grade

54 12; or

55 (ii)  a school, including a charter school, that provides:

56 (A)  preschool or kindergarten to qualifying children, regardless of whether the

57 preschool or kindergarten is funded at public expense; and

58 (B)  education to qualifying children for any grade from grade 1 through grade 12, if



02-11-16 12:14 PM H.B. 333

- 3 -

59 each grade, from grade 1 to grade 12, that is provided at the school, is directly funded at public

60 expense.

61 (b)  "Restricted account" means the Rural Health Care Access Restricted Account

62 created in Subsection (2).

63 (2)  There is created a restricted account within the General Fund known as the "Rural

64 Health Care Access Restricted Account."

65 (3) (a)  The restricted account shall be funded by:

66 (i)  deposits into the restricted account made under Section 59-14-804;

67 (ii)  appropriations of the Legislature; and

68 (iii)  other contributions to the restricted account.

69 (b)  Interest earned on the restricted account shall be deposited into the General Fund.

70 (4)  From money appropriated by the Legislature, the department shall administer the

71 restricted account to fund the pilot project created under Subsection (5).

72 (5) (a)  The department shall administer a pilot project that shall begin July 1, 2016, and

73 end June 30, 2019.

74 (b)  Under the pilot project, the department shall expend money from the restricted

75 account to fund the cost, at schools designated by the State Board of Education as being located

76 in rural areas where access to health care is limited, of at least three school nurses or athletic

77 trainers who:

78 (i)  are licensed under:

79 (A)  Title 58, Chapter 31b, Nurse Practice Act; or

80 (B)  Title 58, Chapter 40a, Athletic Trainer Licensing Act;

81 (ii)  are employed at a public school; or

82 (iii)  provide physical and mental health services to students at the public school and to

83 the community, including veterans, through face-to-face contact or telehealth services provided

84 through the Utah Education and Telehealth Network, created in Section 53B-17-105.

85 Section 2.  Section 59-14-102 is amended to read:

86 59-14-102.   Definitions.

87 As used in this chapter:

88 (1)  "Cigarette" means a roll for smoking made wholly or in part of tobacco:

89 (a)  regardless of:

http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=53b-17-105&session=2016GS


H.B. 333 02-11-16 12:14 PM

- 4 -

90 (i)  the size of the roll;

91 (ii)  the shape of the roll; or

92 (iii)  whether the tobacco is:

93 (A)  flavored;

94 (B)  adulterated; or

95 (C)  mixed with any other ingredient; and

96 (b)  if the wrapper or cover of the roll is made of paper or any other substance or

97 material except tobacco.

98 (2)  "Cigarette rolling machine" means a device or machine that has the capability to

99 produce at least 150 cigarettes in less than 30 minutes.

100 (3)  "Cigarette rolling machine operator" means a person who:

101 (a) (i)  controls, leases, owns, possesses, or otherwise has available for use a cigarette

102 rolling machine; and

103 (ii)  makes the cigarette rolling machine available for use by another person to produce

104 a cigarette; or

105 (b)  offers for sale, at retail, a cigarette produced from the cigarette rolling machine.

106 (4)  "Consumer" means a person that is not required:

107 (a)  under Section 59-14-201 to obtain a license under Section 59-14-202; or

108 (b)  under Section 59-14-301 to obtain a license under Section 59-14-202.

109 (5)  "Counterfeit cigarette" means:

110 (a)  a cigarette that has a false manufacturing label; or

111 (b)  a package of cigarettes bearing a counterfeit tax stamp.

112 (6)  "Importer" means a person who imports into the United States, either directly or

113 indirectly, a finished cigarette for sale or distribution.

114 (7)  "Indian tribal entity" means a federally recognized Indian tribe, tribal entity, or any

115 other person doing business as a distributor or retailer of cigarettes on tribal lands located in the

116 state.

117 (8)  "Little cigar" means a roll for smoking:

118 (a)  made wholly or in part of tobacco;

119 (b)  that uses an integrated cellulose acetate filter or other similar filter; and

120 (c)  that is wrapped in a substance:

http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-14-201&session=2016GS
http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-14-202&session=2016GS
http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-14-301&session=2016GS
http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-14-202&session=2016GS


02-11-16 12:14 PM H.B. 333

- 5 -

121 (i)  containing tobacco; and

122 (ii)  that is not exclusively natural leaf tobacco.

123 (9) (a)  Except as provided in Subsection (9)(b), "manufacturer" means a person who

124 manufactures, fabricates, assembles, processes, or labels a finished cigarette.

125 (b)  "Manufacturer" does not include a cigarette rolling machine operator.

126 (10)  "Moist snuff" means tobacco that:

127 (a)  is finely:

128 (i)  cut;

129 (ii)  ground; or

130 (iii)  powdered;

131 (b)  has at least 45% moisture content, as determined by the commission by rule made

132 in accordance with Title 63G, Chapter 3, Utah Administrative Rulemaking Act;

133 (c)  is not intended to be:

134 (i)  smoked; or

135 (ii)  placed in the nasal cavity; and

136 (d)  except for single-use pouches of loose tobacco, is not packaged, produced, sold, or

137 distributed in single-use units, including:

138 (i)  tablets;

139 (ii)  lozenges;

140 (iii)  strips;

141 (iv)  sticks; or

142 (v)  packages containing multiple single-use units.

143 (11)  "Nicotine" means a poisonous volatile alkaloid derived from tobacco.

144 (12)  "Nontherapeutic nicotine inhaler" means a nicotine inhaler that is not approved for

145 nicotine replacement therapy by the United States Food and Drug Administration.

146 [(11)] (13)  "Retailer" means a person that:

147 (a)  sells or distributes a cigarette to a consumer in the state; or

148 (b)  intends to sell or distribute a cigarette to a consumer in the state.

149 [(12)] (14)  "Stamp" means the indicia required to be placed on a cigarette package that

150 evidences payment of the tax on cigarettes required by Section 59-14-205.

151 [(13)] (15) (a)  "Tobacco product" means a product made of, or containing, tobacco.

http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-14-205&session=2016GS


H.B. 333 02-11-16 12:14 PM

- 6 -

152 (b)  "Tobacco product" includes:

153 (i)  a cigarette produced from a cigarette rolling machine;

154 (ii)  a little cigar; or

155 (iii)  moist snuff.

156 (c)  "Tobacco product" does not include a cigarette.

157 [(14)] (16)  "Tribal lands" means land held by the United States in trust for a federally

158 recognized Indian tribe.

159 Section 3.  Section 59-14-403 is amended to read:

160 59-14-403.   Duplicate invoice requirements -- Failure to comply -- Penalties.

161 [All persons] A person dealing in taxable cigarettes [or], tobacco products, electronic

162 cigarette products as defined in Section 59-14-802, or nontherapeutic nicotine inhalers who

163 [purchase or receive] purchases or receives these commodities from outside the state, whether

164 the product is delivered through a wholesaler or distributor in this state, or by drop shipment or

165 otherwise, shall mail or deliver a duplicate invoice of all those purchases or receipts to the

166 commission within 10 days after receipt of the commodities if requested by the commission. 

167 Failure to furnish duplicate invoices or receipts as requested is subject to the penalties provided

168 under Section 59-1-401.

169 Section 4.  Section 59-14-801 is amended to read:

170 Part 8.  Electronic Cigarette Products and Nicotine Inhaler Licensing and Taxation Act

171 59-14-801.   Title.

172 This part is known as the "Electronic Cigarette Products and Nicotine Inhaler Licensing

173 and Taxation Act."

174 Section 5.  Section 59-14-802 is amended to read:

175 59-14-802.   Definitions.

176 As used in this part:

177 (1)  "Cigarette" means the same as that term is defined in Section 59-14-102.

178 (2) (a)  "Electronic cigarette" means:

179 (i)  an electronic device used to deliver or capable of delivering vapor containing

180 nicotine to an individual's respiratory system;

181 (ii)  a component of the device described in Subsection (2)(a)(i); or

182 (iii)  an accessory sold in the same package as the device described in Subsection

http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-1-401&session=2016GS


02-11-16 12:14 PM H.B. 333

- 7 -

183 (2)(a)(i).

184 (b)  "Electronic cigarette" includes an e-cigarette as defined in Section 26-38-2.

185 (c)  "Electronic cigarette" does not include a battery or battery charger that is sold

186 separately from the electronic cigarette.

187 (3)  "Electronic cigarette product" means an electronic cigarette or an electronic

188 cigarette substance.

189 (4)  "Electronic cigarette substance" means any substance, including liquid containing

190 nicotine, used or intended for use in an electronic cigarette.

191 (5)  "Enforcing agency" means the Department of Health, a county health department,

192 or a local health department, when enforcing:

193 (a)  Title 26, Chapter 42, Civil Penalties for Tobacco Sales to Underage Persons; or

194 (b)  Title 26, Chapter 57, Electronic Cigarette Regulation Act.

195 (6)  "Licensee" means a person that holds a valid license to sell electronic cigarette

196 products.

197 (7)  "License to sell an electronic cigarette product" means a license issued by the

198 commission under [Subsection 59-14-803(3)] Section 59-14-803.

199 Section 6.  Section 59-14-803 is amended to read:

200 59-14-803.   License to sell an electronic cigarette product or nicotine inhaler.

201 [(1)  Except as provided in Subsection (2), a person may not sell, offer to sell, or

202 distribute an electronic cigarette product in Utah without first obtaining a license to sell an

203 electronic cigarette product from the commission under this section.]

204 [(2)  A person that holds a valid license to sell cigarettes under Section 59-14-201, or a

205 person that holds a valid license to sell tobacco products under Section 59-14-301, may,

206 without obtaining a separate license to sell an electronic cigarette product under this part, sell,

207 offer to sell, or distribute an electronic cigarette product in Utah in accordance with this part.]

208 [(3)  Except as provided in Subsection (6), the commission shall issue a license to sell

209 an electronic cigarette product to a person that:]

210 [(a)  submits an application, on a form created by the commission, that includes:]

211 [(i)  the person's name;]

212 [(ii)  the address of the facility where the person will sell an electronic cigarette

213 product; and]

http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=26-38-2&session=2016GS
http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-14-201&session=2016GS
http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-14-301&session=2016GS


H.B. 333 02-11-16 12:14 PM

- 8 -

214 [(iii)  any other information the commission requires to implement this chapter; and]

215 [(b)  pays a fee:]

216 [(i)  in the amount of $30; or]

217 [(ii)  if renewing the person's license, in the amount of $20.]

218 [(4)  A license described in Subsection (3) is:]

219 [(a)  valid only at one fixed business address;]

220 [(b)  valid for three years;]

221 [(c)  valid only for a physical location; and]

222 [(d)  renewable if a licensee meets the criteria for licensing described in Subsection (3).]

223 (1)  A manufacturer or distributor of an electronic cigarette product or nontherapeutic

224 inhaler, who is responsible for the collection of tax on an electronic cigarette product or

225 nontherapeutic inhaler under this chapter, and a retailer of an electronic cigarette product or

226 nontherapeutic inhaler:

227 (a)  shall register with the commission;

228 (b)  shall be licensed by the commission under Part 2, Cigarettes; and

229 (c)  is subject to the requirements, procedures, and penalties described in Part 2,

230 Cigarettes.

231 (2)  A fee may not be charged for registration and licensing of a manufacturer, jobber,

232 distributor, or retailer of an electronic cigarette product or nontherapeutic inhaler in addition to

233 the cigarette license if such a license is required.

234 (3)  The commission shall require any manufacturer, wholesaler, retailer, or any other

235 person subject to this section, and who is responsible for the collection of tax on an electronic

236 cigarette product or nontherapeutic inhaler under this chapter, to post a bond as a prerequisite

237 to registering.  The bond shall be in a form and an amount determined by the commission.  If

238 the bond is required under Section 59-14-201, the bond may be a combination, the minimum

239 amount of which shall be $1,000.

240 [(5)] (4)  The commission shall, after notifying a licensee, revoke a license described in

241 Subsection [(3)] (1) if an enforcing agency determines the licensee has violated a provision of:

242 (a)  Title 26, Chapter 42, Civil Penalties for Tobacco Sales to Underage Persons; or

243 (b)  Title 26, Chapter 57, Electronic Cigarette Regulation Act.

244 [(6)] (5)  If the commission revokes a person's license to sell an electronic cigarette

http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-14-201&session=2016GS


02-11-16 12:14 PM H.B. 333

- 9 -

245 product or nontherapeutic nicotine inhaler under Subsection [(5)] (4), the commission may not

246 issue a license to sell an electronic cigarette product or nontherapeutic nicotine inhaler, a

247 license to sell cigarettes under Section 59-14-201, or a license to sell tobacco under Section

248 59-14-301 to the person until one year after:

249 (a)  the day on which the time for filing an appeal of the revocation ends, as determined

250 by the enforcing agency; or

251 (b)  if the person appeals the enforcing agency's decision to revoke the license to sell an

252 electronic cigarette product, the day on which the enforcing agency's decision to uphold the

253 revocation is final.

254 [(7)] (6)  If the commission revokes a person's license under Subsection [(5)] (4), the

255 commission shall also revoke the person's license to sell cigarettes under Section 59-14-201, if

256 any, and the person's license to sell tobacco under Section 59-14-301, if any.

257 [(8)  The commission may make rules in accordance with Title 63G, Chapter 3, Utah

258 Administrative Rulemaking Act, to establish the additional information described in

259 Subsection (3)(a)(iii) that a person must provide in the application described in Subsection

260 (3)(a).]

261 [(9)] (7)  It is a class B misdemeanor for a person to violate Subsection (1).

262 Section 7.  Section 59-14-804 is enacted to read:

263 59-14-804.  Taxation of electronic cigarette product and nicotine inhalers.

264 (1)  As used in this section:

265 (a)  "Manufacturer's sales price" means the amount the manufacturer of an electronic

266 cigarette product or nontherapeutic nicotine inhaler charges after subtracting a discount.

267 (b)  "Manufacturer's sales price" includes an original Utah destination freight charge,

268 regardless of:

269 (i)  whether the electronic cigarette product or nontherapeutic nicotine inhaler is

270 shipped f.o.b. origin or f.o.b. destination; or

271 (ii)  who pays the original Utah destination freight charge.

272 (2)  There is levied a tax upon the sale, use, or storage of an electronic cigarette product

273 or nontherapeutic nicotine inhaler in the state.

274 (3)  The tax levied under Subsection (2) shall be paid by the manufacturer, jobber,

275 distributor, wholesaler, retailer, user, or consumer.

http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-14-201&session=2016GS
http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-14-301&session=2016GS
http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-14-201&session=2016GS
http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=59-14-301&session=2016GS


H.B. 333 02-11-16 12:14 PM

- 10 -

276 (4)  For an electronic cigarette product or nontherapeutic nicotine inhaler, the rate of the

277 tax under this section is .86 multiplied by the manufacturer's sales price.

278 (5) (a)  There is created within the General Fund a restricted account known as the

279 "Electronic Cigarette Product and Nicotine Inhaler Tax Restricted Account."

280 (b)  The Electronic Cigarette Product and Nicotine Inhaler Tax Restricted Account

281 consists of:

282 (i)  the revenues collected from a tax under this section; and

283 (ii)  any other appropriation the Legislature makes to the Electronic Cigarette Product

284 and Nicotine Inhaler Tax Restricted Account.

285 (c)  For each fiscal year beginning with fiscal year 2016-17 and subject to appropriation

286 by the Legislature, the Division of Finance shall distribute money from the Electronic Cigarette

287 Product and Nicotine Inhaler Tax Restricted Account as follows:

288 (i)  $1,000,000 to the Department of Health to be distributed to local health departments

289 in accordance with Section 26A-1-116;

290 (ii)  $1,000,000 to the Rural Health Care Access Restricted Account created in Section

291 26-9-6; and

292 (iii)  the remainder of the money collected under this section to the Uniform School

293 Fund.

294 Section 8.  Section 63I-2-226 is amended to read:

295 63I-2-226.   Repeal dates -- Title 26.

296 (1)  Section 26-9-6 is repealed July 1, 2019.

297 (2)  Title 26, Chapter 46, Utah Health Care Workforce Financial Assistance Program, is

298 repealed July 1, 2017.

299 Section 9.  Section 76-10-104.1 is amended to read:

300 76-10-104.1.   Providing tobacco paraphernalia to minors -- Penalties.

301 (1)  For purposes of this section:

302 (a)  "Provides":

303 (i)  includes selling, giving, furnishing, sending, or causing to be sent; and

304 (ii)  does not include the acts of the United States Postal Service or other common

305 carrier when engaged in the business of transporting and delivering packages for others or the

306 acts of a person, whether compensated or not, who transports or delivers a package for another

http://le.utah.gov/UtahCode/SectionLookup.jsp?section=26a-1-116&session=2016GS


02-11-16 12:14 PM H.B. 333

- 11 -

307 person without any reason to know of the package's content.

308 (b)  "Tobacco paraphernalia":

309 (i)  means any equipment, product, or material of any kind which is used, intended for

310 use, or designed for use to package, repackage, store, contain, conceal, ingest, inhale, or

311 otherwise introduce a cigar, cigarette, electronic cigarette product as defined in Section

312 59-14-802, or tobacco in any form into the human body, including:

313 (A)  metal, wooden, acrylic, glass, stone, plastic, or ceramic pipes with or without

314 screens, permanent screens, hashish heads, or punctured metal bowls;

315 (B)  water pipes;

316 (C)  carburetion tubes and devices;

317 (D)  smoking and carburetion masks;

318 (E)  roach clips[:], meaning objects used to hold burning material, such as a cigarette,

319 that has become too small or too short to be held in the hand;

320 (F)  chamber pipes;

321 (G)  carburetor pipes;

322 (H)  electric pipes;

323 (I)  air-driven pipes;

324 (J)  chillums;

325 (K)  bongs; and

326 (L)  ice pipes or chillers; and

327 (ii)  does not include matches or lighters.

328 (2) (a)  It is unlawful for a person to knowingly, intentionally, recklessly, or with

329 criminal negligence provide any tobacco paraphernalia to any person under 19 years of age.

330 (b)  A person who violates this section is guilty of a class C misdemeanor on the first

331 offense and a class B misdemeanor on subsequent offenses.

332 Section 10.  Effective date.

333 This bill takes effect on July 1, 2016.

Legislative Review Note
Office of Legislative Research and General Counsel


	Agenda 022316
	012616wminutes
	020916minutes
	Staff Report ZTA 1509-0006 PawnSecondhandBusiness_City Council Packet_Reduced
	RECOMMENDATION
	ANALYSIS
	FINDINGS
	Attachments:
	Pawn strongly correlated with property crime.pdf
	Transit Crime in Los Angeles
	The Effect of Sociodemographic Characteristics on Crime

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page

	PSPFSP 1511-0006 Anita White Sub - CC_Packet
	RECOMMENDATIONS
	PROJECT SUMMARY
	ANALYSIS
	CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL
	ATTACHMENTS

	2016-02 Title 11 Chapter 13 Pawn Shops 021716a
	2 23 16 Alex Boye contract staff report with contract
	2016R-06 layton farms storage
	Layton Farms - Storage_CC Packet
	RECOMMENDATIONS
	PROJECT SUMMARY
	ANALYSIS
	ATTACHMENTS

	2016R-07 Resolution of Support for SAEV.electronic cigarettes regulate
	HB0333 - e cigarette legislation



